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Abstract 

Over the last twenty years, there has been a rapid expansion of Islamic 
financial institutions that do not deal in interest-based transactions. The financial 
information of Islamic financial institutions issued in their annual reports is 
different in certain features from the annual reports offered by conventional 
financial institutions. This study attempts to investigate the usefulness of annual 
reports produced by these institutions to investors. In particular, the study is 
concerned with the perceptions of both institutional investors and customers in 
Kuwait about the annual reports of Islamic financial institutions. In addition, the 
study investigates the opinions of the preparers of annual reports of Islamic 
financial institutions in GCC countries regarding various aspects of the annual 
reports that could help investors make their investment decisions. 

To achieve the above objective, two types of questionnaires and interview 
were designed. The first type of questionnaire was carried out to solicit the 
investors' perceptions of annual reports, the importance they attached to them and 
the uses of these reports in their investment activities. The second type of 
questionnaire was specifically used to investigate the opinions of the preparers of 
annual reports regarding various aspects of annual reports that could help 
investors make their investment decisions. The interview method was mainly used 
to identify the customers' perceptions of Islamic financial institutions in Kuwait 
about the usefulness of these annual reports. 

The results of the questionnaire and the interviews indicated that the annual 
reports are considered by customers and investors to be the main source of 
information for investment decisions. The results also revealed that the timeliness 
and credibility of information were perceived by respondents as the most 
important qualitative characteristics that might affect the usefulness of 
information sources about the performance of Islamic financial institutions. 
Regarding the accounting regulation of financial information of Islamic financial 
institutions, the results indicated that there is a need for accounting information to 
be regulated in order to enhance the credibility of financial statements produced 
by these institutions and increase their comparability and transparency to the 
users. 
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Glossary of Islamic Terms 

Allah: God. 

Fatwa: An authoritative legal opinion based on Islamic Law (Shariah) 

Fiqh : Islamic jurisprudence. The science of the Shariah. It is an important 

source of Islamic economics. 

Halal: Anything permitted by the Shariah. 

Ijarah: A contract under which the Islamic bank finances equipment, building or 

other facility for the client against an agreed rental. 

Islam: Islam is a monotheistic religion. It is the last message or testament 

revealed by Allah (God) to all mankind through the last messenger 

Mohammed to urge them to submit themselves wholly to him and 

surrender to his Divine Will in every detail of their everyday life. 

Istisna'a: A contract between a consumer and a bank for construction/ 

manufacturing of a building or a project by the Islamic bank. After 

completion, the Islamic bank hands over the building /project to the 

customer who pays back his dues (the cost plus the bank's profit) 

according to an agreed schedule. 

Makkah: The Holy City of Islam. 

Mudaraba: A form of financing based on the partnership of those who have capital 

(Rab-al-mal) with those who have expertise (Mudarib), where the first 

party provides capital and the other party provides the expertise with the 

purpose of earning "halal" (lawful) profit which will be divided between 

them in ratios agreed upon. This mode achieves the interest of parties, 

the capital owner and the Mudarib (agent). 

Mudarib: In a Mudarabah contract, the person who acts as an entrepreneur. 
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Murabahah: A contract in which a client who wishes to purchase equipment or 

goods, requests the Islamic bank to purchase the items and sell them at 

cost plus a declared profit. 

Musharakah: A contract between an Islamic bank and another party (parties) in 

which every party provides some amount of capital and is entitled to 

participate in management but is not necessarily required to do so. 

Profit is distributed among the partners in pre-agreed ratios while loss 

is borne by each partner strictly in proportion to their respective 

capital contribution. 

Quard Hasan: Interest-free Loan 

Riba: Usury/Interest, which is strictly prohibited in Islam. 

Shariah: Islamic law, which embodies all aspects of Islamic faith, including 

beliefs and practice. 

Takaful: This is a form of Islamic insurance based on the Quranic of mutual 

assistance. It provides mutual protection of assets and property and 

offers joint risk sharing in the event of a loss by one of its members. 

Wagf Endowment. Technically appropriation or tying-up of a property in 

perpetuity so that no propriety rights can be exercised over the usufruct. 

It commonly refers to property that has been transferred to a charity or a 

trust on a voluntary and permanent basis. 

Zakat: This is one of the pillars of Islam and is a personal obligation of the 

Muslim who is financially capable towards the poor and others who are 

entitled to Zakat. 
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Chapter One 

Introduction 

1.1 Introduction 

The idea of establishing Islamic financial institutions became a tangible reality 

when the finance ministers of Islamic countries decided at the second Conference of 

the Islamic Conference Organization held in August 1974 to endorse the 

establishment of an Islamic Development Bank. Since then, Islamic financial 

institutions (including Islamic banks, Islamic investment companies and Islamic 

insurance companies), where dealings are far removed from the concept of interest- 

taking forbidden by the Shariah (Islamic Law), have been witnessing vast 

development in their various activities. Because of the prohibition of interest (Riba) 

in Shariah, these institutions are based on the concept of profit and loss sharing 

(PLS). This concept means that the investor and entrepreneur share the results of the 

project in what is considered a fair way. Islamic financial institutions invest and trade 

their funds by using Islamic financial instruments such as Murabaha, Musharkah, 

Mudarabah, Istisa'a, and Ijarah (lease) contracts (see glossary of Islamic terms), 

which are Islamic tools replacing forbidden interest-based transactions. 

In 2000 it was estimated that Islamic financial institutions numbered over 200 

and they are presently handling funds of over US$ 100 billion (IIIB, 2000). It is 

forecast that during the next decade, funds in the Islamic financial systems could 

increase to US$ 150 billion. Islamic financial institutions are not only popular in 



Muslim countries, but are also fast gaining ground in Europe and America. For 

example, London is becoming an influential centre for Islamic finance, as a number of 

Islamic funds operate from the United Kingdom. Similarly, Switzerland is attracting 

Islamic funds through institutional and private investors (IIBI, 2000). With regard to 

GCC countries, Tablel. 1 shows the summary of financial highlights of Islamic 

financial institutions in GCC countries for the year 2000 as follows: 

Table 1.1: The summary of financial highlights of Islamic financial institutions in 
CCC countries for the year 2000 (USS Million) 

Total Shareholders Net 
Islamic Financial Institution Number Liabilities 

Assets Equity profit 

Islamic Banks 14 28640 24592* 4048 769.4 

Islamic Investment Companies 13 1308 533.8 774.2 44.28 

Islamic Insurance Companies 6 418.50 283.2** 135.3 6.86 

Total 33 30366.5 25409 4957.5 820.54 

* Customers' deposits = 20929 
** Policyholders' liabilities and surplus = 266.1 
Source: Annual Reports of Islamic Financial Institutions in GCC Countries, 2000. 

Consequently, this makes it necessary to study the usefulness of financial reports 

of these institutions to the users, especially investors, in making decisions because this 

topic is considered the backbone of financial reporting. It is also of interest to 

accounting standard-setting bodies such as the International Accounting Standard 

Committee (IASC), Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) in the USA, the 

Accounting Standards Board (ASB) in the UK and Accounting and Auditing of 

Islamic Financial Institutions (AAOIFI) in Bahrain. For example, the ASB (1991, 

Para. 12) in its statement of principles (The Objectives of Financial Statements) states 

that: 

" the objective of financial statements is to provide information about 
the financial position, performance and financial adaptability of an 
enterprise that is useful to a wide range of users in making economic 
decisions ". 
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According to the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) (1978, p. 8), the 

objective of financial reporting is to "provide information that is useful to present and 

potential investolrs, creditors, and other users in making rational investment, credit, 

and similar decisions. " 

The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (ICAEW) (1975, 

p. 28) in the "Corporate Report" stated the aim of financial reports as follows: 

"The fundamental objective of corporate report is to commmmicale 
economic measurements of an information about the resources and 
peºformance of reporting entity useful to those having reasonable 
rights to such information. " 

For its part, the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (CICA) (1980, p. 32) 

points out that one of the objectives of financial reporting "is the provision of useful 

information to all of the potential users of such information in a form and time frame 

that is relevant to their various needs. " 

The International Accounting Standard Committee in its `Framework for the 

Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements' (1989, para. 12) stated that: 

"The objective of financial statements is to provide information about 
the financial position, performance and changes in financial position of 
enterprise that is useful to a wide range of users in making economis 
decisions. " 

The Accounting Standard Board in its statement issued in 1991 underscored the 

previous objective of the IASC. Accounting and Auditing of Islamic Financial 

institutions (AAOIFI) in its "Statement of Financial Accounting No. 1" (1993, para38) 

stated that: 

"Finacial reports, which are directed mainly to external users, should 
provide the following types of information.... This information should be 
directed principally at assisting the user evaluating the adequacy of the 
Islamic bank's capital to absorb losses and business risks. " 

According to Barton (1982), the main objective of financial reporting is to satisfy 

the needs of users of financial information in relation to the economic affairs of a firm. 
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However, it is difficult to draw a conclusion about the usefulness of financial 

statements in general. For the stewardship function, financial statements may be useful 

if effective stewardship is to be exercised. Financial statements also might be useful 

for some users in particular conditions, but they might not be in the ideal status that 

financial statements should be for other situations. In order to improve financial 

reporting towards the ideal status, it is necessary to study and understand the needs of 

each user group and make the necessary changes to financial reports so that these 

needs can be satisfied. In fact, to fulfil the objective of financial statements, which is 

to provide useful information to the users, we have to know what information is 

considered to be useful for them (Al-Mubarak, 1997). 

Therefore, this study aims to focus on this area. Its purpose will be discussed in 

more detail in the next section, which identifies the research problem. 

1.2 Statement of the Problem 

The usefulness of financial reporting in the decision-making processes of 

investors and creditors has been the subject of much academic research during the 

last 30 years (White et al., 2002). Many studies have been carried out to examine the 

usefulness of annual reports to investors (see Cerf, 1961; Lee and Tweedie, 1981; 

Anderson, 1981; Ahmad, 1988; Al-Bogami, 1996; and Al-Hussini, 2001). The 

subject of these studies is still important today in light of continuing economic crises 

such as the Enron and Worldcom bankruptcies, which ocured in 2001. These crises 

underscore the need to develop the accounting standards in order for financial 

statements to be more useful and transparent for the users and other interested parties. 

It also indicated that the Enron bankruptcy is a"significant problem" for the credibility 

of auditing and accounting firms (Barreveld, 2002 and Ramsey, 2002). 
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Although these studies have been numerous and important, the usefulness of 

financial reporting by Islamic financial institutions in the GCC countries has not 

received adequate attention. It is the contention of this study that this aspect of 

financial reporting warrants closer in-depth examination for a variety of reasons. First, 

to the best of the researcher's knowledge, there have been no empirical research 

studies investigating the usefulness of financial reporting by Islamic Financial 

institutions to investors in the GCC countries. Although there are many studies in the 

same area, such as Saudi Arabia, these studies have concentrated on the usefulness of 

corporate reports in general, not on Islamic corporate reports, to their users. Second, 

in Islam, financial reporting must be in line with the Shariah if it is to be relevant to 

observant Muslim users (Gambling and Karim, 1991). As part of this, financial 

reports of Islamic financial institutions must be prepared to be useful for the users, 

as this idea is consistent with the principles of Islamic Shariah and its concepts of 

fairness, charity and compliance with Islamic business values (AAOIFI, 1998). 

Baydoun and Willett (2000) point out that in order to improve the usefulness of 

Islamic corporate reports to their users, they should be compatible with Islamic social 

philosophy and principles. In other words, the needs of Islamic users should be and 

will be different from those of non-Muslims. Finally, there is some evidences that the 

current financial reports may have a negative effect in terms of the usefulness of the 

financial reports of Islamic financial institutions to users. Karim (1997, p. 3& 4) 

states that: 

"At present Islamic financial institutions use at least six methods to 
recognize profit generated from Murabahah transactions. I have 
also been made to understand that some Islamic Financial 
Institutions use more than two methods to recognize 111urabahah 
profit in the same financial period Another example is the major 
differences in the allocation of profits between investment account 
holders and shareholders. The variations also include the use of 
different measurement attributes for the same transactions, the 
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disclosure of information in di ferent forms and degrees, and the 
classification offinancial statement items in a dissimilar manner. " 

It is worth noting that in order to strengthen this study, the main parties interested 

in Islamic financial institutions such as institutional investors, customers and the 

preparers of the annual reports of Islamic financial institutions were selected. 

Customers in this study consist of depositors (investment account holders) who are 

considered the main clients of these institutions. The customers of Islamic financial 

institutions have been the subject of many studies (for example, Naser and Al-Khatib 

1999; Woldie and Evas, 2000; and Ahmad and Haron, 2002). On the other hand, the 

focus of this study will be institutional investors (shareholders). Their selection was 

motivated by several reasons. First, of all institutional investors (shareholders) have 

significant influence on capital markets. In addition, to operate effectively and 

efficiently, we should satisfy the needs of dominant providers of capital for 

information in each market (Al-Mubarak, 1997). Second, institutional investors are 

sophisticated and believed to be knowledgeable readers of financial information who 

not only fully understand financial statements and the principles on which they are 

prepared but also desire even more relevant such information for their professional 

purposes (Chang and Most, 1980). 

In light of the above, it becomes clear that-financial reporting by Islamic financial 

institutions is a problem that requires an in-depth study of its different aspects. The 

fact that such a study comes in the context of a rapidly changing world where today's 

financial reporting standards are constantly being challenged gives such a study 

additional importance. 
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1.3 Objectives of the Study 

The study aims to achieve the following objectives: 

1. Examine the importance of financial reporting by Islamic financial institutions 

in GCC countries to institutional investors and the way they understand and 

use financial information provided in the reports; 

2. Determine the attitude of customers of Islamic financial institutions in GCC 

countries towards the use and usefulness of such reports; 

3. Investigate the perceptions of the preparers of the financial reporting 

statements of Islamic financial institutions in GCC countries regarding items 

in annual reports that could help institutional investors make investment 

decisions; and 

4. Assess the awareness of the investors, customers and the preparers of financial 

reports about the concept of Accounting and Auditing of Islamic Financial 

Institutions (AAOIFI). 

In order to fulfil the above objectives, the research questions were formulated in 

several categories as follows: 

A. Financial Disclosure 

1. What is the relative importance of the various sources of information for 

institutional investors and customers? 

2. How do Islamic financial institutions, investors, and customers perceive the 

most important items in the annual reports? 

3. What are the most important uses of the annual reports of Islamic financial 

institutions to investors? 

4. What is the attitude of Islamic financial institutions towards the importance and 

usefulness of their annual reports to their various users? 
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5. What are the factors that might improve the usefulness of financial information 

in the annual reports of Islamic financial institutions in GCC countries? 

6. Do Islamic financial institutions, investors and customers believe that the 

Shariah Supervisory Board's (SSB) report is important? 

B. Qualitative Characteristics 

1. Do institutional investors think that the time lag between closing accounts and 

publishing the financial statements has any impact on investment decisions? 

2. Do institutional investors and customers believe that the financial information 

contained in the annual reports of Islamic financial Institutions is comparable 

with other conventional financial Institutions? 

3. Do institutional investors and customers believe that the financial reports of 

Islamic financial Institutions possess the required qualitative characteristics? 

4. How do Islamic financial institutions, investors and customers perceive the 

importance of different qualitative characteristics that might affect the 

usefulness of information about the performance of a company? 

C. Additional Disclosure 

1. Do institutional investors and customers need more information to be disclosed 

in the annual reports of Islamic financial institutions? 

2. How do Islamic financial institutions perceive additional disclosure in the 

annual reports of Islamic financial institutions? 
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D. Accounting Regulation 

1. Which accounting standards do most Islamic financial institutions in GCC 

countries follow? 

2. Do Islamic financial institutions, investors and customers believe that the 

accounting information of Islamic financial institutions in GCC countries 

should be regulated? 

3. Who should regulate the accounting information of Islamic financial 

institutions? 

4. Are Islamic financial institutions, investors and customers aware of the 

Accounting and Auditing Organization for Islamic financial institutions 

(AAOIFI)? 

5. Do Islamic financial institutions, investors and customers believe that the 

accounting and Auditing Organization for Islamic Financial Institutions 

(AAOIFI) is a suitable body for the harmonisation of accounting among 

Islamic Financial Institutions? 

E. Investment Goals 

1. What are the investment goals of institutional investors? 

1.4 Methodology of the Study 

In order to meet the objectives, the following approaches were used: 

1- An extensive literature review was carried out of the materials relevant to the topic 

under study. The review included previous studies in both Arabic and English, 

articles and the published annual reports of Islamic financial institutions in GCC 

countries. 
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2- A questionnaire was used as the main data collection method. For the purpose of 

this study, two sets of questionnaires were designed. 

(A) Questionnaire for Islamic Financial Institutions: 

This questionnaire was used to examine and test the perceptions of 

Islamic financial institutions in GCC countries related to items in the 

annual reports of these institutions that help the investors to make 

investment decisions. The researcher covered all Islamic financial 

institutions in GCC countries. In this study Islamic financial institutions 

include Islamic investment companies and Islamic insurance companies, 

as well as Islamic banks. 

(B) Questionnaire for Institutional Investors (shareholders) of Islamic financial 

institutions: 

This questionnaire was designed to elicit information about which items 

should be included in annual reports in order to improve the usefulness 

of these reports in investment decision-making. All institutional investors 

in Islamic financial institutions in Kuwait were selected. Being a Kuwaiti 

citizen himself and based on his own experience, the researcher believed 

that by focusing on institutional investors of Islamic financial institutions 

in Kuwait, he would get accurate results without having to spend too 

much time and resources. 

3- The study was supported with interviews as a complementary data collection 

technique. The interview was used to determine the opinions of the customers of 

Islamic financial institutions in Kuwait about the usefulness of financial 

information provided by these institutions. As investors, individual customers are 

considered to be a main group of users of these financial reports. Therefore, their 
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opinions would be important in drawing conclusions and possibly making 

recommendations to help to develop the usefulness of financial reporting by 

Islamic financial institutions. 

4- For the purpose of data analysis, standard statistical techniques and other relevant 

tools were used. Data collected from the questionnaire and interview were 

analysed using the SPSS computer program (Statistics Program for Social 

Science). 

The critical analysis of the collected data (questionnaire and interview) answered 

the research questions and led to formulation of a set of recommendations for Islamic 

financial institutions regarding the usefulness of financial reports of these institutions 

in GCC countries regarding the usefulness of their financial reports. 

1.5 Significance of the Study 

This study explores the usefulness of financial reports of Islamic financial 

institutions in GCC countries, which is an economically important region of the 

world. Also, it is hoped that this study will make an active contribution to setting a 

conceptual framework for financial reporting by such institutions. It also contributes 

to filling a gap in the literature on Islamic banking theory. 

This is a pioneering study and a first of its kind in Kuwait and in the Gulf area in 

general. Its significance is derived from the findings of the study, which it is hoped 

will make significant contribution in the following manner: 

1. It examines the usefulness of financial reporting of Islamic financial 

institutions in GCC countries for the first time. Therefore, this study provides 

a basis for continued research in this area in the future. 



2. It investigates the perceptions of investors, customers and Islamic financial 

institutions about the usefulness of their annual reports and that will help the 

investors know which Islamic financial institutions most fully comply with 

their needs. It also benefits investors and customers by exploring the need for 

additional disclosure of financial information which would facilitate their 

investment decisions. 

3. The examination of the nature of Islamic financial institutions provides 

evidence that enhances our understanding of the relationship between 

accounting practices and religion. 

4. It examines the perceptions of Islamic financial institutions regarding items in 

annual reports that help investors make investment decisions. This enhances 

our understanding of how forthcoming the management of these institutions is 

in the provision of information about its institutions. 

5. It contributes to the existing body of knowledge, particularly the usefulness of 

financial reporting by Islamic financial institutions to investors by examining 

the perceptions of both the investors and Islamic financial institutions about 

the usefulness of financial reporting in these institutions. 

6. It helps Western institutions understand the mechanism of Islamic banking and 

its accounting system by presenting the accounting standards of the AAOIFI 

and its effort to achieve uniformity and comparability in the financial 

reporting of Islamic financial institutions. 

7. The findings of the study are useful as a guide to Islamic financial institutions 

in relation to the reactions of the investors and customers to their annual 

reports. As stated above, this information will help the Islamic financial 
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institutions present their financial information in a manner that is as clear and 

understandable to users as possible. 

8. The thesis provides a rich description of financial reporting and its environment 

in GCC countries. Such a description is expected to be of great benefit to 

those interested in international accounting harmonisation and research, 

because of the spread of Islamic financial institutions in all parts of the world. 

9. The findings will also significantly help AAOIFI make possible modifications 

to its standards and methodology which, it is hoped, would contribute to 

improving the usefulness of financial reporting of Islamic Banks. 

10. While the study concentrates on the investors, it has the potential to inform 

other users of corporate reports such as governments and legislators. 

Finally, it is hoped that this study will contribute towards deepening our 

understanding of financial accounting and reporting and encourage more research into 

this potentially fruitful area. 

1.6 Outline of the Study 

The study is organized in six chapters, including this introductory chapter. 

Chapter two discusses the concept of Islamic financial institutions, particularly 

relating to Islamic financial institutions and accounting principles from an Islamic 

perspective. Prior to this, a brief background is given of the economic environment 

under which Islamic financial institutions in GCC countries operate and investment 

activities are carried out. The discussion also touches on the concept of profit and loss 

sharing (PLS) on which Islamic financial institutions are based. PLS involves the 

interaction between capital, work and various experience without the intervention of 
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the idea of interest (Riba) which is common practice in conventional financial 

institutions. 

The discussion of Islamic financial institutions focuses on numerous aspects. 

First, the operations and activities of Islamic bank, Islamic investment companies and 

Islamic insurance companies are presented, followed by a comparison between these 

institutions and conventional financial institutions. Second, the challenges and 

problems facing Islamic financial institutions are discussed. Third, the objectives and 

importance of these institutions are highlighted. Fourth, the nature of Islamic financial 

instruments used by Islamic financial institutions to invest their funds are explained. 

Fifth, the relationships between Islamic financial institutions and interested parties 

such as the Central Bank and the Shariah Supervisory Board (SSB) are described. 

Finally, this chapter examines Western accounting principles from an Islamic 

perspective by presenting the perception of Islamic scholars on these principles. 

Chapter three discusses financial reporting and its usefulness to various users, the 

need for accounting regulation and the role of accounting standards setting bodies 

such as the FASB, ASB and AAOIFL. As part of this chapter, previous studies which 

have dealt with financial reporting and its usefulness to investors and other external 

users are reviewed. 

Chapter four outlines the research. methodology. In particular, this chapter seeks 

to: 

" Discuss the various methods which have been used in pervious and similar 

studies; 

" Justify the choice of the methods employed in this research; 

" Describe the questionnaire and interview design, pilot study and 

distribution procedure; and 
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0 Describe the statistical tests used to analyse the responses of the questionnaires 

and interviews 
. 

This chapter starts by explaining how the research questions were developed. 

The chapter then introduces the two main methods which have been used in similar 

studies, the interview method and questionnaire method. The advantages and 

disadvantages of each method are examined. Justifications for the chosen methods are 

presented. The chosen methods were questionnaires (face to face questionnaire or 

self-administered questionnaire) and the interviews. 

Chapter five discusses the results of the questionnaire and interview. The first 

type of questionnaire was used to elicit the investors' perceptions of annual reports, 

the importance they attach to them and the uses of these reports in their investment 

activities. The second type of questionnaire was specifically used to investigate the 

opinions of the preparers of annual reports regarding various aspects of annual 

reports that could help investors make their investment decisions. The interviews were 

carried out mainly to identify the customers' perceptions of Islamic financial 

institutions in Kuwait about the usefulness of these annual reports. The statistical 

tools used in analysing the results of the questionnaires and interviews as well as the 

interpretations of these results are presented in this chapter. 

Finally, in light of the findings of this study, conclusions are drawn and 

recommendations and suggestions are made for future studies. These are presented in 

chapter six. 
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Chapter Two 

Islamic Financial Institutions 

2.1 Introduction 

This chapter discusses the idea of Islamic financial institutions, particularly those 

following accounting principles from an Islamic perspective. This is preceded by a 

brief background on the economic environment under which Islamic financial 

institutions in GCC countries operate and investment activities are carried out. The 

discussion also touches on the concept of profit and loss sharing (PLS) on which 

Islamic financial institutions are based. PLS involves participation between capital, 

work and various experiences without the intervention of interest (Riba), which is a 

common practice in conventional financial institutions. 

The discussion of Islamic financial institutions focuses on many aspects. First, the 

operations and activities of Islamic banks, Islamic investment companies and Islamic 

insurance companies are presented, followed by a comparison between these 

institutions and conventional financial institutions. Second, the challenges and 

problems facing Islamic financial institutions are discussed. Third, the objectives and 

importance of these institutions are highlighted. Fourth, the nature of Islamic financial 

instruments used by Islamic financial institutions to invest their funds are explained. 

Fifth, the relationships between Islamic financial institutions and interested parties 

such as the Central Bank and Shariah Supervisory Board (SSB) are described. 

Finally, the chapter examines Western accounting principles from an Islamic 

perspective by presenting the perception of Islamic scholars of these principles. 

Moreover, a brief discussion of the concept and practice of Zakat accounting is 

presented. 
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2.2 Overview of GCC Countries 

This section focuses on economic matters mainly relating to GCC countries that 

are in this study the economic environment in which Islamic financial institutions 

operate. A general description of each country is given first, followed by a brief 

economic background. The discussion also alludes to the main accounting authorities 

in GCC countries. 

2.2.1 Gulf Co-operation Council (GCC) 

The GCC was established in 1981 and includes six Gulf States. These are 

Bahrain, Kuwait, Oman, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, and the United Arab Emirates (UAE). 

These six countries share almost a similar background, cultural heritage and a 

common set of problems. The Council was established to strengthen those countries 

by organizing and better utilizing their resources in order to get the best possible 

results. There is an agreement between these countries that the objectives of each 

country's development plan should be similar. The basic fields of coordination 

include the economic, social, industrial, financial, agricultural, educational and 

commercial fields, as well as transportation, energy, water and health. Coordination 

and integration is set to take place at a number of different stages. 

In addition, to facilitate the transfer of capital, manpower and locally produced 

goods between the countries in question, joint cooperation and coordination in the 

industrial and export fields, as well as the interconnection of the basic infrastructure 

networks, have been set as an objective. In the longer term, it is hoped that each 

country will specialize in a particular industry and other economic activity, each 

according to its comparative advantage (Nakhleh, 1986). 
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2.2.2 General background to the GCC countries 

The Arab Gulf countries consist of Bahrain, Kuwait, Oman, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, 

and the United Arab Emirates (UAE). They are located in the southwest of Asia, and 

cover a vast area of about 2,657,647 square kilometres. In 1999, the total population 

in this region registered 27.92 million people, of whom about 19.15 million are 

Saudis. The countries of the region vary widely in size; from Saudi Arabia with 

2,250,000 square kilometres to Bahrain with 692 square kilometres. 

Political power in GCC countries is concentrated in the hands of a few selected 

families. Politically sensitive ministries such as the ministries of the interior, defence 

and foreign affairs are also in the hands of these families. As a result, the political 

systems of these countries are highly centralised and the government controls every 

activity and organisation. Table 2.1 reports the economic indicators of GCC countries 

as follows: 
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According to Al-Khyal (2000) and A1-Modahki (1995), the main characteristics 

of the economy of GCC countries are as follows: 

1. As a result of limited non-oil resources, GCC countries continue to rely on oil 

and gas production as their major sources of income; 

2. The economy of these states is still dependent on government spending, 

. Since expenditure is correlated with revenues from oil, fluctuations in oil 3 

prices have a major impact on GCC economies; 

4. The foreign labour force is largely responsible for the development of GCC 

economies; 

5. In order to diversify their sources of income and to industrialise and develop 

their countries, the GCC countries have established petrochemical and refining 

industries; and 

6. The policies of the GCC have also focused, in recent years, on encouraging the 

private sector's involvement in most aspects of their economies. 

In the following section, the main characteristics of the GCC countries are briefly 

reviewed. For each country, a general description is first given, followed by a brief 

economic background. 

2.2.2.1 Bahrain 

General background 

Bahrain is marginally nearer to the coast of Saudi Arabia than Qatar. Its 692 

square kilometres are comprised of more than 30 islands. Situated in the northeast 

corner of the main island is the capital and commercial centre, Manama, where more 

than a quarter of the population lives. In the centre of this island stands the oil town of 

Awali. Linked to the capital by a causeway, Muharrq Island to the north-east is the 
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state's second largest island, and home to Bahrain's International Airport, small 

businesses, a fishing community and the Arab shipbuilding and repair yard. In 

addition, a 25-kilometre causeway, joining Bahrain to Saudi Arabia, was opened in 

November 1986, and named in honour of King Fahd of Saudi Arabia. 

The people of Bahrain are largely Arab Muslims. Bahrain's population in 1999 

registered 666,000,63% of whom were Bahraini nationals. The rest were expatriates, 

mainly from India. Iran, Oman and the Far East. Arabic is the official language in 

Bahrain, although English is widely understood and used in international business. 

The average annual population growth was 3.6% over the decade leading up to 2000, 

and the average life expectancy stood at 71 years in 1999, up from 59 years during the 

1960's. In 1999, the total workforce reached over 283,00, of whom 40%, or 113,000, 

were locals. Approximately 15,000 Bahrainis are expected to enter the labour market 

over the next five years (EIU, Bahrain, 2000). 

Economic Background 

Even prior to the discovery of oil, Bahrain was an area of some importance and 

one of the wealthiest regions in the northern Gulf, mainly because of its pearls, as well 

as its position as a centre of agriculture and trade. With the discovery of oil in 1932, 

Bahrain became the first state among GCC countries to exploit its hydrocarbon 

resources. However, due to its very limited oil reserves compared with the Gulf other 

states, Bahrain was forced to diversify its economic base at an earlier stage, unlike 

other GCC countries. Nevertheless, the foundations of Bahrain's economy are based 

on the petroleum industry and transit trade. Oil refining is also important; crude 

petroleum is supplied through a pipeline from Saudi Arabia. 

At current prices, Bahrain's gross domestic product (GDP) reached US$7,300 

million in 2000, compared with US$6,800 million in 1999. Bahrain imposes no taxes 
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on income or corporate profits. Instead, it raises a substantial portion of its revenue 

(63.29 % in 1999) from state-owned enterprises and government-owned property. In 

1999, government expenditures equalled 27.7 % of GDP. 

The government consumes 20.8 % of GDP. It also owns significant portions of 

some industries, including oil, which accounts for most of the country's GDP. In 

1999, Bahrain received 63.29 % of its revenue from state-owned enterprises and from 

government ownership of property. 

Over the past 20 years, Bahrain succeeded in establishing itself as a leading 

financial centre for the Arabian Gulf region and the Arab world. It is relatively easy to 

establish a bank; there are few, if any, restrictions or requirements on new banks, and 

foreign banks are welcome (Driscoll and Holmes, 2002). 

2.2.2.2 Kuwait 

General background 

Kuwait lies at the northeast corner of the Arabian Gulf, which shares its eastern 

border. To the southwest is the border with the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, and to the 

northwest lies the Republic of Iraq. Due to its geographical location, Kuwait is 

considered an outlet to the northeast of the Arab peninsula. 

The distance from the most remote location on the northern border and its 

counterpart on the southern border is about 200 kilometres and between the east and 

west borders, on longitude 29 degree, about 170 kilometres. The length of the border 

is approximately 685 kilometres. The border on the Persian Gulf, to the east, is 195 

kilometres; that shared with the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (to the south and the west) 

is 490 kilometres, and that with the Republic of Iraq (which lies to the north and 

west), about 250 kilometres. 
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Kuwait covers an area of 17.818 square kilometres, most of which is desert. The 

heights of Shigaya and Salmi in the west gently give way to lower ground on 

approaching sea level in the east. Occasionally, the flat landscape is broken by small 

eminences such as Al-Liyah. Kura Al-Maru, Shagat A1-Jleeb, and Afrie. Ahmadi Hill, 

reaching a height of 137 metres, provides some relief to the uninteresting terrain of 

southern Kuwait. Kuwait's principal city, also named Kuwait, is the capital. Other 

important cities are Ahmadi and Jahra. Kuwait's population reached 2.25 million in 

1999, of which approximately more than 65% were expatriates. Despite plans to 

restrict the foreign population after liberation, Kuwaitis accounted for just 34.2% of 

the population, even with a population growth rate of 5% for Kuwaiti citizens in 1999. 

Non-Kuwaitis, therefore, constituted 65.8% of the population; down from 72% in 

1985. Meanwhile, the expatriate population grew by 6.5% in 1999. The majority of 

the expatriate population are from Iran, India, Egypt and South-East Asia. The official 

language in Kuwait is Arabic, but English is widely spoken (EIU, Kuwait, 2000). 

Economic background 

The Kuwaiti economy is dominated by petroleum, which accounts for some 95% 

of total export earnings and around 40% of nominal GDP. The manufacturing sector, 

which accounted for 25% of nominal GDP in 1999, is itself dominated by petroleum 

downstream industries, such as oil refining and petrochemicals. The first discovery of 

oil was in Burgan in 1938. The development of these resources, however, was almost 

immediately halted by the outbreak of the Second World War in the following year. 

Following the resumption of operations at the close of the war, Kuwait's first oil 

export took place in 1946. Since that date, Kuwait's rich oil resources have been 

tapped over various areas including Al-Muqawa, Raudhatain, Managish, Umm 

Qadeer and others (EIU, Kuwait, 2000). 
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Real GDP growth rates have fluctuated dramatically since 1990 as a result of the 

Iraqi invasion and volatile oil prices. At current prices, the value of all goods and 

services produced by the nation, as measured by GDP, was US$37,8 million in 2000, 

compared to US$29,6 million in 1999 and US$25,4 million in 1998. The oil sector's 

contribution to GDP decreased from US$13,759 million in 1999, to US$12,279.33 

million in 2000 as a result of the low oil price on the world market (Driscoll and 

Holmes, 2002). 

Kuwait has no income tax and no corporate tax (except on foreign firms). In 

1999, government expenditures equalled 43.5 % of GDP. The government consumes 

about 27 % of GDP. Most of the GDP comes from oil production, nearly all of which 

is owned by the government. In 1999, Kuwait received 85.15 % of its revenues from 

state-owned enterprises and from government ownership of property. From 1991 to 

2000, Kuwait's weighted average annual rate of inflation stood at 2.69 %. 

Banking in Kuwait is competitive. There are seven commercial banks that have 

125 branches and offer the usual banking services, and three government-owned 

banks, which grant medium- and long-term financing. Banks are relatively free of 

government control, but there are ties between the state and the banking sector. 

According to the U. S. Department of State: 

"Government ownership is common in other sectors of the economy, 
including banking and insurance, in part as a result of stock interests 
acquired during rescue programs following the crash of the `Souk 
Almanakh'stock market in 1982. The government divested a large part 
of these holdings between 1995 and 1998 but has since suspended the 
program due to a weak local stock market. " 

The government affects the allocation of credit by restricting the types of collateral to 

which creditors may have recourse if a borrower defaults on a loan (Driscoll and 

Holmes, 2002). 
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2.2.2.3 Sultanate of Oman 

General background 

The Sultanate of Oman is located in the southeast corner of the Arabian 

Peninsula. It is the second largest country in the Arabian Peninsula, and has a total 

land area of 300,000 square kilometres, with a coastline, which extends for 1,700 

kilometres. The long coastline enables Oman to dominate the vital trade routes along 

the Arabian Sea and the Gulf of Oman. To the west, Oman borders Saudi Arabia and 

the United Arab Emirates; to the south, the Republic of Yemen; to the North the Strait 

of Hormus, and to the east the Arabian Sea. Geographically, Oman falls into a number 

of distinct areas; the Muscat Area, the Batinah plain, the Western Hajar (Rock) 

Mountains, the Interior Aljoof, the Dhahira Area, the Sharqiya Area, the Barr al- 

Hikman, the southern region (Dhofar) and the Musandam. The capital is Muscat, 

which includes the following districts: the old capital Muscat: the larger and more 

modern Muttrah with its traditional souk: Ruwi, the centre for shopping, business and 

banking; and Seeb, where the international airport is situated. 

Oman's population stood at 2,32 million in 1999, of which some 612,836 were 

expatriates. The average annual indigenous population growth rate was 3%. The 

majority of the population lives in the towns and villages of the Batinah coastal plain, 

which contains 40% of Oman's cultivated land. The people of Oman are Arab 

Muslim, composed of the majority ruling Ibadi, a minority of Sunni and a smaller 

number of Shiites. The majority of the expatriate population come from India and 

Egypt. The official language in Oman is Arabic, but many officials and businessmen 

also speak English. Swahili and Urdu are also sometimes spoken (EIU, Oman, 2000). 
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Economic background 

Oman, an absolute monarchy that has been ruled by Sultan Qaboos bin Said al- 

Said since 1970, has enjoyed considerable political stability, although there is long- 

term uncertainty about succession because the sultan has produced no heirs. Oman's 

small economy is dominated by the oil industry, which accounts for about 40 % of 

GDP and provides about 75 % of export earnings and government revenues. The 

country's 4 billion barrels of proven oil reserves are projected to last 20 years at the 

current rates of production. The sultanate, therefore, seeks to reduce its dependence on 

oil exports by diversifying the economy, primarily to natural gas-based industry. 

Oman has moved cautiously toward privatisation, but much remains to be done. 

At current prices, the value of all goods and services produced by the nation, as 

measured by GDP, rose from US$15,616 million in 1999, to US$15,375.72 million in 

2000. Income taxes are not imposed on individuals. The top corporate tax rate is 12 

per cent. In 1999, government expenditures equalled 30.98 % of GDP. The 

government consumes 26.09 % of GDP and owns nearly all of the country's oil 

production. In 1999, Oman received 61.91 % of its total revenues from state-owned 

enterprises and from government ownership of property (Driscoll and Holmes, 2002). 

Oman has a thriving banking sector comprised of 16 commercial banks, of which 

nine are foreign and seven are domestic (soon to be six when two domestic banks 

complete a merger). The government operates two specialized credit institutions that 

provide soft loans to Omani citizens. It also imposes some burdensome regulations on 

existing banks. According to the Economist Intelligence Unit, the government has 

instituted "regulations preventing local banks from investing heavily in real estate 

with their own resources, as well as restrictions on foreign-currency trading and on 

lending for investment in the Muscat Securities Market (MSM). The Central Bank 
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also restricts lending to no more than 15% of net worth to any one client and limits 

personal loans to 35% of banks' total loan portfolios. " Commercial banks may offer 

investment-banking services, provided they obtain a license from the central bank. 

Investment in the local stock market is limited to Gulf Cooperation Council nationals, 

although foreigners may take part in mutual funds. The government has recently 

reformed the stock market to increase transparency and improve regulations, bringing 

the exchange more in line with accepted international practices (Driscoll and Holmes, 

2002) 

2.2.2.4 Qatar 

General background 

Qatar is a peninsula situated on the western cost of the Arabian Gulf. The total 

area of the country is 11,437 square kilometres, including a number of islands. It 

extends some 160 kilometres from the north to the south and a maximum of 80 

kilometres from east to west. It is bordered by the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia to the 

south and west, and the United Arab Emirates to the southeast. Qatar also shares 

maritime boundaries with Bahrain and Iran. The peninsula of Qatar is located between 

24° 27 and 26° 10' north, latitude, and 50° 45' and 51 ° 40' east, longitude. 

Barren, flat, desert, and rocky best describe the terrain in the south. By way of 

compensation, some greenery is found in the north of the country. Within its 

boundaries are a number of small islands. One of these lies 80 kilometres off the 

eastern coast of the mainland. Its name is Halul. Its importance lies in the fact that it is 

at the heart of the offshore oil production. 

The main population centre and the national capital is Doha. About 35 kilometres 

to its south lies Mesaieed, which was first developed as Qatar's oil-loading terminal 
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and is now a centre for heavy industry. In the west, Dukhan is the focus of the on- 

shore oil industry, with Umm Bab, to its south, as the site of a cement plant. There are 

a few other permanent settlements in the country, all of which are located in the 

peninsula's northern half. 

Like their neighbours in Saudi Arabia, most Qataris are Sunni Muslims. Current 

estimates put the population at 560,000 including expatriates, in 1999. Approximately 

60% of the population lives in Doha and its immediate surrounding. The native 

population is characterized by its youths (about 30% is under the age of 15), and the 

annual population growth rate from 1993 to 2000 is estimated to be 1.9%. The official 

language is Arabic, but most people in government and business have a working 

knowledge of the English language (EIU, Qatar, 2000). 

Economic background 

Qatar, energy-rich, rapidly modernizing Arabian Gulf emirate, has been ruled by 

the al-Thani family since gaining independence from Great Britain in 1971. Its rapidly 

growing economy is dominated by the oil industry, which accounts for more than 35 

% of GNP. Qatar has 3.7 billion barrels of proven oil reserves; it also has the world's 

third largest natural gas reserves after Russia and Iran with more than 7 trillion cubic 

metres, or about 5% of the world's total reserves. Qatar's ruler, Sheikh Hamad bin 

Khalifa al-Thani, has undertaken a bold programme of political and economic reform 

since coming to power in 1995 after ousting his father. Qatar has sought to diversify 

and modernize its economy, which has surged at a robust rate because of high oil and 

gas prices (Driscoll and Holmes, 2002). 

At current prices, the value of all goods and services produced by the nation, as 

measured by GDP, was US$13,000 million in 2000, compared to US$12,851 million 

in 1999, and US$9,800 million in 1998. The government does not impose income 
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taxes on individuals; the top corporate tax rate is 35 %. In 1999, government 

expenditures equalled 48.9 % of GDP. From 1991 to 2000, Qatar's weighted average 

annual rate of inflation was 1.54 % (Driscoll and Holmes, 2002). 

Qatar's government controls most of the financial services industry. The banking 

sector consists of 14 commercial banks, six of which are domestically owned and hold 

80 % of total assets. According to the Economist Intelligence Unit, the Qatar National 

Bank holds nearly 50% of total deposits and handles most of the government's 

business. It is also "the only local bank to be involved in funding Qatar's 

hydrocarbons development programme, although other banks have now begun to 

participate in such deals in a limited way. " The Central Bank discourages banks from 

making investments in foreign stock market operations and prohibits them from 

lending an amount greater than 7% of a bank's assets to any single customer, whether 

an individual, company, or group of companies (Driscoll and Holmes, 2002). 
. 

2.2.2.5 Saudi Arabia 

General background 

The Kingdom of Saudi Arabia covers over 70% of the Arabian Peninsula, 

encompassing a territory of about 2.25 million square kilometres. The country is 

bordered by the Red Sea to the west and by the Arabian Gulf, Qatar, the United Arab 

Emirates and Oman to the east. Iraq, Kuwait and Jordan lie to the north and Yemen to 

the south. Saudi Arabia consists of five main regions: (a) The Eastern Region, where 

most of its oil reserves are located. Some 13 per cent of Saudi Arabia's total 

population live in this region. The main cities are Al-Hasa, Al-Khober, Dhahran, 

Dammam and the industrial city of Jubail; (b) about 34% of the population live in the 

Western Region, called Hijaz, where the important cities are Makkah, Medinah, 

Jeddah, Taif, and the industrial city of Yanboa; (c) the Central Region which is home 
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to about 25% of the total population. The main cities in this region are Riyadh, the 

capital city, Buraidah, Onaiza, and Al-Kharj; (d) the South-West Region holds 16 per 

cent of the population. Its main cities are Khamis Mushait, Abha, Jizan and Najran; 

and; (e) the Northern Region, where some 12 per cent of the Kingdom's total 

population live, the majority in the cities of Tabuk, Hail, Ar'ae and Sakakah. The 

Rub' Al-Khali (Empty Quarter) located in the southeast of the Kingdom is a wide 

expanse of sterile and unpopulated land. 

In 1999 Saudi Arabia's total population stood at 19.95 million, of which 73% 

were Saudi Nationals. Saudi Arabia's population is expected to grow by some 3.3% 

per year in the period 1995-2000. The majority of the expatriate population come 

from Egypt, India, Pakistan and South-East Asia. Arabic is the official and universally 

used language in Saudi Arabia (EIU, Saudi Arabia, 2000). 

Economic background 

Saudi Arabia is the largest Arabian Gulf monarchy and has the largest proven oil 

reserves in the world: over 260 billion barrels of oil, or about 25 per cent of the 

world's known reserves. As the world's foremost oil exporter, it also dominates the 

Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries (OPEC). The petroleum sector 

accounts for about 90 per cent of export earnings and has been bolstered by higher oil 

prices in 1999-2000. Crown Prince Abdullah has pushed for the removal of barriers to 

foreign investment, and new regulations designed to encourage foreign investment 

were approved in April 2000 (Driscoll and Holmes, 2002). 

At current prices, the value of all goods and services produced by the nation, as 

measured by GDP, was US$ 164,935 million in 2000, compared to US$ 139,200 

million in 1999 and US$ 128,530 in 1998. Saudi Arabia's top income tax rate is 30 

per cent; the average taxpayer is in the 10 per cent bracket. The top marginal 
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corporate tax rate is 45 per cent. In 1999, government expenditures equalled 30.8 per 

cent of GDP (EIU, Saudi Arabia, 2000). 

The banking system is tied to the health of the oil sector and therefore is closely 

tied to the government, which owns the oil. The Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency 

(SAMA, the central bank) maintains tight control of the 10 domestic commercial 

banks. The banking sector remains closed to all new foreign investment despite 

reform of the foreign investment laws. Foreigners cannot own more than 49 per cent 

of domestic banks; instead, the government favours joint ventures between foreign 

banks and existing Saudi banks (Driscoll and Holmes, 2002). 

2.2.2.6 The United Arab Emirates (UAE) 

General background 

The United Arab Emirates (UAE) is a federation of seven states: Abu Dhabi, 

Dubai, Sharjah, Ajman, Umm Al-Quwain, Ras Al-Khaimah and Fujairah. It is located 

in the eastern part of the Arabian Peninsula. The UAE is bordered by Oman to the 

northeast, by Saudi Arabia to the south and west, and by the Arabian Gulf to the 

north. It covers 77,700 square kilometres and has 700 kilometres of coastline, 100 

kilometres of which are situated on the Gulf of Oman. Abu Dhabi and Dubai are the 

two largest emirates and two of the most important, the third being Sharjah. 

Of the whole territory known as the United Arab Emirates, Abu Dhabi accounts 

for between 85 and 90 per cent, chiefly owing to the overwhelming pre-eminence of 

its coastline that stretches over 400 kilometres. Its entire land area covers about 

67.340 square kilometres, and its capital city, which is also the capital of the UAE, 

bears the same name. 
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Second in size, with an area of 3,885 square kilometres, is Dubai to the northeast 

of its much bigger neighbour. Its share of the total area of the UAE is a mere 5 per 

cent. Situated alongside a natural, deep-water creek, what Dubai lacks in size it makes 

up for in other ways, since the city of Mina Rashid is the busiest port in the whole of 

the Gulf, and is the centre of commerce for the entire UAE. 

Further along the route from Abu Dhabi, through Dubai, lies Sharjah. It is 

contained within an area of 2,590 square kilometres. Like Abu Dhabi, it shares its 

name with its capital, which is nine kilometres from Dubai. Other towns of 

significance in this particular emirate are Dibb, Khor Fakkan, Kalba and Dhaid. The 

population recorded in 1999, including expatriates, was 2.94 million. Abu Dhabi had 

the highest population, 1,017,000, followed by Dubai, with 727,000, and Sharjah, 

with 402,000. The population of the other emirates was estimated to be 374,000 in 

total. Average annual population growth was 5.5 per cent in 1993-1999. About three- 

quarters of all inhabitants are expatriates. The majority of the expatriate population 

come from India, Egypt, Iran, Pakistan and Southeast Asia. Expatriates are estimated 

to account for more than 90 per cent of the work force. The official language is 

Arabic, but English is widely understood and used as a second language in commerce 

(EIU, UAE, 2000). 

Economic background 

The United Arab Emirates is an oil-rich federation of seven small Arab 

monarchies in the Persian Gulf region (Abu Dhabi, Ajman, Dubai, Fujairah, Ras Al- 

Khaimah, Sharjah, and Umm al-Qaiwain) that became independent in 1971 when 

Great Britain withdrew from the Gulf. The UAE's economy has benefited from high 

oil prices and generates one of the world's highest per capita incomes. Oil and gas 

production provides about one-third of GDP, and energy reserves could last for more 
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than 100 years at the current rates of production. The federal government has 

encouraged the diversification and privatisation of the economy. Dubai has taken the 

lead in encouraging foreign investment, while Abu Dhabi, which accounts for about 

90 per cent of oil production, is also seeking foreign investment in limited sectors of 

the economy (Driscoll and Holmes, 2002). 

At current prices, the value of all goods and services produced by the nation, as 

measured by GDP, rose from US$52,163 million in 1999, to US$67,119 million in 

2000. The UAE has no income tax, no corporate tax, and no other significant taxes. In 

1999, government expenditures equalled 18.4 per cent of GDP. From 1991 to 2000, 

the UAE's weighted average annual rate of inflation was 2.34 per cent (EIU. UAE, 

2000). 

The UAE's banking system is large and competitive. There are 20 domestic and 

27 foreign commercial banks. The government still owns some banks; at the same 

time, however, its largely liberal economic policies have led to the proliferation of 

private banks. The UAE has no corporate income tax, but there is a 20 per cent tax on 

bank earnings. However, as a condition of membership in the World Trade 

Organization, the UAE will be required to end the current restriction on allowing new 

foreign banks into the country (Driscoll and Holmes, 2002). 

2.3 Accounting Authorities in GCC Countries 

In order to complete the topic related to the overview of GCC countries, it is 

important to give background about the main accounting authorities in GCC 

countries. The following subsections provide a brief description of the main 

accounting authorities that set the accounting and auditing standards and promote 

accounting research. 
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2.3.1 The Saudi Organization for Certified Public Accountants (SOCPA) 

SOCPA was established by a royal decree in 1992 along with a new public 

accountants' law. The royal decree attached SOCPA to the Ministry of Commerce. 

SOCPA has seven objectives: 

" To issue accounting and auditing standards; 

9 To set up relevant professional exams; 

" To establish continuing education procedures; 

" To undertake and promote accounting research; 

" To publish accounting and auditing journals and other literature; 

" To monitor public accountants' adherence to the relevant laws; and 

0 To participate in symposia, conferences and committees that relate to the 

profession, both locally and internationally. 

SOCPA is governed by a board of 13 members chaired by the minister of 

commerce. The other twelve members are: 

" The deputy minister of commerce and trade; 

41 The deputy minister of finance and national economy and finance; 

9 The deputy chairman of the General Auditing Bureau; 

" Two Saudi academics; 

9A representative from the Council of Chambers of Commerce and 

Industry; and 

0 Six practising certified public accountants elected by the general 

assembly of SOCPA. 

The board is required to meet at least every three months to discuss the issues 

concerning the agency. Among the agency's responsibilities is the creation of six sub 
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committees that are responsible for the major operations of the agency. These 

committees are: 

" The financial accounting standards committee; 

" The auditing standards committee; 

0 The professional ethics committee; 

9 The examinations committee; 

9 The professional performance quality review committee; and 

" The educational and training committee. 

These committees generally consist of eight or nine members. who are a mix of 

accounting practitioners, academics, private sector representatives, and governmental 

officials. The academics have a high proportion of representation in most of the 

committees. In fact, they have the highest proportion of representation in total. This 

fact reflects the importance attached to academics in the development of the 

accounting profession in Saudi Arabia (Al-Razeen, 1999). 

2.3.2 The GCC Accounting and Auditing Organization (GCCAAO): 

The GCC Accounting and Auditing Organization (GCCAAO) was established 

pursuant to a decision taken by the GCC Superior Council during its session held in 

Abu-Dhabi on December 7-9-1998. The GCCAAO, represented in its directors, 

studied carefully a proposed approach for the GCCAAO's strategic planning, 

approved it, and decided to prepare a strategic plan that consists of a comprehensive 

programme to achieve the following objectives specified in the GCCAAO 

regulations: 
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1- To review, develop, prepare and approve professional and auditing standards 

according to the rules of conducts and professional ethics, taking into 

consideration the international standards and the experiences of professional 

organizations in GCC countries; 

2- To develop and unify methods of organizing the profession, including the 

amendment and unification of regulation, rules and licensing procedures; 

3- To establish the rules required for the CPA fellowship examination and its 

implementation, including the professional practice and academic aspects of the 

accounting practices; 

4- To promote professional practices and conduct CPA programmes; 

5- To establish an appropriate quality review programme to follow up on and evaluate 

professional performance; 

6- To conduct and encourage research studies and translation and publication of 

books, periodicals and bulletins related to the accounting and auditing profession 

and other associated disciplines, together with the enrichment of the accounting 

theory, academically and professionally; 

7- To coordinate with and support associations and bodies concerned with the 

development of the accounting and auditing profession as well as with 

practitioners; and 

8- To unify the accounting and quality control terminologies. 

The organization's affairs are managed by a Board of Directors 

consisting of nineteen members: 

1- A representative of the ministry of commerce in each GCC country; 

2- A member from each Accountants and Auditors Society in GCC 

countries; 

36 



3- Two GCC citizens from the academic staff of accounting departments at 

GCC universities; 

4- A GCC representative of the users of financial statements from the 

Council of Chambers of Commerce and Industry; 

5- Two GCC citizens as representatives of Central Banks in GCC 

countries; 

6- A GCC citizen representative from the Stock Exchange Market; and 

7- A member of the GCC General Secretariat. 

In 2002, the organization prepared questionnaire for a GCCAAO Strategic 

Plan in order to support it in achieving its objectives (GCCAAO, 2002). 

2.3.3 Accounting and Auditing Organization for Islamic Financial Institutions 

(AAOIFI): 

The accounting and Auditing Organization for Islamic Financial Institution 

(AAOIFI), formerly known as the Financial Accounting Organization for Islamic 

Banks and Financial Institutions, was established in accordance with the Agreement 

of Association signed by Islamic financial institutions on 1 Ramadan 1411H, 

corresponding to 27 March, 1991, in the State of Bahrain, as an international 

autonomous non-profit making corporate body. 

The objectives of AAOIFI are: 

1- To develop the accounting and auditing practice through relevant to Islamic 

financial institutions; 

2- To disseminate accounting and auditing principles and applications relevant to 

Islamic financial institutions through training seminars and the publication of 

periodical newsletter and the commissioning of research and other means; 
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3- To prepare, promulgate and interpret accounting and auditing standards for Islamic 

financial institutions; 

3- To review and amend accounting and auditing standards for Islamic financial 

institutions. 

Organizational Structure: 

A- General Assembly: 

The general assemblies are composed of all founding associate members and 

observer members. Observer members have the right to participate in the meetings of 

the General Assembly but have right to vote. The General Assembly is the supreme 

authority and convenes at least once a year. 

B- Board of Trustees: 

The board of trustees is composed of fifteen part-time members who are 

appointed by the General Assembly for a three-year term. Members of the Board of 

Trustees represent the following various categories: regulatory and supervisory 

bodies, Islamic financial institution, the Shariah Supervisory Boards, organizations 

and associations responsible for regulating the accounting profession and/or 

responsible for preparing accounting and auditing standards, certified accountants and 

users of the financial statements of Islamic financial institutions. The conditions for 

electing these members are specified in Article 11 of the statute. 

The Board of Trustees meets at least once a year. With the exception of the 

proposal to amend the statute of AAOIFI, which requires the vote of three-quarters of 

the members of the board of trustees on all maters before resolutions are adopted by 

the majority of the members voting. In case of a tie, the chairperson shall have the 

casting vote. 
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The powers of the Board of Trustees include the following: 

1- Appointment of members of AAOIFI boards and termination of their 

membership in accordance with the provisions of the statute; 

2- Arrangement of sources of finance for AAOIFI and investment of those 

resources; 

3- Appointment of two members from amongst the members of the board of 

Trustees to the Executive Committee; and 

4- Appointment of the Secretary General. 

C- Accounting and Auditing Standards Board: 

The Accounting and Auditing Standards Board is composed of fifteen part-time 

members who are appointed by the Board of Trustees for a four-year term. Members 

of the Standards Board represent the following various categories: regulatory and 

supervisory bodies, Islamic financial institutions, Shariah supervisory boards, 

university professors, organizations and associations responsible for regulating the 

accounting profession and/or responsible for preparing accounting and auditing 

standards, certified accountants, and users of the financial statements of Islamic 

financial institutions. 

The powers of the Standards Board include, among others, the following: 

1- Preparation, adoption and interpretation of accounting and auditing 

statements, standards and guidelines for Islamic financial institutions; 

2- Preparation and adoption of a code of ethics and educational standards 

related to the activities of Islamic financial institutions; 

3- Review, with the aim of making additions, deletions or amendments, of 

accounting and auditing statements, standards and guidelines; and 
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4- Preparation and adoption of the due process for the preparation of 

standards as well as regulations and by-laws of the Standards Board. 

The Standards Board meets at least twice every year and the majority of the votes 

of the members voting adopt their resolutions. In case of a tie. the chairperson of the 

Standards Board shall have the casting vote. 

D- Shariah Board: 

The Shariah Board is composed of not more than fifteen members to be 

appointed by the Board of Trustees for a four-year term from among high scholars 

who represent the Shariah supervisory board in Islamic financial institution that are 

members of the AAOIFI, and the Shariah supervisor boards in central banks. 

The powers of the Shariah board include, among other things, the following: 

I- Achieving the harmonization and convergence of concepts and applications 

among the Shat-iah supervisory boards of Islamic financial institutions to 

avoid contradiction or inconsistency between the fant'as and applications by 

these institutions, thereby, providing a pro-active role for the Shariah 

supervisory boards of Islamic financial institutions and central banks; 

2- Helping in the development of Shariah approved instruments, thereby 

enabling Islamic financial institutions to cope with the developments taking 

place in instruments and formulas in the fields of finance, investment and 

other banking services; 

3- Examining any inquires referred to the Shariah boards from Islamic financial 

institutions or from their Shariah supervisory boards either to give the Shariah 

opinion on matters requiring collective ljtihad (reasoning), or to settle 

divergent points of view or to act as an arbitrator; and 
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4- Reviewing the standards issued by AAOIFI on accounting, auditing and codes 

of ethic and related statements throughout the various stages of the due 

process to ensure that their compliance with the rules and principles of the 

Islamic Shariah.. 

E- Executive Committee: 

The Executive Committee is composed of seven members. Three members are 

appointed from each of the Board of Trustees and the Standards board, in addition to 

the Secretary-General. The Executive Committee has the power to discuss among 

other things, operational plans, the annual budget and finances, and has also the power 

to approve the employment according to the laws and financial regulations of the 

AAOIFI. The Executive Committee meets at least twice at the request of the 

Secretary-General or as and when required at the request of either its Chairman or the 

Secretary-General. 

F- General Secretariat: 

The General Secretariat consists of the Secretary-General and the technical and 

administrative units. The secretary-general is the executive director of the AAOIFI. 

He coordinates the activities of the General Assembly, the Board of Trustees, the 

Standards Board, the Shariah Board, the Executive Committee and the subcommittees 

and acts as their reporter. The secretary-general runs the day-to-day affairs and 

activities and coordinates and supervises studies related to the preparation of 

statement standards and guidelines promulgated by the AAOIFI. His responsibilities 

also include strengthening ties between the AAOIFI and other organizations and 

representing the AAOIFI at conference seminars and scientific meeting. It is worth 

noting that more details about the AAOIFI and its role in accounting harmonization 

among Islamic financial institutions will be presented in the literature review. 
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2.4 Background of Islamic Economy 

Islamic financial institutions are considered to be one of the main applications of 

Islamic economy. Therefore, any study of Islamic financial institutions needs to give 

a reasonable introduction to Islam and Islamic economy in order to provide the 

necessary background for the types, mechanisms and activities of these institutions. 

2.4.1 Islam 

Islam is a comprehensive religion that is concerned with all aspects of life, 

including economic, social, political and moral issues. To explain this concept. we 

need to explain Islam. Islam is the last message or testament revealed by Allah (God) 

to all mankind through the last messenger Mohammed to urge them to submit 

themselves wholly to Him and surrender to His Divine Will in every detail of their 

everyday life. According to Chachi (1989), there are three main sources of Islam. 

These are: 

1. The Quran (Holy Book), which is the last and complete version of Islam 

revealed by Allah to his last messenger Mohammed to guide all humanity. 

Allah says in the Quran 5: 48: " To you (O MMMfohammed), we revealed the Book 

(Duran) in truth confirming the truth of whatever there still remains of earlier 

revelation (e. g., the Torah and the Gospels) and determining what is true 

therein ". 

2. The Sunnah (Tradition) of Prophet Mohammed, which means the sayings, 

actions of Mohammed. The Quran deals with the broad principles or essentials 

of Islam going into detail in very rare cases. Details were generally provided 

by Prophet Mohammed in his Sunnah. Only authentic Sunnah is binding on 

every Muslim (male/female). Sahih El-Bukhari (the collection of El-Bukhari) 
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and Sahih A'luslim (the collection of Muslim) contain all sorts of authentic and 

doubtful Hadiths, classified on the basis of their authenticity. 

3. Ijtihad, the word Ijtihnd is used to refer to the application of the faculty of 

reasoning by a religious scholar for the purpose of forming an opinion with 

respect to an issue on which there is little or nothing in the Quran or the 

Sunnah. 

The origin and basis of Islamic financial institutions is Shariah. i. e., Islamic law, 

and is sometimes referred to as Islamic Jurisprudence. The teaching of Islam 

encompasses the essence of the economic well being and development of Muslims at 

the individual, family society, state and "°u, innah" (or Islamic universal community) 

levels. Figure 2.1 illustrates the Islamic view of the life of a Muslim and the place of 

his/her economic activities, including banking and financial activities within the 

framework of such a view. 
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Figure 2.1: Islam, Shariah, Muamalat, Banking and Finance 

ISLAM 

AQIDAH SHARIAH AKHLAQ 
(faith & Belief) Practices & Activities) (Moralities & Ethics) 

IBADAT MUAMALAT 
(Man-to God Workship (Man-to-man Activities) 

POLITICAL ECONOMIC 
ACTIVITIES ACTIVITIES 

BANKING & FINANCIAL 
ACTIVITIES 

Source: Bank Islam Malaysia, (1994). 

SOCIAL 
ACTIVITIES 
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As shown in Figure 2.1, Islam may be perceived as comprising three basic 

elements. The first element is Aqidah (belief), which concerns all forms of faith and 

belief by a Muslim in Allah and His will, from the fundamental faith in His being to 

the ordinary beliefs in His individual commands (ahkam). The second is Shariah, 

which concerns all forms of practical actions by a Muslim manifesting his faith and 

belief. The third is Akhlaq (Morality), which concerns behaviour, attitude and work 

ethics with which a Muslim performs his practical actions. 

Shariah, being the practical aspect of a Muslim's daily life is then divided into 

two: Ibadat and Muamalat. Ibadat is concerned with the practicalities of a Muslim's 

worship to Allah, in the context of a man-to-Allah relationship, whereas Ahramalat is 

concerned with the practicalities of the mundane daily life, in the context of various 

forms of person-to-person relationship. A significant segment of iviu amalat is the 

conduct of a Muslim's economic activities within his/her economic system. And 

within this economic system is the banking and financial system where banking and 

financial activities are conducted. Thus in the Islamic scheme of life and the Shariah 

framework, a Muslim's banking and financial activities can be traced to his economic 

activities, to Muuamalat, to Shariah, to Islam, and finally to Allah. This is the root of 

Islamic banking and finance (Bank Islam Malaysia, 1994, Siddiqi 
,1 

994). 

2.4.2 Islamic Economy 

Islam sets the features and the rules of Islamic economy. This means that Islam 

does not recognize any separation between economic and spiritual affairs and 

considers trade and industry as a matter of morality subject to revealed doctrines 

(Karim, 1990). Consequently, Islamic economy means a complete system of 

economics with specific patterns of social and economic behaviour for all individuals. 
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It deals with a set of wide-ranging issues, such as property rights, the incentive 

system, allocation of resources, types of economic freedom, the system of economic 

decision-making and the proper role of the government (Abdul Rahman, 1994). 

Islamic economy is also understood as a set of rules which aim directly to solve 

economic problems in accordance with Islamic principles (Islamic law) in order to 

control relationships between people and their rights of ownership and expenditure 

(Katib, 1989). In addition, Islamic economy has many features that distinguish it from 

other economies. These features are: 

1- Islam admits the right to private ownership but does not consider it to be 

an absolute and unconditional right, which is bound to cause disorder on 

earth. In other words, Islam balances between private ownership and 

public ownership by ordering the rich to use their money to help in the 

development of their society (Chachi, 1989). 

2- Islam prohibits meanness, as this is assumed to stop the wheel of economy 

rolling in society. 

3- Islam gives rise to a unique system of social responsibility "Zakat". The 

Zakat is the third of the five major pillars (principles) of the Islamic faith. 

Among these five pillars, Zakat is a compulsory duty. All moneys must 

depreciate by laps of time and it is the duty of the Islamic state to impose 

and collect the tax or rate of depreciation in accordance with Shariah (Al- 

Utaibi, 1999; and Abu Saud, 1980). 

4- Islam prohibits monopoly, because it is harmful to society through as it 

leads to the increase the prices of goods and services, which in turn causes 

hardship to the poor. 
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5- Islam considers that the mobilization of savings is essential. It prohibits the 

hoarding of savings and demands their productive use for the realization of 

the socio-economic goals of Islam (Chapra, 1986). 

6- Islam prohibits illegal profit making, as well as the Riba (usury), because 

of their harmful effects on Islamic society, as will be clarified in the 

following section. 

2.4.3 Riba (interest) and the Concept of Profit and Loss Sharing (PLS) 

Before looking at the religious attitudes towards Riba, it is important to know the 

meaning of Riba. In Islam Riba technically refers to the `premium' that must be paid 

by the borrower to the lender along with the principal amount as a condition for the 

loan, or for an extension to its maturity (Chapra, 1986). In fact Islamic scholars 

equate Riba to interest. According to (Abu Saud, 1980, pp. 77): 

"Interest is Riba: all sorts of lending money against interest (i. e., 
increment to be paid to the lender at the due date over above his 
principal debt) is prohibited usury. Any stale following Islamic laws must 
legally prohibit such usurious dealing and must establish an appropriate 
system for borrowing without interest. " 

In fact, religions such as Judaism and Christianity prohibited Riba (usury) by 

their followers. The texts of the Old Testament, which refer either directly or 

indirectly to the practice of lending at interest, explicitly prohibited usury (interest) 

with respect to any Jew (brother), but permitted it from any non-Jew (Chapra, 1986). 

One of the texts of the New Testament not only forbids the taking of interest from 

the tribal brother but orders Christians to love even their enemies and to give them 

loans without expecting to receive even the principal (Dar and Presley, 1999). 

Gambling (1994, p. 4) discussed this point as follows: 

"However, a more compelling reason for me is the very fact that the 
Shariah rules for the conduct of business are not very different from 
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Christian Canon Law and the Law of Mosesay about business morality. 
Abort 700 years ago, Christian ecclesiastical courts regularly punished 
business people for the sin of "usury" which was exactly the same as riba 
... the only difference is that " the rise of capitalism " in Europe created so 
much pressure to do things otherwise that the Church eventually gave up 
hying to regulate business. " 

In Islam there are many texts in the Holy Quran about the prohibition of Rihcr 

(interest). Allah (God) says: 

"Those i i'ho benefit from interest shall be raised like those i, 'ho have been 
driven to madness by the touch of the Devil; this is because they say: 
"Trade is like interest " i>>hile God has permitted trade and . 

forbidden 
interest, Hence those who have received the admonition from their Lord 
and desist, may have what has already passed, their case being entrusted 
to God, - but those who revert shall be the inhabitants of the fire and abide 
therein or ever. (275) God deprives interest of all blessing but blesses 
charity; He loves not the ungrateful sinners (276) ". 

The main reason for the prohibition of Riba (interest) in Islam, as explained by 

Chapra (1986, p. 64), is as follows: 

"Islam wishes to establish an economic system where all forms of 
exploitation are eliminated, and particularly, the injustice perpetuated 
in the form of the financier being assured of a positive return without 
doing any work or sharing in the risk, ºtwhile the entrepreneur, in spite 
of his management and hard work, is not assured of such a positive 
return. Islam wishes to establish justice between the financier and the 
entrepreneur ". 

In other words, Riba (interest) causes unfair distribution of income in favour of 

the rich, because interest provides a guaranteed return for the lender, while the 

borrower pays interest irrespective of the result of the investments, whether it is 

success or failure (Atia, 1989). Interest also causes a change in the function of money, 

from a tool of exchange to a good. For example, the profit is a result of sales but Riha 

(interest) is a result of a loan. This means that a loan is exchanging two similar things 

(US Dollar with US dollar) i. e., the money has been transformed into goods (Sarhi, 

1995; and Katib, 1989). 

Islam is not against making money and there is no inherent conflict between the 

material and spiritual life. However, what is important is how money is made. Wages 
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and salaries are considered legitimate rewards for work. Islam recognizes private 

property and rent is seen as a proper reward for ownership responsibilities. Profit is 

also considered legitimate, as it is a return for risk taking and the anxieties that it often 

entails (IIIE, 1999; Wilson, 1997). 

When Islam prohibited Riba (interest), it replaced it by a unique system. In other 

words, Islam does recognize the role of capital as a factor of production. However, 

since the return on capital can be determined only after all costs have been accounted 

for, and may be either positive or negative, Islam prohibits a predetermined positive 

rate of return as interest. Islam requires profit-and-loss sharing in an equitable 

manner, whereby the financier shares in the losses, if any, in proportion to his capital 

in the business, if he/she wishes to have a share in the profit. 

The concept of profit-and-loss sharing (PLS) is based on the old Mecca practice 

of Mudaraba which has been adopted by Islam. There are two partners in the main 

form of Mudarabah: the Mudarib (provides work) and the Rab-al-mal (provides 

capital). The Mudarib has the knowledge and necessary skills to undertake an 

enterprise and the Rab-al-mal has the funds. The Mudarib has full control of the 

enterprise; the Rab-al-mal provides only the funds. The net profit of the enterprise is 

shared by the two parties equally, or in a prearranged fashion. When there is a loss, 

however, the total loss is borne only by. the Rab-al-mal (Gafoor, 1999). 

2.5 Islamic Financial Institutions 

In general, financial institutions include commercials banks, saving and loan 

associations, mutual saving banks, insurance companies and investment companies 

(Saunders and Cornett, 2001). However, in this study, Islamic financial institutions 
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focus on Islamic banks, Islamic investment companies and Islamic insurance 

companies (Takaful). 

2.5.1 Islamic Banks 

The idea of establishing Islamic Banks became a reality when the finance 

ministries of the Muslim countries agreed during the second conference (13 - 16 

August 1974) to establish the Islamic Development Bank. Since then a number of 

banking institutions have emerged showing steady progress (Zuwied, 1996). 

Islamic banks are established with the mandate of conducting all their 

transactions in conformity with Shariah (Islamic Law), which prohibit, among other 

things, the receipt and payment of interest. Unlike commercial banks. Islamic Banks 

mobilise funds primarily via investment accounts using profit and loss sharing (PLS) 

(Al-Deehani et al., 1999). This concept involves the participation of capital, labour, 

and various experiences without the intervention of interest, which is a common 

practice in conventional banks, but which also conflicts with the Islamic law. 

2.5.1.1 Sources of Funds in Islamic Banks 

The sources of Islamic banks' funds are as follows: 

1. Shareholders' funds: including the paid-up capital and all kinds of reserve 

(statutory and voluntary) and retained earnings. 

2. Investment Accounts: 

a. Limited period investment deposits are accepted by the Islamic bank 

for a specified period determined on the basis of the mutual consent of 

the depositor and the bank. The contract may terminate at maturity, 
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but profits are distributed and accounted for at the end of the fiscal 

year. 

b. Unlimited period investment deposit: These deposits are automatically 

renewable without specifying the period. Investment accounts are 

pooled with the shareholders' capital. They are not tied to any specific 

investment project, but are utilized in various financing operations of 

the bank. 

3. Restricted Investment Accounts: 

Islamic banks have developed these deposits with specific authorization to 

invest in a particular scheme. In this case, the bank works as an agent of 

the investor, or a A'ludarib, according to the contract. It may agree to 

perform this function for an agreed fee or may have a share in the profit. 

4. Saving Accounts: 

The bank accepts saving deposits into an investment pool and treats them 

as investment deposits. The depositors are given the right of withdrawal 

without notice, but the profits are calculated on the minimum balance 

maintained for a month. 

5. Current Accounts: 

These deposits are not entitled to any profits, nor do they bear any risk of 

loss, as the bank guarantees to pay the related balances on demand. 

Accordingly, these deposits are treated as Oard Hasan. to the bank, 

according to the Shariah principles. 

Quard Hasan: (interest - free loan) is used as a form of financing in which the client undertakes to 
repay the principal at a stipulated future time but on which no interest is charged, nor is other 
compensation given to the financier. 
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2.5.1.2 Profit Allocation in Islamic Banks 

Profit allocation in Islamic Banks is bound by a MLhidarabah contract. Therefore, 

it is important before discussing the process of profit allocation to define the 

Mudarabah contract. According to Karim (1994, p. 7) a AAludarabah contract is: 

"A contract between holders of investment accounts and the Islamic 
bank. According to this contract, the holders of investment accounts 
(called rabb-al-aural) provides capital and the Islamic Bank (called 
Mudarib) provides work. The profits are to be shared in the 
proportion agreed before the implementation of the contract. In the 
case of loss, investment account holders bear all net loss provided 
that there has been no violation of the stipulated contract or neglect 
on the part of the Islamic Bank. " 

This definition conforms to the early form of AI udarabah (unilateral inudarabah), 

which was known by early Islamic Jurists. Now, however, there is a practice known as 

bilateral Mudarabah, which is used by most Islamic banks. In this contract, the bank 

(shareholders) pools part of its equity with the pooled funds of investment account 

holders to finance its investment. Hence, the bank plays a dual role: as a provider of 

funds and a Mudarib. 

According to Al-Deehani et al. (1999), there are two methods often used by 

Islamic banks to govern the profit allocation between shareholders and investment 

account (investment accounts and saving accounts) holders, which hereafter will be 

classified as the "pooling method" and the "separation method". According to the 

pooling method, all sources of funds made available to the Islamic bank should share 

all revenues and expenses. But this would exclude revenues generated by subsidiary 

and affiliated companies, or the remuneration of the bank's directors and external 

auditors fees. Kuwait Finance House and Bahrain Islamic Banks are examples of 

Islamic banks that use this method. On the other hand, the separation method calls for 

segregating the revenues and expenses of investment operations from those of other 

banking services. Only investment account holders are allowed to share the revenue 
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and expenses related to their investment in the former type. Other revenues and 

expenses, including all administrative expenses and directors and auditors' 

remuneration, are borne solely by the shareholders. The Jordan Islamic Bank and the 

Faisal Islamic Bank in Sudan are examples of banks that use this method. 

In order to understand the profit allocation between shareholders and investment 

account holders (investment accounts and saving accounts) in Islamic bank, this 

process is presented in many steps (Karim, 1994b; and A1-Ashkar, 1987). In the first 

step, the Islamic bank allocates the net available profit for distribution. It then 

allocates the ratio of distribution of profit. This ratio indicates the bank's share in the 

profit as a Mudarib (provider of work). This ratio must be allocated in the beginning 

of the Mudarabah contract between the bank and investment accounts. The bank then 

allocates the amount of funds available for each shareholder and investment accounts 

pooled with the same investment. In some Islamic Banks, funds available to 

shareholders are allocated by their source, i. e., paid-up capital, reserves and retained 

profit. However, they do not contain the bank's fixed assets and investments, which 

are not part of the pool of investment. The amount of funds available for the Saving 

Accounts is allocated by the minimum monthly balance method, because these 

accounts are characterized by multiple deposits and withdrawals during the month. 

The average daily balance method is calculated by dividing the amount of daily 

balances for all kinds of investment accounts by the number of days of the year. This 

method is not used to allocate funds available for the investment accounts, because 

there is no partial allowance from these accounts. In the fourth step, the bank 

allocates the rate of available funds for investment. This means that the Islamic bank 

puts aside a part of the funds of the investment account from the investment, and this 

amount is guaranteed by the bank as well as the current account. The shareholders' 
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share is 100 per cent, but the funds available to investment accounts are allocated at 

different rates. Investment accounts are given a bigger proportion than investment 

saving accounts, because these accounts are needed for high liquidity requirement. 

Finally, the Islamic Bank allocates the profit by using these factors, i. e., the rate of 

investment, available funds and the ratio of the distribution of profit to allocate the 

profit between the shareholders and investment accounts. This method is called the 

"Weightage method". 

In May 1996, the AAOIFI issued Financial Accounting Standard No. 5, known as 

"Disclosure of Bases for Profit Allocation Between Equity Holders and Investment 

Account Holders". The purpose of this standard of disclosure of the bases for profit 

allocation between owners' equity and investment account holders is to establish rules 

that regulate the disclosure of such profit allocation in order to standardise the bases 

of disclosure of this information among Islamic financial institutions. 

2.5.1.3 Comparison between the Islamic and Conventional Banks 

There is no doubt that what distinguishes Islamic and conventional banks is their 

methods of gaining profit. Conventional banks operate credit, or interest-based 

finance, which means the bank is always guaranteed a fixed rate, or a percentage, that 

is, interest. The Islamic bank, in contrast, can provide pure services in accordance 

with profit and loss sharing (Mudar"abah and Musharakah). Figure 2.2 clarifies the 

last idea as follows: 
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Figure 2.2: Comparison between the mechanism of Islamic and conventional banks 

Islamic: 

(l) Funds for investment 
.......... 10 Bank Depositors . 

or..... 

__ (2) Principal are n profits 

Loan (1) 
Bank . No. 

Conventional: 
Depositors 

4--"-"-"-"-"-"-"-"-"-"-"-"- 
(2) Principal+ Interest 

Source: IIIE, 1999. 

The following Table 2.2 shows the differences between Islamic and conventional 

banks in the structures of assets and liabilities, i. e., sources and uses of funds. Table 

2.3 illustrates the previous idea of the relationship between the Islamic Bank 

(shareholders) and the depositors. In this relationship, Islamic banks depend on the 

concept of profit and loss sharing (PLS). This concept is participation between the 

capital (investment account holders), the work and various experiences (Islamic bank) 

without intervention of the idea of interest. In contrast, in conventional banks the 

relationship between the bank (shareholders) and the depositors is that of lender 

(depositors) and borrower (bank), where the interest that is determined at the outset 

and the profit is the difference between interest income and interest expenses. 
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Table 2.2 : Theoretical taxonomy of the statement of financial position of a 
prototype Islamic bank and prototype conventional bank 

Conventional Bank Islamic Bank 
Statement of Financial Position 

Assets 
Cash and cash equivalent xx 
Marketable securities xx 

Advances (to n customers) 
Standard loans 

Overdrafts 
Others 
Total 

Physical capital 

Total assets 

Liabilities& shareholders' equity 

Deposits (by n customers) 
Current account 
Saving account 
Time account 
Total 

Other borrowings 
Shareholders' equity 

xx 

Statement of Financial Position 
Assets 
Cash and cash equivalent 
Investment using financial 
Instruments: 

Musharakah Financing 
Mudaraba Financing 
Ijara 
Ijara-wa-Igtina 

xx Sales receivable: 
xx Murabahah 
xx Bai bithaman ajil 

Salam 
Istisna'a 

xx Physical capital 

xx Total assets 

Liabilities, equity of investment 

account holders & shareholders' 
equity 

xx 
xx 

xx 

xx 

xx 
xx 

xx 
xx 
xx 

xx 

xx 

xx 

Deposits (by n customers) 
xx Current account xx 
xx Equity of investment 
xx Account holders: 
xx Limited period xx 

Unlimited period xx 
Saving accounts xx 

Total xx 

xx 
xx Shareholders' equity xx 

Total Liabilities, equity of 
Total Liabilities& shareholders' investment account holders & 
equity xx shareholders' equity xx 
Source: Al-Deehani et al. (1999). 
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Table 2.3 : Theoretical taxonomy of the income statement of a prototype Islamic 
bank and prototype conventional bank 

Conventional Bank Islamic Bank 
Income Statement Income Statement 

Revenue Revenue 
Interest earnings xx Income from deferred sales and 
Fees and charges xx investments xx 

Less: 
Investment account holders' 

share of profit before bank's 
share as a mudarib xx 

Bank's share as a mudarib xx xx 
Bank' share in income from 

deferred sales and investments xx 
Bank's income from its own 

Investment xx 
Fees and charges xx 

Total revenue xx Total bank revenue xx 

Expenditure Expenditure 
Administrative expenses xx Administrative expenses xx 
Interest paid xx Others xx 
Total Expenditure xx Total Expenditure xx 

Profit (loss) before tax xx Profit (loss) before Zakat & tax xx 

Less: Tax xx Less: Zak-at & tax xx 
Profit after tax xx Profit after Zakat and tax xx 

Profit appropriation: Profit appropriation: 
Dividends xx Dividends xx 
Retained earnings xx Retained earnings xx 
Reserves xx Reserves xx 

Earning per share xx Earning per share xx 
Source: Al-Deehani et al. (1999). 

Clearly, Islamic banks work as commercial banks and investment companies at 

the same time. Islamic banks provide services for customers similar to those provided 

by commercial banks. These include hiring boxes, opening current accounts, 

international common products and services, letters of credit etc, except for the 

services that are prohibited in Shariah (Islamic law). According to Ahmed (1990), the 

operations of Islamic banks can be divided into three groups: 
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1- Services with charge: these are the services which the bank provides for its 

customers for a fee, for example, hiring boxes, transfer of money, etc; 

2- Investment of money on a Musharakah basis; and 

3- Services without charge, such as collection and distribution of Zakat, 

making interest-free loans to the poor and needy (Guard Hasssan), etc. 

Table 2.4 compares Islamic banks and conventional bank in terms of the products and 

services provided. 
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Table2.4 : Comparison between Islamic and conventional banks in products and 
services 

Commercial Loans & Services 
Conventional Bank Islamic Bank 

Property Financing (Murabahah) YY 
Overdrafts YN 
Business loans YN 
International Common Products & Services YY 
Letters of Credit YY 
Securities YY 
Trade/Commodity Pools NY 

Consumer Loans & Services 
Home Lending Y N 
Credit Cards Y Y 
Special Personal Loans Y N 
Overdrafts Y N 
Overseas Drafts Y Y 
Foreign Currency Y Y 
Cheque & Card Accounts y y 
Private Investment Portfolio Account Y Y 
Interest-free loans N Y 

Retail Banking Products & Services 
Home Lending YN 
Special Rate Term Deposits YN 
Credit & Bank's Card Accounts YN 
Cheque Accounts yy 

Leasing Operations 
Operating Lease yy 
Finance Lease yy 

Managed Investment 
Managed Investments (Funds Under 
Management, e. g. Superannuating Funds) Yy 
Fund Administration yy 

Other Bank's Products 
Insurance y N 
Collections Y N 
Travellers' cheques y Y 
Securities y y 
Y= Yes 
N= No 
Source: Hassan, N. A., (1994). 
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In fact, most Islamic banks are established as public companies with their capital 

divided into shares and offered for sale. The owners of these shares are the 

shareholders of the bank. In other words, Islamic banks are established on the basis of 

the Western company concept. A substantial difference, however, is that the Islamic 

banks have a Shariah Supervisory Board (SSB) to ensure that they carry out their 

transactions in accordance with Shariah (Islamic law). 

2.5.1.4 Functions of Islamic Banks 

Existing banks perform a number of functions that include functions normally 

performed by conventional banks. Some functions have been modified by Islamic 

banks because of the constraints imposed on them to operate in accordance with the 

Shariah. Moreover, there might be some differences in the functions performed by 

Islamic banks. Hence, it would be difficult to provide a list of functions performed by 

each bank. According to Al-Fadhli (1998) and Boodai (1980), there is a list of 

functions that can be identified as performed by most Islamic banks: 

1- Opening accounts for individual and companies and accepting cash deposits 

for safe custody and investment, both in local and foreign currency; 

2- Purchase and sale of gold bullion; 

3- Purchase and sale of foreign exchange on the spot rate only; 

4- Issue of letter of credit; 

5- Issue of guarantee; 

6- Provision of short-term financing against collateral in the form of commercial 

papers at agreed commercial yield without interest; 

7- Collection and processing of drafts, cheques, promissory notes, bills of 

lending on commission; 
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8- Purchase and sale of shares, certificates of investment, financial papers and 

bonds without interest; 

9- Establishment and management of special funds for socially desirable 

purposes, e. g. investment in trade, agriculture, industry or real estate; 

10- Provision of finance on the basis of Mudarabah; 

11-Provision of finance on the basis of Musharakah; 

12- Provision of finance on the basis of decreasing participation; 

13- Operation of specified investment account; 

14- Direct investment by the bank; 

15- Leasing of machines, equipment, apparatus and tools; 

16- Sale and purchase of real estate; 

17- Carrying out agency functions by appointing agents and working as agents; 

18- Sale and purchase for others on a pre-agreed profit basis (Murabahah); 

19- Establishment of solidarity and security funds in order to cover deficits, in 

conformity with Islamic laws of co-operation; and 

20- Provision of technical, economic, financial, management and marketing 

consultancy services for the preparation of project feasibility studies. 

2.5.2 Islamic Investment Companies 

Islamic investment companies are engaged in all the activities of Islamic banks, 

except the banking services mentioned earlier. As is the case with Islamic banks, all 

activities of these companies are required to be carried out in compliance with the 

Shariahh. 
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Islamic companies are engaged in the following activities: 

1- Mediation and Brokerage; 

2- All financial transactions in accordance with Islamic Shariah and Regulations; 

3- Provision of consumers with credit facilities; 

4- Participation in establishing companies and dealing in purchasing and selling 

the shares of these and other companies; 

5- Engagement in Stock Exchange transactions; 

6- Management of financial portfolios, investment and development of 

customers' funds; 

7- Investment in real estate, manufacturing, agricultural and other sectors of 

economy; 

8- Real estate investments for the purpose of developing residential land and 

construction of commercial residential complexes with the intention of sale or 

rent; and 

9- Carrying out research and studies of capital employment and rendering 

various related services. 

2.5.3 Islamic Insurance Companies (Takafiul) 

Islamic insurance aims at providing the service offered by conventional insurance 

to the insured (policyholder) but in a legitimate cooperative manner free of any 

gharar (uncertainty) that renders the contract voidable, Riba (interest) and other 

prohibitions. In Islamic insurance, the insured pays contributions that are wholly or 

partially donated to form an insurance portfolio from which indemnity is paid when 

the insured risk occurs. Any surplus funds left after payment of indemnities and 
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expenses and after transfer to reserves is distributed among the insured 

(policyholders) (Moore, 1997, and Wilson, 1997). 

2.5.3.1 The Mechanism of Islamic Insurance 

In Islamic insurance, there must be a clear separation of policyholders and 

shareholders funds; the former consisting of insurance premiums, claims from 

reinsurers and part of the profits from investments determined by the board of 

directors. Shareholders funds consist of paid-up capital and reserves, profit on 

investment capital and shareholder reserves, and the proportion of profits from the 

policyholders fund, which is not distributed to the latter. Any divided payable to the 

shareholders will be calculated after all administrative expenses have been met and 

such amounts have been transferred to the general reserves as seems prudent in light 

of the potential future liabilities of the insurance company. This may involve actuarial 

calculations of the probabilities of different categories of claims arising. For Islamic 

insurance companies, what matters is caution, transparency and balance between the 

interests of policyholders and shareholders (Wilson, 1997; and Billah, 2001). 

In other words, the management of insurance operations is provided as a service 

in return for a specific consideration. The insurance assets are invested in return for a 

share in profits. These two activities are either undertaken by the shareholders, the 

policyholders, or both. 

2.5.3.2 Activities of Islamic Insurance Companies (Takafu! ) 

Islamic insurance companies carry out their activities in accordance with the 

provision of the Shariah and investment of funds in all fields of investments that fully 
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conform to the Shariah law and are free from interest (Riba). The company's business 

includes among others: 

I- Insurance against fire, earthquakes, lightning storm and tempest, domestic 

explosions, aircraft impact, etc., which are conventionally covered under fire 

insurance; 

2- Personal accidents insurance, workmen's compensation, theft, fidelity 

guarantee, burglary, medical expenses insurance, motor insurance and public 

liability insurance; 

3- Marine cargo insurance by sea, air and land transit and hull insurance; and 

4- Engineering insurance, which includes contractors all risks, erection all risks, 

machinery breakdown, contractors plant and machinery, and computer all risk 

etc. 

2.5.3.3 Comparison Between Islamic Insurance Companies and Conventional 
Insurance Companies 

Based on the previous definitions of Islamic insurance companies and their 

activities, it is clear that there are some differences between Islamic insurance 

companies and conventional insurance companies. Table 2.5 shows these differences 

as follows: 
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Table 2.5 : Comparison between Islamic insurance companies 
and conventional insurance comnanies 

Items Islamic Insurance Companies Conventional Insurance 
Companies 

Shariah Supervisory The role of Shariah Supervisory Not available 
Board Board. Their function is to the 

monitor marketed products and fund 
investment. 

Contract Mutual Help / Helping each other Trading 
(Takaful) 
Fund Investment based on Shariah Fund Investment based on 

Fund investment with profit and loss sharing (PLS) interest 
system (Muclharabah) 

Collecting fund from policyholders is Funds collected from 
owned by policyholders. The policyholders are owned by 

Fund Ownership company is only a mandatory holder Company The Company is 
to manage it. free to decide its 

investment. 

From all of policyholders' labarru 
Claims Paying account (Goodness Fund). Since the From Company's Fund 

beginning, it has been planned by account 
policyholders to help each other if any 
accident happens 

Profit Shared between policyholders and All of profit for the 
company according to profit and loss insurance company 
sharing principle (Mudharabah) 

Source: Takaful, (2000). 

Moreover, conventional insurance and Islamic insurance differ in respect to the 

means by which the company's funds are developed. The Islamic insurance company 

undertakes to invest the contributions of the policyholders using financial instruments 

that are in compliance with the Islamic Shariah. On the other hand, should the pool of 

contributions paid by the policyholders fall short of the amount of losses incurred, it is 

permissible to borrow without interest from the company (shareholders) to meet the 

deficit, but for no consideration. This also applies to the specification of the risk, 

where Islamic insurance companies are restricted to what is sanctioned by the Islamic 

Shariah. Conventional insurance companies are not obliged to comply with any 

religious guidelines in investing the premiums they receive, or in the funds they 
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borrow, or in the specification of the risk, provided this serves the material interest of 

the conventional insurance company without any consideration for the religious 

aspects of the subject matter (AAOIFI, 2000). 

2.5.4 Difficulties Facing Islamic Financial Institutions 

Islamic financial institutions have been established in many countries with many 

different environments in terms of cultures and accounting policies and practices, 

banking systems and economic structures (Hamid, et al., 1993). This situation has 

caused man}' difficulties for Islamic financial institutions related to their activities and 

accounting procedures. These difficulties need attention by Islamic scholars and other 

interested parties in order to overcome these difficulties and increase the efficiency of 

these institutions. 

Following are some of the difficulties cited by scholars interested in Islamic 

financial institutions (Al-Hajri, 1989; Ahmad, 1987; Nagger, 1991; IIBI, 1993; Karim, 

1994a; Al-Rubia; Idris, 1996; Karim, 1996; Iqbal, 1997; Wilson, 1997; Moore, 1997; 

Al-Sultan, 1999; and AAOIFI, 2000): 

1- One difficulty facing Islamic banks is the problem of obtaining fast 

investments of liquid cash when available and the prompt arrangement thereof 

when needed, as the Islamic bank works on the basis of investment through 

partnership (Musharakah) and requires a certain period of time for the study 

of the project to be financed. This relationship between the bank and its clients 

is still the dominating factor in financing and it is one of the main areas of 

differences between an Islamic bank and a conventional one. 

2- Cooperation between Islamic banks is badly needed in the areas of 

syndication, development of secondary markets and exchange of information. 
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3- Inconsistencies exist in the Islamic banking systems in different countries. 

Many of the laws, regulations, procedures and codes of conduct of the Islamic 

banking system prevailing in different countries have sprung haphazardly in 

response to various situations. 

4- There is often a lack of understanding between the religious advisors and 

bankers. The religious advisors do not fully understand the technical and day- 

to-day operational needs of the bankers and the bankers do not understand the 

constraints of the religious principles. There are no institutions at present for 

training the staff of Islamic banks. 

5- Islamic financial institutions have done extensive research into how to utilize 

funds by Islamic means but very little into how to attract deposits. This needs 

to be done, especially in countries where Islamic banks have to work side by 

side with conventional banks and in competition with them. 

6- Many researchers have anticipated and emphasized the social role of Islamic 

banks, namely, that they should contribute positively to essential social needs, 

such as poverty alleviation, granting credit to the poor, donating to charities, 

and helping to achieve redistribution of income. Others feel that the Islamic 

banks should put the emphasis on social considerations in training and in their 

operations, and play a more dynamic role in the achievement of socio- 

economic growth. Many banks have been trying to fulfil these expectations, 

but their efforts have been modest and fallen short of the required level. 

7- Reinsurance (where an insurance company plays the role of the insured, and 

the reinsurance company plays the role of the insurer) is another area where 

the position is unsatisfactory. At present, Islamic insurance companies can 

reinsure with conventional providers in the absence of the development of this 
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type of specialist service in the Islamic world. The aircraft and shipping fleets 

under Muslim ownerships are reinsured in London and other international 

centres, resulting in a loss of business to Muslim countries and yet more net 

outflows with respect to services on the balance of payment. Regional 

financial centres such as Bahrain have not developed this reinsurance role. 

8- There are areas in accounting procedures in Islamic financial institutions that 

need to be resolved, in order for the information provided in financial 

statements to be meaningful to the various users. The following are some of 

the problems that need attention by Muslim accountants and other interested 

parties: 

a. There is a need to create harmony and compatibility between the rules, 

regulations, instruments, code of conduct, etc. of Islamic banks and 

financial systems and those of other banking and financial systems. 

Doing so at an early stage would help enormously in facilitating 

business between the two systems and would go a long way towards 

precluding possible friction and disputes in the future. 

b. Mudharabah and Musharakah modes of financing in Islamic financial 

institutions face difficulties related to the level and timing of revenue 

recognition. For example, if the project is completed within one year, 

the profit can be realized without any problem, but a problem arises if 

the project takes more than a year. 

c. Islamic banks tend to treat income recognition in various different 

ways. Certain banks are known to recognize income immediately at 

the start of the transaction; others recognize it when it is actually 
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received, while those who are conservative, recognize it when the 

project is completed and ultimately repaid. 

d. There are inconsistencies among Islamic banks regarding the 

allocation of expenses and overheads, where some deduct only direct 

investment related to expenses from profits paid to customers. Certain 

banks apportion indirect overheads, e. g., depreciation and directors' 

remuneration to the return accruing on investment accounts. 

e. Different methods have been adopted by different Islamic banks 

related to foreign currency transactions. As such, a new type of 

accounting standard needs to be developed that is in line with the 

Shariah, because the present standards do not fully cover this issue. 

f. Some Islamic banks disclose investment accounts under the liability 

side of their balance sheets, while others treat them as an off-balance 

sheet item. 

g. Some Islamic banks specify that shareholders alone bear all the 

administration expenses while investment accounts only have a share 

in the expenses related to their investments and partake in all earnings, 

except those generated from normal banking services. 

h. There are differences in the presentation of income statement. Some 

banks divide their income statement into two sections, where one 

section shows the revenues and expenses related to the investments in 

which both the bank and investment accounts mix their funds, while 

the other section shows the bank's revenue and expenses from other 

activities (e. g., banking services). Other Islamic banks present their 

income statement in a manner similar to that of conventional banks. 
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i. Some Islamic banks use the lower cost or market rule to value 

inventories, while others use only historical cost. 

Accounting differences among Islamic banks should be taken up immediately by 

Muslim accountants and the members of the Sharfuh Supervisory Board (Karim, 

1995), as well as by the representatives of all central banks in Muslim countries and 

Islamic jurists. Cooperation among these bodies should eventually address these 

issues and provide the users of financial statements a more meaningful and ultimately 

a more useful basis for users' decision-making (Idris, 1996). 

2.5.5 Objectives of Islamic Financial Institutions 

In general, the main objective of any Islamic financial institution is to promote 

and accelerate the economic development of society by performing all banking, 

financial, commercial and investment business in accordance with Islamic principles. 

According to Al-Sultan (1999) and Mohammad (1990), the following are the main 

objectives of these institutions: 

1- Prohibition of interest in all forms of transaction; 

2- Undertaking of business and trade activities on the basis of fair and legitimate 

profits; 

3- Attracting funds and employing them in Islamic countries; 

4- Developing the saving habit among Muslim individuals; 

5- Engagement in business activities that are acceptable and consistent with Islamic 

law (Shariah). Thus an Islamic bank will not under any circumstance associate 

itself with any kind of activity that directly or indirectly involves payment or 

receipt of interest, production, consumption or distribution of alcoholic drinks, 
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gambling production, consumption or distribution of pork, or any other un-Islamic 

activity; 

6- Promotion of competition; 

7- Giving Zakat; and 

8- Cooperating with other Islamic banks in other countries to foster economic 

development and social progress of the Muslim community. 

2.5.6 Nature of Islamic Financial Instruments: 

Islamic financial institutions depend on Islamic financial instruments to invest 

their funds. However, it is difficult to determine all of these instruments used by 

Islamic financial institutions, because Islamic jurisprudence is characterized by 

flexibility, and that, in turn, allows the invention of new instruments. Here, however. 

we present the main instruments, as outlined in the studies on the subject (Presley, 

1988; Khoja, 1995; Al-Rubia, 1996; Wilson, 1997; AAOIFI, 2000 and Qattan, 2000). 

2.5.6.1 Murabaha/: (Cost-Plus Financing): 

Mzirabahah is a contract in which a client who wishes to purchase equipment or 

goods requests the Islamic financial institutions to purchase the items and sell them to 

him at cost plus a declared profit. Murabahah is one of the most widely used modes 

of finance by the Islamic financial institutions. It is suitable for partial financing of the 

investment activities of the customers in industry, trade, or other areas, as it enables 

the customer/investor to obtain finished goods, raw materials, machines or equipment 

from the local market or through import. 
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2.5.6.2 Bai Bithaman Ajil (Sale on Credit) 

Bai Bithaman Ajil is based on the delivery of the commodity by the seller to the 

buyer and enabling him to possess and benefit from the commodity with the 

understanding that the buyer will pay the agreed upon price at a certain future date. 

Usually the deferred price is higher than the cash price. Islamic financial institutions 

use Bai Bithanian Ajil to finance many a customer. They purchase the commodity 

paying cash and then sell it to desired customers for a deferred price, or in instalments 

that are agreed to. 

2.5.6.3 Musharakah (Permanent Partnership): 

A contract between an Islamic financial institution and another party (or parties) 

in which every party provides some amount of capital and is entitled to participate in 

management but is not necessarily required to do so. Profit is distributed among the 

partners in pre-agreed ratios, while loss is borne by each partner strictly in proportion 

to his/her respective capital contribution. 

By using Musharakah as a mode of investment, Islamic financial institutions 

make sufficient liquidity available to the customer in the long run. Islamic financial 

institutions are usually active partners. They participate in determining the methods 

of production and the objectives of the performance of the establishment. Islamic 

financial institutions share profit or loss with the (partners) customer, without 

burdening the customer with debt and financial liabilities that they have to pay in all 

circumstances. 
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2.5.6.4 Musharakah (Decreasing Partnership): 

This is a form of ll'lusharakah in which an Islamic financial institution agrees to 

transfer gradually to the other partner its share in the Musharakah so that the Islamic 

financial institution's share declines and the other partner's share increases until the 

latter becomes the sole proprietor of the venture. 

This mode of Musharakah is suitable for the finance of industrial establishments, 

farms, hospitals and every project capable of generating regular income. 

2.5.6.5 Mudarabah (Trust Financing) 

Mudarabah is a form of financing based on the occurrence of those who have 

capital with those who have expertise, where the first party provides capital and the 

other party provides the expertise with the purpose of earning "hula! " (lawful) profit. 

which will be divided between them in agreed upon ratios. This mode achieves the 

interest of both parties: the capital owner and the Mudharib (agent). 

Mudharabah is considered to be an essential mode accredited by the Islamic 

financial institutions in their relationship with the depositors who tender their moneys 

to the bank as capital owners to be invested by the bank as a mudharib on the basis of 

profit and loss sharing according to specific agreed upon ratios. Islamic financial 

institutions use the same mode with the investors who are capable to work, whether 

they are physicians, engineers, traders or craftsmen. The bank provides the adequate 

finance as a capital owner in exchange for an agreed share in the profit. 

It is worth noting that this mode is a high risk for the Islamic financial 

institutions, because the Islamic financial institutions delivers capital to the inudharib 

who undertakes the work and management, and the mudharib shall only be a 

guarantor in case of negligence and trespass. The Islamic financial institutions 
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usually takes the necessary precautions to decrease the risk and to guarantee a better 

execution for the mudhar"abah and pursues this objective with seriousness. 

2.5.6.6 Salam (Advance Purchase) 

Salam sale is the purchase of a commodity for delivery in exchange for 

immediate payment according to specified conditions, or the sale of a commodity for 

deferred delivery in return for immediate payment. 

Salam sale is suitable for the finance of agricultural operations, where the Islamic 

financial institutions can transact with farmers who are expected to have the 

commodity in plenty during harvest, either from their own crops or the crops of 

others, which they can buy and deliver in case their crops fail. Thus the Islamic 

financial institutions renders great services to the farmers by helping them to achieve 

their production targets. Salam sale is also used to finance commercial and industrial 

activities, especially in the phases prior to production and export of commodities. It 

does so by purchasing it on salam and marketing the goods for lucrative prices. 

2.5.6.7 Istisna'a (Manufacturing Contract): 

Istisna'a is a contract between the consumer and bank for the construction/ 

manufacturing of a building or a project by the Islamic financial institutions. Upon 

completion, the Islamic bank hands over the building/project to the customer, who 

pays back his dues (the cost, plus the bank's profit) according to an agreed schedule. 

Istisna'a contracts have a wide field of application for the Islamic financial 

institutions to finance public needs and the vital interests of the society in order to 

develop the Islamic economy. Istisna'a contracts are applied in high technology 

industries such as aircraft industry, locomotive and ship building industries, in 
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addition to the different types of machines produced in big factories or workshops. 

The Istisna'a contract is also applied in the construction industry such as apartment 

buildings, hospitals, schools, universities and other components of the network of 

modern life. 

2.5.6.8 Ijara (Operation Lease) 

Ijara is a contract under which the Islamic financial institution finances 

equipment, building or other facility for the customer against an agreed rent. 

The Ijara transactions are suitable for high cost expensive assets that demand 

large amounts of money in order to possess, in addition to the long time necessary for 

its production. Islamic financial institutions can carry business in the line of Ijara in 

many assets such as industrial equipments and agricultural machinery as well as the 

means of transportation. All these can satisfy the immediate needs of different 

parties. 

2.5.6.9 Ijara-Wa-Igtina (Ijara that ends with possession) 

Ijara-Wa-Iqtina is a contract under which an Islamic financial institution finances 

equipment, building or other facilities for the client against an agreed rent, together 

with an undertaking from the client to make additional payments which will permit 

the client to purchase the equipment, building or facility. 

Islamic financial institutions use this mode of lease with an option to purchase 

especially for real estate, computer sets, machinery and equipment. By so doing, 

Islamic financial institutions give the customers a degree of freedom of choice to 

have the assets they need from the sources they select in the light of their experience 

and personal evaluation. The lessee in this case enjoys the possession and use of the 
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asset through the lease period and it is certain that ownership of the asset will be 

transferred to it at the end of the period. The Islamic financial institutions also retains 

the ownership of the asset and it assigns it to the lessee only after the payment of the 

rental instalments agreed upon. 

2.5.6.10 Islamic Bonds 

Some Muslim countries, such as Bahrain, have recently introduced these bonds. 

In 2000 Bahrain issued US$ 25 million Islamic bonds (Salanr bonds) (IslamicQ, 

2001). These bonds differ from normal bonds in that they do not have any 

guaranteed or fixed return to investors. The holder of the bond gets a percentage of 

the profits of the projects financed by the bonds. The proceeds of these bonds are 

used to finance public utility projects such as construction of the bridges, roads, etc. 

The bond holders will have a share in the collection of toll fees and other such 

receipts (Al-Amine, 2001). 

2.5.6.11 Muzara'a (Crop Sharing) 

Muzara'a takes place when land is given to whoever can cultivate it or work on 

it in exchange for part of the crop. This transaction achieves the interests of both 

parties (the land owner and the agent). 

2.5.6.12 Quard Hasan (Interest-Free Loan) 

Quard Hasan is used by Islamic financial institutions as a form of financing in 

which the customer undertakes to repay the principal at a stipulated future time, but 

on which no interest is charged. 
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Table 2.6 illustrates the differences and similarities between the various Islamic 

financial instruments. 

Tahle2.6 : Islamic financial instruments comnared 
Technique Mudarahah Musharakah Ijarah Bai al Salanr Murahahah 

Nature Investment Investment Leasing Trade Trade 

Control Nil Complete Complete Nil Complete 

Capital risk High High Moderate Low Low 

Return Uncertain Uncertain Fixed Fixed Fixed 

Source: Wilson, (1997) 

2.5.7 Relationship between Islamic Financial Institutions and Central Banks 

Central Banks are autonomous government institutions responsible for 

implementing the country's monetary policy (Chapra, 1986). Therefore, the central 

bank is considered the regulatory agency for conventional banks and specialized 

financial institutions. Islamic banks also follow the rules and resolutions of the 

central bank regarding reserve amounts (liquidity). For example, Islamic banks have 

to keep a certain portion of their deposits with the central bank (Ahmad, 1987). 

Islamic banks need the support of the central bank for liquidity if there is risk in the 

position of Islamic banks, just as do conventional banks (Sidiqi, 1993). 

Since Islamic banks are a part of the banking systems in the countries in which 

they operate, they are naturally expected, like other banks, to come under the control 

of central banks (Qarni, 1990). Islamic banks differ from conventional banks in that 

the relationship is one of direct trading or participation and not that of 

lender/borrower. Furthermore, Islamic banks do not trade in debt as do conventional 

banks. Therefore, central bank regulation of Islamic banks, although undoubtedly 

essential, can be expected to take into consideration the special nature of these banks 

77 



as formulated in their statutes. This has generated a controversy about whether it is 

necessary to devise special legislation for the regulation of Islamic banks, or to make 

do with the rules applying to conventional banks in this respect (Radwan, 1990). 

In some countries, for example Jordan and Malaysia, central banks have issued 

special legislation concerning Islamic banks. In other countries, central banks have 

issued special legislation concerning Islamic banks but refuse the term `Islamic' (for 

example, Turkey, where they are called 'special finance houses). Other countries, 

such as the United Kingdom, have not made any special provisions for Islamic banks 

(Al-Omar and Addel-Haq, 1996). However, it is worth noting that central banks 

sometimes impose constraints on Islamic banks regarding the use of specific 

accounting policies. For example, in Bahrain, the central bank requires Islamic banks 

to use the accrual basic in recognition of the revenue related to A'Iurabaha contract 

(Karim, 1994b). 

There is a consensus among Muslim economists that the central bank should 

supervise Islamic commercial banks. Bank supervision and examination should be 

more important in an Islamic system because of the greater risk that banks would be 

shouldering in their business. However, unlike the examination of conventional 

banks, it may be necessary to ensure that in addition to having proper documentation, 

the projects financed are sound. This would, of course, be a difficult task. It may, 

however, be possible to examine a random sample of projects financed to ensure that 

banks do not indulge in financing speculative or risky ventures (Al-Sartawi, 2002; and 

Chapra, 1987). 
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2.5.7 Relationship between Islamic Financial Institutions and Shariah 
Supervisory Board (SSB) 

In order to ensure that Islamic financial institutions carry out their activities in 

accordance with the Shariah Principles, almost every Islamic financial institution 

appoints a committee that is usually known as the Shariah Supervisory Board (SSB). 

Members of the SSB are appointed by the shareholders in their annual meeting and 

usually have sound qualifications and adequate experience in the Shariah (Islamic 

Law) 

According to Qattan (2000) and Abumouamer (1989), in general, the SSB carries 

out the following functions: 

1- Issuing fat vas (legal opinions): This is considered the essence of the SSB's 

functions, and it is very important to set a curriculum to it. The severity or 

slackness of this curriculum will determine the effectiveness of the task; 

2- Collecting and publishing all fatlvas issued by them. This is considered, in the 

researcher's opinion, a major legal reference and an official document that 

should be abided by, unless the laws are later retracted; 

3- Preparing auditing plan. The plan includes a number of documents, models 

and procedures which are required for auditing implementation in a manner 

compliant with the Shariah within a time, which includes time for control, and 

in a way that constitutes 100% of all activities; 

4- Undertaking revision actions. Revision actions are considered the most 

important work done by the SSB in Islamic banks, and are known as follow- 

up control. They include the review of all work, operations, contracts, files, 

systems, regulations and instructions. They also include auditing the budget, 

revising final accounts and reviewing previous fatwtwa; 
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5- Determining the amount of Zakat, how it should be spent and how to activate 

a benevolent loan (Guard Hasan); 

6- Preparing educational plans: seminars, conventions, courses and programmes 

(for employees and clients); 

7- Participating with the external auditor and management of the bank in setting 

the bank's accounting policies; and 

8- Issuing a report at the end of the fiscal year to assure customers that the 

Islamic bank has adhered in its transactions to Shariah (Islamic law). 

According to Qattan (2000), the SSB is considered one of the most important 

supervisory systems recently introduced in the field of Islamic financial institutions, 

and that is for the following reasons: 

1- It comprises more than one form of control from a Shariah point of view; 

2- It is one of the main components that the customers of Islamic financial 

institutions depend on, in order to be reassured of their commitment to the 

Shariah;. 

3- It represents the main difference between Islamic financial institutions and 

conventional banks, apart, of course, from the issue of interest; and 

4- These committees play an important role in applying control by the people. 

This rule is a duty incumbent upon every Muslim, that is, to encourage what is 

good and prevent what is evil. This in turn is one of the bases of Islam. 

In fact, the independence of members of the SSB, like that of the external 

auditor, is important to enable them to carry out their functions. As stated by 

Abumouamer (1989, p. 150): 

"Every Islamic hank must formulate a Shariah Control -Committee 
and authority should be derived directly from the shareholders in 
annual meeting, and not from the Board of Directors or the banks 
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management. This is to guarantee its independence Q1 dfreedol)1 in 

practicing chilies. " 

The SSB in Islamic bank is the main factor in difference in accounting treatments 

among Islamic banks. Karim (1994a) states that: 

For example, Islamic banks use four different accounting methods to 
recognize income arising front the popular Murabaha transaction. These 
include both cash accounting and accrual accounting. One the oilier 
hand, unlike Western generally accepted accounting principles, Islamic 
banks do not report long term Murabaha receivables at their present 
value. The difference in accounting treatments within Islamic banks are 
mainly due to reasons namely: 

1- The SSB had interpretation of Shariah principles relating to 
transactions: and 

2- The accounting method mandated by the regulatory bodies ( e. g. 
central banks) may differ from one county to another. " 

With regard to the SSB's report, in most annual reports of Islamic financial 

institutions, the report is short and unsatisfactory. The following is an example of such 

a report: 

Report of Shariah Supervisory Board 

In the Name of Allah (God) 
the Most Gracious, the Most Merciful 

By following up the performance of Islamic Financial Institution during 
the year ended 31 December xxxx, we certify confidently that all activities 
were practised in compliance with Islamic Shariah and no violations have 
occurred, to the best of our Knowledge. 

An exception in this respect is the SSB's report issued in annual reports of the 

Qatar Islamic Bank. The SSB presents more details about its Shariaiº auditing. The 

following is an SSB's report issued in the annual report of Qatar Islamic Bank (1998) 
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Report of Shariah Supervisory Board 

In the Name of Allah (God) 
the illost Gracious, the Most Merciful 

The Shariah Supervisory Board has reviewed the operations of Qatar 
Islamic Bank for the fiscal year starting on 1/1/1998 and ending on 
31/12/1998 and has made its report thereupon as follow: 
1-Domestic Investments: 

Under the close supervision of the Shariah Supervisory Board (SSB) 

and, guided by SSB s directives, the Bank Shariah Audit Department has 

reviewed the Banksand the Banks affiliated companies investments in the 
local market. 
4f ter a thorough examination of the Shariah Audit Department report and 
the inclusion of certain adjustments thereon, SSB believes that the Bank's 

operation have been, as ii'hole, duly executed in compliance with the 
Shariah norms and typical contract-models laid by it. 
SSB expresses also its satisfaction for the steady increase of the hank 
Investments at the local level in sustenance of its appraisable sharing in 
the local development. 

2-Foreign Investments: 
The Shariah Supervisory Board has reviewed the Bank's foreign 

investments as evidenced by such operations supporting contracts and 
documents. It has also carried out site visits and on-spot supervision. for 

some of those investments in order to ensure the physical follow-up of 
execution and the timely intervention to correct any eventual errors. 

In this context, the SSB confirms, once again, its former resolution in 
ii'hich it stresses the necessity, for the Bank, of a progressive withdrawal 
from investments in Metals and Commodities and has requested the Bank 
management to adopt a practical plan to effectuate said resolution. 

3-Closin. Account: 
The Shariah Supervisory Board has reviewed the Bank's Balance Sheet, 

Profit and Loss Account and the "Shares Zakat Account " for the above 
appended period and believes said accounts are conform to the Islamic 
Shariah principles. 

In conclusion, the Shariah Supervisory Board seizes this occasion to 
appraise the leading role of the bank in the field of practicing the Shariah 
Auditing of its operations, thus allowing for reviewing most of the 
operations over the various stages of execution and the remedial for any 
errors eventually detected in the practical process, ii'hich in fact 

consolidates the trust as to the integrity of the pe, formed activities. 

Acknowledgement is finally extended to the esteemed public of 
Shareholders and Customers for their appreciable confidence and to the 
Bank Executive Staff for their commendable up-keeping with the Islamic 
Shariah requirements. 
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Al-Qaradawi (2001) and Zarir (2001), as Islamic scholars, argue that SSB reports 

should be developed to be of the same quality of the external auditor report. These 

scholars believe that the current SSB's reports are short and similar and this position 

does not achieve the justice consistent with the Shariah in this matter. 

In this respect, the AAOIFI (1997) issued governance standard for Islamic 

financial institutions in order to establish standards and provide guidance on the 

definition, appointment, composition, and report of the Shariah Supervisory Boards to 

ensure compliance of Islamic financial institutions in all their dealing and transactions 

with the Shariah rules and principles. 

2.5.8 Relationship between Islamic Financial Institutions and General Council 
For Islamic Banks and Financial Institutions 

On 24 ̀h September 2001, the General Council For Islamic Banks and Financial 

Institutions was established in the State of Bahrain as an international autonomous 

non-profit making corporate body. 

Mission 

The objective of the General Council is to consolidate Islamic financial and 

economic thought, both in theory and practice, -and to extend communication channels 

between Islamic banks and financial institutions, on the one hand, and other related 

Islamic organizations, on the other. It also seeks to expand the framework of this 

work, diversify its activities and enhance its efficiency, and to complete the successful 

march of joint Islamic action in financial and economic fields. 

83 



Objectives: 

0 Promotion of Islamic financial institutions, dissemination of concepts, 

rules and provisions related to them, and development and promotion of 

Islamic financial industry; 

0 Consolidation of cooperation among members of the Council and similar 

institutions in areas that serve the common objectives by using available 

means; 

0 Provision of information related to Islamic banks and financial institutions 

and related Islamic organizations; and 

0 Promotion of the interests of members and confronting the common 

difficulties and challenges and promotion of cooperation among members 

themselves and between members and other parties, particularly regulatory 

authorities. 

Methods and Projects 

0 Publishing introductory literature, books, periodicals and Islamic Fiqh 

Encyclopaedias, studies and research and other modem means of 

publication; 

" Organizing conferences, seminars, lectures, meetings and workshops to 

realize the Council's objectives; 

0 Cooperating with competent authorities to promulgate laws regulating 

Islamic banks and financial institutions and related Islamic bodies and 

encouraging the issuance of government and non-government financial 

instruments; 
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" Creating a database to project the Council's mission and Islamic financial 

and economic action very strongly and efficiently through the various 

available technologies; and 

" Participating in the formulation of training programmes to improve the 

professional standards of personnel working in the Islamic banking and 

financial field. 

2.6 Accounting Principles From an Islamic Perspective 

it is necessary before discussing accounting principles from an Islamic 

perspective to give some background on the relationship between religion and 

accounting. Culture and religion are significant environmental factors that affect the 

behaviour of societies and, therefore, any development that takes place in a particular 

society. Thus, the present trend to look for the effects of culture on accounting 

practices in different parts of the world (e. g., Hosfstede, 1980; Gray, 1988; Perera, 

1989 and Tsui, 2001) makes it appropriate and possibly useful to consider whether 

such theories might entail anything regarding the impact of religion on accounting. 

For example, in Islam, financial reporting must be in line with the Shariah, if it is to 

be relevant to obedient Muslim users (Gambling and Karim, 1991). Apart from this, 

the financial reports of Islamic financial institutions must be prepared to be useful to 

the users, as this idea is consistent with the principles of the Islamic Shariah and its 

concepts of fairness, charity and compliance with Islamic business values (AAOIFI, 

1998). Coombs (2002, p. 12) highlighted the previous idea as follows: 

"In the context of public sector reporting it could be argued that all 
members of a society are significantly influenced by government 
actions and as such there is a need to be able to measure and assess 
the performance of the State in delivering outcomes and the benefits 
accrued. This is consistent with the emphasis in the Holy Koran that 
would demand social accountability through the focus in Islam on the 
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unity of God, the community and the environment and, leads on tofu!! 
disclosure. This can be defined as the disclosure of any information 
which should rightfully be given to members of the community in 
accordance with the principles of Sharjah latii'. In general such 
disclosure does not take place in Islamic countries at present. " 

Baydoun and Willett (2000) suggest in their study about Islamic corporate reports 

that the presence of Islamic religion as a cultural variable affects the way certain 

accounting measures are interpreted and the manner in which accounting information 

should be disclosed. Two important criteria for disclosure in Islamic accounting are 

identified: a form of social accountability and a rule of full disclosure. Islam's 

principles commit Muslims to a definitive code of ethical commercial and personal 

behaviour affecting both the structuring and financing of business affairs between the 

faithful, and between Muslims and non-Muslims. Islam has the potential for 

influencing the structure, underlying concepts and mechanisms of accounting in the 

Islamic world. Its potential for influencing the structure of accounting policy is 

illustrative of religion as a confounding element in the analysis of national 

characteristics in accounting practice and in deconstructing the impediments to 

international harmonization (Hamid et al., 1993) 

In light of the previous discussion, it is important at this stage to return to the 

main topic in relation to accounting principles from an Islamic perspective. In fact, 

contemporary accounting principles evolved with the growth of accounting theory in 

the Western world in relation to different groups of users for accounting information. 

Accounting was created and developed to accomplish various desired objectives and, 

therefore, it is not based on fundamental laws or absolute precepts. Since accounting 

has evolved over many years through trial and error, it should be continually 

improved on a basis that is responsive to the requirements of those groups in our 

society that use the end product, namely financial statements. Accounting principles 
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emerge from and express the values and essential characteristics of society (Watts and 

Zimmerman, 1986). Accounting principles are also basic assumptions or fundamental 

propositions concerning the economic, political and sociological environment in 

which accounting operates. They serve as a foundation for the logical derivation of 

further propositions, and they must be generally accepted by accountants (Hendriksen, 

1992). 

Accounting principles deserve a special discussion, as there is an opinion among 

Muslim researchers (Al-Abiji, 1981) that some accounting principles do not conform 

to Islamic principles. In addition, accounting principles are applied to Islamic 

financial institutions. Therefore, it is important to confirm their compatibility with the 

Shariah. In order to discuss accounting principles from an Islamic perspective, the 

FASE Statement of Financial Accounting Concept No. 5 (1984). "Recognition and 

Measurement in Financial Statements of Business Enterprises", is selected to present 

and discuss these principles. 

Assumptions: 

1- Going Concern; 

2- Accounting Entity; 

3- Monetary Unit; and 

4- Periodicity. 

Principles: 

1- Recognition; 

2- Matching; 

3- Full Disclosure. 
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Constraints: 

1- Cost-Benefit Relationship; 

2- Materiality; 

3- Conservatism. 

2.6.1 Going Concern Assumption. 

According to Wolk et al. (2000), the going concern assumption assumes that the 

firm will continue in operation indefinitely. They are also of the opinion that in the 

long run, many firms do conclude their operations. Thus continuity is more in the 

nature of a forecast than an underlying assumption. Hence, the financial reports 

provided to the users will be interpreted on the basis of the assumption of the 

continuity of the firm. However, this assumption has come under attack from many 

accountants. Sterling (1973) describes it as an unreasonable and absurd assumption. 

He argues that the high rate of business failure makes it difficult to build an evidential 

case for a projection of continuity. 

The use of this assumption does not seem to be in conformity with the Shariah, 

because under this assumption, it is difficult to identify the true wealth of each 

individual Muslim for Zakat payment, which would be paid at the end of the Zakat 

period (i. e., one lunar year) (Gambling and Karim, 1991). Furthermore, as a result of 

this concept, profit might be carried over from one year to another, thus minimizing 

the base upon which Zakat is determined (Ahmed, 1990). 

Badawi (1986) believes that the going concern assumption does not contradict the 

Islamic Shariah in cases where projects are undertaken on the basis of Mudharabah 

and Musharakah and are completed within the same financial period. However, the 

principle might run into difficulties if the project took more than one year. In his 
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opinion, the accounts may not be the same next year, or the composition of such 

investment accounts may be different. 

On the other hand, the Accounting and Auditing Organization for Islamic 

Financial Institutions (1993) points out that these contracts are assumed to continue 

until there is evidence to the contrary. However, the relationship between the bank 

and owners of such investment accounts may not continue until the liquidation of 

investment, i. e., when actual results become known. 

2.6.2 Accounting Entity Assumption 

The entity assumption allows the accountant to separate business and personal 

transactions, and also to identify those who provide capital to the entity. It may be 

defined as the economic unit responsible for economic activities and administrative 

control of the unit, or it may be said to refer to the economic interests of various users 

such as the interested individual or group, and the nature of that individual's or that 

group's interest (Belkaoui, 1992). Entity in the accounting context may also include 

its legal form, and it is clear that it is separate from its owners (Wolk et al., 2000). It 

deals with what is to be accounted and reported, and also related to those persons for 

whom financial reports are prepared (Lee, 1980). 

According to Ahmed (1990), the accounting entity does not conflict with the 

Shariah for the following reasons: 

1- The entity assumption makes matters easier for customers of the enterprise; 

instead of dealing with many owners, the customers are dealing with only one 

nominal person. It is also easier for the accountants to prepare the financial 

statements of this nominal person. This helps to preserve the rights of all 

parties who are dealing with the entity. 
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2- This assumption is accepted, because in Islam everything is permitted and 

lawful, except that which is prohibited in the Holy Quran or in Sunnah. 

3- Islamic jurisprudence (Fiqh) accepts entity or nominal personality for 

endowment (Wuq/). This shows that the assumption of an institution as a 

distinct entity is acceptable in Islam. 

Recent Islamic jurisprudence (Fiqh) accepts the concept of entity for the purpose 

of financial accounting. Thus an accounting unit is separated from its owners or those 

who provide the funds to the entity (AAOIFI, 1993). 

2.6.3 Periodicity Assumption 

The periodicity assumption is simply that economic activities of an enterprise can 

be divided into artificial time periods. These time periods vary, but the most common 

are monthly, quarterly, and yearly (Kieso et al., 2001). 

In Islam this assumption would be looked at in association with the principle of 

Zakat. The periodicity assumption is derived from the accrual, income recognition and 

matching principle. The accrual assumption causes income to be assigned to the 

complete year in which it was earned rather than received. This apportionment in one 

complete period means any revenues, though not yet received, could be liable for 

Zakat. So, in Islam it is an obligation to prepare reports reflecting financial status as of 

a given date and the result should show the amounts on which Zakat would be paid 

(Gambling and Karim, 1991; Ahmed, 1990). 

2.6.4 Monetary Assumption 

Accountants regard their job as dealing with financial information. Monetary 

assumption states that accountants only record those facts that are expressed in money 
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terms. Any facts, as relevant they may be to the user of the information, are ignored 

by the accountants if they cannot conveniently be expressed in money terms 

(Alexander and Britton, 2001). 

Newman and Mellman (1967) argue that it is difficult, if not outright impossible, 

to use any other medium of measurement than money to express values in accounting, 

because economic transactions are described and consummated on a money basis. 

Moreover, money is homogeneous, being a common denominator that has the 

attribute of objectivity. It is also public in character and universally understandable 

and acceptable. 

Money as a unit of measurement is accepted in Islam under certain 

circumstances. The value of money should be stable to enable money as a medium of 

exchange to be a reliable unit of account, a just standard of deferred payments and a 

stable store of value. Stability in the value of money maintains honesty and fairness 

in all human dealings, which are essential principles in Islam. Inflation, from an 

Islamic point of view, has a negative impact on socio-economic justice and general 

welfare (Chapra, 1986). In this respect, according to the AAOIFI (1993), for the 

purpose of financial reporting, it is assumed that the purchasing power of the 

monetary unit is stable. 

2.6.5 Matching Principle 

The matching principle holds that expenses should be recognized in the same 

period as associated revenue. Hence, the matching principle links revenue with their 

relevant expenses. This means identifying the gains resulting from transactions and 

setting off against those gains the expenses that are related to those transactions 

(Belkaoui, 1992; and Glautier and Underdown, 2001). Alexander and Britton (2001) 
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refer to the matching principle as an accrual concept where income (profit) 

determination is a process of matching against revenue. Hence, the main issue here is 

to determine income. To meet that determination, the matching principles must be 

used, in order to decide which costs should be on the income statement. and which 

should be on the balance sheet (Kam, 1990). 

It is commanded in Islam that in any business dealing. measure and weight should 

be given with justice and fairness without depriving the people of their rights. Hence, 

the matching principle provides fairness and justice simultaneously to shareholders 

and depositors in Islamic banks (Ahmed, 1990). In this respect, the AAOIFI (1993, 

p. 63) defined the matching principle as follow: 

"The bank's net income (net loss) for a period of lime should he 
determined by matching revenues and gains with expenses and losses that 
relate to that period of time in accordance with the basic principles of 
accounting recognition. Likewise, restricted investment revenues and 

gains with restricted investment expenses and losses that relate to the 
period of time in accordance with the basic principles of accounting 
recognition. The matching concept is supported by the Islamic concept of 
assigning the responsibility of the cost to the recipient of the benefit. " 

2.6.6 Recognition Principle 

The recognition principle defines the basic principle that determines the timing of 

revenue in the income statement (Ahmed, 1990; and Kam, 1990). According to Kieso 

et al. (2001, p. 42), there are two primary elements necessary for revenue recognition: 

"Revenue is generally recognized when (1) realized and (2) earned. 
Revenues are realized when products (goods and services), merchandise, 
or other assets are exchanged for cash or claims to cash. In addition to 
the first test (realized), revenues are not recognized until earned. And 

revenues are considered earned when the entity has substantially 
accomplished what it must do to be entitled to the benefits represented by 
the revenues. " 

Islamic financial institutions tend to adopt different policies and methods in 

recognition of income arising from investment in Islamic instruments. Some 
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recognize it immediately at the inception of the transaction, while others recognize it 

when it is actually received, or on an extremely prudent and conservative basis, when 

the investment is ultimately repaid. Also, there are those that are taken up into the 

book when the amount is actually being disbursed (I-lamat, 1994; Karim, 1994b). 

According to the AAOIFI (1993). the realization of revenues takes place when the 

bank has the right to receive the revenues, i. e., when the earning process has been 

completed or virtually completed. There should also be an obligation on the part of 

another party to remit a fixed or a determinable amount to the bank. Realization also 

takes place when the amount of revenue is collectible, if not already collected. 

2.6.7 Full-Disclosure Principle 

In the full-disclosure principle, accountants attempt to follow the general practice 

of providing information that is of sufficient importance to influence the judgement 

and decisions of an informal user (Wolk et al, 2000). 

According to Hendriksen and Breda (1992), disclosure is concerned with 

information in both quantitative and descriptive terms, to be presented in formal 

statements to an extent that is possible and desirable. This includes footnotes, post 

statement events, management analysis of operations for the forthcoming year, 

financial and operating forecasts, and any supplementary statements pertaining to the 

financial report. Hence, disclosure refers to the whole area of financial reporting and 

not simply to a financial statement. Belkaoui (1992) states that full disclosure requires 

that financial statements be designed and prepared to convey accurately the economic 

events that have affected the firm for the period and to provide sufficient information 

to be useful and not misleading to the average investor. 
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Haurat (1994) states that Islam actively encourages disclosure of information so 

as to mislead the stakeholders. Therefore, the AAOIFI (2000) confirms that financial 

statements should contain all material information to make them useful to the users of 

financial statements in their decision making, whether that information is included in 

financial statements, the notes accompanying them, or in additional presentations. 

2.6.8 Materiality 

Materiality implies that insignificant items should not be given the same 

emphasis as significant items. The insignificant items are by definition unlikely to 

influence decision or provide useful information to decision-makers, but they may 

well cause complication and confusion to the user of accounting information. Their 

detailed treatment may also involve a great deal of time and effort for no useful 

purpose (Kam, 1990; and Alexander and Britton, 2001). 

One purpose of materiality is to provide an accurate, fair and truthful reflection of 

the financial position of the entity. The usefulness of the information is realized when 

the materiality principle, together with the other principles, is maintained. So in Islam, 

as perceived by Gambling (1994), perfection in every aspect of life is the goal, and 

since every Muslim is responsible to Allah, then he/she should be able to prepare an 

accounting report with honesty and accuracy. Thus, accountants should do their best 

to make sure the accounting reports are clear and understandable. 

The AAOIFI (1993) points out that in preparing financial statements, the common 

information needs of users should always be taken into consideration, that is, 

qualitatively or quantitatively important should be presented. Information that is not 

disclosed is presumed to be immaterial. Material items are those which, if not 

presented in a report, might well lead its users to making inaccurate decisions. 
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2.6.9 Cost-Benefit Relationship 

The users often assume that information is a cost-free commodity. but preparers 

and providers of accounting information know that it is not. Therefore, the cost- 

benefit relationship must be considered. The cost of providing the information must 

be weighed against the benefits that can be derived from using the information (Kieso 

et al., 2001). 

In Islam, it is clear that variance from the fair determination of rights and 

obligations is unjust and not acceptable. In the light of this concept. the cost-benefit 

relationship is compatible with the Shcn"iah. Therefore, the AAOIFI (19933) states that 

information provided by financial accounting comprises a cost for its provision and 

use, and generally the cost of information provided should be expected not to exceed 

the benefits to users of financial accounting information in their decision making, 

neither at the individual nor the society level. 

2.6.10 Conservatism 

Conservatism reflects the accountant's view of his/her social role and 

responsibilities towards those to whom he provides information (Glautier and 

Underdown, 2001). 

As argued by Newman and Mellman (1967), the concept of conservatism may be 

expressed as a necessary condition for the fair presentation of accounting data. They 

argue that this concept comes into play because events or activities that must be 

reflected in the accounting process are characterized by uncertainty. The conservatism 

concept is equivalent to taking a cautious or prudent approach to valuation. 

Many authors criticize conservatism. Belkaoui (1992) states that the present view 

of conservatism as an accounting principle is bound to disappear. Sterling (1973) 
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argues that conservatism yields not only information but also to misinformation, 

because historical costs, when they are used, are themselves conservative. Hence, he 

concludes, historical costs are justified, if and only if conservatism is justified. Thus, 

historical costs also yield misinformation. 

As a result of conservatism, profits may be shifted from one year to other. 

Furthermore, valuation in inventories under these principles minimizes the base for 

the Zakat, which should be paid annually. For these reason, conservatism is not 

compatible with Islamic principles and rules (Ahmed, 1990). 

2.7 Zakat Accounting 

At the governmental level, Zakat accounts should be kept separate from the other 

accounts (public finance resources), because Zakat should be distributed among 

specified groups (e. g., the poor and needy, wayfarers, heavily indebted, new converts 

to Islam, in the cause of Allah and the staff of collection and distribution of Zakal). 

Mixing Zakat with its accounts would endanger this specification. On an individual 

basis, the same is also required. 

Zakat accounts should be prepared and distributed annually (on a lunar year 

basis). However, if an entity's accounts are prepared on the basis of the solar calendar 

year, the difference in the two calendars can be allowed for by increasing the Zakat 

rate to 2.575 per cent, instead of 2.5 per cent, as recommended by the first conference 

for Zakat held in Kuwait on the 30"' April-2"`l May 1984 (Al-Utabi, 1999). 

Zakat should be paid on any wealth, if the following two conditions are realized. 

Firstly: Nisab i. e., the person should have specified minimum wealth; secondly, the 

wealth should have been in the possession of the person or company concerned for a 

full lunar year. This condition is not applied to the profit or the increment. 
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In June 1998, the AAOIFI issued financial accounting standard No. 9. "Zak-tit". 

This standard aims to lay down the accounting rules for the treatment related to the 

determination of the Zakal base (the obligation that should be paid by shareholders), 

measurement of items included in the Zakat base, and disclosure of Zakat in the 

financial statements of the Islamic financial institutions. 

In this standard, the Zakat base is determined by using 2.5 per cent for a lunar 

calendar year and 2.5775 per cent for a solar calendar year based on either of the 

following two methods: net assets, or net invested funds. For the net assets method, 

the Zakat base shall be determined as follows: 

Zakat base = Assets subject to zakat- (liabilities that are due to be paid during the 

year ended on the date of the statement of the financial position + equity of 

unrestricted investment accounts + minority interest + equity owned by the 

government + equity owned by endowment funds + equity owned by charities +equity 

belonging to not-for-profit organizations, excluding those that are owned by 

individuals). 

Assets subject to Zakat include cash and cash equivalent receivables, net 

provision for doubtful debts, assets acquired for trading (e. g., inventory, marketable 

securities, real estate... etc) and financial assets (e. g., Mudarabah, Musharakah, Salanr 

and Istisna, etc... ). Financing assets shall be the net of provision for the fall in value 

or non-collectibility. Funds used to acquire fixed assets relating to financing assets are 

deducted. Assets acquired for trading shall be measured at their cash equivalent value 

on the date on which the Zakat is due. The cash equivalent value expected to be 

realized is the number of monetary units that would be realized if an asset was sold 

for cash in the normal course of business as of the current date. 
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According to the Net invested funds method. the Zakai base shall be determined 

as follows: 

Zakah base = Paid-up capital + reserve + provision not deducted from the assets + 

retained earning + net income + liabilities that are not due to be paid during the year 

ended on the date of the statement of financial positions - (net fixed assets + 

investment not acquired for trading, e. g., real estate for rents + accumulated losses) 

The standard also presented two cases related to the treatment of Zakat in the 

financial statements as follows: 

1- If the Islamic financial institution is obliged to pay Zakat. Zakat shall be 

treated as an (non-operating) expense of Islamic financial institutions and 

shall be included in the determination of net income in the income 

statement. 

2- If the Islamic financial institution is not obliged to pay Zakat, the 

shareholders ask the Islamic financial institution to act as agent in meeting 

the Zakat obligation relating to their investment in the Islamic financial 

institution from their share of distributable profits, Zakat shall be deducted 

from the shareholders' share of distributable profits. 

It is worth noting that some Islamic financial institutions issue a statement of 

sources and uses of Zakat in their annual reports. Table 2.7 presents an illustrated 

statement of sources and uses of Zakat. 
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Table2.7: Statement of sources and uses of funds in the Zakat and charity funds 
for the year ended xxx(year) 

Sources and Uses Xxx (year) 
Monetary Unit 

Sources of Zakat and charity funds 
Zakat due from the bank (Institution) xxx 
Zakat due from accounts holders xxx 
Donations xxx 

Total sources xxx 

Uses of Zakat and charity funds 
Zakat for the poor and the needy xx 
Zakat for the wayfarer XX 
Zakat for the heavily indebted and freedom of slaves xx 
Zakat for new converts to Islam XX 
Zakat for the cause of Allah XX 
Zakat collection and distribution to staff (administrative 

and general expenditure) XX 

Total uses xx 

Increase (decrease) of sources over uses XX 
Undistributed Zakat and charity at the beginning of year xx 

Undistributed Zakat and charity funds at end of year xx 
Source: AAOIFI, (2000). 

2.8 Conclusion 

This chapter highlighted Islamic financial institutions and the aspects related to 

these institutions. In so doing, the chapter was organized into five sections. The first 

section provided a general background on GCC countries, including geographical 

location, political system, and the economic features of each country, because these 

countries are considered the economic environment of Islamic financial institutions. 

It is clear that these countries are similar in their economic, political and legislative 

systems. 
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The second section discussed the accounting authorities in GCC countries. These 

authorities were presented in order to understand the mechanism in which these 

authorities operate and their relationship with Islamic financial institutions. 

The concept of Islamic economy was presented in section three. Islamic financial 

institutions are considered as one of the main applications of Islamic economy. The 

main conclusion of this section is that Islam is a complete way of life. Therefore, 

Islam sets the features and rules of Islamic economy. The important feature of this 

unique system is the prohibition of illegal profit making as well as the Riba (interest) 

in light of their disadvantages to Islamic society. 

Section four is considered the backbone of this chapter, because it explained the 

main features of Islamic financial institutions and aspects related to these institutions. 

The main conclusion of this section is that there are three types of Islamic financial 

institutions around the world. These are: Islamic banks, Islamic investments 

companies, and Islamic insurance companies. These institutions provide many 

services and activities to society as an alternative to conventional financial 

institutions. All of these activities must be carried out in compliance with the Shat-iah. 

Finally, accounting principles from an Islamic perspective and a brief outline of 

Zakat accounting were discussed in section five. The main conclusion in this section 

is that accounting principles can be used as a basis of accounting in Islamic financial 

institutions. Accounting principles are also largely accepted. However, some of these 

principles do not comply with fair accounting; they are subject to considerable debate 

and criticism, even from a conventional point of view. Accounting for Islamic 

financial institutions should be based on justice and fairness to ensure the rights and 

dues of all parties. All principles which help to achieve the objective of justice are 
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acceptable and desirable. Additionally, Zakai should be paid annually; therefore, the 

periodicity assumption is compatible with Zakat accounting. 

This chapter is a useful introduction to the following chapter. In chapter three, a 

review of the literature will be presented to set this study in context. 
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Chapter Three 

Literature Review: Financial Reporting 

3.1 Introduction 

Accounting is a system that feeds information back to organisations and 

individuals that they can use to reshape their environment (Kieso et al., 2001). 

Accounting, whether in the Western or Islamic worlds, also provides information for 

investors, creditors, managers, governments and the public in general to judge and 

evaluate the deployment and use of scarce resources. It also provides management 

with the necessary information to explain its progress towards achieving its strategic 

objectives (Idris, 1996). Accounting itself is the product of its environment, taking 

into consideration social, economic, political and legal conditions (Naser, 1993), as 

well as cultural or colonial ties, language and the educational and technological 

development of each country (Cooke and Wallace, 1990). 

In fact, in recent years management has started to rely to some degree on 

accounting data and reports. More time and efforts are needed to perform this 

process, and to devise techniques and systems that will ensure the continued utility 

and integrity of data presented in the form of financial reporting. On the other hand, 

accounting researchers, by adopting scientific methods of inquiry, have established a 

substantial body of empirically based knowledge. That knowledge concerns, 

primarily, how decision makers perceive, evaluate, and eventually use financial 

information and what effects that information might have on their behaviour (White 

et al., 2002; Al-Mubarak, 1997). 
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This chapter presents the objectives of financial reporting. characteristics of 

accounting information, the need for regulation of financial reporting, and the role of 

the accounting standard-setting bodies such as the FASB, ASB and AAOIFI. 

Moreover, previous studies which have dealt with financial reporting and its 

importance to shareholders and investors and other external users are examined, with 

a special emphasis on studies which have focused on GCC countries and financial 

reporting by Islamic financial institutions in particular. 

3.2 Objectives of Financial Reporting 

Financial reporting involves reporting information of both quantitative and 

qualitative nature. Quantitative information involves the collection of numerical data 

concerned with costs incurred, quantities produced, resources used, and revenue 

generated. Qualitative information, on the other hand, comprises some form of 

commentary or other information on the performance of the entity. 

In the Guidelines for Financial Reporting Standards, Solomons (1989, p. 9) 

argued that financial reporting should provide information that is useful to all those 

who have an interest in the following aspects: 

1. Assessing the financial performance and the position of the enterprise; 

2. Assessing the performance of those responsible for its management; and 

;. Making decisions about investing in lending or extending credit to do 

business with, or to be empoloyed by the enterprise. 
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The Accounting Principles Board (APB) of the American Institute for Public 

Accountants AICPA (1970) Statement No. 4 lists the following as general objectives 

of financial accounting and financial statements: 

" To provide reliable financial information about economic resources 

and obligations of a business enterprise; 

0 To provide reliable information about changes in net resources 

(resources less obligations) of an enterprise that result from its profit 

directed activities; 

" To provide financial information that assists in estimating the earning 

potential of the enterprise; 

0 To provide other needed information about changes in economic 

resources and obligations; and 

" To disclose, to the extent possible, other information related to the 

financial statements that is relevant to the users' needs. 

The Trueblood Report of the AICPA (1973, p. 61-66) reached a number of 

conclusions regarding the desirable goals of the financial accounting process: 

" "The basic objective of financial statements is to provide 
information useful for making economic decisions; 

" An objective of financial statements is to serve primarily those 
users who have limited authority, ability, or resources to obtain 
information and who rely on financial statements as their 
principal source of information about an enterprise's economic 
activities; 

" An objective of financial statements is to provide information 
useful to investors and creditors for predicting, comparing, and 
evaluating potential cash flows to them in terms of amount, 
timing, and related uncertainty; 

" An objective of financial statements is to provide users with 
information for predicting, comparing, and evaluating 
enterprise earning power; 
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" An objective of financial statements is to supp/v it formation 
useful to judging managements ability to utilise enterprise 

resources effectively in achieving the primary enterprise goal: 

" An objective of financial statements is to provide information 

useful for the predictive process. Financial forecasts should be 

provided when they will enhance the reliability qf user's' 
predictions; and 

" An objective of financial statements is to report on those 

activities of enterprise affecting society which can be 
determined and described or measured and which are 
important to the role of the enterprise in its social 
environment. " 

As can be seen from the above, these objectives are a mixture of disclosure 

standards, valuation methods, postulates concerning the production process, and 

behavioural assumptions. 

In 1974 the Accounting Standards Committee of the Institute of Chartered 

Accountants in England and Wales decided to set up a working group to re-examine 

the scope and aims of published financial reports. In 1975 a discussion paper, The 

Corporate Report", was published. The report defined the objectives of corporate 

financial reporting as: 

"to communicate the economic measurement of and information about 
the resources and performance of the reporting entity useful to those 
having reasonable rights to such information. " 

The Corporate Report defines users as those having a reasonable right to 

information and whose information needs shoud be recognised by financial reports. 

The users are identified as: the equity investor group, the loan creditor group, the 

employee group, the analyst-advisor group, the government, and the public. The main 

difference between the Corporate Report and the Trueblood Report is that the 

Corporate Report expresses a more pronounced concern for a statement useful for 

evaluating the social performance of an enterprise. 

In November 1978, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued the 

Statement of Financial Accounting No. 1, "Objective of Financial Reporting by 

105 



Business Enterprises". The financial reporting objectives according to the statement 

were identified as follows: 

" "Financial reporting shold provide information that is useful to present 
and potential investors and creditors and other users in making 
rational investment, credit, and similar decisions (paragraph 34); 

" Financial reporting should provide information to help investors, 
creditors, and others assess the amount, liming, and uncertainty of 
prospective net cash inflows to the related enterprise (paragraph 37); 

" Financial reporting should provide information abut the economic 
resources of an enterprise, the claims to those resources, and the effects 
of transactions, events, and circumstances that change rsozirces and 
claims to those resources (paragraph 40); 

" Financial reporting should provide information about an enterprise's 

financial performance during a period (paragraph 42);. 
" Financial reporting should provide information about how an 

enterprise obtains and spends cash, dividends and other distributions of 
enterprise resources to owners, and about other factors that may affect 
an enterprise's liquidity or solvency (paragraph 49);. 

" Financial reporting should provide information about hoer 
management of an enterprise has discharged its stewardship 
responsibility to owners (stockholders) for the use of enterprise 
resources entrusted to it (paragraph 50); and 

" Financial reporting should provide information that is useful to 
managers and directiors in making decisions in the interests of others 
(paragraph 52). " 

The FASB's objectives presented above are generally a boiled-down version of 

the Trueblood Report with some necessary value judgements as well as redundant 

statements. Although the statement singles out investors and creditors among external 

users, it maintains that financial statements must be general purpose in nature, rather 

than geared towards the specific needs of a particular user group. In an apparent 

departure from the Trueblood Report statement which assumes the "limited ability" 

of users, the FASB statement takes the position that users of financial statements 

must be assumed to be knowledgeable about financial information and reporting. 

Accounting standard-setting bodies such as the International Accounting 

Standards Committee (IASC) and the Accounting and Auditing Organization for 

Islamic Financial Institutions (AAOIFI) relied on these broad principles of financial 
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reporting in their "Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial 

Statements" (IASC, 1989). However, the AAOIFI added a new objective of financial 

reporting, which is to provide information to assist the concerned party in the 

determination of the Zakat on the Islamic bank's funds and the purpose for which it 

will be disbursed (AAOIFI, 1993). 

Furthermore, in accounting literature, there are a number of different approaches 

to the possible reporting objectives of financial statements. The first approach is 

termed the "decision - usefulness (DU) approach", under which financial reports 

should provide information that is useful for decision-making. The second approach 

is labelled the "accountability approach", where the aim of financial reports is to 

provide information which might assist in the enforcement of a "contract" between 

various parties. 

3.2.1 Accountability Approach 

Accountability refers to the responsibility of management to stakeholders (CICA, 

1991). Gjesdal (1981) stated that the objective of financial statements is to report on 

the control and use of resources by those accountable for their control and use to 

those to whom they are accountable. This definition is quite different from the 

general decision usefulness, although it does provide information on how 

management has used the resources to the shareholders, who may be facing a 

decision about the management team. Gray et al. (1991) argued that stewardship is 

essentially a special simple case of accountability. Under it, the steward provides an 

account of the uses to which the resources entrusted to him/her have been applied. 

Therefore, it says nothing about the effects of these uses or about the objectives 

behind the entrusting of the resources to the steward. Accountability, by contrast, 
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requires an account of the extent to which the objectives for which the resources were 

entrusted have been achieved. 

The word that best describes the relationship between a company and its 

management, on the one hand, and the external users of the company's published 

financial reports, on the other hand, is "accountability". A company reports to 

outsiders, because it feels it is accountable. Based on the relationship between the two 

parties, the accountee, "external user", has a certain right to know. At the same time. 

the accountor "management" has a right to protect privacy. Ijiri (1983) stated that 

more information about the accountor is not necessarily better. It is perhaps better 

from the standpoint of the accountee, but not necessarily from the overall 

accountability relation. He added that subjective information can seriously damage 

the interest of the accountor, even if is highly useful to the accountee. The accountor 

can suffer a variety of losses in recording and reporting certain information. The 

mechanical cost of preparing records and reports, as well as getting them audited and 

the potential loss of the accountor's competitive advantage, are some examples of 

such damage. 

3.2.2 Decision Usefulness Approach 

It is generally accepted that the underlying purpose of accounting is to provide 

financial as well as non-financial information about the economic entity to those who 

need such information. Financial reports such as profit and loss accounts, balance 

sheets... etc., are the output of any accounting information system. 

Gjesdal (1981) raised a question about what is meant by the objectives of an 

economic activity like financial reporting. The author suggested two different 

answers: (1) financial statements may be of value to decision-making demand; (2) 
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investors usually delegate decision making to managers. Then there may be a demand 

for information about the actions that are taken for the purpose of controlling them. 

Ijiri (1983, p. 75) stated that: 

"in a decision based T"ametii'ork, the objective of accotulling is to 
provide information useful for economic decisions. It does not ! natter 

what the information is about. More information is always preferred to 
less as long as it is cost effective. Subjective information is welcome as 

long as it is useful to the decision makers. " 

The decision usefulness approach has achieved greater recognition as the primary 

purpose of financial reporting following the publication of a number of important 

studies in the late 1960's, e. g., the American Accounting Association, 1966; Beaver 

el al., 1968. The decision usefulness approach has long been recognised. According 

to this approach, the function of accounting statements is to aid various user groups 

(in particular, shareholders and creditors, both actual and potential) in making 

decisions about holding, buying or selling company shares... etc. 

The Accounting Standards Board in the UK (1991, para. 12) adopted the decision 

usefulness approach when it stated that financial statements are intended to "provide 

information about the financial position, performance and financial adaptability of 

an enterprise to a leide range of users in making economic decisions. " 

Zairi and Letza (1994) found that the purpose of a company report should be to 

convey information which is useful to those who have an active interest in the 

organisations concerned, mainly the shareholders. Sterling (1972) concluded that it 

seems that we all agree that the objective of accounting is to provide useful 

information. 

There are two main areas of research directly related to the evaluation of the 

usefulness of accounting information and other financial disclosures to investors in 

making their decisions. The first area of research is the investor surveys, which 
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examine how an individual makes decisions in response to accounting information. 

The second is the efficient market hypothesis (EMI-I). which examines the decision 

makers' behaviour in the aggregate by focusing on the reactions of stock markets to 

accounting information (Dyckman et al., 1975; and Gray, 1987). Moreover, Watts 

and Zimmermar (1986) stated that in an efficient market, the purpose of financial 

statements is to assist the investors in estimating the future income and cash flows. 

The investors then can use economic theory and intuition to derive forecasts about 

security prices from these estimates. 

In terms of shareholders' survey methods. there are two types to determine the 

usefulness of financial information. The first type is to ask investors how they use 

annual reports. The main concern of this type of survey is how users of financial 

information understand, use, and make decisions on such information and what, if 

any, financial or non-financial information they need (Wolk et al., 2000). Examples 

of these studies include Baker and Haslem (1973); Chang and Most (1977); Anderson 

(1981); Ahmad (1988); Abdelsalam (1990); Bence et al. (1995); Idris (1996); Al- 

Mubarak (1997); and Al-Duwaihees (2002). 

The second type of survey asks investors to weight the importance of different 

items of financial information. The focus of this type of survey is whether the 

information on certain items of financial information is adequate for investment 

decisions. Examples of such studies include Singhvi and Desai (1971), Buzby 

(1974b); Firth (1978); Belkaoui et al. (1978); Chow and Wong-Boren (1987); Streuly 

(1994); AI-Mulhem (1997); and Al-Razeen (1999). 

Some scholars, such as Glautier and Underdown (2001) and Belkaoui (1992), 

refer to these types of surveys as behavioural accounting research, which aims to 

understand, explain, and predict human behaviour within an accounting context. 
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I-Iofstedt and Kinard (1970. p. 43) defined behavioural accounting research as "the 

study of the behaviour of accountants or the behaviour of non-accountant as they are 

influenced by accounting functions and reports. " 

3.3 Qualitatives Characteristics of Accounting Information 

If accounting information is to be useful for `decision-making', it must have 

certain characteristics. The main purpose of these characteristics is to help determine 

which alternative among accounting methods might be presented. and the most useful 

information for decision-making purposes. A number of characteristics of useful 

information have been suggested by both professional accounting bodies and 

individual authors. Some of these studies have special reference to developing 

countries, including Egypt (e. g., Shohaieb, 1990). The Corporate Report (1975, para 

3.3), for example, stated that in order for corporate reports to be useful, they must be 

relevant, understandable, reliable, complete, objective, timely, and comparable. 

In fact, financial reports should have certain qualitative characteristics, as 

recognized by several accounting standards bodies such as ther FASB, ASB and 

AAOIFI. These are identified as follows: 

" Relevance; 

" Reliability; 

" Comparability; 

" Consistency; and 

" Understandability 



3.3.1 Relevance 

Relevant information naturally must influence the decision or appraisal made; if the 

information has no influence on the decisions made by decision makers, it is not 

relevant. The FASB (1980 SFAC No. 2, para. 47) stated that: 

"To he relevant to investors, creditors, and oth10'S for i11Yc'St/11Cn/, 

credit, and similar decisions, accounting il formation must he capable 
of making a difference in a decision by helping users to form 

predictions about the outcomes of past, present, and fixture events or to 
confirm or correct expectations. " 

Relevant information, therefore, helps investors, creditors, and other users (i) 

make predictions about the outcome of past, present, and future events (predictive 

value); (ii) confirm or correct prior expectations (feedback value); or (iii) be available 

to a decision maker before it loses its capacity to influence their decisions 

(timeliness). 

According to the FASB's analysis, therefore, if information is to be useful for 

decision-making, it must be received by the decision-maker before it loses its 

capacity to influence decisions. The more timely the disclosures of information to 

decision-makers is, the more useful such information will be to them. 

In the UK, Paragraph 3.9 of the Corporate Report (1975, para. 3.9) declared that 

the final statement information should be timely, and indicated what it meant by this: 

"The (accounting) information presented should be timely, in the sense 
that the dale of its publication should be reasonably soon after the end 
of the period to ºt'hich it relates, so that il contributes meaningful new 
information about the entity, and in the sense that corporate reports are 
more useful if they contain zip-to-date measures of value. 

The AAOIFI (1993, para. 103 ) defined relevance as follows: 

"Relevance refers to the existence of cr close relationship between the 
financial information and the purposes 

. 
for which this information is 

prepared. To be useful, financial information should he relevant to one 
or more decisions of users of that information. " 
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3.3.2 Reliability 

Reliability implies that users of accounting information can depend on the 

information included in financial statements with a degree of confidence and an 

accounting system output can be used with a degree of trust. The SFAC NO. 2 (1980) 

defined reliability in paragraph (xvi) as "the quality of information that assures that 

information is reasonably free fi"onr error and bias, and fait/ f rlly represents tivhat it 

purports to present. " 

The reliability of accounting information stems from the following three 

characteristics: 

1. "Representational faithfulness", which refers to the 

correspondence or agreement between accounting data and the 

resources and events that those data are purported to represent. 

2. "Verifiability", which according to American Accounting 

Association (AAA, 1966, p. 10) is an "which allows quali/iecl 

individuals working independently of one another to develop 

essentially similar measures or conclusions from an 

examination of the same evidence, data, or recorcls. " 

Verifiability requires a consensus of agreement among 

independent and qualified individuals as to the measurement 

and presentation in financial reports. 

The FASB (1980, SFAC No. 2, p. xvi). defined verifiability as "the ability 

through consensus among measurers to ensure that information 

represents ºtwhat it purports to represent or that the chosen method of 

measurement has been used without error or bias. " This definition 
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implies that verifiability should ensure that the measurement rule used is 

applied cautiously and without personal bias. 

3. "Neutrality" of information also interacts with those two charactersitics to 

affect its usefulness. Neutrality refers to the absence of bias in the 

presentation of accounting data. If information is reliable, it must be 

neutral; that is, information cannot be selected to favour one set of 

interseted parties over another. According to the APB (1970, para. 91) 

Statement No. 4. defined neutrality as being "directed toward the common 

needs of users and is independent of presumptions about particular needs 

and desires of specific users of the information. " 

Belkaoui, 1992 pp. stated that: 

" neutral information is free front bias toward attaining some desired 
result or inducing a particular mode of behaviour. This is not to imply 
that the preparers of information do not have a purpose in mind when 
preparing the reports; it only means that the purpose should not 
influence a predetermined result ." 

Accounting information, to be neutral, must report economic activity as faithfully 

as possible, without colouring the image it communicates for the purpose of 

influencing human behaviour in some particular direction (FASB, 1980). The 

AAOIFI (1993, para. 111 ) defined reliability as "a characteristic which permits 

users to depend upon information with confidence. " 

3.3.3 Comparability 

Comparability was suggested by the FASB Statement of Financial Accounting 

Concepts No. 2 as a secondary quality. It is not a primary characteristic of useful 

information in the same sense that relevance and reliability are. Accounting 

information that is not reliable, or that is not relevant, will not be useful information. 
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Such might or might not he the case with this secondary quality, because 

although it may add to the usefulness of inli)rmation. its absence will not imply that 

the information is useless (Kieso et ill.. 2001). Comparability means that accounting 

information should be comparable with similar information about other enterprises. 

The information according to this quality should he reported in terms which allow the 

user to compare the entity's performance over time and with other similar entities 

(Corporate Report. 1975. tiara 3.10). The FASI3 (1980) emphasised the user 

perspective when it defined comparability as "the qualify ol'inli)r: n Lion that enables 

usel'S to Oelllif ' s7R11lorlllc's in, lllill lli1/i'n . 'nces between, two . GUIs of l'colzo111ik 

/)hc'nomen(1. " 

Comparability requires: (i) a consistent set of definitions. measurement units. 

assumptions, data processing and measurement techniques and reporting intervals: 

(ii) a form of presentation relevant to and adequate for comparative analysis of 

financial position and performance; (iii) classification of the contents of the accounts 

under the same items for each category; and (iv) similar evaluation of' items in the 

account (Shohaicb, 1990). 

The AAOIFI (199;, para. 118 ) defined comparability as follows: 

"Conlpca"clhility fll(ol itil accololtiº1i: i, ifo nlc/tioll crlloi s users to 
is/Cftifv real similarities titre/ cl fJcrences in the hank's per/i, rlºlunce 
over in relation to its own perJor»lance over time uºul in relation to 
the J)C'PJOI'lI1C1nce of otl1L'º' banks. 

3.3.4 Consistency 

Consistency means that information about an entity is more useful. if it can he 

compared with similar information about the same entity at other points in time. 

Consistency, therefore, means that a company applies the same methods of 

accounting to similar accountable events from period to period. It does not mean that 
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a particular method cannot he changed once it is adopted. Companies can change 

methods, but they must disclose in the same period in which the change is made the 

nature and effect of the accounting change as well as any justification for it 

(Belkaoui, 1992). 

AAOIFI (1993, para. ) emphasised consistency when it stressed that "an Islamic 

bank should be consistent in its application of accounting measurement and 

disclosure methods from one period to another. " 

3.3.5 Understandability 

To be useful, information must be readily understandable by users. For this 

purpose, users are assumed to have a reasonable knowledge of business, economies 

and accounting (IASC, 1989). Understandability rests on the nature of the 

information included in the financial statements, the way the information is 

presented, as well as the cultural and abilities of external users. It is, therefore, 

important for those who set accounting standards and those who prepare financial 

statements to be aware of the abilities and limitations of those for whom accounting 

information is provided (AAOIFI, 1993). 

3.4 Users of Financial Reporting and their Needs 

There are several groups of people who have vested needs to the financial 

reporting of a business organization (Glautier and Underdown, 2001). These groups 

and their needs are identified by the IASC (1989) as follows: 

1. Investors: The providers of risk capital and their advisers are concerned with 

the risk inherent in, and the return provided by their investments. They need 

information to help them determine whether they should buy, hold or sell. 
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Shareholders are also interested in information which enables them to assess 

the ability of the enterprise to pay dividends. 

2. Employees: Employees and their representative groups are interested in 

information about the stability and profitability of their employers. They are 

also interested in information which enables them to assess the ability of the 

enterprise to provide remuneration, retirement benefits and employment 

opportunities. 

3. Lenders: Lenders are interested in information that enables them to 

determine whether their loans, and the interest attaching to them, will be paid 

when due. 

4. Suppliers and other trade creditors: Suppliers and other creditors are 

interested in information that enables them to determine whether amounts 

owed to them will be paid when due. Trade creditors are more likely to be 

interested in an enterprise over a shorter period than lenders, unless they are 

dependent upon the continuation of the enterprise as a major customer. 

5. Customers: Customers have an interest in information about the continuance 

of an enterprise, especially when they have a long-term involvement with, or 

are dependent on the enterprise. 

6. Governments and their agencies: Governments and their agencies are 

interested in the allocation of resources and, therefore, the activities of 

enterprises. They also require information in order to regulate the activities 

of enterprises, determine taxation policies and as the basis for national 

income and similar statistics. 

7. Public: Enterprises affect members of the public in a variety of ways. For 

example, enterprises may make a substantial contribution to the local 
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economy in many ways, including the number of people they employ and 

their patronage of local suppliers. Financial statements may assist the public 

by providing information about the trends and recent developments in the 

prosperity of the enterprise and the range of its activities. Additionally, 

management is also interested in the information contained in financial 

statements, even though it has access to additional management and financial 

information that helps it carry out its planning, decision - making and control 

responsibilities. 

Devine (1985) argued that the fact that different users have different objectives is 

behind the need to determine the classes for whom the information is being disclosed. 

Various user groups have been identified in the pronouncements of authoritative 

standard-setting bodies and by many writers. The Corporate Report (1975) 

recognised the following seven groups of user: 

" The equity investor group; 

9 The loan creditor group; 

9 The employee group; 

9 The analysts advisor group; 

" The business contact group; 

" The government; and 

" The public. 

CICA, in Corporate Reporting, its Future Evaluation, published in 1980, 

identified the external users of financial information as follows: 

0 Shareholders: present and potencial; 

Long-term creditors: present and potencial; 

. Short-term creditors: present and potencial; 
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" Analysts and advisors serving shareholders and creditors; 

" Employees: present, past and potencial; 

9 Non-executive directors: present and potencial; 

0 Customers: present, past and potencial; 

0 Suppliers: present and potencial; 

" Industry groups; 

" Labour unions; 

9 Government Department and Ministers; 

" Public-Political parties: 

- Public affairs groups; 

- Comsumer groups; and 

- Environmental groups 

" Regulatory agencies; 

9 Other compamies (domestic and foreign); and 

0 Standard setters, academic researchers 

Mautz and Sharaf (1961) suggested that professional financial analysts are the 

ideal users of the financial reports, while others prefered average investors with 

limited skills as the primary users (Buzby, 1974). Wallace (1987) identifies three 

types of users. They include: "users of financial reports", who want to know how they 

can dispose of their money, skills and technology to different firms; "regulators of 

financial reports", who set the regulations for reporting; and the "accounting 

profession"; who make sure that firms comply with the requirements issued. 

According to AAOIFI (1993) the main categories of external users of financial 

reports for Islamic banks are as follows: 

Shareholders; 
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" Holders of investment accounts; 

" Other Depositors; 

" Current and saving account holders; 

" Others who transact business with the Islamic bank, who are not equity or 

account holders; 

" Zakat agencies; and 

" Regulatory agencies. 

According to the profit and loss concept, customers (depositors) of Islamic 

financial institutions are considered the main interested parties in this case. 

Therefore, many studies (e. g., Naser and Al-Khatib, 1999; Woldie and Evans, 2000; 

Othman and Owen, 2001; Othman and Owen, 2002; and Ahmad and Haron, 2002) 

were carried out in order to study the customers' perception towards Islamic banking 

products and services. For example, Woldie and Evans (2000) conducted their study 

to examine customers' perceptions of the level of service quality provided by Islamic 

Banks in Bahrain and compared them with conventional banks. Service quality 

should be an important component of any bank's strategy in creating value and 

increasing profit. The need for service quality will increase with continuing intense 

competition, government legislation, technology growth and increased awareness of 

consumers. The study concluded that there is a large difference in the satisfaction 

levels of service quality between Islamic banks and conventional banks. On the 

whole, there was a great level of dissatisfaction with Islamic banks. This was not 

limited to any one demographic segment, but was consistent across all the different 

demographic segments investigated. 
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3.5 Regulation of Financial Reporting 

Although regulation of financial reporting is a mandated activity regardless of 

its intensity in most of the world's countries, and is likely to continue as such, 

arguments against formal regulation have been reported in different studies. The 

following discussion will attempt to present and evaluate arguments for regulated or 

unregulated approaches of financial reporting. 

3.5.1 Anti-regulation Approach of Financial Reporting 

Several studies have supported the idea that there is no need to regulate financial 

reporting. The advocates of this approach based their arguments on the following 

principles. 

3.5.1.1 Agency theory 

This theory suggests that a firm has incentives to disclose information about 

itself to owners following the agency theory concept. The agency theory is 

established when managers are hired by the owners of a firm to administer the firm's 

activities. One aim of the agency theory is to provide an explanation of the nature of 

the demand for financial information and the cost of disclosing such information 

(Kam 1990). It is clear that the owners and the managers have different interests in a 

firm. This leads owners to contract with managers in such a way as to decrease 

conflicts between the objectives of the two groups. Consequently, in monitoring 

agency contracts with management, cost will be incurred. One means by which 

owners can monitor employment contracts with their management is financial 
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disclosure. This traditional type of disclosure is referred as to stewardship, or 

accountability to the owners of the firm. 

Costs incurred by owners to monitor agency contracts will reduce managers' 

compensation. Hence, managers will be motivated to decrease these costs. Various 

researchers have argued that voluntary disclosure lowers the agency monitoring costs 

(e. g., Jensen and Meckling 1976; and Chow and Wong Boren 1987). Therefore, 

reporting accounting information reliably to the owners is the best way for managers 

to minimise the agency monitoring costs (Holthausen and Leftwich 1983). The 

incentive comes from the fact that managers are evaluated and compensated partially 

by how well they report. 

In sum, the problem of agency theory is that it focuses on the owners as the users 

of financial information. Indeed, the owners can have such an agreement with the 

management to provide them only with the information that suits their needs. In other 

words, the owners will act as monopolists of the information. But, what about the 

other users who are interested in the firm's financial reports, including investors, 

lenders and suppliers? Atiase et al. (1988) argued that because equity investors do not 

normally have access to such information, mandatory disclosure might be very 

important to them. 

3.5.1.2 Free Market 

There is a large body of opinion today which says that there is scarce capital in 

the market. Firms compete with one another to get the maximum amount of this 

capital. It is argued that firms are incited to disclose information about themselves 

voluntarily on a regular basis to achieve this purpose. Therefore, a good reputation 

for financial disclosure will enable firms to raise capital in the market. For instance, 
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Barrett (1977) compared the financial reports of the 15 largest publicly held firms in 

the United States, the United Kingdom, Japan, France. Nest Germany, the 

Netherlands and Sweden. He concluded that there was evidence of a relationship 

between the extent and quality of financial disclosure and the degree of efficiency of 

national equity market. Choi (1973) found that there was evidence of a direct 

relationship between improved financial disclosure and entry into the international 

capital markets. 

Furthermore, it has been asserted that managers disclose good news when their 

firms are doing well to distinguish their firms from those not doing as well (Lev and 

Penman 1990). Moreover, companies would be forced to disclose information even if 

they did not have good results, due to competitive pressures. Some researchers have 

pointed out that competitive situations will motivate firms to report bad news in order 

to maintain credibility and reputation in the capital market (e. g., Ross 1979, and 

Skinner 1994). Another support for the argument that voluntary disclosure would 

occur in a competitive capital market was provided by Benston (1973). He concluded 

that the reporting requirements mandated by the SEC were already being fulfilled on 

a voluntary basis. 

3.5.1.3 Contracting for Private Information 

The advocates of this approach argue that anyone who really needs information 

about a company would be able to obtain it through a private contract with the 

company itself, with the company's owners, or with security analysts. It is claimed 

that people in the stock market show willingness to contract privately for information. 

Benston (1973) said that buyers of a product are willing to pay more if they do not 

have to spend as much in learning about it. Subscribing to investor newsletters not 
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available freely is one example of paying for private information. Another is the cost 

of consulting brokerage firms for investment advice. 

The previous arguments can be challenged on the grounds that all information is 

not going to be available by private contract and there some restrictions for specific 

information. Moreover, people are going to compete with one another to buy the 

same information by private contract at monopolistic prices, which is regarded as a 

waste of social resources. 

3.5.2 Pro-regulation Approach of Financial Reporting 

Regulation of financial reporting can be supported on the grounds that it is in the 

public interest. The majority of countries have found it necessary to mandate 

disclosure of accounting information. The most important reason that is normally 

used to defend mandatory requirements is based on the notion of market failure. It is 

asserted that one consequence of insufficient disclosure is a failure of the market 

(Hendricksen and Van Breeda, 1992). Market failure is assumed to occur because 

insufficient disclosure leads to suboptimal resource allocation. The following is an 

explanation of the factors that make it desirable to regulate financial reporting 

because of market failure. 

3.5.2.1 Public Good 

Accounting information is considered to be a public good. It can be freely passed 

from person to person and any one person's use of the information does not reduce 

the quantity and quality available to others. Wolk et al. (1992, p. 83) state that 

"underproduction of public goods is regarded as a market failure because producers 

are not motivated to meet the real demand for public goods. " It is believed that in the 
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absence of mandated disclosure, information will be underproduced. Therefore, 

intervention through mandatory disclosure is thought to be necessary to ensure that 

the actual demand for information is net. 

3.5.2.2 Monopoly Supplier 

It is known that the company is a monopoly supplier of information about itself. 

Hence, the tendency will be for the firm to underproduce the information and sell it at 

a higher price. Only regulatory intervention can persuade firms to disclose more 

information. And from the point of view of society, mandatory disclosure will 

increase the information at a lower cost ( Wolk et al., 1992). 

3.5.2.3 Symmetric Information 

Symmetric information refers to the fact that financial information is distributed 

equally among potential interested users. However, it is clear that corporate insiders 

know much more about their firm than do outsiders. Thus, mandatory dislosure 

requirements will mean that both corporate insiders and outsiders have the same 

information that helps in decision making. This, accordingly, will increase the 

outsiders' confidence in the fairness of the capital market. Lev (1988) argued that 

inequality in the capital markets, in term of inequality of opportunity, exists and leads 

to high transaction costs, thin markets, lower liquidity of securities, and decreased 

gains from trade. These consequences can be decreased by a policy mandating the 

disclosure of financial information. 

Finally, a good quality of information is always needed to convince investors of 

the fairness of the capital market. This kind of quality information is not going to be 

released all the time, because the competitive nature of the capital market could even 
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induce misleading or had disclosure. In fact, this was the case in Saudi Arabia (a 

member state of the GCC before the statutory disclosure requirement). Midani and 

Abdeen (1987) reported that the annual reports of Saudi corporations suffered from 

problems of long delays, lack of uniformity and consistency and unfamiliar 

classifications and terminology. In other words, the regulation of financial reporting 

is expected to raise the quality of financial disclosure. 

3.5.3 Reasons for Accounting Regulations 

To satisfy the objectives of their existence, financial reports have to be regulated. 

The need for some form of accounting standards is well recognized. especially in 

developed contries. This need stems from the generally accepted fact that the 

behaviour of enterprises should be regulated either by law or by institutional practices 

in order to protect the public interest (Bird , 1974; and Solomons, 1978) . 

There are four main arguments for accounting regulations and not allowing 

corporations the complete freedom to choose their accounting and reporting methods 

(Benston (1982); and Solomons (1986). First, it has been argued that the market 

cannot be relied on to take prompt disciplinary action, where necessary, against 

corporations that are allowed the freedom to choose what and how to report. This 

argument rests on the peculiarity of information as a commodity and the problems of 

free-riding, and that regulations are needed to correct these irregularities 

(Baxter, 1981). Secondly, there is a need for the comparability of financial 

information between published statements by business enterprises. In the absence of 

standards, there would be no reward which might encourage a large enterprise to 

conform to any particular model for the sake of comparability (Horngren, 1973) 

Thirdly, there is some concern over the limited capacity of the receivers of 
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information to interpret and use accounting information. In the absence of standards, 

explicit and lengthy statements would be necessary to accompany the accounting 

reports for this purpose (Benston, 1980; and Baxter. 1981). Finally, there is sonne 

public concern regarding the ability of financial reporting to present a true and fair 

view when different standards are used. 

3.5.4 Regulation of Financial Reporting by Private or Public Sectors 

The advantages and disadvantages of both public and private accounting 

standards setting methods have been widely discussed in the literature. Whatever the 

outcome of these discussions, its is agreed by many that standardisation programmes 

are necessary (Baxter, 1981; and Stamp, 1980). 

In fact, governments have been interested in the regulation of accounting for four 

reasons, namely: taxation; regulation of enterprises; planning and regulation of the 

economy; and enhancement of economic efficiency and other social goals (Benston, 

1980). Thus, accounting regulation is seen to be motivated by the need to protect the 

public interest, and it is recognised that accounting needs a conceptual framework 

(Solomons, 1983); Bromwich (1992); and Kam (1990) stated that under the public 

sector, decisions for any proposed accounting policy can be made quickly at a lower 

cost and without engaging in long public debate. Moreover, economic efficiency and 

other social goals might be achieved by means of government action. Apart from 

this, the government has the ultimate power of enforcement and any appeal 

mechanisms, such as fines and other sanctions. 

The regulation of financial accounting by the public sector is not, however, 

without its problems. According to Bromwich (1992), legislators might be expected 

to rubber stamp the ideas of certain interest groups in power. He added that it is often 
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difficult to get all items into the legislative timetable, hence discouraging efforts 

towards innovation, with all the consequent rigidity that this entails. This may 

endanger the standard-setting process, causing it to become increasingly politicised 

by those groups (Belkaoui, 1992; and Kaplan, 1980). Furthermore, legislators have 

no incentives to reduce the cost of regulation and would probably prefer written rules 

that protect them from public criticism at the expense of flexibility (Al-Amari, 1988). 

On the other hand, Kam (1990) states that those who prefer the private sector do 

so because: (1) the public sector might be pressurised to achieve the socio-economic 

objectives of the government; (2) various bodies in the private sector have discharged 

their work very efficiently; and, (3) individuals on private sector boards generally 

have more prestige and are often more accepted by the business community. In 

addition, Kaplan (1980) states that private sector accounting standard-setting consists 

of input from many experts and experienced people from various fields. Before any 

proposal can be approved, the subject will first be discussed for further comments and 

suggestions at a public hearing. Thus, the private sector is more accommodating to 

its many information users than the public sector. 

Like the public sector, however, the private sector is not safe from problems. 

Naser (1993) points out two major problems: (1) the authority of standard-setter; and. 

(2) consensus seeking. Belkaoui (1992) and Johnson and Solomons (1984) state that 

for private sector standard-setting to be successful, a clear mandate is required so that 

such standards are acceptable to those affected or else the problem of legitimacy will 

remain. As a consequence of this lack of authority, private sector standard-setting is 

seen to be facing difficulties in trying to achieve a consensus for each standard among 

those who have the power to resist such standards. 
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It is worth noting that various types of accounting regulation are applied in 

developed countries. In Germany, legislation lays down accounting standards; in the 

United States legislation does not lay down standards, a government agency perfonirs 

that duty; in the United Kingdom legislation imposes standards and also makes 

provision for a private sector agency to set standards. In Australia, legislation 

dicatates standards and clearly authorises a federal statutory board to set further 

standards (Zeff, 1995; and Kieso et al., 2001). 

In the light of the differences in the financial reporting practices of entities. there 

is a need for regulation of financial reporting in order to provide useful information to 

users. Therefore, many accounting bodies have been established to achieve that 

purpose. The following is a brief history of the importance of accounting standard- 

setting bodies. 

3.5.4.1 Financial Accounting Standard Board (FASB) 

Before presenting the information about the American Financial Accounting 

Standard Board (FASB), it is useful to give a brief history of accounting boards in the 

United States. The rationale for regulation in the late 1920's followed the stock market 

crash of 1929. The crash caused thirty billion dollars of securities to disappear in less 

than one month (Chesler et al., 1972). As a result of the stock market crash, and 

widespread dissatisfaction with accounting reports, the stock exchanges and the 

accounting profession made significant efforts to improve accounting. 

The major organisations responsible for the development of financial accounting 

standards in the United States are highlighted briefly. 

1. The American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) Committee 

on Accounting procedures (1936-1959) 

2. The Accounting Principles Board (1959-1973) 
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3. The Financial Accounting Standards Board (1973- until now 

1- The American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) Committee 
on Accounting procedures (1936-1959) 

The AICPA charged its Committee on Acccounting Procedures (CPA) with 

issuing Accounting Research Bulletins (ARBs). Fifty-one such bulletins were issued 

to deal with a variety of accounting problems between 1936 and 1959. Although these 

bulletins, to some extent, narrowed the range of alternative practices. this ad hoc 

approach of the CAP failed to provide the well-defined structured body of accounting 

principles that was both needed and desired (Kieso el al., 2001). 

2- The Accounting Principles Board (1959-1973) 

As a result of the concern and criticisms of the structure and accomplishments of 

the AICPA Committee on Accounting Procedures in dealing with accounting 

problems in existence at that time, the Accounting Principles Board was created to 

overcome the CPA's shortcomings. The majority of its members were senior partners 

of the Big Eight accounting firms. The main objectives of the APB were to advance 

the written expression of accounting principles, determine appropriate practice, and 

narrow the areas of difference and inconsistency in practice. The new board 

immediately undertook several studies on acccounting principles. Among the fruits of 

these studies were the Basic Postulates of Accounting and A Tentative Set of Broad 

Accounting Principless' (Moonitz, 1961). 

It was not long, however, before dissatisfaction and doubt grew over the Big Eight 

accounting firms, and questions were raised over who should set the accounting 

standards. Disagreement and continuing criticism centred on issues such as the APB 

process being too closed, and the making of too many ad hoc decisions. Eventually, 

as a result of excessive and extended pressures, the APB underwent the same fate as 

the CAP and was disbanded in 1973 (Wyatt, 1991). 
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3- The Financial Accounting Standards Board (1973- until now) 

Since 1973, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) has been the 

designated organization in the private sector for establishing standards of financial 

accounting and reporting in the United States (Nobes and Parker. 2000). Since its 

formation in 1973, the FASB has issued 148 accounting standards and various 

interpretations and technical bulletins. The mission of the Financial Accounting 

Standards Board (FASB) is to establish and improve the standards of financial 

accounting and reporting for the guidance and education of the public, including 

issuers, auditors and users of financial information (FASB, 2003). 

The creation of the FASB was desiged to repair the perceived flaws in the 

structure and procedures of the APB. The FACB consists of seven full-time members 

from various backgrounds, replacing the relatively large 18 (part-time) member-APB 

(Harvey and Keer, 1983). The FASB is also represented by various independent 

bodies whose members were all from the AICPA, in contrast to the APB. 

The role of the FASB was reinforced when the SEC explicitly confirmed that 

principles, standards and practices promulgated by the FASB will be considered by 

the Commission as having substantial authoritative support (O'Regan, 2001). The 

FASB has become an officially recognised accounting regulation body with 

substantial resources and with support provided by the SEC, any standards issued by 

the FASB must be adhered to (Bromwich, 1992). Kieso et al. (2001) stated that the 

FASB has five features which distinguish it significantly from its predecessors. 

These features include: (1) smaller membership; (2) full-time, remunerated 

membership; (3) greater autonomy; (4) increased independence; and (5) broader 

representation. 
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Since its inception, the primary function of the FASB has been to issue the 

statement of financial accounting standards, interpretations of those standards, and 

other information about economic events and transactions in the form of financial 

statements. The progress made by the FASB has initiated a renaissance in the 

development of financial reporting and it has been recognized as playing a vital role 

in the functioning of the capital markets in both the US and the world in general. 

Regarding the due process of FASB, Kieso ei al. (2001, p. 36) stated that: 

"To ensure the achievement of these goals, the following steps are 
taken in evolution of a typical FASB Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards: 
1. A topic or project is identified and placed on the Board's agenda; 
2. A task force of experts from various sectors is assembled to define 

problems, issues, and alternatives related to the topic; 
3. Research and analysis are conducted by the FASB technical staff; 
4. A discussion memorandum is drafted and released; 
5. A public hearing is often held, usually 60 days after release of the 
memorandum; 
6. The Board analyses and evaluates the public response; 
7. The Board deliberates on the issues and prepares an exposure 
draft for release; 
8. After a 30-day (minimum) exposure period for public comnºent, the 
Board evaluates all of the responses received; and 
9. A committee studies the exposure draft in relation to the public 
responses, re-evaluates its position, and revises the draft if 
necessary. 

3.5.4.2 Accounting Standards Board (ASB) 

In July 1990, the ASC was disbanded and replaced by a newly created 

Accounting Standards Board (ASB) (Kirk, 1991; and O'Regan, 2001 ). Membership 

of the ASB is limited to a maximum of ten, of whom two (the chairman and the 

technical director) are full-time members and the remainder are part-time members. 

On I January 2001, Mary Keegan, then head of the Global Corporate Reporting 

Group of Pricewaterhouse Coopers (PwC), succeeded Sir David Tweedie as full-time 
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Chairman of the ASB (ASB, 2002). The ASB is able to issue accounting standards 

on its own authority (Pereira et al., 1992). 

In contrast, the accounting regulation in UK has passed through many stages 

before establishment of the Accounting Standards Board (ASB). In fact, interest in 

accounting policy formulation started as early as 1935 when the Society of 

Incorporated Accountants and Auditors established its Research Committee. This 

initial interest was followed soon thereafter by the formation of another research 

group (by lectures at the London School of Economics) in 1936. At that time, 

interest was mainly concerned with the assessment of the existing practice, urging the 

acceptance of a normative theory. 

The first significant British interest in accounting policy formulation appears to 

have started in the 1940s. This interest was the result of discontent with the 

accounting establishment at that time, especially that non-practising accountants were 

not permitted to serve on the council of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in 

England and Wales (ICAEW), the primary authority for accounting policies at that 

time. Between 1945 and 1969, the ICAEW producuced a series of Recommendations 

on Accounting Principles. During the 1960s, a number of financial crises, such as the 

case of Rolls Royce Ltd, raised many concerns and criticisms regarding British 

accounting. These concerns arose mainly from the absence of underlying theoretical 

concepts of recommrnded practice (Taylor and Turlry, 1986), and caused ICAEW to 

produce a Statement of Intent on Accounting Standards in the 1970's. 

Prior to this, in 1969, the eleven-member accounting Standards Committee 

(ASC) was formed (preceded by the Accounting Standards Steering Committee). 

The ASC was, soon after its formation, joined by all the major accounting bodies in 

Britain. Its main responsibility was to establish statements of standard accounting 
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practice. After much effort, the ASC produced its report, Setting Accounting 

Standards, in 1981. The ASC was, however, subject to a growing criticism that it 

had shown an inability to respond quickly to frequently changing needs or deal 

adequately with fundamental issues, such as inflation accounting, off-balance sheet 

and goodwill (Banga, et al., 1994). Additionally, some of its pronouncements were 

the object of much public controversy. 

The standards issued by the ASB will be known as Financial Reporting 

Standards (FRS). All SSAPs issued by the ASC and still in force have been adopted 

by the ASB. Topic areas for discussion by the ASB can come from either the ASB's 

own research or from external sources, including interested parties. The FRS No. 19, 

Deferred Tax, was issued on 7 December 2000. It supersedes SSAP 15, Accounting 

for Deferred Tax, becoming effective for years ending on or after 23 January 2002. 

Earlier adoption is encouraged (ASB, 2002). 

The procedure leading to the issuing of accounting standard starts when a topic is 

identified by the ASB as requiring the issue of a standard. Then the board 

commissions its staff to undertake a programme of research and consultation. A 

programme is undertaken within the overall framework of relevant conceptual issues, 

existing pronouncements and practice and the-legal and practical implications of the 

introduction of particular accounting requirements. After the ASB debates the topic, a 

discussion draft is produced and circulated to interested parties who have registered 

their interest to the hoard. An exposure draft is then published to allow an opportunity 

for all interested parties to comment on the proposals and for the board to gauge the 

appropriateness and level of acceptance. The exposure draft (ED) is then refined in 

the light of feedback and, if necessary, another ED is issued. Finally, an FRS is 

issued. Although the ASB weigh carefully the views of the interested parties, the 
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ultimate content of an FRS is determined by the board's judgment based on research, 

public consultation and careful deliberation about the benefits and costs of providing 

the resulting information (O'Regan, 2001; and ASB, 2002). 

Obviously, the ASB is a standard-setter, and is not responsible for the 

certification of accountants. In United Kingdom and Ireland, that is the responsibility 

of other organisations, such as the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants 

(ACCA), Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (ICAEW), 

Institute of Certified Accountants in Ireland (ICAI) and the Institute of Chartered 

Accountants in Scotland (ICAS). For example, the ACCA is the largest global 

professional accountancy body with nearly 300,000 members and students in 160 

countries. The ACCA's headquarters are in London, and it has an extensive network 

of around 70 staffed offices and other centres around the world (ACCA, 2003). 

3.5.4.3 Accounting and Auditing Organization for Islamic Financial 
Institutions (AAOIFI) in Bahrain 

In 1991, the Accounting and Auditing Organization for Islamic Financial 

Institutions (AAOIFI) was established in the State of Bahrain. Between its 

establishment in 1991 and 2001, the AAOIFI (formally known as FAOIBFI) issued 

two Statements of Financial Accounting, 17 Financial Accounting Standards and four 

Auditing Standards for Islamic Institutions, four Governance Standards and two 

Eithics Standards (AAOIFI, 2001). Until 2001, AAOIFI issued the following 

accounting standards and statements: 

1- Financial Accounting Statements: 

" Objective of Financial Accounting of Islamic Banks and Financial Institutions 

" Concepts of Financial Accounting for Islamic Banks and Financial 

Institutions 
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2- Financial Accounting Standards: 

9 General Presentation and Disclosure in the Financial Statements of Banks and 

Financial Institutions 

" Murabaha and Murabaha to the Purchase Order 

" Mudaraba Financing 

" Musharaka Financing 

" Disclosure of Bases for Profit Allocation Between Owners' Equity and 

Investment Account Holders and their Equivalent 

" Salam and Parallel Salant 

" Ijarah and Ijarah Muntahia Bittamleek 

9 Istisna'a and Parallel Istisrya'ci 

9 Zakal 

9 Provisions and Reserves 

" General Presentation and Disclosure in the Financial Statements of Islamic 

Insurance Companies 

" Disclosure of Bases for Determining and Allocating Surplus or Deficit in 

Islamic Insurance Companies 

" Investment Funds 

" Provisions and Reserves in Islamic Insurance Companies 

" Foreign Currency Transactions and Foreign Operations 

" Investments 

" Islamic Financial Services offered by Conventional Financial. Institutions 
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3- Auditing: 

" Objective and Principles of Auditing 

9 The Auditor's Report 

9 Terms of Audit Engagement 

" Testing by an external Auditor for Compliance with Shariah Rules and 

Principles 

4- Governance: 

" Shari'ah Supervisory Board: Appointment, Composition and Reports 

" Shari'ah Review 

" Internal Shari 'ah Review 

" Audit and Governance Committee for Islamic Financial Institutions 

5- Ethics: 

" Code of Ethics for Accounting and Auditors of Islamic Financial Institutions 

" Code of Ethics for the Employees of Islamic Financial Institutions 

It is worth noting that the organizational structure of the AAOIFI consists of a 

general assembly, a board of trustees consisting of 15 part-time members, an 

accounting and auditing standards board consisting of 15 part-time members, a 

Shariah committee, an executive committee consisting of 7 members, three from 

each of the board of trustees and the standards board and the secretary-general who is 

a full-time member of staff and heads the general secretariat (Karim, 1997). The 

objective of the AAOIFI is "to develop accounting thought in the field of Islamic 

banking, preparing, issuing amending accounting and auditing standards" (AAOIFI. 

1998). 
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The main problem for the AAOIFI is its lack of enforcement powers. However, 

according to Karim (1997, p. 8): 

"Despite its lack of power of enforcement, Af1O1F1's standards are 
gradually being recognized by other players in the markets. Although 

we are very delighted and encouraged by these developments, we are 
aware that the growing acceptance and implementation of these 

standards, however, will require a high degree of cooperation between 

its as standard-setters and national regulators of the industry. " 

Wilson (1997) also underscored the last idea. On the other hand, Idris (1996) 

pointed out that there is a lack of awareness about the existence of the AAOIFI on the 

part of Islamic banks and institutional investors. Recently, in order to enforce the 

AAOIFI's standards, central banks in Sudan and Bahrain oblige Islamic financial 

institutions to apply the AAOIFI's standards in their accounting systems (Investors, 

2001) 

The AAOIFI has an extensive due process of seven phases, which governs the 

production of its accounting standards. This due process includes the vetting of the 

doctrinal suitability of proposed standards by a Shariah Committee and also provides 

interested parties with the opportunity to express their opinion on the standards before 

the Board finally approves them. Although the due process of the AAOIFI is similar 

in many respects to that used by Western and international standard-setting bodies, it 

does not require the issuing of a discussion memorandum to set forth the issues to be 

addressed by the standards and the alternative views without conclusion. 

Furthermore, the AAOIFI's due process does not require the holding of a public 

hearing to discuss an exposure draft. The steering committee that drafted the due 

process felt that those requirements would be impractical to implement in a multi- 

national set-up (Karim, 1995). 
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In June 2001, Professor Rifaat Ahmed Abdel Karim the Secretary-General of 

AAOIFI was appointed as a member in Standards Advisory Council for International 

Accounting Standard Board (IASC, 2003). 

3.6 Harmonisation of Accounting Information 

The harmonisation of accounting standards has been examined closely in recent 

years with the increasing interest in reducing the variations in accounting practices in 

different global and regional financial markets. International and regional policy 

makers presenting the idea of accounting harmonisation suggest that accounting 

practice harmony is associated with accounting regulation harmony (Rahman er al., 

2002) 

Harmonisation according to Parker (1992, p. 144) is "! he process of increasing 

the comparability of accounting practices by setting bounds to their degree of 

variation. " Choi and Mueller (1992, p. 257) tried to define harmony as "a state in 

which accounting standards or practices do not logically conflict. " 

In fact, efforts to harmonise accounting practices have been traced back to 1904 

and the first international accounting congress in St. Louis. Missouri (Chandler, 

1992), and are now taking place at a number of levels nationally, regionally and 

internationally. At whichever level, the objective of harmonisation is the reduction of 

the range of accounting procedures, with minimal error or ambiguity (Iddamalgoda, 

1986). 

It is worth noting that the development of the harmonisation process faces many 

barriers. First, the rules laid down by each country vary widely. For example, 

accounting in relation to long-term investments. Japanese and the German company 

law forbids the application of the `Equity' method, while in the US, UK and Canada 
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such a procedure is permissible. Difficulty may also be compounded by the existence 

of conflicting national laws and the fact that even within the same country situations 

may occur whereby uncoordinated national laws might result in conflicting 

approaches to financial reporting problems (Iddamalgoda, 1986). 

Second, the objectives of financial reporting differ from one country to another. 

For example, if a country has capital-based financial markets where long-term 

investment is dominated by individual investors, then financial reporting would give 

priority to the information needs of actual and potential investors. On the other hand, 

if a country has credit-based financial markets where the bulk of long-term funds are 

provided by government or financial institutions, then financial reporting would be 

oriented to other user groups such as the government and its employees, and perhaps 

to a greater degree, society in general (Fitzgerald, 1981; and Wolk et al., 2000). The 

objectives of financial reporting are also influenced by the political and economic 

development within each country. Since there is little chance of ever attaining a 

single political and economic system internationally, it is expected that these 

differences will continue to act as barriers to international accounting harmonization 

(Belkaoui, 1992). 

Third, accounting policies may pose barriers to any international accounting 

harmonisation effort, if there are uncoordinated local or international standard-setting 

pronouncements by various bodies in the absence of an agreed conceptual 

framework. Failure to coordinate efforts might create problems of overlapping and 

might result in more than a single set of postulates, causing complications and 

confusion (Fitzgerald, 1981; and Iddamalgoda, 1986). 

Fourth, the accounts prepared by one country might have to be translated, and 

the language and accounting terminology when translated into another language 
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might not carry the " same connotations, hence causing impediments to the 

harmonization of accounting on a regional or global scale. For example, precisely 

defined concepts in one language often do not exist at all in another language and 

have to be paraphrased. To some extent. similar words in different languages or 

even in countries with the same language have a completely different meaning. 

Therefore, accountants need to realize that their report may carry a different meaning 

to users, merely due to the language used. As accountants expand their practice into 

international fields, they must bear in mind this sort of situation (Nobes, 1992). 

On the other hand, the harmonisation of accounting would have several 

advantages and benefits to all its users. First, increasing international business and 

investment have led to an argument for some form of internationally accepted 

standards of accounting and auditing, the reason being that message distortions 

caused by international accounting and reporting differences can lead to sub- 

optimal business and investment decisions and, in turn, reduce the allocational 

efficiency of capital markets as well as societal welfare in general. It is, therefore, 

perceived that with internationally accepted accounting standards, the resultant 

comprehensibility to users may help in reducing risk and thereby render the flow of 

investment across national boundaries more efficient (Iddamalgoda, 1986; and 

Belkaoui, 1992). 

Second, harmonization should enhance comparability and understandability and 

facilitate rational economic decisions. As Chandler (1992) points out, international 

investors would benefit from this harmonization because the comparison of 

investment opportunities will be facilitated by financial statements being drawn up 

on a consistent and uniform basis. Furthermore, if financial reports and financial 
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statements of various countries are comparable, international financial affairs and the 

flow of capital and services could be facilitated. 

Third. multinational companies' expenses in relation to recruitment and the 

transfer of staff across national boundaries might be considerably reduced, if the 

training and possession of skills and knowledge were similar in different countries. 

As multinational companies are users of financial reports, in the sense that they often 

buy companies or joint-venture with local companies, therefore, confidence in and 

ability to compare accounting statements are extremely valuable for this purpose 

(Nobes, 1992). The insufficiency of funds to finance projects and the availability of 

foreign loans has also increased interest in accounting harmonization. 

3.6.1 International Accounting Standards Committee (IASC) 

The IASC is considered the only body that has been working for the 

improvement and harmonization of accounting regulations, and has been in existence 

for almost twenty years (Wyatt and Yospe, 1993). The International Accounting 

Standards Committee was founded on 29 June 1973 and currently has 109 member 

bodies from 80 countries, including the International Federation of Accountants 

Committee (IFAC). Until 2002, the IASC has issued forty-one accounting standards. 

The latest standard is IAS No. 41" Agriculture", which was issued in January 2001. 

The IASC manages its affairs through a Board that consists of representatives from 

accountancy bodies in 13 countries. The IASC, with headquarters in London, is 

funded by professional accountancy bodies and also contributions from multinational 

firms, financial institutions, accounting companies and other organizations (IASC, 

1992). The objectives of the IASC are: 
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I- To formulate and publish in the public interest accounting standards to be 

observed in the presentation of financial statements and to promote their 

worldwide acceptance and observance; and 

2- To work generally for the improvement and harmonisation of regulations. 

accounting standards and procedures relating to the presentation of financial 

statements. 

Several important distinctions are observable between the IASC and other 

international organizations involved in the harmonisation process. Firstly, the IASC is 

not an inter-government body, since it comprises of members from accountancy 

bodies in various countries. Second, the standards issued by the IASC are generally 

believed to be directed for application by all companies that produce published 

financial statements. Thirdly, the standards issued by the IASC are focused on the 

improvement and harmonisation of accounting practices with the hope of reducing 

the differences among countries (Iddamalgoda, 1986). 

The success of the IASC rests on acceptance of the standards by member 

countries and recognition and support internationally. According to McKinnon and 

Janell (1984, p. 32), the IASC has proved successful in three major ways: 

"1- It has succeeded in identifying and codifying the most 
generally accepted principles in use in the developed nations of 
the world; 

2- Its standards have provided a neutral source for countries in the 
process of standard setting; and 

3- The most effective way of influencing world harmonization has 
been through the IASC's ability to have its standards considered 
by other, more powetf l group. 

In March 2001, the IASC Foundation was formed as a not-for-profit corporation 

incorporated in the State of Delaware, USA. The IASC Foundation is the parent 

entity of the International Accounting Standards Board, and an independent 

accounting standard setter based in London, UK. Effective from the first of April 
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2001, the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) assumed accounting 

standard setting responsibilities from its predecessor body, the International 

Accounting Standards Committee. This was the culmination of a restructuring based 

on the recommendations of the report Recommendations on Shaping IASC. / r the 

Future (IASC, 2003). 

The IASB structure has the following main features: the IASC Foundation is an 

independent organisation having two main bodies, the Trustees and the IASB, as well 

as a Standards Advisory Council and the International Financial Reporting 

Interpretations Committee. The IASC Foundation Trustees appoint the IASB 

Members, exercise oversight and raise the funds needed, whereas the IASB has the 

sole responsibility for setting accounting standards. The Standards Advisory Council 

(SAC) has approximately 45 members and provides a forum for organisations and 

individuals with an interest in international financial reporting to participate in the 

standard setting process (IASC, 2003). 

According to the IASC (IASC, 2003) the International Accounting Standards 

Board (IASB) determines the scope of any projects formally added to its agenda. The 

process for the development of a Standard would involve the following steps: 

" During the early stages of a project, IASB may establish a Advisory 

Committee to give advice on the issues arising in the project. Consultation 

with the Advisory Committee and the Standards Advisory Council occurs 

throughout the project; 

" The IASB may develop and publish Discussion Documents for public 

comment; and 
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" Following the receipt and review of comments, the IASB would develop and 

publish an Exposure Draft for public comment and would issue a final 

International Financial Reporting Standard. 

It is worth mentioning that Karim (2001, p. 169) has discussed in his paper the 

subject of international accounting standards and accounting regulation of Islamic 

banking as follows: 

"Supervisory authorities in countries in which Islamic banks operate 
have taken various approaches to regulate Islamic banking 

. 
Such 

variations appear to have resulted in Islamic banks adopting different 

accounting treatment for investment accounts, although most the 
countries in which Islamic banks operate either look directly to 
international accounting standards as their national standards or 
develop national standards based on primarily on international 
accounting standards. This rendered the financial statements of Islamic 
banks noncomparable. It also implies that the calls for worldwide 
adherence to international accounting standards to achieve 
harmonization in financial reporting, regardless of cultural differences 
that affect the way in }, which business transactions are carried out, should 
not go unchallenged It also casts light on the need to implement the 
accounting standards promulgated by Accounting and Auditing 
Organization for Islamic Financial Institutions (AAOIFI), because these 
standards specifically cater for the unique characteristics of the contracts 
that govern the operations oflslamic banks. " 

3.7 Previous Studies on Usefulness of Annual Reports 

In general, the word "usefulness" in this study means the extent to which 

information facilitates decision-making for investors. As mentioned earlier, one of the 

methods to determine the usefulness of financial information is by conducting a 

survey to know how users (investors) of financial information understand, use, and 

make decisions of such information and what, if any, financial or non-financial 

information they need. However, this item needs to be clarified in the field of Islamic 

financial institutions, because the financial information and presentations of Islamic 
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financial institutions contained in their annual reports are different in certain respects 

from reports offered by non-Islamic banks (Idris, 1996). 

In order to clarify the last concept, a critical review of the study by Baydoun and 

Willett (2000) on Islamic Corporate reports is necessary. The study attempts to 

develop a theory about the form and content of the financial information that should 

be contained in Islamic financial statements. The theory suggests that the presence of 

the Islamic religion as a cultural variable affects the way certain accounting 

measures are interpreted and the manner in which accounting information should be 

disclosed. Two important criteria for disclosure in Islamic accounting are identified: 

1) a form of social accountability; and 2) a rule of full disclosure. This leads to a 

modification to the form of the conventional Western set of financial statements, 

which are referred to in the paper as Islamic corporate reports (ICRs), because the 

technology and practices of accounting were developed in a European setting. The 

specific recommendations are that ICRs should contain a value-added statement as 

the focus of performance of the accounting entity and a current value balance sheet, 

in addition to the historic cost balance sheet that are related to Zakat purposes. It is 

argued that ICRs, extended in this way, would better serve the needs of users wishing 

to act in accordance with the Islamic code. 

After the determination of the meaning of "usefulness" in Islamic corporate 

reports, it is important to review the previous studies in order to help establish a 

structure for the research. This will identify the general conclusions drawn from the 

previous studies that could be related to the questions of this study. The analysis of 

previous studies also helps in indicating the different procedures and methodologies 

used to determine appropriate research methodologies to be employed in this study. 
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In fact, the study of the usefulness of financial reports is an important concern of 

researchers in financial reporting because the annual report is considered as the most 

valuable communication tool. It has long been considered as a barometer to measure 

a company's performance and, in general, to signal the state of the economy 

(Macalister, 1994). 

Some previous studies relating to investors and the usefulness of financial 

information appearing in annual reports of companies are presented below. 

Cerf (1961) investigated the extent of financial disclosure in the annual reports by 

using a sample of 527 companies in the U. S. Banks, public utilities, and railroad 

firms were excluded because of their specific nature. The author constructed a 

disclosure index of 31 items focusing on the information needs of financial 

investment analysts who were interviewed. Items included in the index were attached 

a weight ranging from one to four. The maximum score obtained was 68. A 

modification was made when items were not relevant to a specific company. Then, 

the index score for each company was calculated as a percentage, by dividing the 

actual score a firm earned by its maximum expected score. 

The relationship between the extent of financial disclosure and a number of 

company characteristics, namely, assets size, number of shareholders, rate of return 

and listing status was tested using the index scores obtained. Class means and least 

square regression analysis were applied in this study. Cerf (1961) found that there 

was a positive association between the index of disclosure and three variables which 

were assets size, number of shareholders and the rate of return. 

Cerrs research provided a foundation for other studies measuring disclosure in 

corporate annual reports. His method was modified, developed and applied to other 

countries. However, his study was confined to listed companies, neglecting a large 
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number of unlisted companies. This means that the results of this study cannot be 

generalized to all companies. Moreover, it focused on one user group, which was 

investment analysts. Furthermore, the number of items included in the index was 

very small. In addition, no significance test of the relationship between the company 

attributes and the extent of disclosure was conducted. 

Epstein (1975) conducted a study in the United States to determine the 

usefulness of annual financial statements among investors. Epstein found that only 15 

% of the respondents in the survey relied on annual reports as their primary basis for 

investment, while 49 % relied on stockbrokers' advice. Based on his findings. Epstein 

concluded that corporate annual reports were not very useful to stockholders for 

investment decisions. However, a study conducted by the Securities and Exchange 

Commission (1977) arrived at different findings. Questionnaires were distributed to 

11,000 individual investors; each of them owned fewer than 1,000 shares of stock in 

fifteen different companies. Fifty % of the respondents rated financial statements as 

extremely useful, 36 % considered them moderately useful and three % rated the 

financial statements as "not at all useful". This is an interesting result, since the 

respondents hold diversified portfolios and yet they are interested in company- 

specific results. The findings of the study were supported by the findings of other 

studies carried out in other countries. 

Chang and Most (1977) carried out a survey of individual investors in two 

countries: the U. S. (Florida) and New Zealand. In Florida, questionnaires were 

mailed to investors randomly selected from the mailing list of the local office of a 

large national stockbrokerage firm. One hundred eighty two questionnaires were 

received out of 1,034, which represents a response rate of 17.6 %. In New Zealand, 

300 questionnaires were mailed to investors selected from a New Zealand firm for 
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share registrars. Responses were obtained from 85 investors, who represent a 

response rate of 28.3 %. Respondents in Florida rated corporate annual reports as the 

most important source of information. Newspapers and magazines ranked second; 

and stockbrokers' advice ranked third. 

However, the New Zealand survey indicated different results. The results 

revealed that newspapers and magazines were the most important source of 

information, followed by stockbrokers' advice. Company annual report ranked third. 

The main area of weakness related to this study is the low response rate. especially 

for the Florida survey, where the response rate was only 17.6 %. However, statistical 

tests were carried out by the researchers to test the non-response bias, and no such 

bias was detected. 

Lee and Tweedie (1981) conducted a study on financial reporting in the United 

Kingdom. The findings of the study confirmed that annual reports were perceived to 

be the most important source of information for investment decisions by institutional 

investors. Nearly 80 % of the respondents also confirmed their confidence in using 

the information provided in the financial statements for investment decisions. Arnold 

and Moizer (1984) criticized the Lee and Tweedie study on the grounds that the 

population from which the sample was drawn were based on organizations, rather 

than individuals, resulting in the sample containing a relatively smaller number of 

analysts from large firms which may have led to sample bias. 

Anderson (1981) carried out a study on financial reporting in Australia. He 

targeted the Australian institutional investors and sought, primarily, to discover their 

perceptions about the importance of annual corporate reports to their decision making 

process. He analyzed the responses of 188 institutional investors. Regarding the 

sources of information about companies, Anderson (1981) found that Australian 
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investors relied mostly on the annual report when making their investment decisions, 

followed by visits to the companies. Regarding the annual corporate report, Anderson 

(1981) found that the most readable sections of the annual report were thought to be 

the balance sheet. However, the profit and loss account was perceived to be more 

important than the balance sheet. Anderson (1981) did not perform any statistical 

tests to determine whether there is a significant association between the users' usage 

of the annual report sections, on the one hand, and the perceived importance of such 

sections, on the other hand. Anderson (1981), finally, documented the desire of users 

(72.4 %) for additional information to be provided in the annual corporate report. 

They asked, for example, for information about the company's product, current value 

of long term assets, and the remuneration of directors. 

A Malaysian study was conducted by Ahmad (1988), whereby questionnaires 

were sent to investment analysts employed by institutional investors, merchant banks 

and stockbrokers. The main objective of this study was to evaluate the importance of 

the annual report and the information contained therein for investment decisions. A 

major conclusion of the study was that the investment analysts ranked company 

annual reports as the most important source of information for investment decisions. 

This study also showed that the investment analysts made considerable use of the 

company annual reports for investment analysis. Moreover, the study indicated that 

the investment analysts regarded the balance sheet and profit and loss account as the 

most important sections of the annual reports. 

Epstein and Pava (1993) attempted to study the perceptions of American 

individual investors about various aspects of annual corporate reports. Using a survey 

questionnaire, they analysed 246 responses received from individual investors. One 

of the main objectives of Epstein and Pava's study was to measure the change in the 
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shareholders' perceptions about annual corporate reports over about two decades. 

They did that by comparing the result of Epstein and Pava (1993) with result of 

Epstein (1975) study, which used the same methodological approach to measure the 

individual investors' perceptions about various aspects of annual corporate reports. 

Epstein and Pava (1993) found that individual investors relied on the annual reports 

significantly more than they did about twenty years previously. At the same time. 

they relied significantly less on the advice of stockbrokers. In fact, the annual report 

was ranked first as a source of information to individual investors in Epstein and 

Pava's (1993) study, while stockbrokers' advice was ranked fifth. In Epstein (1975) 

the stockbrokers' advice was ranked first and the annual report was ranked fourth. 

Regarding the sections of the annual report, Epstein and Pava (1993) found that 

American individual investors read and use income statement and balance sheet more 

than any other parts of the annual report. Finally, Epstein and Pava (1993) 

documented the individual investors' demand for more financial disclosure in the 

annual reports. For example, they demand disclosure of any pending litigation, 

unasserted claims, budgeted income for the coming year, and restating statement 

using current value. They also demand more non-financial information, such as 

independent evaluation of management's effectiveness, reasons for the change of 

auditor and statement of audit committee responsibility. 

Ibrahim and Kim (1994) attempted to measure the perception of various user 

groups of annual corporate reports in Egypt about the importance of a set of 

information items that could be disclosed in an annual corporate report. Using a 

survey questionnaire, they analysed the responses of 311 individuals representing 

accountants, shareholders, managers, and financial analysis. The respondents were 
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asked to rate the importance of 42 information items that could be disclosed in an 

annual corporate report. 

Ibrahim and Kim (1994) found significant differences in the perceptions of the 

different user groups arranged in pairs, regarding many information items. These 

differences ranged from 14 items between accountants and manages. and 31 items 

between financial analysis and investors. Ibrahim amd Kim (1994) did not, however, 

explain which items information users have differences in their rating of their 

importance. Further, they did not explain whether users have differences in their 

rating of compulsory or voluntary items. They concluded their study by asserting that 

the consensus among user groups in Egypt, as a developing country, is not as 

significant as it is in developed countries. The authors, however, did not substantiate 

this assertion with evidence from other countries (for example, they did not compare 

the results with those of other studies conducted in the developed countries). 

Idris (1996) carried out a study to investigate the items to be disclosed in Islamic 

banks' annual reports and their usefulness to investors. The opinions of the preparers 

of the annual report were obtained from Islamic banks. Islamic windows of 

commercial banks in Malalsia and institutional investors of Bank Islam Malaysia 

Berhad (BIMB). To serve the above purposes, two types of research questionnaires 

were designed, namely: (1) a questionnaire for the bankers; and (2) a questionnaire 

for the investors. Questionnaires were sent to 47 Islamic banks in different parts of 

the world and to 27 Islamic windows in Malaysia as supplementary. Another set of 

questionnaires was distributed to 58 institutional investors. The following are the 

main conclusions that emerged from this study: 

First, in relation to the issue on who are the most important users of the reported 

financial information, the Islamic banks from different parts of the world and Islamic 
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windows from commercial banks in Malaysia had slight differences in opinion. For 

example, respondents from Islamic banks ranked management members as number 

one and investors as second in terms of importance to users, while respondents from 

Islamic windows ranked investors as number one and management members as 

second. 

Second, Islamic Banks and Islamic windows ranked the Shariah Supervisory 

Board members as less important in terms of users; respondents from Islamic banks 

ranked this item sixth; while Islamic windows ranked it fifth. Thus, it may be 

reckoned that either the SSB functions in the bank has not been recognised, or that it 

has not been granted full authority to act like an external auditor. 

Third, regarding items to be included in the financial statement and non-financial 

statement sections of an Islamic bank's annual report, basically both sets of 

respondents (Islamic Banks and Islamic windows) agreed, though there were 

differences in the degree of importance according to some items. For example, the 

auditor's report was ranked number one, the Chairman's report as fourth, and the 

SSB's report and the Board of Directors' (BOD) report each was ranked fifth by the 

respondents from Islamic banks. On the other hand, respondents from Islamic 

windows ranked the Chairman's report as first, the auditor's report as fifth, the 

BODs' report and the SSB's report as seventh and tenth respectively. However, they 

all agreed that the traditional items of financial statements, such as the balance sheet, 

and profit and loss account, should be included in the annual report. 

Fourth, in respect of measures to improve the usefulness of financial information 

disclosed by Islamic banks, both sets of respondents agreed that Islamic banks need 

to organise an Islamic auditing body, then, in order of importance, to introduce a set 

of global Islamic accounting Standards; increase the information disclosed in the 
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annual report; and disclose information on a more regular basis, for example. semi- 

annually. 

Fifth, most respondents from the three groups (i. e., Islamic banks, Islamic 

windows and institutional investors from (BIMB) were unaware of the existence of 

the AAOIFI and the majority of the banks participating in the survey adopted either 

the IAS standards, or a combination of the IAS and local ASB. Only two Islamic 

banks presently adopt the standards of the AAOIFI and a combination of IAS and 

AAOIFI respectively. 

Sixth, all participants in the study agreed that accounting information should be 

regulated, but had different views concerning who should regulate accounting 

information. The one-way ANOVA test showed that there was significant difference 

in opinion on accounting information to be regulated by the public and private sectors 

with oversight by the government. 

Seventh, all questions asked in the section pertaining to who should be 

represented on the harmonisation of the accounting information committee of the 

AAOIFI were positively agreed upon by all respondents that Muslem accountants 

with Islamic knowledge, accountants from Islamic banks and representatives from the 

Central banks of Muslem countries were qualified to sit on the committee. Thus, 

there was little variation in opinion among respondents and in terms of importance all 

questions asked were considered important. 

Eighth, regarding questions put forward to the institutional investors of the 

BIMB, it was found that they were long-term investors, preferring steady income and 

the safety of capital, as opposed to speculative investment. They considered the 

annual report to be the most important source of information, while advice in relation 

to investment services and technical analysis was ranked second and third. 
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Ninth, among the sections of the annual report that were considered most 

important when making investment decisions, the traditional financial statements of 

the balance sheet and profit and loss was considered most useful. Among non- 

financial statements, institutional investors ranked the auditor's report as third in 

terms of utility and importance in reaching equity decisions. 

Tenth, the quality of the accounting information of the BIMB is seen as being 

such that it assists external users to make economic decisions, since most qualitative 

characteristics referred to in the questions received a mean score above 4.000. This is 

further supported by a set of questions on the comparability of the BIMB's annual 

report with others. Responses to the questions were found to be consistent with earlier 

questions on the quality of the BIMB's annual report. 

Eleventh, generally, the timeliness of information provided in the annual report 

of the BIMB has not affected investment decisions. 

Twelfth, financial planning and forecast, financial planning on profit and loss, 

and cash budget, more complete discloure of product line and segment profitability, 

pending litigation, and sources and uses of money in the Zakat and charity funds 

recorded mean and median scores between 4.000 and above. Thus, this indicates that 

investors want increased disclosure of financial information to assist them to make 

investment decisions as well as to judge the quality of the corporate managers who 

are responsible for their funds. 

Abu-nassar and Rutherford (1996) conducted a study to discover the views of 

external users of annual corprate reports in Jordan. They targeted different groups of 

corporate reports external users, namely, individual shareholders, institutional 

shareholders, bank loan officers, stockbrokers and academics. Their sample consisted 

of 224 respondents. All of their analyses are of an univariate type. In terms of the 
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usage of the annual report, Abu-nassar and Rutherford (1996) found bank loan 

officers to be the heaviest users of the annual reports in Jordan, while individual 

shareholders and academics are the least. They also found the income statement and 

balance sheet to be the most widely read parts of the annual corporate report and the 

most important source of information for all user groups except bank loan officers, 

who indicated that the most important source of information is visits to companies. 

followed by the annual report. Abu-nassar and Rutherford (1996), however, did not 

perform any statistical test to determine whether the differences in the perceptions of 

different users are significant, which would form a basis to conclude whether such 

users are homogenous or heterogeneous. 

Bartlett and Chandler (1997) conducted a survey study to re-examine the private 

shareholders' usage of annual corporate reports in the United Kingdom. Their study 

was justified by the fact "that much has changed within the financial reporting 

environment" since the Lee and Tweedie (1975) study. Bartlett and Chandler (1997) 

analyzed the responses of seventy-six individual shareholders of one multi-national 

company. They found that the most widely read section of the annual corporate report 

is the chairman's statement, a result similar to that found by Lee and Tweedie twenty 

years earlier. Similarly, Bartlett and Chandler (1997) found the auditor's report to be 

one of the sections that are read the least by individual shareholders. 

Bartlett and Chandler (1997), however, found a noticeable decline in the 

shareholders' interest in the profit and loss account and balance sheet since the Lee 

and Tweedie (1975) study. One of the expected results of Bartlett and Chandler's 

(1997) study is the association between the rate of usage and the degree of 

importance that individual shareholders place on each section of the annual report. 

Bartlett and Chandler (1997), in examining shareholders' usage of other sources of 
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information, found financial press reports to be the most widely read, a similar 

observation to that of Lee and Tweedie (1975). An interesting finding of Bartlett and 

Chandler's study is the majority demand for less information in the form of a 

summary report, rather than the annual report itself. Like the Lee and Tweedie 

(1975) study, the Bartlett and Chandler (1997) study did not allow the respondents to 

rate the importance of the annual report, as compared with other possible sources of 

information about their company. 

3.7.1 Previous Studies on usefulness of Annual Reports in GCC Countries 

Felemban (1989) examined the development of the Saudi Stock Market (SSM) 

using three different approaches. One involved a questionnaire survey of small and 

medium investors (holding less than 5000 shares), as well as interviews with senior 

official brokers in three commercial banks in Jeddah city. Six hundred questionnaries 

were distributed and 210 questionnaires were returned (a response rate of 35 %). 

Felemban found that 39 % of the responding investors indicated that they considered 

the annual financial reports as the third main source of information for investment 

decisions after the Saudi Arabian Monetary Agency (SAMA)'s share price list (used 

by 73 % of respondents), and newspapers (supported by 49 %). The majority of 

respondents (53 %) believed that the. investors in the SSM received unanalysed 

information. Thirty-eight % believed it does not reflect the negative side, and about 

35 % believed that information was not on the whole realistic. A minority of 

respondents indicated that information available to the investor in the SSM was 

comprehensive (11 % of repondents), accurate (8 %), and easy to understand (6 %). 

According to the survey, also, 35 % indicated that information was incomplete and 

about 33 % thought it was useless to the ordinary investor. 
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Abdelsalarn (1990) investigated the hypothesis that Saudi investors do use 

financial statements as an important source of information when making financial 

decisions. He also looked at the specific financial items that investors find most 

useful in the annual statements. In this survey, 400 questionnaires were delivered to 

Saudi investors between August 1986 and February 1987, with 231 questionnaires 

returned (a 58 % overall response rate). The questionnaire comprised two main parts. 

The first part focused on the investment characteristics of the Saudi investors (e. g. the 

types of corporation in which Saudis invest, the number of shares owned by the 

typical Saudi investor, the type of share registration, the annual income of the sample 

of Saudi investors, their reasons for buying or selling shares of the corporation, the 

proportion of financial reports which they read, and the number of times that they 

attended the corporate annual general meeting). The second part ascertained 

investors' views on which sources of information they most heavily relied on and the 

importance of specific sections in the annual reports for their decisions. According to 

the survey, the majority of respondents (68.4 %) invested in the banking sector, and 

Abdelsalam attributed this preference to the high dividends per share distributed by 

banks in the Kingdom. Forty two % of the respondents owned 100 or more shares, 

and only 11.7 % owned fewer than 100 shares. The study also revealed that 61.5 % 

of the respondents bought shares for short-term profit, 59 % for future growth of the 

corporation. However, the minority (36.8 %) of the respondents bought shares 

because of the guaranteed minimum profit (government subsidization). The survey 

indicated that 85.3 % of the respondents read the corporate financial reports when 

they are making economic decisions related to the buying or selling of Saudi shares, 

while 45 % of the respondents attended the corporate general meeting to discuss the 

corporate financial reports. The study also reported that 67.5 % of the respondents 
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depended primarily on the corporate financial reports when making investment 

decisions, followed by newspapers as a second source of information for such 

decisions (51.9 %). The profit and loss account was ranked as the most important 

section in the financial report by the majority of those respondents (78.4 %) who 

considered the corporate financial reports as their most important source of 

information. The balance sheet was ranked second (47 %), followed by the statements 

of changes in the financial position of the company (3.12 %). and the income 

statement (30.7 %). The majority of the respondents (79 %) indicated that profit was 

the important item contained in the financial statements, followed by the owners' 

equity (59.3 %) and total revenue (47.6 %). 

Ba-Owaidan (1994) examined the role that accounting information systems plays 

in assisting the trading activity in the new Saudi Stock Market (SSM), through an 

analysis of individual Saudi investors' use and understanding of the data published in 

annual financial reports, when they make decisions related to the purchase, holding or 

sale of common stocks. Ba-Owaidan distributed 300 questionnaires during January to 

April 1993 (of which 135 were completed) to small investors owning shares to a 

value less than SR 500.000 (approximately US $ 133.000). He also interviewed some 

investors who had agreed to be interviewed and official brokers in the commercial 

bank and unofficial brokers. His main finding was that the majority of respondents 

(66.7 %) indicated that they preferred share investment over other options such as 

real estate investments and foreign currency. On the other hand. 66.7 % of the 

respondents indicated that they bought shares for both dividend and capital gain, 

while 22.2 % bought shares for dividend only, and 9.6 % for capital gain only. It was 

clear from these results that the majority of the sample were long-term investors. The 

information considered most important by the respondents was the capital base of the 
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company (13.3 % of the respondents), profits/earnings data (11.9 %). and the 

financial policy of the company (9.6 %). 

Al-Bogami (1996) carried out a study to examine the usefulness of interim 

financial statements to investors in the Saudi Stock Market. The purpose of the study 

was to examine the usefulness of quarterly financial reporting in the Kingdom by 

surveying the attitudes of users and prepares towards interim financial statements. 

The data for the study was collected though questionnaires. Three subject groups 

were chosen: (i) financial managers, representing preparers; (ii) institutional 

investors; and (iii) private investors as user groups. Al-Bogami concluded that a 

study of the responses to this survey showed that institutional and private investors 

in the Kingdom used quarterly financial statements and also that investors and 

preparers both believed that quarterly financial statements were useful in making 

investment decisions. Quarterly financial statements were ranked as the second most 

important source of information after annual reports. 

Al-Mubarak (1997) carried out a study to examine empirically the usefulness of 

corporate annual reports to investment analysts in Saudi Arabia and their role in 

investment activities. To achieve the main objective of this research, which was to 

evaluate the importance of corporate annual reports to the investment analysts in 

Saudi Arabia, a survey questionnaire was carried out to obtain investment analysts, 

views on annual reports, the importance they attached and the uses of these reports in 

their investment activities. The findings of the study were: 

First, a major finding of the study was that the corporate annual report was seen 

as the most important source of information for investment analysts in their 

investment activities. Eighty six % of the respondents rated the corporate annual 

reports as very important for their investment decisions or recommendations and 12 
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% rated them as important. Significantly, none of the respondents rated the corporate 

annual reports as "not important at all", or "not very important. " 

Second, five of the investment analysts' background characteristics were 

examincd to see whether differences in such characteristics would affect their 

perception of the importance of the various sources of information. These 

characteristics were: 

" Qualification in accounting; 

" Places where degree obtained; 

" Place of experience; 

9 Investment analysts years of experience; and 

" Management level. 

The results of the statistical tests showed that investment analysts. despite the 

differences in their background characteristics, still regarded corporate annual reports 

as the most important source of information for their investment activities. This 

finding gives both preparers of corporate annual reports and standard setters a clear 

indication of what a major effect misleading information contained in these reports 

would have in the investment community. 

Third, in evaluating the importance of the various sections of the corporate 

annual report, the respondents rated the income statement as the most important 

section, followed by the balance sheet. Ninety-two % of the respondents rated the 

income statement as very important and eight % as important for their investment 

activities. With regard to the balance sheet, four % of the respondents rated it as very 

important and 16 % as important. None of the respondents rated either sections as 

either "not important at all" or "not very important". 
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Fourth, another important result of this study indicated that the most important 

use of the corporate annual reports is to provide primary data for investment 

activities. The annual report represents the major routine information over the 

financial year. This type of information would serve adequately to conduct the 

fundamental analysis employed by most investment analysts. Gniewosz (1990) 

argued that the use made of the annual report, and thus its significance as a major 

information source, changes during the year. At times it is used as a primary source 

of information, while at other times, it is used more in a confirmatory role. He added 

that the annual report acts not only as a source of information to an inquiry, but also 

provides the stimulus for identifying questions to be pursued via other sources. This 

argument gives an explanation as to why the annual report was chosen as the most 

important source of information, even though other sources of information might be 

used extensively by investment analysts. 

Fifth, with regard to level of adjustments to various figures contained in the 

corporate annual report, the results indicated that 60 % of the respondents make either 

major or minor adjustments to these figures. It was found that the fixed assets 

valuation was the item most adjusted by the analysts, followed by the depreciation 

expense. 

Sixth, the results of this study also showed that the majority of investment 

analysts found the information provided in the corporate annual reports to be 

understandable and relevant to their investments activities. However, with regard to 

their confidence in using annual report information, the result was moderate. Only 

9% of the respondents indicated that they were very confident in using such 

information. The use of a standard format in presenting the financial statements by all 
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companies and standards set by an independent body were the most important factors 

that were indicated by the respondents as likely to increase their confidence. 

Al-Razeen (1999) attempted in his study to examine four dimensions of the 

corporate financial reporting environment in Saudi Arabia. the perception of the 

external users about the existing practices, their informational needs, the current 

corporate reporting practices, and the causes of variations in the extent of the current 

disclosure among companies. The first two dimensions were examined via a survey 

questionnaire of five major user groups, namely individual investors, institutional 

investors, creditors, governmental officials, and financial analysts. The other two 

dimensions were examined through a sample of corporate annual reports. 

The study revealed that the corporate annual report was the most important 

source of corporate information to all of the participating user groups. Obtaining 

information directly from companies was also an important source for many of the 

respondents. The users regarded the timeliness of information to be the most 

important criterion of the corporate information source. Regarding the annual 

corporate report, the users indicated that the balance sheet and the income statement 

were the most important sections of the annual report. 

Compared to the other user groups, the individual investors indicated that the 

language of the sections of the annual report was fairly complicated. The findings of 

this study indicated that there was no serious problem of credibility regarding the 

contents of the annual report in Saudi Arabia. 

The study revealed that the user groups of the annual corporate reports believed 

that the companies comply with the disclosure requirements but not to the degree that 

they should. However, the user groups were dissatisfied with both the quantity and 

quality of voluntary disclosure. Examination of a sample of annual corporate reports 
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revealed that Saudi companies, on average, complied well with the disclosure 

requirements, but they had poor voluntary disclosure. 

Regarding the informational needs of the users of the annual corporate reports, 

the users demanded the enforcement of the disclosure of some of the information 

elements presented to them in the questionnaire. At the top of the list %vere: (1) 

discussion of major factors affecting current year operations; (2) earnings per share: 

(3) statement of cash flow; (4) company policy regarding dividends; and (5) details 

of equity investment. The study revealed that, with the exception of the first item, 

companies were not meeting the users' demand for information elements that would 

assist them in their decision making. 

Examining the extent of annual corporate disclosure before and after the 

establishment of the first Saudi accounting authority (SOCPA). the study revealed 

that SOCPA had no significant impact on the contents of the annual report, or the 

timing of the issuance of such reports. 

Al-Rashed (1999) conducted a study to investigate the importance of accounting 

disclosure and the relevant financial data on investment decisions to investors and 

financial analysts in the Kuwait Stock Exchange Market. This paper focused on the 

importance of published accounting information compared to non-accounting 

information as far as the investors and financial analysts are concerned. A survey of 

the perceptions of investors and financial analyst towards 26 variables was conducted 

to test for the highest significant variables to investment decision. Parametric as well 

as non-parametric techniques were used, in addition to a scrutiny of the literature. 

The results showed that investors, compared with financial analysts, were more 

interested in present values and substantiated information such as. market value of 

shares and expected returns in addition to information related to future financial 
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performance. Yet, both groups emphasized the need to disclose more accounting 

information, especially that related to forecasting future performance. Moreover, a 

growing need was expressed for disclosing interim reports and encouraging 

awareness in this direction. 

Al-Mahmoud (2000) examined the usefulness of information in annul reports of 

Saudi corporations to participants in the Saudi Stock Market. To achieve this 

objective, two methods were used. The first was based on accounting behaviour 

research by means of a survey questionnaire designed to elicit the perceptions and 

attitudes of three groups (institutional investors, individual investors, and financial 

analysts) about the usefulness of annual report information in relation to their 

investment decisions and/or recommendations. The second was based on market 

research, by means of examining the share prices' reaction around the release dates of 

annual reports of Saudi Arabian companies. 

The main results of this study indicate that the annual report is perceived as the 

main source of information for investors in the Saudi Stock Market in making 

informed decisions. The empirical results show that participants in the Saudi Stock 

Market used the annual report information to make investment decisions, as share 

prices reacted differently upon the release of these annual reports. 

Al-Hussaini (2001) carried out a study to investigate the usefulness of financial 

accounting disclosure to investors in the Kuwait Stock Market. Given the primacy of 

the annual report as a source of information about a company and as the channel 

through which companies disseminate information about their performance, the 

annual report was the central focus of the study. In addition, the study investigated 

factors that influence the extent of disclosure of a sample of non-financial companies 

listed on the Kuwait Stock Exchange. 
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In this study, four hundred questionnaires were distributed to eight user groups 

(50 individual investors. 50 institutional investors, 50 batik credits officers. 50 

government official analysts, 50 academics, 50 auditors and 50 stock market brokers) 

and 306 questionnaires were returned (77 %). The main purpose of'this survey was to 

elicit the perceptions of a representative sample of eight user groups about the quality 

of financial reporting by Kuwaiti companies in three main areas: compliance with 

information disclosure requirements mandated by the International Accounting 

Standards (IASs), voluntary related to mandatory disclosures such as details of items 

that form assets, and voluntary disclosure of information not required by law. 

The findings of the study indicated that, in general. the vast majority of Kuwaiti 

companies complied with mandatory disclosure requirements. With regards to 

voluntary related to mandatory disclosure, the Kuwaiti companies sampled in the 

study also scored high in terms of their propensity to publish additional information 

about performance. Kuwaiti companies, however, showed less commitment to the 

voluntary disclosure of information not required by law, and this disclosure varied 

according to the industry type and sector in which the company operated. Further, the 

vast majority of investors who took part in the survey viewed the annual report as the 

single most important source of information about a company. These users paid less 

attention to alternative sources of information about a company, such as stock market 

rumours, friends' advice and newspapers. 

On the other hand, Kuwaiti external users of corporate information prefered to 

extract information directly from the company, whether through the published annual 

and interim report, or through direct contact with the company. With regards to the 

characteristics of financial information, the majority of participants indicated that 

credibility is the main feature of good quality corporate information. followed by 
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understandability. The findings also indicated that annual reports published by 

Kuwaiti companies ensured a certain degree of quality, since most of them were 

audited by either big firms, or by local firms affiliated with big firms. However, the 

participants' emphasis on credibility and understandability suggests that preparers of 

financial reports in Kuwait and elsewhere should place more emphasis on these two 

features, and should make greater effort to ensure that financial reports are written in 

a credible fashion and are easy to comprehend. 

As far as the importance of the various sections of the annual report is concerned. 

all individual target groups strongly agreed that the income statement and statement 

of retained earnings are the most important sections of the annual report. The 

investigation also revealed that investors, especially individual investors, attached 

less importance to the cash flow statement, the board of director's report and notes to 

the accounts. With regard to the credibility of the various sections of the annual 

report, the majority of users, with the exception of the academics and stock market 

brokers, agreed that all sections are highly credible. 

Al-Duwaihees (2002) targeted a sample of institutional investors of the listed 

companies in Kuwaiti Stock Exchange. The study aimed to increase the awareness of 

interim financial statements (IFS) by investigating the usefulness of quarterly 

financial statements to investors in Kuwaiti Stock Exchange market. The attitude of 

investors in Kuwait were explored by means of a survey questionnaire in order to 

measure their responses towards the use and usefulness of such statements. One 

hundred and twenty questionnaires were distributed and seventy-nine questionnaires 

were returned (66 %). The results indicated that there was no significant relationship 

between different education and experience levels of institutional investors and items 

on the interim report. Also, there was no significant relationship between different 
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education and experience levels of institutional investors and the uses of the interim 

report in their investment decisions. Furthermore, the balance sheet, followed by 

income statement and earning per share, was the most important items on the interim 

reports. Al-Duwaihees (2002) found that the most important use of the interim report 

for the institutional investors relating to investment decisions was "to reflect the 

economy's view", followed by "to forecast profit and the EPS". 

The previous studies reviewed in this survey have attempted to investigate the 

usefulness of annual report to investors in making their decisions, in both developed 

and developing countries. In these studies, two different methods have been used to 

determine the usefulness of financial information. The first is to ask investors how 

they use annual reports. The main concern of this type of survey is how users of 

financial information understand, use, and make decisions on such information and 

what, if any, financial or non-financial information they need (Wolle et al., 1992). 

Examples of these studies include Chang and Most (1977); Anderson (1981); Ahmad 

(1988); Abdelsalam (1990); Idris (1996); and Al-Mubarak (1997). The second asked 

investors to weight the importance of different items of financial information. The 

focus of this type of surveys is whether certain items of financial information are 

adequate for investment decisions. Examples of such studies include Cerf (1961); 

Singhvi and Desai (1971); Buzby (1974); Firth (1978); Chow and Wong-Boren 

(1987); Streuly (1994); Al-Mulhem (1997) and Al-Razeen (1999). 

However, in this study the first type of methodology will be selected to 

determine the usefulness of financial information contained in the annual reports of 

Islamic Financial Institutions in GCC countries to institutional investors. 

Furthermore, these studies, except for Idris's (1996), did not investigate the 

usefulness of annual reports in Islamic financial institutions. 
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Therefore, this study attempts to cover some aspects that were not covered in 

previous studies, as follows: First, this study will cover a new area and environment. 

namely the GCC countries, which were not covered in previous studies. Second. 

Idris's (1996) study was conducted between 1992 and 1995. in the early years of the 

AAOIFI, while this study aims to examine the awareness of those who prepare the 

annual report of Islamic Banks in GCC countries of the accounting standards issued 

by the AAOIFI leading up to the year 2000. Third, this study will examine the 

usefulness of annual reports from the points of view of preparers, investors and 

customers, who are considered to be the main interested parties in relation to Islamic 

financial institutions. This approach has not been used by most previous studies. In 

addition, the study will use two data collection methods, namely, the questionnaire 

and interview methods, in order to strengthen this study making it possible to 

combine information obtained from different sources to arrive at a revised and unified 

view. In the light of the above, it is believed that this study will make an important 

contribution to knowledge in this field. 

3.8 Conclusion 

The aim of this chapter was to review the literature regarding the usefulness of 

financial information. The first conclusion from this chapter is that financial reporting 

should provide information that is useful to help potential investors, creditors, and 

other users in making rational investment, credit, and similar decisions. Second, for 

accounting information to be useful for decision-making, it must have certain 

qualitative characteristics. These characteristics included relevance, reliabililty, 

comparability, consistency and understandability. Third, investors are considered as 

essential user of corporate reports. Fourth, the accountability and the decision 
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usefulness are considered as the main two approaches associated with the objectives 

of financial reporting. Finally, previous studies. whether in the context of developed 

countries, or in developing countries involving the usefulness of accounting 

information, were reviewed. In addtion, the chapter focused on previous studies 

regarding the usefulness of financial reporting to investors in GCC countries, because 

of their relevance to the subject matter of this study. To the best of the researcher's 

knowledge, this is the first in GCC countries which was carried out across these 

countries and, hence, it is expected to provide a valuable insight into the usefulness of 

annual reports of Islamic financial institutions. 
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Chapter Four 

Research Methodology 

4.1 Introduction 

As mentioned earlier, this study aims to investigate empirically the usefulness of 

the annual reports of Islamic financial institutions in GCC countries to institutional 

investors. This chapter identifies the main methods used in this study to determine the 

usefulness of financial information by asking investors how they use annual reports. 

In general. two methods were used to collect data: the interview method and two 

types of survey questionnaires. The first type of questionnaire was used to know how 

institutional investors of Islamic financial institutions in Kuwait understand, use, and 

make decisions on such information and what, if any, financial or non-financial 

information they need. The second type was specifically used to examine and test the 

perceptions of Islamic financial institutions (IFI) in GCC countries related to items in 

the annual report of these institutions that help the investors make investment 

decisions. 

The interview method was mainly used to determine the opinion of customers of 

Islamic financial institutions in Kuwait about a variety of topics related to the 

usefulness of financial information of these institutions. The two methods are viewed 

as complementary to each other and the strengths and weaknesses of each method 

were considered. The chapter also describes the questionnaire design, pilot study and 

distribution procedures. The statistical tests used to analyse the questionnaire are 

explained in this chapter. 
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4.2 Objectives of Study 

This study aims to achieve the following objectives: 

1. Examine the importance of financial reporting by Islamic financial institutions 

in GCC countries to investors and how they understand and use the financial 

information provided in the reports; 

2. Determine the attitude of the customers of Islamic financial institutions in 

GCC countries towards the use and usefulness of such reports; 

3. Investigate the perceptions of the preparers of financial reporting statements of 

Islamic financial institutions in GCC countries regarding items in annual 

reports that could help the investors make investment decisions; and 

4. Assess the awareness of the investors, customers and the preparers of financial 

reports about the concept of Accounting and Auditing of Islamic Financial 

Institutions (AAOIFI). 

4.3 Research Questions 

In order to meet the above objectives, an extensive literature review was carried 

out of the material relevant to the topic under investigation. The review included 

previous Arabic and English studies, articles and annual reports of Islamic financial 

institutions in GCC countries. In light of the above, a set of questions was developed 

in this study. Before introducing these questions, it is necessary to clarify that the 

research questions, objectives and hypotheses are signposts for explaining the purpose 

of the study and guiding the research. Questions are the most popular form in 

qualitative and survey projects (Creswell, 1994). 

In order to fulfil the objectives of this study, a series of questions was formulated 

in a set of categories as follows: 
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A. Financial Disclosure 

1. What is the relative importance of the various sources of information for 

institutional investors and customers? 

2. How do Islamic financial institutions, investors, and customers perceive 

the most important items of annual reports? 

;. What are the most important uses of the annual reports of Islamic financial 

institutions to investors? 

4. What is attitude of Islamic financial institutions towards the importance 

and usefulness of their annual reports to their various users? 

5. What are the factors that might improve the usefulness of financial 

information in the annual reports of Islamic financial institutions in GCC 

countries? 

6. Do Islamic financial institutions, investors and customers believe that the 

Shariah Supervisory Board's (SSB) report is important? 

B. Qualitative Characteristics 

1. Do institutional investors think that the time lag between closing accounts 

and publishing the financial statements has any impact on investment 

decisions? 

2. Do institutional investors and customers believe that the financial 

information contained in the annual reports of Islamic financial Institutions 

is comparable with other conventional financial Institutions? 
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3. Do institutional' investors and customers believe that the financial reports of 

Islamic financial Institutions possess the required qualitative 

characteristics? 

4. How do Islamic financial institutions, investors and customers perceive the 

importance of different qualitative characteristics that might affect the 

usefulness of information about the performance of a company? 

C. Additional Disclosure 

1. Do institutional investors and customers need more information to be 

disclosed in the annual reports of Islamic financial institutions? 

2. How do Islamic financial institutions perceive additional disclosure in the 

annual reports of Islamic financial institutions? 

D. Accounting Regulation 

1. Which accounting standards do most Islamic financial institutions in GCC 

countries follow? 

2. Do Islamic financial institutions, investors and customers believe that 

accounting information of Islamic financial institutions in GCC countries 

should be regulated? 

3. Who should regulate the accounting information of Islamic financial 

institutions? 

4. Are Islamic financial institutions, investors and customers aware of the 

Accounting and Auditing Organization for Islamic Financial Institutions 

(AAOIFI)? 
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5. Do Islamic financial institutions, investors and customers believe that the 

Accounting and Auditing Organization for Islamic Financial Institutions 

(AAOIFI) is a suitable body for the harmonisation of accounting among 

Islamic Financial Institutions? 

E. Investment Goals 

1. What are the investment goals of institutional investors? 

4.4 Methodology of the Study 

In this study the survey method was selected as a research method to achieve the 

objectives of the study. Therefore, it is useful to discuss the definition of research 

methodology before presenting the survey method. According to Gould and Kolb 

(1964, p. 425), the term methodology in its original and proper usage refers to "the 

systematic and logical study of the principles guiding scientific and philosophical 

investigation. " 

Roberts defines methodology as the study of the utility and validity of methods of 

investigation in the context of a particular scientific discipline or area under 

consideration. It is also the selection of such methods, in advance of an investigation. 

that are considered likely to be appropriate and fruitful (Roberts, 1971). 

Methodology is thus concerned with the various models, classifications, and 

conceptual schemes that exist, the techniques that are available for investigation 

purposes, research procedures used in the past. and their validity, etc., all for the 

purpose of discovering new knowledge and ordering it meaningfully, or in order to 

test existing propositions (Roberts, 1971). 

Scruton argues that methodology is a word that should mean the study of 

methods, but is often used simply to mean "method', as in "the methodology of the 

175 



social sciences". If there is a subject, then there is a method of investigation 

determined by it. There may be more than one method used to discover sonic matter, 

and, in this case, it is possible to speak of methodology as the discipline which 

attempts to describe the method which best achieves the required result (Scruton, 

1982). 

In short, methodology is a system of explicit rules and procedures on which 

research is based and against which claims of knowledge are evaluated (Nachmias 

and Nachmias, 1992). 

In fact, the survey method is considered as a quantitative method that provides a 

quantitative or numerical description of some fraction of a population through the data 

collection process of asking questions of people (Creswell, 1994; Serkaran, 2000). 

The comparison between quantitative and qualitative research methods is necessary at 

this stage to determine accurately the survey method. The distinction between the 

quantitative and qualitative research methods in organizing studies lies essentially in 

the fact that while the quantitative approach is objective and relies heavily on 

statistics and figures, the qualitative approach is subjective and uses language and 

description. Qualitative and quantitative methodologies are not mutually exclusive, 

however. Although most researchers emphasise one or the other, qualitative and 

quantitative methods can be combined and used in the same study (Maanen, 1983; 

Jick, 1983; and Ghauri et al., 1995). 

Quantitative research methods involve the use of systematic and sophisticated 

procedures to test, prove and verify hypotheses (Glaser and Strauss, 1967). 

Qualitative methods are often associated with the collection and analysis of written or 

spoken text or direct observation of behaviour (Cassell and Symon, 1994, p. 4). The 

main difference between qualitative and quantitative research is not 'quality' but 
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procedure. In qualitative research, findings are not arrived at by statistical methods or 

other procedures of quantification. 

It is worth noting that the survey method was selected in this study for two 

reasons, namely: (1) this method is consistent with the objectives of the study which 

aims to identify the attitudes of institutional investors and customers regarding the 

usefulness of annual reports of Islamic financial institutions in GCC countries; and (2) 

it allows the use of two of data collection techniques in order to achieve triangulation. 

a concept which will be discussed later on. 

4.5 Methods of the Study 

Two kinds of research instruments were used to collect the required data, as each 

method has its own characteristics, strengths and limitations. Van Dalen and Deabold 

(1979 p. 127) explained that "each tool is appropriate for acquiring particular data, 

and sometimes several instruments must be employed to obtain the information 

required to solve a problem. " 

The first tool was a questionnaire, which was used to solicit the opinions of 

institutional investors of Islamic financial institutions in Kuwait and Islamic financial 

institutions (IFI) in GCC countries related to the usefulness of annual reports of 

Islamic financial institutions in GCC countries. According to Sekaran (2000. p. 203), 

"a questionnaire is a pre formulated written set of questions to which respondents 

record their answers, usually within rather closely defined alternatives. " The 

researcher decided to use a questionnaire, because it is an effective scientific 

instrument for the collection and measurement of a particular kind of data such as 

feelings, motivations, attitudes, accomplishments and experience of individuals (Borg 

and Gall, 1996). 

177 



The second research method used was selective interviews conducted with the 

customers of Islamic financial institutions in Kuwait to identify their opinion about a 

variety of topics related to the usefulness of the financial information of these 

institutions. The researcher decided to use the interview in conjunction with the 

questionnaire, in line with the argument of Cohen and Manion (1997) that the 

interview may be used in conjunction with other methods in a research undertaking. 

Kerlinger (1981) stated that the interview could supplement other methods. follow-up, 

validate other methods, and go deeper into the motivations of respondents and their 

reasons for responding as they do. 

The two instruments used to collect field data. namely, the questionnaire and the 

interview, are discussed in the following sections. 

4.5.1 Questionnaire 

In general, two methods were used to collect data: the interview method and two 

types of questionnaires. The first type of questionnaire was used to know how 

institutional investors of Islamic financial institutions in Kuwait understand, use, and 

make decisions on such information and what, if any, financial or non-financial 

information they need. The second type was specifically used to examine and test 

perception of Islamic financial institutions (IFI) in GCC countries related to items in 

annual reports of these institutions that help the investors to make investment 

decisions. 

A questionnaire is a highly structured data collection technique whereby each 

respondent is asked the same set of reformulated written questions. Questionnaires 

can be distributed either by mailing them to respondents. or by personal 

administration, whereby the questionnaire is presented to the respondents with 
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explanations of the purpose of the inquiry, and then the respondent is left alone to 

complete it, and it is picked up later (Oppenheim, 1992). 

The questionnaire survey was used in this study because several previous studies 

on the usefulness of the information provided in financial statements have used it. 

Examples of such studies include those carried out by Lee and Tweedie (1975); 

Chang and Most (1985); Anderson (1981); Ahmad (1988); Ba-owaidan (1994). Idris 

(1996); Al-Mubarak (1997); and Al-Hussini (2001). Moreover, this technique has 

several advantages. For example, a self-administrated questionnaire is the best 

technique for collecting data when we are dealing with a survey that is confined to a 

local area. This method of data collection ensures a high response rate within a short 

period time. Using this method also gives the researcher the chance to introduce the 

research topic and motivates the individual to participate in the survey. Another 

advantage associated with the self-administrated questionnaire is that it is less 

expensive (i. e., low cost) and less time-consuming than interviewing and it requires 

fewer skills to administer than to conduct interviews (Sekaran, 2000). 

However, the questionnaire has certain disadvantages (Neuman, 1997). These 

include: 

1. The response rate may be low; 

2. A researcher cannot control the conditions under which the questionnaire is 

completed; and 

3. Its format limits the kinds of questions that a researcher can use. 

Nevertheless, these disadvantages are not inevitable or cannot be overcome. 

These disadvantages were overcome, or at least their effects were reduced, by the 

following means: 
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1. Good administration skills reduced bias, increased response rate and kept the 

process in line with the objectives of the study; 

2. Good planning and effective questionnaire design increased effectiveness. 

reduced cost and simplified the analysis of results; 

3. Personal contacts with these institutions facilitated the research process; and 

4. The researcher covered all the study population, whether the Islamic banks 

and financial institutions in GCC countries, or the institutional investors in 

Kuwait. 

4.5.1.1 Questionnaire Design 

As mentioned earlier, there are two different sets of questionnaires. Closed- 

ended questions were used, as opposed to open-ended questions. for both types of 

questionnaires. The advantages of closed-ended questions are that they are easier and 

relatively quicker to answer. In other word, questions can be answered within a short 

time (Oppenheim, 1992). Closed-ended questions can be administered with little 

direct confrontation (Schuman and Presser, 1979) and the respondents can perform 

with greater reliability the task of answering the questions when response alternatives 

are given (Fowler, 1993). 

Respondents were asked to express their agreement and disagreement with a 

number of statements by using a five-point Likert scale within two codes: first, from I 

"not important" to 5 "very important"; second, from 1 "strongly disagree" to 5 

"strongly agree", in order to indicate the strength of response. The Likert scale is a 

method designed to measure people's attitude (Nachmis and Nachmias, 1992), and it 

is intended to elicit useful reposes to an enquiry. 
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1- Questionnaire for Islamic Financial Institutions: 

This questionnaire was used to examine and test the perceptions of Islamic banks 

and financial institutions in GCC countries related to items in the annual reports of 

these institutions that help the investors make investment decisions. The researcher 

covered all Islamic financial institutions in GCC countries. In 2001. Islamic banks 

and financial institutions in GCC numbered thirty-seven institutions, including sixteen 

Islamic banks, fourteen Islamic investment companies and seven Islamic insurance 

companies. These companies supported the study with various points of view 

regarding the subject of the study and also provided the researcher with quantitative 

and qualitative data that would help with descriptive statistics for the latter stages of 

this study. 

The questionnaire was divided into two sections (see Appendix B). The first 

section was concerned with the respondents' general information. such as 

organization, occupation and geographic area of investment of these institutions. The 

second section aimed to gather information about the following: 

1- Selected items related to financial reporting based on analysis of the various 

annual reports of Islamic financial institutions;. 

2- The accounting regulation and Islamic financial Institutions accounting body 

(AAOIFI); and 

3- The accounting standards followed by these institutions. 

2- Questionnaire for Institutional Investors of Islamic Financial Institutions 
in Kuwait: 

This questionnaire was intended to seek information about which items should be 

included in annual reports, in order to improve the usefulness of these reports, which 

help the investors make their investment decision. The researcher selected all 
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institutional investors of Islamic financial institutions in Kuwait. which totalled 

fourteen institutions in 2001. The total population of institutional investors in Kuwait 

in 2001 was one hundred and five. The researcher obtained this information with the 

assistance of Islamic financial institutions in Kuwait. Institutional investors were 

selected and individual investors were excluded, because institutional investors have 

an effect on the capital positions of these institutions and they are considered 

sophisticated investors, which would help to reach accurate results in assessing the 

usefulness of financial information to investors. 

Basically, the institutional investors of Islamic financial institutions in Kuwait 

were selected instead of other institutional investors in GCC countries for the 

following reasons: 

1. Kuwait has the highest number of Islamic institutions in GCC countries; 

2. In order to avoid consumption of time and effort. 

3. GCC countries share comparable economic and financial system emphasizing 

a free market mechanism as well as political and social structures (Al-Modahki, 

1995). 

The questionnaire was divided into three sections (see Appendix A). The first 

section is concerned with the economic sectors related to the investment of the 

respondents; their investment goals and investment in either Islamic or non-Islamic 

institutions. The second sought to get information about the following: 

1- The usefulness of Islamic financial reporting regarding investment decisions 

and what investors perceived should be included in Islamic financial 

institutions' annual report; 

2- The qualitative characteristics of the financial statements and factors to 

improve financial reporting by Islamic financial institutions; 
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3- The perception of investors regarding additional disclosure for investment 

decisions; 

4- The comparability of Islamic financial institutions' financial reports with 

those of non- Islamic financial institutions; and 

5- Accounting regulation and knowledge about the AAOLFI. 

The last section sought additional information, such as the occupation, 

qualifications, experience and the amount invested in shares. 

4.5.1.2 Pilot study 

One of the main objectives of the pilot testing was to make sure that the 

translation would not lead to any misunderstanding of the questionnaire. The 

translation of the questionnaires from one language into another is akin to entering a 

series of mine fields (Oppenheim, 1992). As a result, particular consideration was 

given to the translation process in the pilot testing. 

Data for this study were collected through two types of questionnaires and 

interviews. The pilot study went through three stages. First, from 15/3/2001 to 

14/4/2001, drafts of two types of questionnaires and interview were designed by 

writing and grouping all the questions and issues which resulted from a detailed 

literature review and from informal interviews with some officials and professionals 

in Islamic financial institutions, and also by studying the annual reports of some 

Islamic financial institutions in GCC countries. These first drafts were given to some 

members of the staff in the Accountancy Department at Kuwait University who had 

experience with questionnaires and interviews to elicit their comments on the design 

and content of the questionnaire and the interview, in order to test the validity of these 

methods and check their suitability to the objectives of this study. After collecting 
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these comments and incorporating the suggested changes. the questionnaires and 

interview were translated into Arabic. A meeting with the staff members in the 

Accountancy Department at Kuwait University was organized to review and discuss 

the quality of the translation. In this way, the first preparation stage of the 

questionnaire and interview stages was completed. 

The second preparation stage and the pilot study of the questionnaires and the 

interview started on 17/4/2001 and continued until 28/4/2001. In order to test the 

validity and reliability of the questionnaires and the interview, a draft of the first type 

of questionnaire was presented to several institutional investors (twelve copies). The 

draft of the second type of questionnaire was presented to several Islamic financial 

institutions in Kuwait (ten copies), and interviews were conducted with several 

customers of Islamic Financial Institutions in Kuwait (ten interviewees). This stage 

was conducted by completing the final draft of the questionnaires and interview. 

The final stage of the pilot study started after collecting the questionnaires and 

conducting the interview. On the basis of the feedback from the jurors, some 

questions were deleted, some modified, and some new ones added. Feedback was 

obtained for a second time. The researcher also met these people and talked to them to 

avoid any misunderstanding of any of the interview questions. 

4.5.1.3 Questionnaire Distribution and Collection 

After considering all the jurors' comments, piloting the study, and making the 

changes necessary to ensure understandability, the final version of the questionnaire 

was ready for administration. 

There are several ways of administering questionnaires, such as personally, or by 

mailing the questionnaire to the respondents, or by using electronic mail (Sektiran. 
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2000). However, in the case of this research, the researcher used personal 

administration for distributing and collecting the two types of questionnaire, except 

for four copies of the questionnaire that were sent by mail to the Islamic financial 

institutions in Saudi Arabia and the United Arab Emirates. 

The distribution of the questionnaire was organized as follows: 

0 105 copies of the first type of questionnaire were prepared in the Arabic 

language for distribution to institutional investors of Islamic financial 

institutions in Kuwait. 

" 37 copies of the second type of questionnaire were distributed to Islamic 

financial institutions in GCC countries. 

Table 4.1 below summarises the distribution and collection of the two types 

of questionnaires. 

Table 4.1 Distribution and collection of two types of questionnaires 

Total * Distributed Returned Response 
Population Questionnaires Questionnaires rate 

Institutional 105 105 69 66% 
Investors 

Islamic 37 37 33 89% 
Financial 
Institutions 

Total 142 142 99 70% 

4.5.1.4 Validity and Reliability of the Questionnaire 

It is commonly stated that a measurement scale is valid if it measures what it sets 

out to measure (Moore, 1995). Since questionnaires are designed to. elicit information 

from respondents, one of the criteria for the quality of a question is the degree to 
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which it elicits the information that the researcher seeks. This criterion is called 

validity (Sudman and Bradburn, 1983). Validity is a very important characteristic of 

an instrument or procedure. This generality ignores the fact that there is more than 

one kind of validity and that the validity of a test changes with the use to which it is 

put. Generally, validity means a measurement procedure is produced to measure 

exactly what it is designed for. 

The quality of the conclusions of an empirical research is heavily dependent on 

the quality of the data collected for such a research (Huck and Cormier, 1996). The 

quality of the data, in turn, depends on the instrument by which the data is collected. 

Therefore, the researcher must design a high quality instrument, called a valid 

instrument. A high quality instrument is one that measures what it purports to 

measure. 

The most common statistical measure of the internal consistency (reliability) of 

the research instrument is called the Cronbach's Alpha (Huck and Cormier, 1996). 

This technique uses repeated measurements to assess the relationships between these 

various parts. "To the extent that these parts hang together' and measure the same 

thing, the full instrument is said to possess high internal consistency reliability" (Huck 

and Cormier, 1996, p. 78). Cronbach's Alpha takes a value between zero and one to 

indicate perfect correlation between the parts of the instrument. While there is no test 

of significance for the Alpha, the literature suggests the 0.70 is an acceptable level 

(Huck and Cormier, 1996), but the preferred value is 0.80 or above. 

Table 4.2 reports the values of the Cronbach's Alpha for each user group. It 

shows a relatively high value of internal consistency of the responses of each of the 

user groups. Such high values of this coefficient are interpreted as meaning that the 

correlation between the various parts of the instrument is attenuated very little by 
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random measurement error. In turn, the measurement error will have a very low 

impact on the subsequent statistical tests. 

Table 4.2 the amounts of the Cronbach's Alpha for the questionnaire 

Institutional Investors Islamic Financial Institutions 

. 84 82 

4.5.2 Interview 

The interview was used to identify the opinions of the customers of Islamic 

Financial Institutions of Kuwait about the usefulness of the financial information of 

these institutions. 

According to Frankfort-Nachmias and Nachmias (1997, p. 232), "a personal 

interview is "a face-to face, interpersonal role situation in which an interviewer asks 

respondents questions designed to elicit an answer pertinent to the research 

hypotheses. " 

There are four types of interviews: the structured interview, unstructured 

interview, non-directive interview, and focused interview (Cohen and Manion, 1997). 

May (1993) called the third type the semi-structured interview. The structured 

interview is associated with survey research. Each person is asked questions in the 

same way so that any differences between answers are then assumed to be real ones 

and not the result of the interview situation itself (May, 1993). This type involves a 

series of closed form questions that either have yes-no answers or can be answered by 

selecting from among a set of short-answer choices (Borg and Gall, 1996). 

Unstructured or focused interviews may directly involve the researcher as a subject 
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and participant in the data collection process (May, 1993). They do not involve a 

detailed interview guide. Instead, the interviewer asks questions that gradually lead 

the respondent to give the desired information (Borg and Gall, 1996). Group 

interviews constitute a valuable tool of investigation, allowing the researcher to focus 

on group norms and dynamics around issues, which they wish to investigate (May, 

1993). They involve addressing questions to a group of individuals who have been 

assembled for this specific purpose (Borg and Gall, 1996). Semi-structured 

interviews are said to allow people to answer more on their own terms than the 

standardized interview permits, but still provide a greater degree of structure than the 

focused interview, which aids comparability (May, 1993). 

Semi-structured interviewing involves asking a series of structured questions and 

then probing more deeply using open form questions to obtain additional information 

(Borg and Gall, 1996). Reasons for conducting this type of interview include a 

concern with the meaning that individual respondents give to concepts, events and so 

on, and for the exploration of issues that are too complex or too sensitive to be 

investigated by quantitative approaches. Involvement in interviewing is a reminder of 

the importance and influence of the researcher in the research, and face-to-face 

interviewing makes more evident the "power" relationships within the researcher 

(Moore, 1995). 

In this study, the structured interview was used for two reasons. First, 

questionnaire and interview as data collection techniques were used in this study to 

achieve the process of triangulation. According to Neumun (1996, p. 151): 

"triangulation means using different types of measures, or data 

collection techniques, in order to examine the same variable. " 
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The triangulation, in this study, achieved several goals. This concept helped the 

researcher to avoid poor responses in the questionnaire technique by supporting the 

study with the interview technique. Moreover, during the distribution of the 

questionnaire, there was an opportunity to meet institutional investors in person. and 

see whether they answered the questionnaire in the same way as they answered 

interview questions. Additionally, the interviewees' comments obtained through the 

interview questions were used to interpret many results of the questionnaires. Second, 

this interview technique has several advantages. The information obtained through the 

interview was intended to complement that provided by the questionnaire, allowing 

the researcher to explore issues in more depth and get specific information. In a face- 

to-face meeting, an investigator is able to encourage subjects and to help them probe 

more deeply into a problem (Van Dalen and Deobold, 1979). Interviews can yield 

rich sources of data on people's experiences, opinions, aspirations and feelings (May. 

1993). It is perhaps the most ubiquitous method of obtaining information from people 

(Kerlinger, 1981). A major advantage of the interview is its adaptability. A skilful 

interview can follow up ideas, probe responses and investigate motives and feeling, 

which the questionnaire can never do (Bell, 1993). Hoinville and Jowell (1978) 

added that a key interviewing skill is probing: encouraging the respondent to give an 

answer, or clarify or amplify an answer. 

On the other hand, this method also has its disadvantages. Some disadvantages of 

the face-to-face interview are as follows: 

1. The main disadvantages of face-to-face interviews are the geographical 

limitations they may impose on the surveys and the vast resources needed if 

such surveys need to be done nationally or internationally (Sekaran, 2000); 
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2. The cost of interview studies is significantly higher than that of mail surveys. 

Cost is involved in many things such as selecting and training interviewers, 

paying them and the travel cost (Frankfort-Nachmias and Nachmias, 1997); 

and 

3. The interview is prone to subjectivity and bias on the part of the interviewer 

(Cohen and Manion, 1997). 

In fact, these disadvantages were overcome, or at least their effects were reduced 

through the following: 

1. Personal contact with the interviewees facilitated the study process; and 

2. Interview questions were designed carefully, and also these questions were 

presented to specialists in this field to obtain their opinions about the validity 

of these questions. 

4.5.2.1 Procedure for Interview 

The researcher designed a close-ended type of questions, as opposed to the open- 

ended questions, for interview. According to Neuman (1997 p. 241), there are many 

advantages of close-ended type questions such as: 

" It is easier and quicker for respondents to answer; 

" Answers are easier to code and analyse statistically; and 

" There are fewer irrelevant or confused answers to questions. 

Besides selecting close-ended questions, the researcher constructed the majority 

of the questions in five-point Likert -type scale. The interview was divided into two 

sections (see Appendix Q. The first sought information about interviewees' 

occupation and the types of transactions in which they dealt with Islamic financial 

institutions. The main objective of the second section was to seek information on 
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financial disclosure, including the items that customers thought should be included in 

Islamic financial institutions' annual reports, information on the qualitative 

characteristic of the financial statements and the factors to improve financial reporting 

by Islamic financial institutions and information on accounting regulation regarding 

these institutions. 

The interviews were conducted from 15/9 to 30/9/2001. The researcher selected 

thirty customers of Islamic financial institutions in Kuwait to conduct the interviews 

with the assistance of these institutions. At the beginning of each interview, the 

researcher started by explaining to the interviewees the objective of the interview. 

Then the researcher informed the interviewee that all the information would be 

confidential and would be used only for the purpose of the present research. The 

respondent was given ample time to give a full and considered answer before moving 

on to the next. At the end of the interview, the researcher thanked the interviewees 

for their co-operation. Each interview lasted between 15 and 20 minutes. 

4.5.2.2 Validity of Interview Questions for this study 

For this study, the researcher chose content validity as the most useful for this 

type of preliminary investigation survey. 

The first step was preparing questions relevant to the main hypotheses. For each 

part of the interview, the researcher formulated the relevant questions in the first draft, 

and then gave this draft to two staff members in the Accountancy Department at 

Kuwait University. On the basis of the feedback from the jurors, some questions were 

deleted, some modified, and some new ones added. This second draft of the interview 

questions was submitted to the same panel that reviewed the first draft to get their 

feedback for a second time. The researcher also met these people and talked to them 

to avoid any misunderstanding of any of the interview questions. 
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After receiving feedback on the second draft, the researcher made the final 

corrections. By this time, all the questions were agreed to be very important. related 

to the main hypothesis and to the title of each section of the interview. 

As mentioned earlier, the most common statistical measure of the internal 

consistency (reliability) of the research instrument is called the Cronbach's Alpha. 

The value of the Cronbach's Alpha for the interview questions was 0.71. This value is 

acceptable to indicate validity (Huck and Cormier, 1996). 

4.6 Statistical Analysis 

4.6.1 Descriptive Statistics 

Since the study involves the perceptions of the institutional investors. Islamic 

financial institutions and customers about the usefulness of annual financial 

statements published by Islamic financial institutions, it is appropriate to analyse the 

respondents' returns in terms of the behaviour of different statistical moments. The 

first moment is the mean. The mean value that underscores the respondents' 

behaviour with respect to the stated research question is calculated on the basis of the 

lowest point and the highest point on the Likert scale. The researcher also ranked the 

respondents' mean responses to a question or issue. For example. a response with a 

mean score of 4 is ranked lower than a response with mean score of 5. The ranking 

order is especially important for the study in that it indicates the respondents' 

perception of the importance of a specific statement and their preferred solutions from 

among the alternative provided. The second moment used is the standard deviation. 

The standard deviation seeks to develop an indicator to measure the variability of an 

individual of the standard deviation of the respondents' answers measures how much 

the outcome vary above or below the expected outcome of the mean (Sekaran, 2000). 
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4.6.2 Statistical Tests 

Two tests were carried out on ordinal data, namely the Kruskal -Wallis one-way 

analysis of Variance Test score and the Wilcoxon - Mann- Whitney Test. This test is a 

non-parametric version of the parametric ANOVA test for calculating differences in 

population means. The Kruskal -Wallis One Way Analysis of Variance tests the 

hypothesis that the independent groups or samples are the same against the alternative 

hypothesis that one or more of the group differ from the others. When the obtained 

value of the Kruskal-Wallis One Way Analysis of Variance is significant, it indicates 

that at least one of the groups is different from at least one of the others. However, it 

does not tell the researcher which ones are different (Siegel and Castellan, 1988). To 

overcome this problem, the researcher used the Wilcoxon Mann -Whitney Test. 

4.7 Conclusion 

This chapter has outlined the research methodology adopted in this study. The 

chapter introduced the two main methods used in similar studies: the interview 

method and the questionnaire method. The advantages and disadvantages of each 

method were examined. Justifications of the chosen methods were presented. The 

chosen methods were the questionnaire (face to face questionnaire or self- 

administered questionnaire) and the interview methods. The two methods are viewed 

as complementary to each other and the strengths and weaknesses of each method 

were considered. It has been shown that through careful piloting, the validity and 

reliability of the research instruments was confirmed. The outcomes of the procedures 

described in this chapter are presented in the next chapter 
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Chapter Five 

Findings 

5.1 Introduction 

The purpose of this study is to examine the usefulness of the financial reports of 

Islamic financial institutions in GCC countries. In this chapter, empirical evidence is 

reported on the perceptions of both institutional investors and customers in Kuwait of 

the financial reporting of Islamic financial institutions. The chapter also presents the 

perceptions of the preparers of the financial reports of Islamic financial institutions in 

GCC countries regarding various aspects of the annual reports that could help the 

investors to make investment decisions. In addition, this chapter presents the analysis 

of the findings on the perception of previous users and preparers on various aspects of 

annual reports published by Islamic financial institutions. 

5.2 Background Information on Questionnaire Respondents 

As stated earlier. this study included interviews and two types of questionnaires. 

The interview was used to identify the perceptions of thirty customers of Islamic 

financial institutions (IFI) in Kuwait about the usefulness of the financial reporting of 

these institutions (see Appendix Q. The first type of questionnaire was used to 

examine and test the perceptions of Islamic financial institutions (IFI) in GCC 

countries (including Islamic bank, Islamic investment companies and Islamic 

insurance companies) related to items in the annual reports of these institutions that 

help the investors make investment decisions (see Appendix B). 
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The second questionnaire was used to examine the importance of financial 

reporting of IFIs to institutional investors of IFIs in Kuwait (This study covered all 

institutional investors in Kuwait) and the way they understand and use the financial 

information provided in them (sec Appendix A). The following sub-sections present 

the background information on the two groups: 

5.2.1 Background Characteristics of Questionnaire Respondents (Institutional 
Investors) 

In order to identify the background information about respondents (Institutional 

Investors), the following items were sought in the questionnaire: present occupation, 

qualifications, number of years and relevant work experience, and some information 

regarding the amount of investment in shares of IFIs and industry sectors of this 

investment. Such general information was considered useful in providing the 

respondents with an easy introduction to the questionnaire and in obtaining useful 

data on the background of respondents. The responses are reported in Table 5.1. 
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Table 5.1: Background characteristics of institutional investors 

Items Frequency Percentage 
(Respondents: 69) 

Current Years' Experience 

-Less than year 3 4% 

-From 1 year less than 5 years 13 19% 

-From 5 years to less than 10 years 14 20% 

-More than 10 years 39 57% 
Education: 

-Less than Bachelor degree 3 4% 

-Bachelor Degree 49 71% 

-Master Degree 15 22% 

-Doctoral Degree 2 3% 
Present Occupation 

- Top Management 14 20% 

- Middle Management 44 64% 

- Lower Management 11 16% 
Size of Institutional Investors 

- Large Firm 24 35% 
(capital value from USS 100 Mill. or more) 

- Small Firm 45 65% 
(capital value less than USS 100 Mill. ) 

Amount in K. D** in share of IFI: 

- Less than K. D50,000 8 11% 
- From K. D50,000 10 15% 
to less than K. D. 500,000 

- From K. D. 50,000 to less than 12 18% 
K. D I Mill.. 

- Above K. D I Mill. 39 56% 
Investment Confirmed to: 

- Islamic Financial Institutions ?1 30% 
- Islamic Financial and Non-Islamic 48 70% 
Industry Sectors of Investment 
in Shares of IFI: 

- Backing Sector 43 32.8% 
- Investment Sector 61 46.6% 

- Co-operation 27 20.6% 
Insurance sector 

Geographical Areas of investment 
in shares of IFI*: 

-Kuwait 56 42.7% 
- Saudi Arabia 10 7.6% 
- United Arab of Emirates 9 6.8% 
- Qatar 15 11.4% 
- Bahrain 41 31.5% 

* IFI: Islamic Financial Institutions 
** K. D: Kuwaiti Dinar 

196 



It can be seen from Table 5.1 that the occupation of 80 % of the respondents was 

in middle management and lower management. Only 20 % were in top management. 

Respondent were also asked to provide information concerning their last educational 

qualification. The findings (see Table 5.1) suggest that the majority (93 %) of the 

respondents held a bachelor or a master's degree. Three respondents indicated that 

their level of education was below the bachelor degree, and two respondents held a 

PhD degree. With regards to the respondent's years of experience to date, the results 

show that the majority (77 %) of the respondents had more than five years of work 

experience. 

Regarding the amount that respondents (institutional investors) invest in the share 

of Islamic financial institutions, the result indicated that the majority (74 %) of 

respondents had invested more than KD 50,000 (approximately US $1,655,629). With 

regards to investment in Islamic financial institutions and conventional financial 

institutions, the result surprisingly indicated that 70 % of respondents (institutional 

investors) had invested in both Islamic financial institutions (IFIs) and conventional 

financial institutions, although the majority is Muslim. This finding is consistent with 

a study undertaken by Idris (1996). 

Responses to the question about the industry sectors of respondents' investment 

in shares of IFIs indicated that 46 % of respondents invested in the investment sector 

and 32 % in the banking sector, while 20 % of the respondents invested in the Islamic 

insurance sector. With regards to geographical areas, 73 % of respondents had 

investments in Kuwait and Bahrain, but 27 % of the respondents distributed their 

investments in other GCC countries such as Saudi Arabia, U. A. E. and Qatar, because 

Kuwait and Bahrain have 64 % of the IFIs in GCC countries. 
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5.2.2 Financial Data of Islamic Financial Institution in GCC Countries. 

As mentioned earlier, this study has two types of questionnaires. The first type 

was discussed earlier. The second questionnaire was used to examine the perceptions 

of IFIs in GCC countries. This study covered all IFIs in GCC countries (37 

institutions), but 33 IFIs returned the questionnaires that were sent to them. These 

institutions are divided into three categories: the first is Islamic banks in GCC 

countries (14 Banks); the second is Islamic investment companies in GCC countries 

(13 Islamic investment companies); and the third is Islamic insurance companies (six 

companies). 

Tables from 5.2 to 5.7 presented the financial data of these institutions from the 

annual reports in 2000, depending on the balance sheet and income statement. Return 

on equity (ROE) also was used as an indicator of the performance of these 

institutions. ROE is net profit divided by the total of share capital and reserves. 
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Table 5.3: Islamic banks in GCC countries ranked by assets, deposits, capital, 
net profit and ROE (Return on Equity) 

Name Assets Deposits Share 
Capital 

Net Profit ROE 

Al Rajhi Banking and 1 1 1 1 1 
Investment Corp. (Saudi 
Arabia) 

Kuwait Finance House 2 2 4 2 2 
Kuwait 

Bahrain Islamic Bank 8 8 9 6 7 
(Bahrain) 

AL Shamil Bank 4 5 5 10 11 
(Bahrain) 

Gulf Finance House (Bahrain) 12 13 8 9 8 

ABC Islamic Bank (Bahrain) 10 9 11 11 9 

Al Baraka Islamic Bank 9 10 10 12 12 
(Bahrain) 

Investor Bank 13 12 12 13 13 
(Bahrain) 

First Islamic Investment Bank 11 11 6 4 4 
(Bahrain) 

Abu Dhabi Islamic Bank 5 6 3 5 10 
(U. A. E. ) 

Qatar Islamic Bank (Qatar) 3 3 2 3 6 

Qatar Islamic Bank (Qatar) 6 4 7 7 5 

Qatar International Islamic 7 7 13 8 3 
Bank (Qatar) 
ROE= Net Profit /( Share Capital +Reserves) 
Source: Annual Reports of Islamic Banks in GCC Countries, 2000 
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Table 5.5: Islamic investment companies in GCC countries ranked by assets, 
cap ital, net profit and ROE 

Name Assets Share Net profit ROE 
Capital 

International Leasing and 10 9 6 4 
investment Co. 
(Kuwait) 

Osoul Leasing and Finance 3 8 9 9 
(Kuwait) 

Aref Investment Group 4 1 5 7 
(Kuwait) 

Al-Mal Islamic Co. 8 10 7 6 
(Kuwait) 

A'Ayan leasing and 2 5 2 2 
investment Co. 
(Kuwait) 

The International investors 6 6 1 1 
(Kuwait) 

Investment Dar 1 3 3 3 
(Kuwait) 

First Investment Co. 9 7 8 8 
(Kuwait) 

Gulf investment House 5 2 4 5 
(Kuwait) 

International Invest me 7 4 10 10 
Group 
(Kuwait) 
ROE= Net Profit / (Share Capital +Reserves) 
Source: Annual Reports of Islamic In vestment Companies in GCC Countries, 2000. 
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Table 5.7 : Islamic insurance companies in GCC countries ranked by assets, 
policyholders' liabilities and surplus, capital, net profit and ROE 
Name Assets Policyholders' Share Net ROE 

Liabilities Capital Profit (%) 
National Company for Co- 11113 
operative Insurance 
(Saudi Arabia) 

Takaful International 34244 
(Bahrain) 

Qatar Islamic Insurance 43421 
(Qatar) 

Islamic Arab Insurance Co. 22332 
(U. A. E. ) 

ROE= Net Profit / (Share Capital +Reserves) 
Source: Annual Reports of Islamic Insurance Companies in GCC Countries, 2000 

Some observations can be made from Table 5.2 and Table 5.3. First. Al-Rajhi 

Banking and Investment Corp. (Saudi Arabia) and Kuwait Finance House (Kuwait) 

can be ranked as the two first Islamic Bank in this region as far the total assets, 

deposits, capital, net profit and ROE (Return of Equity) are concerned. The Investor 

Bank (Bahrain) can be ranked as the smallest Islamic bank in this region in terms of 

the total asset, deposits, capital profit and ROE. Second, the total assets managed by 

Islamic bank in GCC countries as of December 31,2000 exceeded US $28 billion. 

Deposits managed by these banks in 2000 exceeded US$ 20.9 billion. The share 

capitals of these bank in 2000 were approximately US$ 2 billion. Third. Bahrain is the 

one country in GCC with the highest concentration of Islamic banks: a total ten banks 

as of 2000. 

From Table 5.4 and Table 5.5, the following observations can be made. First, the 

total assets managed by Islamic Investment Companies in 2000 exceeded US$ I 

billion. The share capital of these companies in 2000 was approximately US$ 675 
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million. Second. Investment Dar (Kuwait) can be ranked as the first Islamic 

investment company in terms of the total assets, and Aref Investment Group (Kuwait) 

can be ranked as the first in terms of capital. Even though the International Investor 

(Kuwait) can be ranked the sixth Islamic investment company in relation to the total 

assets and share capital, it has the best performance among these companies 

depending on the net profit and ROE. This result might be explained in terms of this 

institution's ability to invest and manage its assets efficiently and to estimate its 

expenses well. Third, Kuwait is the one country in GCC with the largest number of 

Islamic investment companies (11 companies). 

Some observations can also be inferred from Table 5.6 and Table 5.7 regarding 

Islamic Insurance companies. First, the National Company for Co-operative Insurance 

(Saudi Arabia) can be ranked as the first Islamic insurance company in this region in 

terms of total assets, policyholders' liabilities, capital and net profit. Although the 

Qatar Islamic Insurance (Qatar) can be ranked the fourth Islamic insurance company 

in terms of total assets and share capital, it has the best performance among these 

companies as far as the ROE is concerned. This result might be explained in terms of 

this institution's ability to invest and manage its assets efficiently and also its ability 

to estimate its expenses well. Second, the total assets managed by Islamic Insurance 

companies in GCC countries exceeded US$ 418 million in 2000. Policyholders' 

liabilities in 2000 were approximately US$ 266 million. 
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5.3 Respondents' Views on Importance of Various Sources of Information 

This study aims to measure the importance of different corporate information 

sources to institutional investor and customers of Islamic Financial institutions. To 

address this problem, the respondents were asked to rate the importance of eight 

possible sources of information about Islamic financial institutions. The selected 

information sources are: 

- Corporate annual reports; 

- Corporate interim reports; 

- Specialists' advice; 

- Direct information from company; 

- Newspaper and business magazines; 

- Market rumors; 

- Friends' advice; and 

- Specialized publications. 

The respondents were asked to rate the importance of the information sources 

using a Likert scale where the responses extended from 1 "not important " to 5" very 

important, as in Table 5.8 . Since the respondents may perceive some information 

sources to be important items than others, they were asked to further clarify their 

perceptions by ranking the sources in order of priority. Hence, the respondents had 

the opportunity to state their perceptions of the relative importance of the information 

sources, i. e., with consideration to other sources. The respondents were asked to rank 

all the information sources in terms of their importance to their decision making needs 

by assigning number 1 to the highest and most important source and number 8 to the 

least in priority, as in Table 5.9. 
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Table 5.8*: Respondents' rating of importance of different information sources 
on companies 

Information Sources Institutional 
Investors 

N=69 

Customers 

N=33 

All Groups 

N=99 
Corporate Annual Report Median 5 5 5 

Mean 4.797 4.800 4.80 
St. D . 530 . 400 . 440 

R 1 I 1 
Corporate Interim Report Median 5 4 5 

Mean 4.710 4.266 4.580 
St. D . 457 . 868 . 64 

R 2 2 2 
Specialists' Advice Median 4 4 4 

Mean 4.246 4.160 4.222 
St. D 

. 715 . 647 . 693 
R 3 3 3 

Direct Information from Company Median 4 4 4 
Mean 3.927 4.133 3.989 
St. D 1.102 . 819 1.025 

R 4 4 4 
Newspaper and Business Magazines Median 3 4 4 

Mean 3.376 3.700 3.474 
St. D . 806 

. 836 . 824 
R 6 6 5 

Market Rumours Median ? 3 3 
Mean 2.391 2.966 2.565 
St. D 1.060 1.299 1.162 
R 8 8 8 

Friends' Advice Median 3 3 3 
Mean 2.840 3.360 3 
St. D 1.004 . 808 . 979 

R 7 7 7 
Specialized Publications Median 4 4 4 

Mean 3.434 3.933 3.585 
St. D 1.077 . 739 1.010 

R 5 5 5 

St. D. : Standard Deviation R: Rank 
N: Number of respondents 
* The ranking of the importance of different information of sources based on respondents' mean 

rating of importance of such sources. 
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Table 5.9X : Respondents' ranking of importance of different information sources 
on companies 

Information Sources Institutional 
Investors 

N=69 

Customers 

N=33 

All Groups 

N=99 
Corporate Annual Report Median I I 1 

Mean 1.536 1.200 1.434 
St. D 1.078 . 664 . 981 

R 1 1 1 

Corporate Interim Report Median 2 2 2 
Mean 2.130 2.766 2.323 
St. D 1.211 1.695 1.398 

R 2 2 2 

Specialists' Advice Median 4 
Mean 3.304 3.766 3.444 
St. D 1.216 1.501 1.318 
R 3 3 3 

Direct Information from Company Median 4 3.5 4 
Mean 4.188 4.200 4.191 
St. D 1.546 1.845 1.633 

R 4 4 4 
Newspapers and Business Magazines Median 6 5.5 6 

Mean 5.478 5.533 5.494 
St. D 1.207 1.224 1.206 
R 5 6 4 

Market Rumours Median 8 7 8 
Mean 7.391 6.966 7.262 
St. D . 942 1.351 1.093 
R 8 8 8 

Friends' Advice Median 7 6.5 7 
Mean 6.405 6.100 6.313 
St. D 1.141 1.668 1.322 

R 7 7 7 
Specialized Publications Median 5 5 5 

Mean 5.565 5.4665 5.555 
St. D 1.419 1.525 1.445 

R 6 5 6 
St. D.: Standard Deviation R: Rank 
N: Number of respondents 

ranking of the importance of different information of sources based on the mean of respondents' 
own ranking of these sources. 
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Tables 5.8 and 5.9 above summarized the responses of the two groups that 

participated in the study. Table 5.8 shows the median, mean. standard deviation and 

number of respondents regarding the rating of the importance of information sources. 

Table 5.9 shows the median, mean, and standard deviation of the respondents' 

ranking of importance of the information sources. 

As it is clearly shown in Tables 5.8 and 5.9. the corporate annual report is the 

most important source of information for the institutional investors and the customers 

of Islamic financial institutions. Moreover the respondents perceive the interim report, 

followed by specialists' advice and obtaining information directly from the company, 

as important under the two methods of ranking. This finding can be explained by 

customers' comments during the interviews that annual reports. interim reports and 

specialists' advice are more credible than other sources of information. In general, 

market rumours, friends' advice and specialized publications are least important for 

institutional investors and customers under the two methods of ranking to their 

decision-making. 

In fact, many studies have examined the importance of different corporate 

information sources to the institutional investors or other external users. Table 5.10 

compares the results of the current study with the studies in other parts of the world, 

as well as in GCC countries (Kuwait and Saudi Arabia). 
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In the United States, Epstein and Para (1993) found the corporate annual report to 

be the most important source of information about companies to American individual 

investors. A similar result found in this study is consistent with the findings of Epstein 

and Para (1993) (U. S. J. ); Idris (1996) (Malaysia); Al-Mubarak (1997) (Saudi 

Arabia); Al-Razeen (1999) (Saudi Arabia); Al-Hussaini (2001) (Kuwait) and Al- 

Hajraf (2002) (Kuwait). On the other hand, the result in this study is not consistent 

with the findings of Barlett and Chandler (1997), who found that British individual 

investors did not read corporate annual reports thoroughly, as compared with other 

sources. However, the findings in this study are consistent with previous studies that 

the corporate interim report and obtaining information from the company are 

considered the most important sources after the annual report. 

Friends' advice and market rumours are unimportant to institutional investors and 

customers in this study. This finding is consistent with the findings of previous 

studies. Market rumours were also the least important source to all of the user groups 

in the Al-Razeen (1999) study in Saudi Arabia. It is also consistent with the findings 

of Al-Mubark (1997) about the investment analysts that they may base their 

investment decision of the market rumours. 

In order to study the significant differences between the perceptions of 

institutional investors and customers of the importance of possible sources of 

corporate information, the Mann-Whitney test was used. This was to test the level of 

differences between the two groups, because the groups that took part in the survey 

were of different sizes, and users' perceptions were measured on an ordinal scale. A 

non-parametric test was found to be most appropriate for such data (Siegel and 

Castellan, 1988 and Huck and Cormier, 1996). 
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Table 5.11: Level of significance for differences between institutional investors 
and customers regarding their rating of importance of different information 

sources 
Information Sources Significant level 

P- value 
Corporate Annual Report 

. 
675 

Corporate Interim Report 
. 008** 

Specialists' Advice . 454 

Direct Information from Company 
. 588 

Newspapers and Business Managers 
. 070 

Market Rumours . 047* 

Friends' Advice 
. 018* 

Specialized Publications 
. 041 * 

Asymp. Sig. Level of Mann-Whitney U test of pairs of respondent groups (*): a <_ . 
05; (**): a <_ . 

01 
(two-tailed test). 

Table 5.11 shows that there is a significant difference between institutional 

investors and customers on the importance that they attach to various sources of 

information. The table reveals a high degree of agreement that annual reports, 

specialists' advice and direct information from the company are useful sources of 

information. The highest degree of difference among the groups was over the interim 

report, market rumours and specialized publications. Regarding the interim report, the 

institutional investors attached more importance to it than customers did. The possible 

explanation is that the institutional investors are more involved and sophisticated than 

customers, and within this source, the investors can obtain accurate results about the 

performance of company. On the other hand, although the institutional investors and 

customers rated market rumours, specialized publications and friends' advice as least 

important, institutional investors attached less importance to these sources than 
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customers did. This might be because the investors have the ability to use other 

sources and have less need for this source. 

;. 3.1 Institutional Investors' Background Characteristics and their Perception of 
Importance of Various Sources of Information 

The objective of this section is to examine whether the differences in background 

characteristics of institutional investors affect differences in their evaluation of the 

importance of various sources of information in particular and whether they would 

still rank corporate annual reports as the most important sources of information for 

their investment decisions. The characteristics examined in this section include: 

1- Size of institutional investors; 

2- Education level; 

3- Management level; and 

4- Experience Level. 

5.3.1.1 Size of Institutional Investors 

The background characteristic examined in this section is the size of institutional 

investors. Table 5.1 reveals that there are two groups, depending on the size of the 

capital value of institutional investors. Group one is institutional investors with a 

capital value from US$100 million or more (large firms, 24 respondents), and group 

two comprises institutional investors whose capital value is less than US$ 100 million. 

(small firms, 45 respondents). 

Table 5.12 shows the rankings given by these groups to various sources of 

information. The corporate annual report was ranked as the most important source of 

information by both groups of institutional investors. The Mann-Whitney U test was 

213 



used to investigate whether the differences in size between the two groups would 

affect their perception of the importance of various sources of information. 

Table 5.12: Level of significance for differences between two groups of 
institutional investors according to size 

The Information Sources 

Group I 

N=24 

Group 2 

N=45 

P-value 

mean St. R mean St. R 

Corporate Annual Reports 4.916 . 
282 1 4.733 

. 
617 I . 198 NS 

Corporate Interim Reports 4.750 . 442 2 4.688 . 468 2 . 597 NS 

Specialists' Advice 4.166 
. 761 3 4.288 

. 
694 3 . 

527 NS 

Direct Information from 
Company 

3.875 
. 899 4 3.955 1.205 4 . 347 NS 

Newspapers and Business 
Magazines 

3.333 
. 
761 6 3.400 

. 836 5 . 
828 NS 

Market Rumours 2.375 1.171 8 2.400 1.009 8 . 881 NS 
Friends' Advice 2.666 1.090 7 ?. 933 

. 
963 7 . 

375 NS 

Specialised Publications 3.583 1.100 5 3.355 1.069 -6 407 NS 
c; roupl: 1 arge t irm S: Significant St.: Standard Deviation 
Group?: Small Firm NS: Not Significant R: Rank 
Asymp. Sig. Level of Mann-Whitney U test of pairs of respondent groups :a<. 05 (two-tailed test). 

Table 5.12 indicates no significant differences between the two groups in their 

evaluation of any sources. This result suggests that the size of institutional investors 

has no effect on the investors' perception of the importance of various sources of 

information. 

5.3.1.2 Education Level 

As discussed in Table 5.1,75 % of the respondents had obtained a bachelor 

degree or less; 25 % of the respondents obtained a higher degree (masters degree or 

PhD degree). Table 5.13 shows the rankings of the various sources of information 

given by these two groups. It was found that the corporate annual report was the most 
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important source of information for the two groups of institutional investors in their 

investment activities. 

Table 5.13: Level of significance for differences between two groups of 
institutional investors according to education level 

The Information Sources 

Group I 

N=52 

Group 2 

N=17 

P-value 

mean St. R mean St. R 

Corporate Annual reports 4.846 . 364 1 4.647 . 617 1 . 693 NS 

Corporate Interim reports 4.788 . 412 2 4.470 . 468 2 . 013* S 

Specialists' Advice 4.211 . 775 3 4.352 . 694 3 . 704 NS 

Direct Information from 
Company 

3.826 1.115 4 4.235 1.205 4 . 121 NS 

Newspapers and Business 
Magazines 

3.326 . 856 6 3.529 . 836 6 . 353 NS 

Market Rumours 2.403 1.071 8 2.352 1.009 8 . 
948 NS 

Friends' Advice 2.923 1.045 7 2.588 . 963 7 . 
231 NS 

Specialised Publications 3.384 1.087 5 3.588 1.069 5 . 435 NS 

Group]: Bachelor or less than Bachelor S: Significant St.: Standard Deviation 
Group?: Higher Degree NS: Not Significant R: Rank 
Asymp. Sig. Level of Mann-Whitney U test of pairs of respondent groups(*) :a<. 05 (two-tailed test). 

The Mann-Whitney results in Table 5.13 indicate that with the exception of one 

source (interim report) there are no significant differences in the evaluation of the 

sources of information by these two groups. With regards to the interim report, the 

result indicates a significant differences between the groups of institutional investors. 

Institutional investors who have a degree, or qualifications less than a bachelor's 

degree, rated the "interim report" as more important than did the other group of 

investors. One possible argument to explain this result is that investors who have a 

higher degree are better able to use many other sources in their activities more than 

other group of investors. 
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5.3.1.3 Management Level 

Another background factor examined in this section is the management level of 

the respondents. As shown in Table 5.1, they were divided into three groups. Group 

one consisted of those investors in lower management (16 %). Group two consisted of 

those investors in middle management (64 %, and group three consisted of those in 

top management (20 %). Table 5.14 shows the rankings of the various sources of 

information given by these three groups. It was found that the corporate annual report 

and interim report were the most important sources of information for institutional 

investors in their investment activities. 

Table 5.14: Level of significance for differences among three groups of 
institutional investors according to management level 

The Information Sources 

Group I 

N=I I 

Group 2 

N=44 

Group 3 

N=14 

P-value 

mean St. R mean St. R mean St. R 

Corporate Annual Reports 4.909 
. 301 1 4.795 

. 461 1 4.714 . 825 1 . 760 NS 
Corporate Interim Reports 4.818 

. 404 2 4.704 
. 461 2 4.642 . 797 2 . 630 NS 

Specialists' Advice 4.636 
. 504 3 4.090 . 772 3 4.142 . 770 3 . 069 NS 

Direct Information from 
Company 

3.363 1.026 5 3.954 
. 963 4 4.142 1.406 3 . 039 S* 

Newspapers and Business 
Magazines 

3.272 
. 
904 6 3.318 

. 740 6 3.428 1.016 5 . 874 NS 

Market Rumours 2.272 
. 904 8 2.340 1.077 8 2.428 1.222 8 . 982 NS 

Friends' Advice 3.000 1.000 7 2.659 . 987 7 3.071 1.141 7 . 361 NS 
Specialised Publications 3.818 

. 873 4 3.363 1.143 5 3.214 1.188 6 . 393 NS 
Group]: Lower Management S: Significant St.: Standard Deviation 
Group]: Middle Management NS: Not Significant R: Rank 
Group 1: Top Management 
All groups = Asymp. Sig. Level of Kruskal-Wallis H test of all groups (*): aS . 05. 

The Kruskal-Wallis H test was used instead of the Mann-Whitney, since the latter 

is not applicable for more than two groups to examine whether the differences in 

management level between the investors would affect their perception of the 
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importance of the various sources of information. The Kruskal-Wallis H results in 

Table 5.14 indicate that with the exception of one source (direct contact information 

from company), there are no significant differences in the evaluation of the 

importance of the sources of information by these groups. A similar result to that of 

this study was obtained by Al-Mubarak (1997) (Saudi Arabia). With regards to the 

"direct contact information from company", the Kruskal-Wallis H result indicates 

significant differences exist between the three groups of institutional investors. The 

institutional investors in top management rated this sources of information as more 

important than did the other groups of investors. This is because investors in top 

management were in a more favourable position to contact companies directly. 

Therefore, they rated this source as more important. 

5.3.1.4 Experience Level 

Table 5.1 shows that 23 % of respondents had less than five years of experience, 

20 % had from five years to less than 10 years experience, and 77 % had more than 10 

years of experience. Table 5.15 shows that the corporate annual report was the most 

important source of information for all groups of institutional investors. 
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Table 5.15: Level of significance for differences among three groups of 
institutional investors according to exnerience level 

The Information Sources 

Group I 

N=16 

Group 2 

N=14 

Group 3 

N=39 

P-value 

mean rank N mean rank N mean rank N 

Corporate annual Reports 4.875 . 341 1 4.714 . 825 1 4.794 . 469 2 . 87I NS 

Corporate Interim Reports 4.562 
. 
512 2 4.642 

. 
497 2 4.794 . 409 1 . 191 NS 

Specialists' Advice 4.437 . 727 3 3.928 
. 730 3 4.282 . 686 3 . 109 NS 

Direct Information from 
Company 

4.062 
. 
997 4 3.500 1.019 4 4.025 . 158 4 . 104 NS 

Newspapers and Business 

_Magazines 

3.500 . 816 5 3.428 . 755 5 3.307 . 822 5 . 655 NS 

Market rumours 2.687 . 873 8 1.714 . 825 8 2.512 1.120 8 . 021 S* 
Friends' Advice 3.125 . 885 7 2.357 . 841 7 2.897 1.071 7 . 076 NS 
Specialised Publications 3.375 1.204 6 3.357 1.150 6 3.487 1.022 6 . 901 NS 
Groupl: Less than 5 years S: Significant St.: Standard Deviation 
Group!: From 5 years to less than 10 years NS: Not Significant R: Rank 
Group l: More than 10 years 
All groups = Asymp. Sig. Level of Kruskal-Wallis H test of all groups (*): a <_ . 05. 

The Kruskal-Wallis H results in Table 5.15 indicate that with exception of one 

source of information (market rumours), there are no significant differences in the 

evaluation of the importance of sources of information by these groups. 

The results of the survey into the importance of the various sources of 

information to institutional investors according to the differences in their background 

characteristics have been analysed and discussed in this section. It was found that the 

corporate annual report is the most important source of information for institutional 

investors in their investment activities. Moreover, four background characteristics of 

respondents (institutional investors) were examined to know whether differences in 

such characteristics would affect their perceptions of the importance the various 

sources of information. The results showed that none of the four factors resulted in 

significant differences in the respondents' evaluation of the importance of the 

corporate annual report. However, some of these factors affected the perceptions of 

other sources of information. For example, it was found that respondents with a 
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higher degree rated certain sources of information as more important than did the 

other groups. Thus, based on the discussion above. the conclusion is drawn that, 

regardless of the respondents' background characteristics. the corporate annual report 

is the most important source of information for institutional investors in their 

investment activities. 

5.4 Respondents' View on Importance of Items of Annual Report 

The discussion will be confined to views of the institutional investors. customers 

and Islamic financial institutions about various items of annual reports of Islamic 

financial institution. Generally, Islamic financial institutions in this study disclosed in 

their annual reports as of the year ended in 2000 the following items: 

- Board of directors' report; 

- Shariah Supervisory Board's report; 

- Auditor's report; 

- Balance Sheet; 

- Income statement; 

- Cash flow statement; 

- Statement of changes in shareholders' equity; 

- Accounting policies; 

- Notes to the financial statements; and 

- Earning per share. 

However, some of these institutions did not disclose "earning per share" in their 

annual reports, although IAS No. 33, "Earnings per Share", was approved by the 

IASC in January 1997 and became effective for annual financial statements on I 

January 1998. This result is reported in Tables 5.16 and 5.17 as follows: 
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The respondent groups were asked to rate and then rank the importance of these 

items. Tables 5.18 and 5.19 present descriptive statistical summaries of the respondent 

groups' ratings and rankings of the importance of the different items of the annual 

report. The mean valuesire reported in Tables 5.18 and 5.19. 

1) 1) 1) 



Takle 5.18Y: Resnondents' rating of importance of items in annual report 
Items of Annual Report Institutional 

Investors 
N=69 

Islamic Financial 
Institutions 

N=33 

Customers 

N=30 

All Groups 
N=132 

Board of Directors' Median 5 5 4 4 
Report Mean 4.188 4.545 3.933 4.219 

St. D 1.004 . 505 . 980 . 919 

R 9 7 10 10 

Sharjah Supervisory Median 4 5 5 5 
Board's Report Mean 4.014 4.515 4.700 4.295 

St. D 1.077 . 565 . 590 . 922 

R 10 8 3 9 

Median 5 5 5 5 
Auditor's Report Mean 4.463 4.818 4.700 4.606 

St. D . 963 464 . 651 . 808 

R 6 3 4 5 

Median 5 5 5 5 
Balance Sheet Mean 4.855 4.818 4.733 4.818 

St. D . 393 . 391 . 449 . 406 

R 2 2 2 

Median 5 5 5 5 
Income Statement Mean 4.869 4.848 4.760 4.840 

St. D . 339 . 364 . 430 . 367 

R I I 1 1 

Median 5 5 5 5 
Cash Flow Statement Mean 4.507 4.424 4.600 4.507 

St. D 
. 759 . 708 . 724 . 736 

R 5 10 6 6 

Statement of Changes Median 5 5 5 5 
in Shareholders' Mean 4.391 4.515 4.433 4.431 
Equities St. D . 942 . 565 . 858 . 839 

R 7 9 9 8 
Median 4 5 5 5 

Accounting Policies Mean 4.304 4.666 4.466 4.431 
St. D . 753 . 540 . 776 . 722 

R 8 6 8 7 
Notes of Financial Median 5 5 5 5 
Statements Mean 4.652 4.697 4.533 4.636 

St. D . 509 . 466 . 628 . 528 
R 4 4 7 4 

Earning per Share Median 5 5 5 5 
Mean 4.724 4.666 4.633 4.689 
St. D . 

539 . 478 . 614 . 540 
R 3 5 5 3 

St. D.: Standard Deviation R: Rank N: Number of respondents 
* The ranking of the importance of different items of annual reports based on respondents' mean rating of 

importance of such items. 
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Table 5.19X: Respondents' ranking of importance of items in annual report 
Items of annual report Institutional 

Investors 
N=69 

Islamic Financial 
Institutions 

N=33 

Customers 

N=30 

All Groups 

N=132 
Board of Directors' Median 8 8 10 9 
Report Mean 7956 7.818 8.966 8.151 

St. D 2.347 2.403 1.607 2.246 
R 10 9 10 10 

Shariah Supervisory Median 8 9 8 8 
Board's Report Mean 7.739 7.848 6.633 7.515 

St. D 2.160 1.822 2.592 2.225 
R 9 10 9 9 

Median 7 7 6 7 
Auditor's Report Mean 6.710 6.575 6.522 6.522 

St. D 2.358 2.222 2.579 2.279 
R 8 8 5 8 

Median 2 2 2 2 
Balance Sheet Mean 2.434 2.787 2.533 2.545 

St. D 1.640 2.088 1.814 1.792 
R 2 2 2 2 

Median 1 1 1 1 
Income Statement Mean 1.710 1.939 2.465 1.939 

St. D 1.918 2.276 3.036 2.304 
R I I 1 1 

Median 7 7 7 7 
Cash Flow Statement Mean 6.289 7.242 6.166 6.500 

St. D 2.128 1.837 2.166 2.098 
R 6 7 7 7 

Statement of Changes Median 6 6 6 6 
in Shareholders' Mean 6.188 6.333 6.166 6.219 
Equities St. D 1.934 2.010 2.320 2.031 

R 5 6 8 5 
Median 7 5 5 6 

Accounting Policies Mean 6.695 5.363 6.166 6.242 
St. D 1.987 1.884 2.102 2.049 

R 7 5 6 6 
Notes of Financial Median 4 4 4 4 
Statements Mean 5.130 4.545 5.533 5.075 

St. D 1.977 1.938 1.852 1.956 
R 4 4 4 4 

Earning per Share Median 3 3 3 3 
Mean 4.144 4.272 4.333 4.219 
St. D 2.023 2.707 3.339 2.266 

R 3 3 3 3 
St. D.: Standard Deviation R: Rank N: Number of respondents 
" The ranking of the importance of different items of annual reports based on the mean of respondents' own 

ranking of these items. 
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Tables 5.18 and 5.19 show that the respondents perceived the income statement, 

the balance sheet and earning per share as the most important items of the annual 

report. This is reflected by the reported mean and median scores. The low standard 

deviation reflects a higl, degree of consistency among respondents. On the other 

hand, the board of directors' report and the Sharjah Supervisory Boards' report were 

viewed by almost all respondent groups as being the least important items of the 

annual report. 

As for the whole sample, the respondents either strongly agreed or agreed that all 

items in the questionnaire are important to their decisions about Islamic financial 

institutions, as reflected by the mean and median. The low reported standard deviation 

in most cases reflects a high degree of agreement among the respondents. 

The importance of the different items of annual corporate reports to the users was 

the subject of several past descriptive studies. Table 5.20 compares the results found 

in this study with the results found in previous studies regarding the perceptions of the 

users on the importance of the various items of the annual report. 
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As mentioned earlier, the income statement and the balance sheet were assigned 

the highest mean values for importance by most studies in this field. This finding is 

similar to an early finding by Ba-Owaidan (1994), who surveyed the Saudi individual 

investors, and the findings of Al- Mubarak who surveyed investment analysts in Saudi 

Arabia. It is also consistent with the finding of Al-Hussaini (2001), who surveyed 

multiple groups of users of Kuwaiti annual reports, and the finding of Idris (1996), 

who surveyed the Malaysian institutional investors. It also supports the findings of 

Epstein and Pava (1993) who surveyed American individual investors, and Lee and 

Tweedie (1975), who surveyed the British individual investors, and found that the 

profit and loss account was ranked first, while the balance sheet was ranked third. 

In this study, the board of directors' report received on average a lower ranking of 

importance than in previous studies, especially those performed in the developing 

countries, such as Kuwait (Al-Hussaini, 2001) and (Al-Hajeri, 1992) Saudi Arabia 

(Al-Razeen, 1999; Al-Mubarak, 1997) and Jordan (Abu-nassar and Rutherford, 1996). 

This result can be interpreted on the grounds that some customers during the 

interview commented that the board of directors' report is not important in 

comparison with the income statement and balance sheet. Other studies found in the 

literature reported that the directors' report falls somewhere in the middle ranks of 

importance. Examples are the studies by Lee and Tweedie (1975); Epstein and Pava 

(1993); Idris (1996); and Burtlett and Chandler (1997). 
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Table 5.21 : Level of significance for differences among respondent groups and 
belhveen each pair of respondent groups regarding their rating of importance of 

items in annual report 
Items in Annual Report Institutional Islamic Financial Customers All 

Investors Institutions Groups 
vs. vs. vs. 

Islamic Customers Institutional 
Financial Investor 

Institutions 
Board of Directors' Report . 198 . 008** . 025* . 047* 

Shariah Supervisory Board's . 033* . 106 . 036* . 001** 
Report 

Auditors Report . 048* . 420 
. 142 . 115 

Balance Sheet . 518 . 422 . 753 . 280 

Income Statement . 773 . 413 . 295 . 436 

Cash flow Statement 
. 
450 . 215 . 905 . 443 

Statement of Changes in 
. 951 . 881 . 787 . 989 

Shareholders' equities 

Accounting Policies 
. 010* . 345 . 293 . 031 

Notes to Financial Statements 
. 728 . 337 . 193 . 

602 

Earning per share . 
356 

. 
926 

. 
762 . 

596 
All groups = Asymp. Sig. Level of Kruskal-Wallis H test of all groups : (*): a 5.05. (**): a 5.01 
Asymp. Sig. Level of Mann-Whitney U test of pairs of respondent groups : (*) a< . 05); (**): a 5.01 
(two-tailed test). 

As mentioned earlier, the Kruskal-Wallis H test was used to test possible 

differences between all groups, and the Mann-Whitney U test was used to test the 

differences between pairs of users. 

Table 5.21 shows the level of significance for differences among the groups in 

the importance that they attach to various items in the annual report. These are 

concentrated on three parts of the annual report: the board of directors' report, the 

Shariah Supervisory Boards' report and accounting policies. Islamic financial 
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institutions attached more importance to the board of directors' report than customers 

did. A possible explanation is that Islamic financial institutions consider this item as a 

suitable item to present their achievements and surrounding circumstances that affect 

the performance of the company. On the other hand, the institutional investors 

attached more importance to the board of directors' report than the customers did, 

because the investors are more involved than the customers in understanding and 

analysing this report. 

With regards to the Shariah Supervisory Boards' report, Islamic financial 

institutions attached more importance to this report than the institutional investors did. 

This result might be explained by the fact that this report bestows legitimacy on these 

institutions' activities in order to improve their reputation before the users. On the 

other hand, surprisingly, the customers attached more importance to the SSB's report 

than the investors did. It can be suggested that although the investors considered this 

report as important, thought that it is not enough to depend on for their investment 

activities. This result is consistent with the view expressed by Al-Qaradawi (2001) 

and Zarir (2001) (Islamic scholars) that the current SSB reports are short and similar, 

and this format does not achieve the justice consistent with the Shariah in this matter. 

Regarding the auditor's report, Islamic financial institutions attached more 

importance to this report than institutional investors did. In the researcher's view, the 

explanation given previously regarding the SSB's report and Islamic financial 

institutions would also be applicable here. The Islamic financial institutions attached 

more importance to accounting policies than the investors did. It can be interpreted 

that this item presents the significant basics used by the preparers of the annual 

reports of these institutions to help users understand the figures in the balance sheet 

and income statement. 
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In general, the institutional investors and customers showed a high degree of 

agreement regarding the income statement, balance sheet, earning per share and 

statement of change in shareholders' equities. This result can be explained by the fact 

that these items are considered as profitability indicators expressing the performance 

of these institutions for the users. 

5.4.1 Institutional Investors' Background Characteristics and their Perception 
of Importance of Items of Annual Report 

The objectives of this section is to examine whether the differences in the 

background characteristics of institutional investors affect differences in their 

evaluation of the importance of items of annual reports. A particular focus was placed 

on whether or not they would still rank the income statement and balance sheet 

statement as the most important items of annual reports. The characteristics examined 

in this section include: 

1- Size of institutional investors; 

2- Education level; 

3- Management level; and 

4- Experience Level. 

5.4.1.1 Size of Institutional Investors 

Table 5.22 shows the rankings given by the two groups of institutional investors 

to the importance of items of annual reports in relation to their size. The income 

statement and balance sheet statement were rated as the most important items of the 

annual report by both groups of investors. 
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Table 5.22: Level of significance for differences between two groups of 
institutional investors according to size 

Items of annual reports 

Group I 

N=24 

Group 2 

N=45 

p-value 

mean St. R mean St. R 

Board of Directors' report 4.458 . 721 9 4.044 1.106 9 . 173 NS 

Shariah Supervisory Board's 

report 

4.083 1.059 10 3.977 1.097 10 . 714 NS 

Auditor's Report 4.500 . 780 7 4.444 1.056 5 . 722 NS 

Balance Sheet 4.833 . 
380 1 4.866 . 404 2 . 546 NS 

Income Statement 4.833 . 380 1 4.888 
. 
317 1 . 517 NS 

Cash Flow Statement 4.666 . 564 4 4.422 . 839 6 . 218 NS 

Statement of Changes in 
Shareholders' Equities 

4.583 . 
717 6 4.288 1.036 7 . 268 NS 

Accounting Policies 4.500 . 589 8 4.200 . 814 8 . 124 NS 

Notes of the Financial Statements 4.625 . 494 5 4.666 . 522 4 . 645 NS 
Earning per Share 4.750 . 531 3 4.711 . 548 3 . 745 NS 

Group I: Large Firm S: Significant St.: Standard Deviation 
Group2: Small Firm NS: Not Significant R: Rank 
Asymp. Sid. Level of Mann -Whitney U test of pairs of respondent groups :a : 5.05 (two-tailed test). 

The Mann-Whitney results in Table 5.22 indicate no significant differences 

between these two groups in their evaluation of any items of the annual report. These 

results suggest that the size of institutional investors has no effect on the investors' 

perceptions of the importance of the items of the annual report. 

5.4.1.2 Education Level 

Table 5.23 shows the rankings given by the two groups of institutional investors 

to the importance of items of annual report in relation to their education levels. The 

income statement and balance sheet statement were rated as the most important items 

of the annual report by both groups of investors. 
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Table 5.23: Level of significance for differences between two groups of 
institutional investors according to educational level 

Items of annual reports 

Group I 

N=52 

Group 2 

N=17 

p-value 

mean St. R mean St. R 

Board of Directors' report 4.173 . 
984 9 4.235 1.427 7 

. 
591 NS 

Shariah Supervisory 
Board's Report 

3.884 1.131 10 4.411 . 795 6 . 083 NS 

Auditor's Report 4.442 1.055 6 4.529 . 624 4 . 609 NS 
Balance Sheet 4.884 . 322 1 4.764 . 562 2 . 474 NS 
Income Statement 4.865 . 377 2 4.882 . 332 1 . 858 NS 
Cash Flow Statement 4.615 . 661 5 4.176 . 951 9 . 020 S* 
Statement of Changes in 
Shareholders' Equities 

4.442 
. 894 7 4.235 1.091 8 . 

454 NS 

Accounting Policies 4.365 
. 817 8 4.117 . 485 10 . 047 S* 

Notes of the Financial 
Statements 

4.711 
. 498 4 4.470 . 

514 5 . 060 NS 

Earning per Share 4.769 
. 509 3 4.588 . 618 3 . 185 NS 

Group!: Bachelor or less than Bachelor S: Significant St.: Standard Deviation 
Group?: Higher Degree NS: Not Significant R: Rank 
Asymp. Sig. Level of Mann -Whitney U test of pairs of respondent groups : (*) a : 5.05 (two-tailed test). 

The Mann-Whitney results in Table 5.23 indicate that with the exception of two 

source items, (statement of cash flow and accounting policies), there are no significant 

differences in the valuation of the importance of items of annual reports by these two 

groups. In other words, these results suggest that the educational level has no effect on 

the investors' perceptions of the importance of items of annual reports. This result is 

consistent with the findings of Malallah (1984) and Al-Hajeri (1992) in Kuwait. 

With regards to the statement of cash flow and accounting policies, the Mann- 

Whitney results indicate significant differences between these two groups. The 

institutional investors who had obtained higher degrees rated the statement of cash 

flow and accounting policies as significantly less important than did the other group 

of investors. A possible explanation for this result could be that the institutional 
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investors who had obtained higher degrees could carry out more analysis and 

interpretation, because of their advanced level of knowledge of the information 

provided in annual reports than those who had lower levels of education. 

5.4.1.3 Management Level 

Table 5.24 shows the rankings given by three groups of institutional investors to 

the importance of items of annual reports in terms of the management level. It was 

found that the income statement and balance sheet statement were considered the 

most important items of the annual report by all three groups of investors. 

Table 5.24: Level of significance for differences among three groups of 
institutional investors aeenrrlino to management level 

Items of annual reports 

Group I 

N=1 1 

Group 2 

N=44 

Group 3 

N=14 

p-value 

mean St. R mean St. R mean St. N 

Board of directors' report 4.090 . 943 10 4.204 . 978 9 4.285 1.138 9 . 711 NS 
Shar"iah Supervisory 
Board's Report 

4.272 . 646 9 3.795 1.192 10 4.428 . 937 8 . 112 NS 

Auditor's Report 4.636 . 504 5 4.318 1.136 7 4.785 . 425 5 . 450 NS 
Balance Sheet 5.000 . 000 1 4.772 . 475 2 5.000 . 000 I . 055 NS 
Income Statement 4.909 

. 301 2 4.818 . 390 1 5.000 . 
000 1 . 199 NS 

Cash Flow Statement 4.545 
. 
687 6 4.545 . 663 5 4.500 1.091 7 . 860 NS 

Statement of Changes in 
Shareholders' Equities 

4.363 
. 809 8 4.431 . 899 6 4.142 1.350 10 . 911 NS 

Accounting Policies 4.363 
. 
674 7 4.272 . 845 8 4.500 . 518 6 . 775 NS 

Notes of the Financial 
Statements 

4.636 
. 
674 4 4.613 

. 
492 4 4.857 

. 363 3 . 249 NS 

Earning per Share 4.818 
. 404 3 4.704 . 553 3 4.857 . 363 3 . 632 NS 

Group I: Lower Management S: Significant St.: Standard Deviation 
Group I: Middle Management NS: Not Significant R: Rank 
Groupl: Top Management 
All groups = Asymp. Sig. Level of Kruskal-Wallis H test of all groups :aS . 05. 
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Although there are some differences in the rankings given to items of the annual 

reports by the three groups of investors, the Kruskal-Wallis H results in Table 5.24 

indicate that there are no significant differences in the evaluation of the importance of 

items in the annual report by these three groups. These results suggest that the 

management level has no effect on the investors' perceptions of the importance of 

items of annual reports. This finding is consistent with the finding of Al-Duwaihees's 

(2002) study in Kuwait. 

5.4.1.4 Experience Level 

Table 5.25 shows the rankings given by three groups of institutional investors 

to the importance items of annual report in terms of the experience level. It was found 

that the income statement and the balance sheet statement are the most important 

items of the annual report by the three groups of investors. 

Table 5.25: Level of significance for differences among three groups of 
institutiona l investors accordi ng to experience level 

Items of annual reports 

Group 1 

N=16 

Group 2 

N=14 

Group 3 

N=39 

p-value 

mean St. R mean St. R mean St. R 

Board of directors' report 4.062 
. 853 9 4.214 1.251 7 4.230 . 985 9 . 538 NS 

Sirariah Supervisory 
Board's report 

3.937 
. 1.06 

2 
10 3.928 1.328 10 4.076 1.010 10 . 880 NS 

Auditor's Report 4.187 1.04 6 8 4.500 1.091 5 4.564 . 882 6 . 126 NS 

Balance Sheet 4.812 
. 
403 2 5.000 

. 000 I 4.820 
. 451 2 . 2622 N8 

Income Statement 4.875 
. 
341 1 5.000 

. 000 1 4.820 
. 388 1 . 236 NS 

Cash Flow Statement 4.500 
. 
632 5 4.142 1.099 8 4.641 

. 
627 5 . 153 NS 

Statement of Changes in 
Shareholders' Equities 

4.375 . 718 6 4.071 1.268 9 4.512 . 884 7 . 334 NS 

Accounting Policies 4.312 . 478 7 4.285 . 611 6 4.307 . 893 8 . 726 NS 

Notes of the Financial 
Statements 

4.562 . 629 4 4.642 . 497 3 4.692 . 467 4 . 8I6 NS 

Earning per Share 4.812 . 543 16 4.642 . 497 3 4.717 . 559 3 . 415 NS 

Group l: Less than 5 years S: Signiticant st.: stanaara Deviation 
Group 1: From 5 years to less than 10 years NS: Not Significant R: Rank 
Group1: More than 10 years 
All groups = Asymp. Sig. Level of Kruskal-Wallis H test of all groups :aS . 05. 
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Even though there are some differences in the ranking given to items of the annual 

report by the three groups of investors, the Kruskal-Wallis H results in Table 5.25 

indicate that there are no significant differences in the evaluation of the importance of 

items in the annual reports by these three groups regarding the experience level. 

These results suggest that the experience level has no effect on the investors' 

perceptions of the importance of items in the annual report. 

To sum up, the results of the survey into the importance of items of annual 

reports to institutional investors according to the differences in their background 

characteristics were analysed and discussed in this section. It is clear that the income 

statement and the balance sheet statement are the most important items of the annual 

reports for institutional investors. Furthermore, four background characteristics of the 

respondents (institutional investors) were examined to know whether differences in 

such characteristics would affect their perception of the importance of items in the 

annual report. The results showed that none of the four factors resulted in significant 

differences in the respondents' evaluation of the importance of the items of the annual 

report. However, some of these factors affected the perception of other sources of 

information. For example, it was found that respondents who had obtained a higher 

degree rated certain items of the annual report as less important than did the other 

groups. Thus, based on the discussion above, the conclusion is drawn that regardless 

of the respondents' background characteristics, the income statement and balance 

sheet statement are the most important items of the annual reports for institutional 

investors in their investment activities. 
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5.5 Respondents' View of Importance of a Set of Qualitative Characteristics 
that Might Affect the Usefulness of Information about Islamic Financial 
Institutions 

This study will attempt to explore how institutional investors. customers and 

Islamic financial Institutions (IFI) perceive the importance of a set of qualitative 

characteristics about the performance of Islamic financial institutions that might affect 

the usefulness of information sources. In order to achieve this, the respondents to the 

questionnaire were asked to rate the importance of six qualitative characteristics of 

corporate information sources. 

The selected qualitative characteristics are: 

- Simplicity of the presentation; 

- Timeliness of the information; 

- Neutrality of the information; 

- Credibility of the information; 

- Comparability of the information; and 

- Consistency of the information. 

Table 5.26 reports the descriptive statistics pertaining to the respondent groups' 

rating of importance of these characteristics. 
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Table 5.26: Respondents' rating of importance of a set of qualitative 
characteristics that might affect the usefulness of financial information about 

Islamic financial institutions 
Qualitative Characteristics Institutional 

Investors 

N=69 

Islamic 
Financial 

Institutions 
N=33 

Customers 

N=30 

All Groups 

N=132 
Simplicity of the Presentation Median 5 5 5 5 

Mean 4.550 4.545 4.733 4.590 
St. D . 607 

. 617 . 449 . 579 
R 6 5 4 6 

Timeliness of the Information Median 5 5 5 5 
Mean 4.855 4.787 4.866 4.840 
St. D . 354 . 484 . 345 . 387 

R 1 2 2 2 

Neutrality of the Information Median 5 5 5 5 
Mean 4.637 4.697 4.800 4.689 
St. D 

. 663 
. 529 

. 406 . 581 
R 5 3 3 3 

Credibility of Information Median 5 5 5 5 
Mean 4.851 4.848 5 4.871 
St. D 

. 418 . 364 . 000 . 358 
R 2 1 1 1 

Comparability of Information Median 5 5 5 5 
Mean 4.724 4.545 4.666 4.666 
St. D 

. 481 
. 564 . 479 . 504 

R 3 4 5 4 
Consistency of Information Median 5 5 5 5 

Mean 4.652 4.484 4.666 4.613 
St. D 

. 479 
. 755 

. 479 . 561 
R 4 6 5 5 

. n. ar. OLOIIUUIU vcVMLIvu IV I(änK 

N: Number of respondents 

In general, Table 5.26 shows that all characteristics listed in this study were 

perceived as important by all the groups of respondents. However, the timeliness of 

information and credibility of information were perceived to be the most important 

characteristics for all the groups of respondents. Regarding the timeliness of the 

information, the result found here is consistent with the findings of Al-Hussaini 

(2001) in Kuwait; Al-Razeen (1999) in Saudi Arabia and Abu-nassar and Rutherford 

(1996) in Jordan. 
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Table 5.27 : level of significance for differences among respondent groups and 
between each pair of respondent groups regarding their rating of the importance 

of the set of qualitative characteristics 
Qualitative Institutional Islamic Customers All Groups 

Characteristics Investors Financial vs. 
vs. Institutions Institutional 

Islamic Financial vs. Investors 
Institutions Customers 

Simplicity of the . 973 . 235 
. 187 . 379 

Presentation 

Timeliness of the . 594 . 572 
. 880 . 818 

Information 

Neutrality of the . 752 . 468 . 262 .5 34 
Information 

Credibility of the . 
896 

. 
028* 

. 
021 * . 

070 
Information 

Comparability of . 096 
. 416 . 495 . 245 

the Information 

Consistency of . 451 
. 463 . 890 . 696 

the Information 

All groups = Asymp. Sig. Level of Kruskal-Wallis H test of all groups (*): aS . 05 
Asymp. Sig. Level of Mann -Whitney U test of pairs of respondent groups (*): (x: 5.05 (two-tailed test). 

The Table 5.27 shows significant differences among the groups in their 

evaluation of the importance of qualitative characteristics that might affect the 

usefulness of information about Islamic financial institutions. The significant 

differences are concentrated on the importance of the credibility of the information. 

However, the different groups seem to have similar views on the importance of other 

qualitative characteristics. The customers attached more importance to the credibility 

of information than institutional investors and Islamic financial institutions. This 

result can be explained by the customers being less sophisticated than investors in 

their ability to examine the credibility of annual reports. 
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5.5.1 Institutional Investors' Background Characteristics and their 
Perceptions of the Importance of set of Qualitative Characteristics that 
Might Affect the Usefulness of Information about Islamic Financial 
Institutions 

it 
The objective of this section is to examine whether the differences in the 

background characteristics of institutional investors result in differences in their 

evaluation of the importance of qualitative characteristic that might affect the 

usefulness of information about Islamic financial institutions. A particular focus will 

be placed on whether they would still rank the timeliness and credibility of 

information as the most important qualitative characteristics. The characteristics 

examined in this section include: 

1- Size of institutional investors; 

2- Education level; 

3- Management level; and 

4- Experience level. 

5.5.1.1 Size of Institutional Investors 

Table 5.28 shows the rankings given by the two groups of institutional investors 

regarding their size to the importance of a set of qualitative characteristics that might 

affect the usefulness of information about Islamic financial Institutions. Table 5.30 

also shows that the timeliness and credibility of information were perceived to be the 

most important qualitative characteristics for both groups of investors. 
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Table 5.28: Level of significance for differences between two groups of 
institutional investors according to size 

Qualitative Characteristics 

Group I 

N=24 

Group 2 

N=45 

P-value 

mean St. R mean St. R 

Simplicity of the Presentation 4.486 . 721 6 4.600 . 539 6 . 543 NS 

Timeliness of the Information 4.916 . 282 I 4.822 . 386 1 ? 92 NS 

Neutrality of the Information 4.583 . 880 4 4.666 . 522 5 . 919 NS 

Credibility of the Information 4.833 . 380 2 4.822 . 441 3 . 937 NS 
Comparability of the Information 4.791 . 414 3 4.688 . 514 4 . 447 NS 

Consistency of the Information 4.500 . 510 5 4.733 . 447 3 . 054 NS 
Group!: Large Firm S: Significant St.: Standard Deviation 
Group2: Small Firm NS: Not Significant R: Rank 

Asymp. Sig. Level of Mann-Whitney U test of pairs of respondent groups (*) (x: 5.05 (two-tailed test). 

Although there are some differences in the rankings given to the qualitative 

characteristics by the two groups of investors, the Mann -Whitney results in Table 

5.28 indicate that there are no significant differences in the evaluation of the 

importance of the set of qualitative characteristics by these two groups. In other 

words, these results suggest that the size of institutional investors has no effect on the 

investors' perceptions of the importance of a set of qualitative characteristics that 

might affect the usefulness of information about Islamic financial institutions. 

5.5.1.2 Education level 

Table 5.29 shows the rankings given by the two groups of institutional investors 

to the importance of a set of qualitative characteristics that might affect the usefulness 

of information about Islamic financial institutions in terms of their educational levels. 

Table 5.31 also shows that the timeliness and credibility of information were 

perceived to be the most important qualitative characteristics for both groups of 

investors. 
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Table 5.29: Level of significance for differences between two groups of 
institutional investors according to education level 

Qualitative Characteristics 

Group I 

N=52 

Group 2 

N=17 

P-value 

mean St. R mean St. R 

Simplicity of the Presentation 4.538 . 
609 6 4.588 

. 
618 5 . 733 NS 

Timeliness of the Information 4.846 . 364 1 4.882 . 332 1 . 715 NS 

Neutrality of the Information 4.596 
. 
721 5 4.767 

. 
437 3 . 439 NS 

Credibility of the Information 4.826 . 430 2 4.823 
. 
393 3 . 852 NS 

Comparability of the Information 4.730 . 489 3 4.705 . 469 4 . 756 NS 
Consistency of the Information 4.692 

. 
466 4 4.529 

. 
514 6 . 234 NS 

Group 1: Bachelor or less than Bachelor S: Sianiticant St: Standard Deviation 
Group2: Higher Degree NS: Not Significant R: Rank 

Asymp. Sig. Level of Mann-Whitney U test of pairs of respondent groups: a <_. 05 (hvo-tailed test). 

Even though there are some differences in the ranking given to qualitative 

characteristics by the two groups of investors, the Mann-Whitney results in Table 

5.29 indicate that there are no significant differences in the evaluation of the 

importance of the qualitative characteristics by these two groups. These results 

suggest that the education level has no effect on the investors' perceptions of the 

importance of the qualitative characteristics that might affect the usefulness of 

information about Islamic financial institutions. 

5.5.1.3 Management level 

Table 5.30 shows the rankings given by three groups of institutional investors 

regarding management level to the importance of a set of qualitative characteristics 

that might affect the usefulness of information about Islamic financial institutions. 

Table 5.32 also shows that the timeliness and credibility of information were 

perceived to be the most important qualitative characteristics for the three groups of 

investors. 
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Table 5.30: Level of significance for differences among three groups of 
institutional investors according to management level 

Group I Group 2 Group 3 P-value 

Qualitative Characteristics N=I I N=44 N=I4 

mean St. R mean St. R mean St. It 

Simplicity of the 4.363 . 675 5 4.545 . 627 6 4.714 . 468 2 . 379 NS 
Presentation 
Timeliness of the 4.904 . 301 2 4.886 

. 
321 1 4.7I4 

. 468 2 ? 46 NS 

Information 
Neutrality of the Information 4.273 1.190 6 4.681 . 518 3 4.714 

. 468 2 . 501 NS 

Credibility of the information 5.000 . 000 1 4.840 . 428 2 4.714 . 468 2 . 140 NS 

Comparability of the 4.727 . 467 3 4.681 
. 
518 4 4.857 

. 
363 1 . 516 NS 

Information 
Consistency of the 4.636 . 504 I 4.596 . 497 5 4.857 . 363 1 . 193 NS 
Information 

Group l: Lower management Z5: ýigniticant St.: Standard Deviation 
Group?: Middle Management NS: Not Significant R: Rank 
Group3: Top Management 

All groups = Asymp. Sig. Level of Kruskal-Wallis H test of all groups: a 5 . 05. 

Even though there are differences in the rankings given to qualitative 

characteristics by the three groups of investors, the Kruskal-Wallis H results in Table 

5.30 indicate that there are no significant differences in the evaluation of the 

importance of the qualitative characteristics by these three groups. These results 

suggest that management level has no effect on the investors' perceptions of the 

importance of a set of qualitative characteristics that might affect the usefulness of 

information about Islamic financial institutions. 

5.5.1.4 Experience Level 

Table 5.31 shows the rankings given by the three groups of institutional investors 

to the importance of a set of qualitative characteristics that might affect the usefulness 

of information about Islamic financial institutions in relation to their experience level. 

Table 5.31 also shows that the timeliness and credibility of information were 
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perceived to be the most important qualitative characteristics for all three groups of 

investors. 

Table 5.31: Level of significance for differences among three groups of 
inctitutinnol investors according to exnerience level 

Qualitative Characteristics 

Group I 

N=I6 

Group 2 

N=14 

Group 3 

N=39 

I'-value 

mean St. R Mean St. R mean St. R 

Simplicity of the Presentation 4.500 . 730 6 4.500 
. 518 6 4.589 . 594 5 . 765 NS 

Timeliness of the Information 4.750 
. 
447 1 5.000 

. 
000 1 4.846 . 

365 1 . 152 NS 

Neutrality of the Information 4.687 . 478 3 4.785 
. 425 4 4.564 . 

787 6 . 665 NS 

Credibility of the Information 4.750 . 447 2 4.857 . 363 2 4.846 . 431 2 . 559 NS 

Comparability of the Information 4.625 . 500 4 4.785 . 425 3 4.743 . 498 3 . 527 NS 

Consistency of the Information 4.56? . 512 5 4.642 . 497 5 4.692 . 467 4 . 658 NS 

Groupl: Less than 5 years S: 5igniticant St.: standard Deviation 
Group?: From 5 years to less than 10 years NS: Not Significant R: Rank 
Group3 1: More than 10 years 
All groups = Asymp. Sig. Level of Kruskal-Wallis H test of all groups :aS . 

05. 

Although there are differences in the rankings given to the qualitative 

characteristics by the three groups of investors, the Kruskal-Wallis H results in 

Table 5.31 indicate that there are no significant differences in the evaluation of the 

importance of the set of qualitative characteristics by these three groups. These 

results suggest that the experience level has no effect on the investors' perceptions of 

the importance of a set of qualitative characteristics that might affect the usefulness of 

information about Islamic financial institutions. 

In summary, the results of the survey into the importance of the set of qualitative 

characteristics to institutional investors according to the differences in their 

background characteristics were analysed and discussed in this section. It is clear that 

the timeliness and credibility of information are the most important qualitative 

characteristics for institutional investors. Furthermore, four background 

characteristics of respondents (institutional investors) were examined to determine 
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whether differences in such characteristics would affect their perception of the 

importance of the set of qualitative characteristics. The results showed that none of 

the four factors resulted in significant differences in the respondents' evaluation of the 

importance of a set of qualitative characteristics that might affect the usefulness of 

information about Islamic financial institutions. 

5.6 Institutional Investors' View on the Uses of Annual Reports of Islamic 
Financial Institutions 

One of the objectives of this research is to identify the most important uses of the 

annual reports of Islamic financial institutions to institutional invertors. In this study, 

seven uses were " presented and institutional investors were asked about their 

perceptions of the following uses: 

1- To forecast profit and EPS; 

2- To provide primary data for investment decisions; 

3- To monitor previous investment decisions; 

4- To investigate new or additional investment; 

5- In making comparison of the company's performance over time; 

6- In making comparison of the company's performance with that of other 

companies; and 

7- To prepare ratios or commentaries. 

The institutional investors were asked to rate the importance of these uses. The 

results are shown in Table 5.32. 
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Table 5.32 : Institutional investors' rating of importance of uses of annual 
report of Islamic financial institutions 

Uses of Annual Report N R Median Mean St. D 

To forecast profit and EPS 69 15 4.565 . 737 

To provide primary data for 69 35 4.463 . 608 
investment decisions 

To monitor previous 69 64 4.333 . 634 
investment decision 

To investigate new or 69 544.405 
. 523 

additional investment 

In making comparison of the 69 254.521 
. 
609 

company's performance over 
time 

In making comparison of the 69 744.202 
. 900 

company's performance with 
that of other companies 

To prepare ratios or 69 454.449 
. 
631 

commentaries 
St. D : Standard Deviation R: Rank 
N: Number of respondents 

Table 5.32 presents the descriptive ratings of the importance of the uses of the 

annual reports of Islamic financial institutions. 

As it is shown in Table 5.32, investors viewed all listed uses as highly important. 

This result is consistent with the findings of Al-Mubarak (1997) in Saudi Arabia and 

Ahmed (1988) in Malaysia. 

The respondents ranked the use of the corporate annual report "forecasting profit 

and EPS" as the most important, with a mean value 4.565, followed by "making 

comparison of the company's performance over time", with a mean value of 4.521. 

"Providing primary data for investment activities" was rated as the third most 

important use of the corporate annual report (mean value of 4.463). 
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Using the corporate annual report "to prepare ratios or commentaries" and 

"investigate companies to make new or additional investment" were ranked fourth 

and fifth respectively. Making comparison of the company's performance with other 

companies was ranked as the least important use of the corporate annual report with a 

mean value of 4.202. The low ranking given to "making comparison of the 

company's performance with other companies" reveals an interesting insight into the 

accounting practice in Kuwait. The limited use of the corporate annual report for 

comparison of inter-company performance could be because reports are prepared with 

varying degrees of quality and because accounting policy and practices differ from 

one company to another. 

5.6.1 Institutional Investors' Background Characteristics and their Perception 
of the Importance of Uses of Annual Reports of Islamic Financial 
Institutions 

The objectives of this section is to examine whether the differences in the 

background characteristics of institutional investors result in differences in their 

evaluation of the importance of uses of the annual reports of Islamic financial 

institutions, In particular, it seeks to establish whether or not they would still perceive 

all the uses listed in this study as important (mean value above 4.00) . The 

characteristics are examined in this section include: 

1- Size of institutional investors; 

2- Education level; 

3- Management level; and 

4- Experience level. 
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5.6.1.1 Size of Institutional Investors 

Table 5.33 shows that the two groups of institutional investors regardless of their 

size perceived all the uses listed in this study as important (mean value above 4.00). 

Table 5.33: Level of significance for differences between two groups of 
institutional investors accordinE to size 

Group I Group 2 p-value 

Uses of Annual Reports N=24 N=45 

mean St. R mean St. R 

To forecast profit and EPS 4.666 . 564 1 4.511 . 815 2 . 533 NS 
To provide primary data for 4.333 . 564 4 4.533 . 625 1 . 124 NS 
investment decisions 
To monitor previous investment 4.291 . 624 5 4.355 . 645 6 . 648 NS 
decisions 
To investigate new or additional 4.291 . 550 6 4.466 

. 504 3 . 220 NS 
investment 
In making comparison of the 4.666 . 481 1 4.444 

. 
659 4 . 203 NS 

company's performance over 
time 
In making comparison of the 4.291 1.041 7 4.155 

. 824 7 . 271 NS 

company's performance with 
that of other companies 
To prepare ratios or 4.541 

. 509 3 4.400 
. 687 5 . 521 NS 

commentaries 
Group l: Large Firm S: Significant St.: Standard Deviation 
Group?: Small Finn NS: Not Significant R: Rank 
Asymp. Sig. Level of Mann-Whitney U test of pairs of respondent groups: a 5.05 (two-tailed test). 

Even though there are differences in the rankings given to the uses of annual 

reports of Islamic financial institutions by the two groups of investors, the Mann- 

Whitney results in Table 5.33 indicate that there are no significant differences in the 

evaluation of the importance of the uses of annual reports of Islamic financial 

institutions by these two groups. These results suggest that the size of institutional 

investors has no effect on the investors' perceptions of the importance of the uses of 

the annual reports of Islamic financial institutions. 
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5.6.1.2 Education level 

Table 5.34 shows that the two groups of institutional investors regardless of their 

education level perceived all uses listed in this study as important (mean value above 

4.00). 

Table 5.34: Level of significance for differences between two groups of 
inctitittinnal investors According to Education level 

Group I Group 2 p-value 

Uses of Annual Reports N=52 N=17 

mean St. R mean St. R 

To forecast profit and EPS 4.653 . 590 1 4.294 1.046 5 . 153 NS 

To provide primary data for 4.500 . 
641 3 4.352 . 

492 4 . 226 NS 
investment decisions 
To monitor previous 4.403 . 602 6 4.117 . 696 7 . 128 NS 
investment decisions 
To investigate new or 4.461 . 540 5 4.235 . 437 6 . 100 NS 

additional investment 
In making comparison of the 4.519 . 641 2 4.529 . 514 1 . 829 NS 
company's performance over 
time 
In making comparison of the 4.153 

. 977 7 4.352 . 
606 2 . 702 NS 

company's performance with 
that of other companies 
To prepare ratios or 4.480 . 641 4 4.352 . 606 2 . 364 NS 
commentaries 
Group 1: Bachelor or less than Bachelor S: Significant St.: Standard Deviation 
Group2: Higher Degree NS: Not Significant R: Rank 
Asymp. Sig. Level of Mann-Whitney U test of pairs of respondent groups :a<. 05 (two-tailed test). 

Although there are differences in the rankings given to the uses of annual reports 

of Islamic financial institutions by the two groups of investors, the Mann-Whitney 

results in Table 5.34 indicate that there are no significant differences in the evaluation 

of the importance of the uses of the annual reports of Islamic financial institutions by 

these two groups. These results suggest that the education level has no effect on the 

investors' perceptions of the importance of the uses of annual reports of Islamic 

financial institutions. 
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5.6.1.3 Management level 

Table 5.35 shows that the three groups of institutional investors regardless of 

management level perceived all uses listed in this study as important (mean value 

above 4.00). 

Table 5.35: Level of significance for differences among three groups of 
institutional investors according to management level 

Group I Group 2 Group 3 p-value 

Uses of Annual Reports N=1I N=44 N=14 

mean St. R mean St. R mean St. R 

To forecast profit and EPS 4.636 . 674 1 4.681 . 518 7 4.214 1.188 7 . 422 Ns 
To provide primary data for 4.545 . 687 2 4.431 . 586 I 4.571 . 646 I . 564 NS 
investment decisions 
To monitor previous 4.181 . 

603 6 4.386 . 579 5 4.357 . 744 5 . 588 N5 

investment decisions 
To investigate new or 4.363 674 5 4.363 . 480 3 4.500 . 518 3 . 681 NS 

additional investment 
In making comparison of the 4.454 . 687 3 4.568 . 575 2 4.571 . 755 2 . 787 NM 

company's performance over 
time 
In making comparison of the 4.090 . 943 7 4.250 . 943 6 4.285 . 726 6 . 805 NS 

company's performance with 
that of other companies 
To prepare ratios or 4.454 . 934 4 4.409 . 542 4 4.500 . 650 4 . 580 Ns 

commentaries 
Group]: Lower Management 5: Significant 5t.: Standard Deviation 
Group 1: Middle Management NS: Not Significant R: Rank 
Group l: Top Management 
All groups = Asymp. Sig. Level of Kruskal-Wallis H test of all groups :aS . 

05. 

Although there are differences in the rankings given to the uses of annual reports 

of Islamic financial Institutions by three groups of investors, the Kruskal-Wallis 11 

results in Table 5.35 indicate that there are no significant differences in the evaluation 

of the importance of the uses of annual reports among these three groups. These 

results suggest that the management level has no effect on the investors' perceptions 
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of the importance of the uses of annual reports of Islamic financial Institutions by the 

three groups of investors. 

5.6.1.4 Experience Level 
At 

Table 5.36 shows that the three groups of institutional investors. regardless of 

their experience level, perceived all uses listed in this study as important (mean value 

above 4.00). 

Table 5.36: Level of significance for differences among three groups of 
institutional investors according to experience Llevel 

Group I Group 2 Group 3 p-value 

Uses of Annual Reports N=16 N=14 N=39 

mean St. R mean St. R mean St. R 

To forecast profit and EPS 4.500 
. 
516 3 4.285 1.204 6 4.692 

. 569 1 . 382 NS 

To provide primary data for 4.437 . 512 3 4.428 . 513 3 4.487 . 683 3 . 73 NS 

investment decisions 
To monitor previous 4.187 . 

655 6 4.357 . 497 4 4.384 
. 673 4 . 537 NS 

investment decisions 
To investigate new or 4.500 . 516 1 4.214 . 425 7 4.435 . 552 5 . 251 NS 

additional investment 
In making comparison of the 4.312 . 602 5 4.642 . 497 I 4.564 . 640 2 . 209 NS 
company's performance over 
time 
In making comparison of the 3.937 1.062 7 4.357 1.081 5 4.256 . 751 7 . 344 NS 

company's performance with 
that of other companies 
To prepare ratios or 4.375 . 806 4 4.371 . 513 2 4.435 . 598 6 . 795 NS 

commentaries 
Groupl: Less than 5 years S: Significant St.: Standard Deviation 
Group1: From 5 years to less than 10 years NS: Not Significant R: Rank 
Group 1: More than 10 years 
All groups = Asymp. Sig. Level of Kruskal-Wallis H test of all groups :aS . 05. 

Even though there are differences in the ranking given to the uses of annual 

reports of Islamic financial institutions by the three groups of investors. the Kruskal- 

Wallis H results in Table 5.36 indicate that there are no significant differences in the 

evaluation of the importance of the uses among these three groups. These results 
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suggest that the experience level has no effect on the investors' perceptions of' the 

importance of the uses of annual reports of Islamic financial institutions. 

The results of the survey on the importance of the uses of annual reports of 

Islamic financial institutions to institutional investors based on the diftcrences in their 

background characteristics were analysed and discussed in this section. It is clear that 

all the uses listed in this study are important (mean value above 4.00) for institutional 

investors. Furthermore, four background characteristics of respondents (institutional 

investors) were examined to know whether differences in such characteristics would 

affect their perceptions of the importance of the uses of the annual reports of Islamic 

financial institutions. The results showed that none of the four factors resulted in 

significant differences in the respondents' evaluation of the importance of the uses of 

the annual reports of Islamic financial institutions. 
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5.7 Islamic Financial Institutions' Views on the Importance of Annual 
Report to their Various Users 

It is worth noting, that there are many users of the annual report of Islamic 

financial institutions whose needs often differ from those provided by the annual 

reports. The selected users are: 

- Investors; 

- Management members; 

- Auditors; 

- Employees; 

- Customers; 

- Members of the Shariah Supervisory Board; 

- Members of Board of Directors; and 

- Government and its agencies. 

Tables 5.37 and 5.38 present the descriptive statistical summaries of the 

respondents' rating and ranking of the importance to different users of the annual 

reports of Islamic financial institutions. 
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Table 5.37*: Islamic financial institutions' rating of importance of annual report 
to their various users 

Users N Ranking Median Mean St. D 

Investors 33 1 5 4.722 . 516 

Management Members at 33 2 ý 4.697 . 585 

Auditor 33 4 5 4.484 . 795 

Employees 33 8 4 3.848 . 712 

Customers 33 7 4 4.030 . 883 

Members of Shariah Supervisory Board 33 6 4 4.242 . 
613 

Members of Board of Directors 33 3 5 4.545 . 711 

Government and its agencies 33 5 5 4.363 . 742 

St. D : Standard Deviation N= Number of respondents 
* The ranking of the importance annual reports to their various users based on respondents' mean 

rating of the importance of such users. 

Table 5.38: Islamic financial institutions' ranking of the importance of annual 
renorts to their various users 

Users N Ranking Median Mean St. D 

Investors 33 1 1 1.575 1.173 

Management Members 33 2 2 2.181 1.285 

Auditor 33 3 3 4.090 2.227 

Employees 33 8 7 6.424 1.68 

Customers 33 7 6 5.787 1.833 

Members of Shariah Supervisory Board 33 5 6 5.51 1.349 

Members of Board of Directors 33 4 5 4.848 1.416 

Government and its agencies 33 6 6 5.575 1.714 

St. D : Standard Deviation N= Number of respondents 
* The ranking of the importance of different items of annual reports based on the mean of respondents' 

ranking of these items. 
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Tables 5.37 and 5.38 show that respondents perceived the investors and 

management members to be the most important users of the annual report of Islamic 

financial institutions. On the other hand, Table 5.37 revealed that the members of the 

Shariah Supervisory Board, employees and customers Nvere ranked the least 

important. Regarding members of the SSB, the possible explanation is that the SSB 

has no role in the accounting aspect of Islamic financial institutions. A similar result 

was found by Idris (1996) pertaining to Malaysian Islamic banks. 

5.8 Respondents' View on Factors that Might Improve the Usefulness of 
Financial Information of Annual Report of Islamic Financial Institutions 

In this questionnaire, institutional investors. customers and Islamic financial 

institutions were asked to indicate their degree of agreement or disagreement with 

four factors that might improve the usefulness of financial information of Islamic 

financial institutions. A Likert scale was used for answering this question that extends 

from 1 "study disagree" to 5 "strongly agree". The responses are tabulated in Table 

5.39. 
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Table 5.39: Respondents' view on factors that might improve usefulness of 
finanpM infnrmntinn of annual renorts of Islamic financial institutions 

Factors 
Institutional 

Investors 
Islamic 

Financial 
Institution 

S 

Customers All 
Groups 

All Islamic financial Median 4 5 4.5 5 
institutions using a Mean 4.289 4.303 4.300 4.310 

standard format for St. D . 859 . 994 . 836 . 883 

presenting their N 69 33 30 132 
financial statements Ranking 4 3 4 4 

All Islamic financial Median 5 4 5 5 
institutions issuing Mean 4.652) 4.090 4.500 4.477 
interim financial St. D . 589 . 842 . 572 . 693 

reports N 69 33 30 132 
Ranking 1 4 1 2 

Accounting standards Median 5 5 4 5 
for Islamic financial Mean 4.550 4.666 4.300 4.522 
institutions set by an St. D 676 . 

692 . 702 . 693 
independent body N 69 33 30 132 

Ranking 2 1 3 1 

Audit carried out by Median 5 5 5 5 

an international firms Mean 4.318 4.515 4.466 4.401 
of accountants St. D . 848 . 750 . 681 . 798 

N 69 33 30 13? 
Ranking 3 2 ? 3 

St. D : standard Derivation 
N: Number of respondents 

Table 5.39 shows the descriptive statistics related to the respondents' rating of the 

level of agreement with factors that might improve the usefulness of annual report of 

Islamic financial institutions. As it can be seen in Table 5.39, the respondents, in 

general, strongly agreed with these factors, as reflected in the high mean and median 

scores. This finding is consistent with the findings of Idris (1996) that there is strong 

support for the need to improve the usefulness of financial information of Islamic 

banks. 

Table 5.39 also shows that for the sample as whole, having "accounting standards 

for Islamic financial institutions set by an independent body" received the strongest 
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agreement as a factor that might improve the usefulness of financial information of' 

Islamic financial institutions. This factor was rated second by institutional investors 

and third by customers. "Interim reports issued by Islamic financial institutions" 

received the second highest agreement for the sample as a whole. This factor was the 

one most favoured by the investors and customers. This finding supports the 

comment made by some customers during interviews that this factor is the best one, 

because it is a suitable factor to present the performance of Islamic financial 

institutions. However, this factor was fourth for Islamic financial institutions. "Audit 

carried out by an international accounting firms" was rated as the third factor in level 

of agreement. This factor came second for Islamic financial institution and customers. 

"The use of a standard format for presenting the financial statements of Islamic 

financial institutions" received the lowest overall agreement. 

Table 5.40: Level of significance for differences among respondent groups and 
between each pairs of respondent groups regarding rating of these factors 

Institutional Islamic Customers All Groups 
Investors Financial vs. 

Factors vs. Institutions Institutional 
Islamic vs. Investors 

Financial Customers 
Institutions 

Standards Format . 360 . 459 1 . 637 

Interim Report . 
000 . 051 . 131 . 001** 

Independent Body . 290 . 021 * . 052 . 036' 

International Firms . 233 . 617 . 518 . 463 
All groups = Asymp. Sig. Level of Kruskal-Wa llis H test of all groups (') a5 . 05: ("') aS . 01 
Asymp. Sig. Level of Mann-Whitney U test of pairs of respondent groups : (') a< . 05: (") aS . 01 
(two-tailed test). 
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The statistical Kruskal-Wallis H test and the Mann-Whitney U test. which are 

shown below in Table 5.40, revealed that there are significant differences between 

customers and Islamic financial institutions and differences among the groups 

regarding the level of agreement with the factors that might improve the usefulness of 

financial information of Islamic financial institutions. The significant differences were 

related to interim reports and an independent body. Regarding the interim reports, the 

Islamic financial institutions attached less importance to this factor than customers 

did. This may be because Islamic financial institutions would need more money and 

time to prepare such reports. 

With regards to accounting standards for Islamic financial institutions being set 

by an independent body, the institutional investors attached more importance to this 

factor than customers did, because investors are more aware than customers of the 

benefits of accounting regulation by an independent body. 

5.9 Respondents' View on the Qualitative Characteristics of Financial 
Reporting of Islamic Financial Institution 

In order to determine what institutional investors and customers perceive about 

the qualitative characteristics of listed financial information of Islamic financial 

institutions, respondents were asked to indicate their degree of agreement or 

disagreement with the qualitative characteristics of financial information of Islamic 

financial institutions. A Likert scale was used for answering this question, which 

ranged from I "strongly disagree" to 5 "strongly agree". Responses to this question 

are summarized in Table 5.41. 
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Table 5.41: Respondents' view on qualitative characteristics of financial reporting of 
I1 mir fnanvial inctitntionm. 

Qualitative Characteristics Institutional 
Investors 

N=69 

Customers 

N=30 

All 
Groups 
N=99 

Simplicity of the Presentation Median 4 4 4 
Mean 4.202 4.13 3 4.181 
St. D . 832 . 571 . 760 

R 2 2 2 

Timeliness of the Information Median 4 4 4 
Mean 4.275 4.233 4.262 
St. D . 802 . 568 . 736 

R I I 1 

Neutrality of the Information Median 4 4 4 
Mean 4.029 4.033 4.030 
St. D . 907 . 490 . 801 

R 4 4 4 

Credibility of Information Median 4 4 4 

Mean 4.159 4.100 4.141 
St. D . 933 . 607 . 845 

R 3 3 3 
Comparability of Information Median 4 4 4 

Mean 3.927 3.800 3.888 
SD . 975 . 846 . 935 

R 6 6 6 

Consistency of Information Median 4 4 4 
Mean 3.927 3.933 3.929 
St. D . 826 . 784 . 836 

R 5 5 5 
St. D: Standard Deviation K: KanI 
N: Number of respondents 

Table 5.41 indicates that the institutional investors and customers believe that the 

financial report of Islamic financial institutions have all of the listed qualitative 

characteristics. This result is consistent with Idris (1996). The simplicity of the 

presentation and the timeliness of the information received the strongest agreement by 

both investors and customers. This might be interpreted as indicating that the two 

groups saw these characteristics in particular reflective of the performance and 

reputation of the Islamic financial institutions. This interpretation is supported by the 

customers' comments during the interviews. However, in this study, the comparability 
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and consistency of the information received low agreement from both investors and 

customers (mean value below 4.00). This result supports the comments made by 

Karim (1997): 

"At present Islamic financial institutions use at least six methods to 
recognize profit generated ronr Alurahahah transactions. I have also 
been made to understand that some Islamic financial institution use 
more than tiro methods to recognize illurabahah profit in the same 
financial period. " 

It is worth noting that the qualitative characteristics listed in Table 5.41 are 

considered the major characteristics of accounting information that have to he met to 

fulfill the fundamental objective of such information. According to the AAOIFI 

(1993), such qualitative characteristics should be used to evaluate the quality of 

accounting information. 

Table 5.42: Level of significance for differences between institutional investors 
and customers regarding qualitative characteristics 

Qualitative Characteristics Significant level 
P-value 

Simplicity of the Presentation . 436 

Timeliness of the Information . 458 

Neutrality of the Information 742 

Credibility of the Information . 408 

Comparability of the Information . 423 

Consistency of the Information . 951 

Asymp. Sig. Level of Mann-Whitney U test of pairs of respondent groups :a <_ . 05 (twwo-tailed test). 
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The statistical Mann-Whitney U test, which is shown below in Table 5.42, 

suggests that there are no significant differences between institutional investors and 

customers regarding perceptions of the qualitative characteristics of Islamic financial 

institutions' annual reports. 

5.10 Institutional Investors' View on the Time Lags of Annual Report of 
Islamic Financial Institutions 

As mentioned in the literature, timeliness means that if accounting information is 

to be useful for decision-making, it must be received by the decision maker before it 

loses its capacity to influence decisions (FASB, 1980). Institutional investors were 

asked whether or not the time lag between the closing date of the accounting period 

and publication of accounts affects their investment decision. The responses are 

tabulated in Table 5.43 

Table 5.43 reveals that the time lag between the closing date of the accounting 

period and the publication of accounts affects investment decisions of institutional 

investors. This finding is consistent with the timeliness definition of the Corporate 

Report (1975). The Corporate Report (1975, para. 3.9 p. 29) indicated that: 

"The accounting information presented should be timely, in the sense 
that the date of its publication should he reasonahlt'soon after the end 
of the period to which it relates, so that it contributes meaningful new 
information about the entity, and in the sense that corporate report are 
more useful if they contain up- to-date measures of value 

Table 5.43: Institutional investors' view on time lag of Annual 
reports of Islamic financial institutions 

Choice of Answer Frequency Percent 

Agree (Yes) 59 85.5 

Disagree (No) 10 14.5 

Total 69 100 
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5.11 Institutional Investors' Vie", on Investment Coals 

The institutional investors were asked to identify their investment goals. Their 

responses to this question are reported in Table 5.44. 

Table 5.44: Institutional investors' view on the investment goals 

Goals Freq. Ranking Median Mean St. D 

Religious Consiciouness 41 321.594 0.494 

Safety of Capital . 45 221.652 0.479 

Long- term Investment 50 1? 1.724 0.450 

Short-term Investment 30 411.434 0.499 

(Speculative Gains) 

The scale is I= Do not chose and 2= chose 

Table 5.44 shows that institutional investors are conservative, because they tend 

to prefer long-term investment and safety of capital against speculative gain. This 

result supports previous findings by Chang and Most (1985): Epstein and Pava 

(1993); Al-Bogami (1996) and Idris (1996), who observed that most respondents 

would prefer long-term investment, rather than short-term investment. Moreover. 

investors considered religious consciousness as one of the main investment goals. 

261 



5.12 Respondents' View on importance of Shariah Supervisory Board's (SSB) 
Report 

In order to focus on the importance of the Shariuh Supervisory Board's report to 

the institutional investors, customers and Islamic financial institutions, Table 5.45 

below was derived from Table 5.18. 

Table 5.45: Respondents' rating of importance of Sharialt Supervisory Board's 
(SSB) report 

Items Freq. Ranking Median Mean St. D 

Institutional Investors 69 10 4 4.014 1.077 

Customers 30 3 5 4.700 0.596 

Islamic financial institutions 33 8 5 44.515 0.565 

St. D : Standard Deviation 
N: Number of respondents 

Table 5.45 indicates that the three groups perceived the Shuriuh Supervisor, 

Board's report as important (mean value above 4.000). However, the institutional 

investors did not seem to consider them to be among the top five important items in 

annual reports of Islamic financial institutions, as reported in Table 5.45. This 

exception may be explained by the fact that the customers have a stronger relationship 

with Islamic financial institutions than institutional investors. Therefore. the 

customers perceived the Shariah Supervisory Board's report to be among the top five 

items of annual reports in these institutions. On the other hand, the result regarding 

the perceptions of institutional investors, and Islamic financial institutions is 

consistent with the study conducted by Idris (1996). 

It is worth noting that, as mentioned in the literature, the purpose of the SS13 is to 

provide an assurance that Islamic financial institutions Nvill operate within the Shariah 

principles. In general, according to Karim (1994a), the SSB carries out the following: 
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1- Drawing up and approving the institution's contracts for its basic 

activities; 

2- Studying the doctrinal suitability of the institutions' business transactions; 

and 

3- Issuing a report at the end of the financial year to assure customers that the 

Islamic financial institution has adhered in its activities to the Shariah 

principles. 

Table 5.46: Level of significance for differences among respondent groups and 
between each pair of respondent groups regarding the importance of Shariah 

Supervisory Board's Report 
Institutional Islamic financial Customers All 

investors institutions vs. groups 

vs. vs. Islamic financial 

Customers Institutional investors institutions 

Shariah 
Supervisory 0.036* 0.033* . 106 0.001"" 

Board's Report 

All groups = Asymp. Sig. Level of Kruskal-Wallis H test of all groups : (*) a5 . 05: (*") o t: 5 . 01. 

Asymp. Sig. Level of Mann-Whitney U test of pairs of respondent groups : (*) a <_ . 05: ("") aS . 01 

(two-tailed test). 

According to the statistical Kruskal-Wallis H test and the Mann-Whitney U test. 

which are shown underneath Table 5.46. there are significant differences between 

customers and institutional investors, between Islamic financial institutions and 

institutional investors and among the groups regarding the importance of the Shnriah 

Supervisory Board's report. The customers attached more importance to the SSB's 

report than the investors did. This result can be explained by customers' comments 
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during the interviews that they are aware of the legitimacy of the activities of these 

institutions 

5.13 Respondents' View on Comparability of Financial Information of 
Annual Reports of Islamic Financial Institutions in Comparison with 
Conventional Financial Institutions 

The institutional investors and customers were asked to indicate their degree of 

agreement or disagreement that the financial information of annual reports of Islamic 

financial institutions is comparable with other conventional financial institutions. A 

Likert scale was used for answering this question, which ranged from I for "strongly 

disagree" to 5 for "strongly agree". Their responses to this question are summarized in 

Table 5.47. 

Table 5.47: Respondents' view on comparability of financial information of 
annual reports of Islamic financial institutions in comparison with conventional 

financial institutions. 
Item 

N Median Mean St. D 

Institutional Investors 49 4.000 4.020 0.628 

Customers 23 4.000 4.130 03391 

All groups 72 4.000 4.055 0.391 
N: Number of respondents 
St. D: Standard Deviation. 

Table 5.47 reveals that institutional investors and customers agreed that the 

financial information provided by the Islamic financial institutions is comparable with 

that of conventional financial institutions (mean value above 4.000). This finding is in 

support of the present position in GCC countries that most corporations, whether 

Islamic or conventional, follow accounting standards issued by the IASC, because 
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these standards are enforced by the governments of these countries. Therefore. this 

situation makes the comparability possible. 

Table 5.48: Level of significance for differences between institutional investors and 
customers on comparability of financial information of annual reports of Islamic 

financial institutions in comparison with conventional financial institutions 
Level of significant 

Item 
P-value 

Comparability of the financial 

information of Islamic financial 
0.487 

institutions in comparison with 

conventional financial institutions 

Asymp. Sig. Level of Mann-Whitney U test of pairs of respondent groups :a <_ . 05 (two-tailed test). 

The Mann-Whitney U test shown in Table 5.48 suggests that there are no 

significant differences between institutional investors and customers in perceptions of 

the comparability of the financial information of Islamic financial institutions with 

other conventional financial institutions. 

5.14 Respondents' View on Additional Disclosure in Annual Reports of 
Islamic Financial Institutions 

In order to examine the perception of institutional investors and customers about 

additional disclosure in the annual reports of Islamic institutions. respondents were 

asked to rate the importance of selected additional disclosure items, as reported in 

Table 5.49. 
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Table 5.49: Respondents' rating of importance of additional disclosure in annual 
renorts of Islamic financial institutions. 

Items Institutional 
Investors 

N=69 

Customers 

N=30 

All Groups 

N=99 
Added Value Statement Median 4 3 4 

Mean 3.710 3.433 3.628 
St. D 1.082 . 858 1.061 

R 14 17 16 
Future of Company Median 5 5 5 

Mean 4.695 4.633 4.676 
St. D . 550 . 490 . 531 

R 1 1 1 
Interim Report Median 5 4.5 5 

Mean 4.652 4.366 4.565 
St. D . 509 . 764 . 6088 

R 2 5 2 

Zakat and charity Fund Median 4 4.5 4 
Mean 3.505 4.333 3.798 
St. D 1.035 . 758 1.020 

R 16 7 14 
General Economic Median 4 4 4 
Condition Mean 4.275 4.300 4.282 

St. D . 
683 . 702 

. 685 
R 7 8 6 

University Graduate Median 3 4 3 
Recruitment Policy Mean 3.188 3.500 3.282 

St. D . 
879 . 776 

. 857 
R 17 16 17 

Names of Directors Median 4 4 4 

of company Mean 4.188 3.933 4.111 
St. D . 827 . 907 . 855 

R 11 13 11 
Extraordinary Revenues Median 4 4 4 
and expenses Mean 4.202 4.366 4.255 

St. D . 
698 . 668 

. 690 
R 10 4 8 

Amount of Managements Median 4 4 4 
Remuneration Mean 3.695 4.000 3.787 

St. D . 862 . 830 . 860 
R 15 12 15 

Expected Profit for Next Median 5 5 5 
Year Mean 4.405 4.500 4.434 

St. D . 753 . 572 . 702 
R 3 2 3 
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Continnr tahkk 5.49 

Items Institutional 
Investors 

N=69 

Customers 

N=30 

All Groups 

N=99 
Market Value of Median 4 ý 5 
Company's Share Mean 4.376 4.433 4.393 

a St. D . 749 . 678 . 725 
R 4 3 4 

Dividends Forecast Median 5 4 4 
For next Year Mean 4.275 4.266 4.272 

St. D . 921 . 639 . 843 
R 6 9 7 

Government Ownership Median 4 4 3 
Mean 3.869 3.900 4.878 
St. D . 784 . 712 . 759 

R 13 14 13 
Financial Highlights Median 4 4 4 
(More than five years) Mean 4.217 4.172 4.204 

St. D . 820 . 658 . 772 
R 9 10 9 

Audit Fees Median 3 3 4 
Mean 2.898 3.033 2.939 
St. D 1.100 . 964 1.057 

R 18 18 18 
Significant Shareholders Median 4 4 4 

Mean 4.23 1 4.066 4.181 
St. D . 750 . 907 

. 800 
R 8 11 10 

Pending Litigation Median 5 5 5 
Mean 4.347 4.366 4.353 
St. D . 819 . 764 . 799 

R 5 6 5 
Summary of Accounts Median 4 4 4 
Receivables Mean 3.956 3.866 3.929 

St. D . 961 . 819 . 917 
R 12 15 12 

St. D : Standard Deviation R: Rank 
N: Number of respondents 

Table 5.49 presents summaries of the responses of investors and customers 

regarding the additional disclosure. Table 5.59 shows the desire of institutional 

investor and customers for additional disclosure of financial information by Islamic 

financial institutions to assist their decision-making. This result is consistent with the 
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findings of Chang and Most (1985); Al-Mubarak (1996). Idris (1996): Al-Rashed 

(1999) and Al-Hussaini (2001). 

Table 5.49 shows the six most important items to the sample as a whole. These 

arc: 

1- Future of the company; 

2- Interim financial report; 

3- Expected profit for next year; 

4- Market value of company's share; 

5- Pending litigation; and 

6- General economic condition. 

The institutional investors and customers strongly called for the inclusion of the 

future of the company in the annual report of Islamic financial institutions. As can be 

seen from Table 5.49, the future of the company was ranked first by both investors 

and customers. 

Table 5.49 shows that the interim report is the second most important additional 

item that the investors and customers of Islamic Financial institutions believe should 

be disclosed in the annual reports of these institutions. This finding is supported by a 

study done by Opong (1995), which demonstrated that interim financial reports do 

affect share prices and also provide investors with information on current events in 

the company that could indicate potential risks and uncertainties. On the other hand, 

the interim report is the second most important item to the institutional investors and 

fifth to customers. A possible explanation of the importance of the interim reports to 

investors, rather than the customers, is simply that the investors considered the interim 

report to be the best tool to monitor investment decisions. 
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The third most important item to the investors and customers is expected profit 

for next year. As Table 5.49 shows, this items is the second most important item to 

the customers and the third most important to the investors. 

On the other hand. Table 5.49 shows that among the given items. the following, 

four items are ranked lowest by the institutional investors and customers in terms ol' 

the importance of them being disclosed in annual reports of Islamic financial 

institutions: 

1- Source and uses of moneys in Zakat and charity fund; 

2- Amount of annual top management's remunerations; 

3- Added value statement; 

4- University graduate recruitment policy and achievement. 

Table 5.49 shows that the statement of sources and uses of moneys in the Zakat 

and charity fund ranked seventh to customers and sixteenth to institutional investors. 

The information about the amount of annual top managements' remunerations ranked 

fifteenth to institutional investors and twelfth to the customers. The information 

about university graduate recruitment policy and achievement was the least important 

to both investors and customers. These findings are consistent with the findings of Al- 

Razeen (1999) and Al- Hussaini (2001). 

Table 5.49 also shows that the added value statement ranked fourteenth to 

institutional investors and seventeenth to customers. A possible explanation of the 

lowest importance of added value statements to investors and customers is that such 

statements are not commonly prepared in GCC countries. In this respect, many 

customers during the interviews expressed their surprise about this statement. 
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Table 5.50: Level of significance for differences between institutional investors 
and customers regarding additional disclosure 

Item Significant level 
P- value 

Added value statement . 112 

Future of company . 372 

Interim report . 074 

Zakat and charity fund . 001** 

General economic condition . 860 

University graduate recruitment . 099 

Names of directors of company . 181 

Extraordinary revenues and expenses . 278 

Amount of management's remuneration . 084 

Expected profit for next year . 791 

Market value of company's share . 779 

Dividend forecast for next year . 518 

Government ownership . 864 

Financial highlight (more than five years) . 
611 

Audit Fees . 730 

Significant shareholders . 462 

Pending litigation 1.000 

Summary of account receivable . 479 

-Asymp. Sig. Level of Mann-Whitney U test of pairs of respondent groups : (*): a <_ . 
05; (**): a <_ . 

01 

(two-tailed test). 
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As mentioned earlier, the Mann-Whitney test was used to test differences 

between the pairs of users. Table 5.50 indicates significant differences between 

institutional investors and customers in their perceptions of the additional disclosure 

that should be disclosed in the annual reports of Islamic financial institutions. The 

significant differences concentrated on the item regarding the sources and uses of 

moneys in the Zakat and the charity fund. Customers attached more importance to this 

additional item than investors did. This result might be explained by the fact that 

customers, as the main interested parties with these institutions, are more aware than 

investors of the social role Islamic financial institutions. This explanation supports 

the comments made by some customers that they encourage the social role of these 

institutions. 

5.15 Islamic Financial Institutions' View on Additional Disclosure in Annual 
Reports of Islamic Financial Institutions 

The disclosure of additional items in corporate annual reports might increase their 

usefulness by satisfying the needs* of a major user groups. Therefore, in this study, 

Islamic financial institutions were asked to rate the importance of eighteen items that 

are not published regularly in annual reports of Islamic financial institutions. Their 

responses to this question are reported in Table 5.51 
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Table 5.51: Islamic financial institutions' rating of additional disclosure in 

annual reports of Islamic financial institutions 
Items N Ranking Median Mean St. D 

Added value statement 33 17 3 3.30 1.105 

Future of the company 33 1 4 4.363 . 603 

Interim report 33 4 4 4.121 . 
960 

Zakat and charity fund 33 15 4 3.515 . 905 

General economic condition 33 9 4 3.939 . 788 

University graduate recruitment 33 16 3 3.303 . 769 

Names of directors of company 33 6 4 4.000 . 750 

Extraordinary revenuers expenses 33 3 4 4.181 . 464 

Amount of remuneration to management 33 14 4 3.636 . 895 

Expected profit for next year 33 10 4 3.909 . 913 

Market value of company's share 33 2 4 4.242 
. 
830 

Dividend forecast for next year 33 11 4 3.818 . 846 

Government ownership 33 12 4 3.787 . 696 

Financial highlight (more than five years) 33 8 4 3.939 . 788 

Audit fees 33 18 3 2.909 . 925 

Significant shareholders 33 7 4 3.969 . 918 

Pending litigation 33 5 4 4.090 . 979 

Summary of account receivable 33 13 4 3.666 . 989 

St: Standard Deviation 
N: Number of respondents 
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Table 5.51 shows that most respondents treated these items as of low importance. 

This result is consistent with a study conducted by Idris (1996). A possible 

explanation for this finding is that Islamic financial institutions, like any other 

corporation, think that the cost of giving more information might be not only the 

money cost of providing and preparing this information. Releasing more information 

may lead the company to lose its competitive position in the market. Hence, the 

opportunity cost should be taken into account when assessing the cost of giving more 

information (Al- Mubarak, 1997). 

5.16 Respondents' View on Accounting Regulation of Accounting 
Information of Islamic Financial Institutions 

Respondents from all groups were asked whether or not the accounting 

information of Islamic financial institutions should be regulated. Their responses to 

this question are summarized in Table 5.52. 

Table 5.52: Respondents' view on accounting regulation of accounting 
infnrmatinn of Islamic financial institutions 

Institutional Islamic financial 
Choice of Customers All groups 

investors institutions 
answer 

N % N % N % N % 

Agree 
63 91.3 29 96.7 31 93.9 123 93.2 

(Yes) 

Disagree 
6 8.7 1 3.3 ? 6.1 9 6.8 

(No) 

%: Percentage 
N: Number of respondents 
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Table 5.53: Level of significance for differences among respondent groups and 
between each pair of respondent groups regarding accounting regulation 

Institutional Islamic financial Customers All groups 
investors institutions vs. 

vs. vs. Islamic financial 
Customers institutional investors institutions 

Accounting 0.341 0.645 0.615 0.613 

regulation 

- All groups = Asymp. Sid. Level of Kruskal -Wallis H test of all groups :aS0.5. 

-Asymp. Sig. Level of Mann -Whitney U test of pairs of respondent groups :a <_ 0.5 (two-tailed test). 

Table 5.52 shows that all groups agreed that the accounting information of 

Islamic financial institutions should be regulated. This result is consistent with a study 

done by Al-Khyal (2000) in GCC countries. This result is also supported by the 

statistical Kruskal-Wallis H test and the Mann-Whitney U test documented in Table 

5.53, which revealed that there are no significant differences among all groups 

regarding their perceptions of the accounting regulation of accounting information of 

Islamic financial institutions. In addition, some customers commented during the 

interviews that the accounting regulation of Islamic financial institutions will enhance 

the transparency of accounting information provided by these institutions. 

5.17 Respondents' View on Type of Accounting Regulation of Accounting 
Information of Islamic Financial Institutions 

Respondents from all groups (institutional investors, customers and Islamic 

financial institutions) of this study were provided with three types of accounting 

regulations (public sector, private sector and public and private sector) and were 

asked to indicate to what extent they agreed that these types being suited to the 

regulation of accounting of Islamic financial institutions. Their responses to this 

question are summarized in Table 5.54. 
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Table 5.54: Respondents' rating of type of accounting regulation of accounting 
information of Islamic financial institutions 

Sectors Institutional 
Investors 

Islamic 
Financial 

Institutions 

Customers All Groups 

Public Sector Median 2 2 2 1) 
Mean 2.539 2.343 2.586 2.500 
St. D 1.104 1.358 1.086 1.165 
N 63 32 29 124 

Ranking 3 3 3 3 
Median 2 4 3 3 

Private Sector Mean 3.254 3.593 3.3 10 3.354 
St. D 1.436 1.456 1.284 1.403 
N 63 32 29 124 

Ranking 2 2 2 2 
Median 4 4.5 5 4 

Public & Private Mean 3.888 3.968 4.069 3.951 
Sectors St. D 1.357 1.355 1.162 1.305 

N 63 32 29 124 
Ranking I I I I 

St. D : Standard Deviation 
N: Number of respondents 

Table 5.54 shows that institutional investors. customers and Islamic financial 

institutions believed that both public and private sectors should regulate accounting 

information of Islamic financial institutions. This result is in support of the policy 

adopted by the majority of developed countries, for example, the United States and 

the United Kingdom, where accounting regulation is governed by the private sector 

with government supervision. On the other hand, this finding is consistent with a 

study done by AI-Khyal (2000) in GCC countries. With regards to the interviews, 

some customers confirmed the previous idea, but they preferred that the main role be 

given to the private sector, because in the public sector, the bureaucratic systems 

operating in GCC countries may create problems regarding the process of accounting 

regulation of these institutions. 
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Table 5.55: Level of significance for differences among respondent groups and 
between each pair of respondent groups regarding the type of accounting 

regulation of accounting information of Islamic financial institutions 
Institutional Islamic Financial Customers All 

Items Investors Institutions vs. Groups 
vs. vs. Islamic 

Customers Institutional Financial 
Investor Institutions 

Public Sector . 761 . 219 . 213 . 367 

Private Sector . 887 . 249 . 372 . 439 

Public & Private Sectors . 626 . 768 . 857 . 878 

All groups = Asymp. Sig. Level of Kruskal-Wallis H test of all groups :as . 05 

Asymp. Sig. Level of Mann-Whitney U test of pairs of respondent groups :a< . 
05 (two-tailed test). 

The statistical Kruskal-Wallis H test and the Mann-Whitney U test results, which 

are shown in Table 5.55, indicate that there are no significant differences among the 

groups of respondents in their perceptions of the type of accounting regulation of 

accounting information of Islamic financial institutions. 

5.18 Respondents' View on Knowledge about Accounting and Auditing 
Organization for Islamic Financial Institutions (AAOIFI) 

As mentioned in the literature, in 1991, the Accounting and Auditing 

Organization for Islamic Financial Institutions (AAOIFI) was established in the 

Kingdom of Bahrain. The main objective of the AAOIFI is to develop accounting 

thought in the field of Islamic banking, preparing, issuing and amending accounting 

and auditing standards (AAOIFI, 2000). The respondents of all groups in this study 

were asked whether or not they had knowledge of the AAOIFI. Their responses to this 

question are summarized in Table 5.56. 
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Table 5.56: Respondents' knowledge about Accounting and Auditing 
Organization for Islamic Financial Institutions (AAOIFl). 

Institutional Islamic financial 
Choice of Customers All groups investors Institutions 

answer 
N % N % N % N °/a 

Agree 
25 36.2 7 23.3 31 93.9 63 52.3 

(Yes) 

Disagree 
44 63.8 23 76.7 2 6.1 69 47.7 

(No) 

%: Percentage 
N: Number of respondents 

Table 5.56 reveals that 93.9 % of Islamic financial institutions had the knowledge 

of the AAOIFI. This result is expected, because most Islamic financial institutions in 

GCC countries are members of the AAOIFI. However, the majority of the 

institutional investors and customers had no knowledge of the AAOIFI. This result is 

supported by customers' comments that they have no knowledge of the AAOIFI. On 

the other hand, this result is also consistent with the study done by Idris (1996). In this 

respect, Wilson (1997) points out that the main problem for the AAOIFI is its lack of 

powers of enforcement. 

Table 5.57: Level of significance for differences among respondent groups and 
between each pair of respondent groups regarding knowledge of AAOIFI. 

Institutional Islamic financial Customers All 
investors institutions Vs. groups 

Vs. Vs. Islamic financial 
Customers Institutional investors institutions 

The 
knowledge 
of AAOIFI 0.210 0.000** 0.000** o. 000** 

- All groups = Asymp. Sig. Level of Kruskal-Wallis H test of all groups : (")a S 
. 
05; (*)a S . 01. 

-Asymp. Sig. Level of Mann Whitney U test of pairs of respondent groups : (') a <_ . 
05: (**)a S 

. 
01 

(two-tailed test). 
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The Kruskal-Wallis H test and the Mann-Whitney U test results, documented in 

Table 5.57, show that there are significant differences among all groups in terms of 

their knowledge about the AAOIFI. 

A 

5.19 Respondents' Vie", on AAOIFI as a Suitable Body for Harmonisation of 
Accounting Information among Islamic Financial Institutions 

According to Parker (1992, p. 144), harmonisation of accounting is "the process 

of increasing the comparability of accounting practices by selling hounds to their 

degree of variation ". 

Therefore, one of the concerns of AAOIFI is the harmonisation of accounting 

information in order to enhance the credibility of financial statements prepared by 

Islamic financial institutions, increase their comparability and make them more 

transparent for the users. In this respect. the respondents from all groups were asked 

whether or not they thought that the AAOIFI is a suitable body for harmonizing 

accounting information among Islamic financial institutions. Their responses to this 

question are documented in Table 5.58. 

Table 5.58: Respondents' view of the AAOIFI as suitable body for the 
harmnnicatinn of acrnuntinu among Islamic financial institutions 

Choice of 

answer 

Institutional 

Investors 
Customers 

Islamic financial 

institutions 
All groups 

N % N % N % N % 

Agree (Yes) 21 30.4 7 23.3 27 81.8 55 41.7 

Disagree (No) 5 7.3 - - 4 12.1 9 6.8 

No reply 43 62.3 23 76.7 2 6.1 68 51.5 

Percentage N. Number of respondents 
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Table 5.58 shows that the majority of respondents among all groups who had 

knowledge about the AAOIFI agreed that the AAOIFI is a suitable body for the 

harmonisation of accounting information among Islamic financial institutions. Some 

indicators might confirm this result. First, as shown earlier. the respondents perceived 

that having all accounting standards for Islamic financial institutions set by an 

independent body is one of the most important factors that might improve the 

usefulness of information accounting by Islamic financial institutions. Second. as also 

shown earlier, the respondents of all three groups believed that both public and private 

sector should regulate the accounting information of Islamic financial institutions. It is 

worth noting that the organizational structure of the AAOIFI would meet both of 

these criteria. Third, the AAOIFI has issued accounting standards for Islamic financial 

instruments that are not covered by the International Accounting Standards 

Committee (IASC), or any other regulatory body. Fourth. this result is supported by 

the outcomes of the Kruskal-Wallis H test and the Mann-Whiney U test documented 

in Table 5.59. The tests have shown that there are no significant differences among all 

groups in their perceptions of the AAOIFI as a suitable body for the harmonisation of 

accounting information among Islamic financial institutions. 

Table 5.59: Level of significance for differences among respondent groups and 
between each pairs of respondent groups regarding AAOIFI as suitable body for 

the harmonisation among Islamic financial institutions. 
Institutional Islamic financial Customers All 

investors institutions vs. groups 
vs. vs. Islamic financial 

Customers Institutional institutions 
investors 

AAOIFI as 
suitable body 0.215 0.321 0.518 0.422 
for 
harmonisation 

All groups = Asymp. Sig. Level of Kruskal-Wallis 1/ test of all groups :aS . 05 
Asymp. Sig. Level of Mann-Whitney U test of pairs of respondent groups :a5.05 (two-tailed test). 
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5.20 Accounting Standards Followed by Islamic Financial Institutions in 
GCC Countries 

Table 5.60 shows the accounting standards followed by Islamic financial 

institutions in GCC countries. 

Table 5.60: Accounting standards followed by Islamic financial institution in 
GCC countries 

Accounting standards 
Frequency Percent 

IASC 
18 54.5 

AAOIFI 
4 12.2 

Local accounting standards 
board 

IASC and AAOIFI 
9 27.3 

IASC and local accounting 
standard board 

AAOIFI and local accounting 26 
standards board 

The respondents were asked to put a tick sign next to which of the above 

accounting standards they followed. It can be seen from Table 5.60 that most Islamic 

financial institutions under study adopted the international accounting standards (IAS) 

(54.5 %), or a mixture of the IAS and AAOIFI accounting standards (27.3 %). 

Moreover, fourteen Islamic financial institutions in Kuwait adopted the IAS, ten 

Islamic financial institutions in Bahrain adopted a mixture of the IAS and AAOIFI 

standards. This result may be explained by the following reasons: first. most Islamic 

countries are still in the developing stage. Therefore, Western accounting practices 
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have continued to influence the accounting practices of Islamic financial institutions 

(Idris, 1996). Second, most Islamic financial institutions in GCC countries follow the 

IASs, because these are legally enforced in their countries (Karim, 2001). 

" 

5.21 Conclusion 

This chapter has presented the findings derived from the results of questionnaires 

and interviews. The main finding revealed the importance of annual reports to the 

institutional investors and customers of Islamic financial institutions in making 

investment decisions. Moreover, the institutional investors and customers agreed that 

the financial information provided in Islamic financial institutions' annual reports is 

comparable with that provided by conventional financial institutions. 

With regard to the awareness of the AAOIFI. Islamic financial institutions have 

knowledge of the AAOIFI. However, the majority of the institutional investors and 

customers have not the knowledge of the AAOIFI. 

In general, this study indicated that there is a need for accounting information to 

be regulated in order to enhance the credibility of financial statements of Islamic 

financial institutions. Yet some specific areas still require more attention, as shall be 

pointed out in Chapter Six. 
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Chapter Six 

Summary and Conclusions 

6.1 Introduction 

The previous chapter was concerned with analysing the results of the survey 

questionnaire and the interview regarding the perceptions of both institutional 

investors and customers of financial reporting of Islamic financial institutions in 

Kuwait. It also sought to analyse the perceptions of the preparers of the financial 

reports of Islamic financial institutions in GCC countries regarding various aspects of 

the annual reports of these institutions that could help investors make their investment 

decisions. 

The objective of this chapter is to provide a general summary of the thesis, 

including a reminder of objectives of the study, summarize the major findings of the 

study and suggest some recommendations based on these findings. The limitations of 

the study, as well as suggestions for future research, will also be presented. 

6.2 Summary of the Thesis 

It is worth noting that the objectives of the study were to: 

0 Examine the importance of the financial reporting practices of Islamic 

financial institutions in GCC countries to institutional investors and how the 

parties understand and use the financial information provided in the reports;. 

" Determine the attitudes of the customers of Islamic financial institutions in 

GCC countries towards the use and usefulness of such reports; 
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" Investigate the perceptions of the preparers of the financial reporting 

statements of Islamic financial institutions in GCC countries regarding items 

in annual reports that help institutional investors make investment decisions; 

and 

" Assess the awareness of institutional investors, customers and preparers of' 

financial reports about the Accounting and Auditing of Islamic financial 

institutions (AAOLFI). 

The thesis was presented in six chapters. The introductory chapter set the 

background and the objective of the study. Chapter two discussed the idea of Islamic 

financial institutions, particularly relating to Islamic financial institutions and 

accounting principles from an Islamic perspective. Prior to this, a brief background 

was given of the economic environment under which Islamic financial institutions in 

GCC countries operate and investment activities are carried out. The discussion also 

touched on the concept of profit and loss sharing (PLS) on which Islamic financial 

institutions are based. PLS involves participation between capital, work and various 

experience, without the intervention of the idea of interest (Riba), which is common 

practice in conventional financial institutions. 

The discussion of Islamic financial institutions focused on many aspects. First, 

the operations and activities of Islamic banks, Islamic investment companies and 

Islamic insurance companies were presented, followed by a comparison between 

these institutions and conventional financial institutions. Second, the challenges and 

problems facing Islamic financial institutions were discussed. Third, the objectives 

and importance of these institutions were highlighted. Fourth, the nature of Islamic 

financial instruments which are used by Islamic financial institutions to invest their 

funds was explained. Fifth, the relationships between Islamic financial institutions and 
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interested parties such as the Central Bank and Shariah Supervisory Board (SSB) 

were described. Finally, this chapter examined Western accounting principles from 

an Islamic perspective by presenting the perceptions of Islamic scholars on these 

principles. 

Chapter three discussed financial reporting and its usefulness to various users, the 

need for accounting regulation, and the role of the accounting standard-setting bodies 

such as FASB, ASB and AAOIFL. As part of this chapter, previous studies that have 

dealt with financial reporting and its usefulness to investors and other external users 

were reviewed. With regards to pervious studies, this chapter discussed those which 

have focused on GCC countries and financial institutions. 

Chapter four explained the research methodology. In particular, it had the 

following objectives: 

9 To discuss the various methods which have been used in pervious and 

similar studies; 

" To justify the choice of the methods employed in this research; and 

9 To describe the questionnaire and interview design, pilot study and 

distribution procedures. 

9 Describe the statistical tests which were used to analyse the responses of 

questionnaires and interviews. 

This chapter started by explaining how the research questions were developed, 

then introduced the two main methods which have been used in similar studies: the 

interview method and the questionnaire method. The advantages and disadvantages of 

each method were examined. Justification for the selected methods were presented. 

The adopted methods were questionnaire (a face-to-face questionnaire, or a self- 

administered questionnaire) and interviews. 
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Chapter five presented and discussed the results of the questionnaires and 

interviews. The first type of questionnaire was used to solicit the investors' 

perceptions of annual reports, the importance they attached to them and the uses of' 

these reports in their investment activities. The second type of questionnaire was 

specifically used to investigate the opinions of the preparers of annual reports 

regarding various aspects of the annual reports that could help investors make 

investment decisions. The interviews were carried out mainly to identifj' the 

customers' perceptions of Islamic financial institutions in Kuwait regarding the 

usefulness of these annual reports. The statistical tools used in analysing the results 

were presented. 

6.3 Main Findings 

Before analysing the main findings of this study, a comparison between the 

findings and questions of the study is presented in Table 6.1 as follows: 
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The following, are the main findings of this study: 

6.3.1 Importance of Various Sources of Information 

Reeardina, the various sources of information for institutional investors and 

customers. both set of respondents agreed that the corporate annual report is the most 

important source of information for investors and customers. Moreover, both 

respondents perceived the interim report. followed by the specialists' advice and 

obtaining information directly from the company, as the most important information 

sources. In general. market rumours, friends' advice and specialized publications were 

seen as least important for both groups of respondents. 

Four background characteristics of institutional investors were examined to see 

whether differences in such characteristics would affect their perception of the 

importance of the various sources of information. These characteristics were: 

- Size of institutional investors; 

- Education level; 

- Management level; and 

- Experience level. 

The statistical tests showed that none of the four characteristics resulted in 

significant differences in the respondents' evaluation of the importance of corporate 

annual reports. 

6.3.2 Importance of Items of annual Report 

Islamic financial institutions in this study disclosed in their annual reports as of the 

year ended in 2000 the following items: 
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- The board of director's report; 

- Supervisory Shariah Board's report; 

- The auditor's report; 

- The balance sheet; 

- The income statement; 

- The cash flow statement; 

- The statement of changes in shareholders' equity; 

- Accounting policies; 

- The notes to the financial statements; and 

- Earning per share. 

However, some of these institutions did not disclose the "earning per share" in 

their annual reports, although IAS No. 33, "Earnings per Share", was approved by the 

IASC Board in January 1997 and became effective for annual financial statements on 

I January 1998. 

In relation to evaluating the importance of various items on the annual reports of 

Islamic financial institutions, institutional investors, customers and Islamic financial 

institutions rated the income statement as the most important item, followed by the 

balance sheet. None of the respondents rated either item as "not important. " 

The statistical test showed that there are significant differences among the groups 

in the importance attached to various items in the annual report. The significant 

difference concentrated on three parts of the annual report: the board of directors' 

report, the Shariah Supervisory Boards' report and accounting policies. In general, 

institutional investors and customers showed a higher degree of agreement regarding 
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the income statement, balance sheet, earning per share and the statement of changes in 

shareholders' equity. 

These findings were also examined in relation to institutional investors' 

background characteristics to see whether differences in such characteristics would 

affect their perceptions of the importance of the various items of the annual report. 

The statistical test showed that none of the four characteristics resulted in significant 

differences in the respondents' evaluation of the importance of various items in the 

annual reports of Islamic financial institutions. Despite some differences in relation 

to education levels, still income statement, balance sheet and earning per share were 

the most important items of their investment decisions. 

6.3.3 Importance of the Set of Qualitative Characteristics 

In relation to the issue of how institutional investors, customers and Islamic 

financial institutions perceive the importance of the characteristics that might affect 

the usefulness of information sources about the performance of Islamic financial 

institutions, the timeliness and credibility of information were perceived to be the 

most important characteristics for all groups of respondents. Statistically, there were 

significant differences among the groups regarding the rating of the importance of the 

credibility of the information. However, the different groups seem to have similar 

views on the importance of other qualitative characteristics. 

Regarding institutional investors' background characteristics, the statistical tests 

showed that none of the four characteristics resulted in significant differences in the 

respondents' evaluation of the importance of a set of qualitative characteristics that 

might affect the usefulness of information sources about the performance of Islamic 

financial institutions. 
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6.3.4 Uses of Annual Reports of Islamic Financial Institutions 

With regards to the uses of annual reports of Islamic financial institutions, the 

investors rated forecasting profit and EPS as the most important uses of the corporate 

annual reports, followed by making comparison of the company's performance over 

time. Providing data for investment activities was rated as the third most important 

use of the corporate annual report. 

With respect to the four institutional investors' background characteristics, the 

statistical test showed that there were no significant differences in their views of the 

use of the annual report of Islamic financial institutions. 

6.3.5 Importance of Annual Report to Various Users 

Regarding the issue of who the most important users of annual reports of Islamic 

financial institutions are, Islamic financial institutions in GCC countries perceived 

investors and management members to be most important users of the annual report 

of Islamic financial institutions. On the other hand, members of Shariah Supervisory 

Board, employees and customers were ranked as the least important, even though the 

customers are still important (mean value above 4.00). 

6.3.6 Factors that might Improve the Usefulness of Financial Information of 
Islamic Financial Institutions 

Regarding the factors that might improve the usefulness of financial reports. the 

respondents gave strongly agreement to "accounting standards for Islamic financial 

institutions set by an independent body" as a factor that might improve the usefulness 

of financial information of Islamic financial institutions. This factor was rated second 

by institutional investor and third by customers. Interim reports published by Islamic 
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financial institutions were rated second. This factor was rated the fourth by Islamic 

financial institutions, perhaps because the preparers think that preparing interim 

report will costs them effort and money. Audits carried out by international 

accounting firms received the third highest level of agreement. This factor was second 

in the view of Islamic financial institutions and customers. The respondents gave 

lowest agreement to the use of standard format for presenting the financial statement 

of these institutions. This result can be explained by the agreement that this factor is 

not enough to gain the trust of institutional investors and customers about the 

financial information of their institutions. 

The statistical test revealed that there are significant differences among the 

respondents (customers, Islamic financial institutions, and investors) regarding the 

level of agreement with the factors that might improve the usefulness of financial 

information of Islamic financial institutions. The significant differences related to 

interim reports and the standards set by an independent body. Regarding the interim 

report, Islamic financial institutions attached less importance to this factor than 

institutional investors did. This may be because Islamic financial institutions need 

more money and time to prepare such reports. With regards to accounting standards 

for Islamic financial institutions being set by an independent body, the Islamic 

financial institutions attached more importance to this factor than the customers did, 

because Islamic financial institutions are more aware than customers are of the 

benefits of accounting regulation by an independent body. 

6.3.7 Qualitative Characteristics of Financial Information of Islamic Financial 
Institutions 

In this respect, institutional investors and customers agreed that the financial 

reports of Islamic institutions have qualitative characteristics. However, in this study, 
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the comparability and consistency of the information were received the lowest 

agreement by both investors and customers (mean value below 4.00). This result is 

in support of the idea that Islamic banks adopt different accounting treatments for 

investment accounts, although most the countries in which Islamic banks operate 

either look directly to international accounting standards as their national standards or 

to develop national standards based primarily on international accounting standards 

(Karim, 2001). For instance, Islamic banks tend to treat income recognition from 

Ijarah, Musharakah and Murahahah contracts in various ways. Certain banks are 

known to recognize income immediately at the start of the transaction; others 

recognize it when it is actually received, or while those who are conservative 

recognize it when the project is completed and ultimately repaid (Karim. 1994; 

AAOIFI, 2000). In addition, there are inconsistencies among Islamic banks regarding 

the allocation of expenses and overheads, where some deduct only direct investment 

related expenses from profits paid to customers. Certain banks apportion indirect 

overheads, e. g., depreciation and directors' remuneration to the return accruing on 

investment accounts. 

The statistical test suggested that there are no significant differences between 

institutional investors and customers regarding perceptions of the qualitative 

characteristics of Islamic financial institutions' reports. 

6.3.8 Time Lag of Annual Reports of Islamic Financial Institutions 

Institutional investors believed that the time lag between the closing date of the 

accounting period and publication of accounts affect their investment decision. This 

finding is consistent with the timeliness definition of accounting standard-setting 

bodies, such as International Accounting Standard Committee (IASC), Financial 
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Accounting Standards Board (FASB) in USA, and the Accounting Standards Board 

(ASB) in the UK. They have stated that accounting information presented should be 

timely and the date of its publication should be reasonably published soon after the 

end of the period. 

6.3.9 Investment Goals of Institutional Investors 

Regarding investment goals, institutional investors were conservative, because 

they tend to prefer long-term investments and safety of the capital against speculative 

gain. This result supports previous findings by Chang and Most (1985); Al-Bogami 

(1996) and Idris (1996), who observed that most respondents would prefer long-term 

investment, rather than short-term investment. Moreover, they considered religious 

consciousness as one of the main investment goals. 

6.3.10 Importance of Shariah Supervisory Board's (SSB) Report 

With respect to the Shariah Supervisory Board's (SSB) report, the three groups 

in this study perceived this report as important (mean value above 4.00). However, it 

seems that they did not consider the Shariah Supervisory Board's report to be among 

the top five items in the annual reports of Islamic financial institutions, except for the 

customers. This exception may be explained by the view that customers having a 

stronger relationship with the Islamic financial institutions than institutional investors. 

The statistical test revealed that there are significant differences between 

customers and institutional investors, between Islamic financial institutions and 

institutional investors and among the groups regarding the importance of Shariah 

Supervisory Board's report. Islamic financial institutions attached more importance to 

this report than their institutional investors counterparts. This result might be 
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explained by the fact that this report gives these institutions the legitimacy for their 

activities in order to improve their reputation before the users. On the other hand, 

surprisingly, the customers attached more importance to the SSB's report than the 

investors did. It can be suggested that although the investors considered this report to 

be important, they did not consider it relevant enough for their investment activities. 

6.3.11 Comparability of Financial Information of Annual Report of Islamic 
Financial Institutions with that of Conventional Financial Institutions 

The institutional investors and customers agreed that the financial information 

provided in the Islamic financial institutions' annual reports is comparable with that 

provided by conventional financial institutions. This finding is in support of the 

present position in GCC countries that most corporations, whether Islamic or non 

Islamic, should follow accounting standards issued by the IASC, because these 

standards are enforced by the governments of these countries. 

The statistical test suggested that there are no significant differences between 

institutional investors and customers regarding perceptions of the comparability of the 

financial information of Islamic financial institutions with that of conventional 

financial institutions. 

6.3.12 Additional Disclosure in Annual Report of Islamic Financial Institutions 

Institutional investors and customers disclosed that they need more information 

to be disclosed in the annual reports of Islamic financial institutions to assist them in 

making their decisions. With regards to the selected items of additional disclosure in 

the annual reports of Islamic financial institutions, the respondents rated most these 

items as important (mean value above 4.00). The future of the company, interim 

financial reports, expected profit for next year and the market value of the company's 
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share are the most important items for both institutional investors and customers in 

this context. 

On the other hand, the statement of sources and uses of moneys in the Zakai and 

Charity fund, information about the amount of annual top managements remuneration, 

the added value statement, and information about university graduate recruitment 

policy and achievement were seen as least important by the institutional investors and 

customers from among items of additional disclosure in the annual reports of Islamic 

financial institutions. 

The statistical tests reported significant differences between institutional investors 

and customers about the additional disclosure that should be disclosed in the annual 

report of Islamic financial institutions. The significant differences concentrated on the 

item regarding the sources and uses of money in the Zakat and charity fund. 

Customers attached more important to this additional item than investors did. This 

result might be explained by the fact that customers, as the main interested parties 

with these institutions, are more aware than investors about the social role of Islamic 

financial institutions. 

With respect to the disclosure of additional items in the annual reports of Islamic 

financial institutions, the preparers of the financial reports of Islamic financial 

institutions treated these items as low in importance. A possible explanation of this 

finding is that Islamic financial institutions, like other corporations, think that the cost 

of giving more information might not be confined to the money cost of providing and 

preparing this information. Releasing more information may lead the company to lose 

its competitive position in the market. 

299 



6.3.13 Accounting Regulation of Financial Information of Islamic Financial 
Institutions 

Regarding the regulation of accounting information for Islamic financial 

institutions, all groups agreed that the accounting information of these institutions 

should be regulated. This result is consistent with a study conducted by Al-Khyal 

(2000) in GCC countries. This result was also supported by the statistical test that 

there are no significant differences among all groups regarding the need for 

accounting regulation of accounting information of Islamic financial institutions. 

6.3.14 Type of Accounting Regulation of Financial Information of Islamic 
Financial Institutions 

With regards to the type of accounting regulation, institutional investors, 

customers and Islamic financial institutions all believed that both the public and 

private sectors should regulate accounting information of Islamic financial 

institutions. This result is in support of the policy adopted by the majority of 

developed countries (for example, the United States and the United Kingdom), where 

accounting regulation is governed by the private sector self regulation through the 

accounting bodies under government supervision. The finding is consistent with a 

study conducted by AI-Khyal (2000) in GCC countries. 

The statistical test reported that there are no significant differences among the 

groups of respondents regarding the type of accounting regulation of financial 

information of Islamic financial institutions. 
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6.3.15 Awareness of AAOIFI 

Islamic financial institutions have knowledge about the AAOIFI. However, the 

majority of the institutional investors and customers do not know about the AAOIFI. 

This result is consistent with the study done by Idris (1996). 

The statistical test revealed that there are significant differences among all groups 

regarding the knowledge about the AAOIFI in Kingdom of Bahrain. 

6.3.16 Harmonisation of Accounting Information Among Islamic Financial 
Institutions 

The respondents of all groups in this study with knowledge about the AAOIFI 

agreed that the AAOIFI is a suitable body to achieve the harmonisation of accounting 

information among Islamic financial institutions. This result is supported by the fact 

that the AAOIFI issued accounting standards for Islamic financial instruments used 

by Islamic financial institutions, which are not covered by the International 

Accounting Standards Committee (IASC), or other regulatory bodies (Karim, 2001). 

The statistical test reported that there are no significant differences among all 

groups regarding the AAOIFI as a suitable body for the harmonisation of accounting 

information among Islamic financial institutions. 

6.3.17 Accounting Standards followed by Islamic Financial Institutions in GCC 

Countries 

Most Islamic Financial institutions in this study adopted international accounting 

standards (IAS) (54.5 %), or a mixture of the IAS and AAOIFI accounting standards 

(27.3 %). Moreover, fourteen Islamic financial institutions in Kuwait adopted the 

IAS's standards, ten Islamic financial institutions in Kingdom of Bahrain adopted a 

mixture of the IAS's and AAOIFI's standards. This result may be explained by the 
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following factors. First, most Moslem countries are still in the developing stage, 

therefore, Western accounting practices have continued to influence the accounting 

practices of Islamic financial institutions (Idris, 1996). Second. most Islamic financial 

institutions in GCC countries follow IAS's as these are enforced by their 

governments. 

6.4 Recommendations 

It is clear from this study that the corporate annual report is the most important 

source of information for institutional investors and customers in making their 

investment decisions. Moreover, this study focused on the perceptions of institutional 

investors and customers of the financial reports of these institutions in order to 

improve the usefulness of the annual reports that will help them in their investment 

activities. Therefore, the preparers of the annual reports of Islamic financial 

institutions and accounting standard-setting bodies, such as the AAOIFI, might 

benefit from the conclusions and recommendations of this study, because it is the first 

study in this area dealing with the financial reporting of Islamic financial institutions. 

The study also presented the perceptions of the main interested parties, such as the 

preparers, investors and customers, regarding the usefulness of these institutions. 

The following are some recommendations that should be achieve the improved 

development of financial reports of Islamic financial institutions and to improve their 

qualitative characteristics: 

First, although institutional investors and customers in this study believed that the 

financial reports of Islamic financial institutions have qualitative characteristics, the 

comparability and consistency of information were ranked low by both investors and 

customers. In this respect, the preparers of financial reporting should review their 

302 



annual reports and adopt the accounting standards of the AAOIFI in order to increase 

the comparability and consistency of financial information of their reports and to 

make them more transparent to the users. 

Second, the preparers of annual reports of Islamic financial institutions should 

present accounting information in a timely manner, in the sense that the date of its 

publication should be reasonably soon after the period to which it relates, because this 

study revealed that the time between the closing date of accounting period and 

publication of accounts affects the investment decisions of investors. 

Third, it is recommended that the AAOIF, collect and review all the literature 

about accounting and financial reporting in Islamic financial institutions. 

Fourth, the ministries of commerce and central banks should work to activate the 

role of the AAOIFI by ensuring that Islamic financial institutions adopt the AAOIFI's 

standards in their accounting systems, similar to what happened in Bahrain and 

Sudan. 

Fifth, the AAOIFI should harmonise its standards with the IASC's standards as 

much as possible, in order to ensure the widespread application of their standards 

because Islamic financial institutions have become widespread around the world. 

Sixth, the statement of sources and uses of funds in the Zakat and charity funds 

and the added value statement should be given more focus by the preparers of annual 

reports of Islamic financial institutions, because these statements are consistent with 

the social goals of these institutions. 

Seventh, the corporate interim reports were ranked as the second most important 

source of information for institutional investors and customers in making investment 

decisions. Therefore, interim reports should be given more attention by the preparers 

of financial reports of Islamic financial institutions as well as stock markets. 
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Eighth, customers, as the main interested parties in Islamic financial institutions, 

should be paid more attention by the preparers of financial reports of these 

institutions, especially with regards to their perceptions of additional disclosure in the 

annual reports of Islamic financial institutions. 

Ninth, members of the Shar"iah Supervisory Board in Islamic financial institutions 

should develop the contents of their reports to be of the same quality as the external 

auditor's report, because the current SSB reports are very short and formulaic and this 

position does not achieve the justice intended by Shariah in this matter. 

Tenth, Islamic financial institutions deal with various Islamic financial 

instruments in their investment activities. Therefore, it is recommended that these 

institutions hold training courses for their the preparers of annual reports about 

Shariah interpretations of financial instruments in order to develop the annual reports 

by presenting additional disclosure relating to these instruments. This 

recommendation will achieve the information needs of the users of these reports. 

Eleventh, Islamic financial institutions and the General Council For Islamic 

Banks and Financial Institutions might play an active role in supporting the 

transparency and competition of these institutions by establishing a committee in the 

manner of Basel Committee on Banking Supervision. This committee can issue 

guidelines to regulate the activities of Islamic financial institutions consistent with the 

Shariah principles and adopt the practices that suited to the culture of this region. 

Twelfth, as stated earlier, the main problem for the AAOIFI is that it lacks the 

power of enforcement. Thus, AAOIFI should benefit from the strategies and 

experiences of the famous accounting standard-setting bodies (e. g. IASC, FASB and 

ASB) in enforcing their standards. 
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Thirteenth, in order to develop its standards, the AAOIFI might strengthen the 

relationship with local accounting standard-setting bodies such as the GCC 

Accounting and Auditing organization (GCCAAO). Saudi Organisation for Certified 

Public Accountants ( SOCPA) and other associations of certified public accountants 

in GCC countries. Such relationships will help the AAOIFI to know the impact of the 

legislative and economic environments of this region on the process of the 

development of their standards, because these bodies are well informed about these 

subjects. 

Finally, it is recommended that the ministries of commerce in GCC countries 

should establish a second stock market for Islamic financial Institutions so as to 

promote the credibility of these institutions in the eyes of their users. 

6.5 Limitations 

The findings of this study reflect the perceptions of institutional investors and 

customers in Kuwait. Other GCC countries were excluded from this study for two 

reasons. The first reason related to factors of cost and time, while the second was due 

to the fact that Islamic financial institutions are mainly concentrated in Kuwiat and 

Bahrain. 

The perceptions of the institutional investors and preparers of annual reports were 

measured through a questionnaire survey. Thus, the usual limitations of this method 

apply to this study. For example, a common problem with this method is that the 

respondents state their answers without consideration of the economic consequences 

to them (Chow and Wong-Boren, 1987). However, in order to overcome, or reduce 

the effect of this problem, the interview was used to stengthen the results of the 

questionnaire survey method. 
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The main focus of this study was on the importance of one source of financial 

information, namely, the annual reports of Islamic financial institutions. Other 

sources of information were not examined in detail. Another limitation is that the 

bureaucratic systems operating in GCC countries created additional problems. as it 

took a long time to arrange a visit to these institutions to start the fieldwork. 

6.6 Suggestions for Future Studies 

The findings of this study raise some interesting issues for future studies in the 

area of financial reporting by Islamic financial institutions. First, a study could be 

undertaken to examine the relationship between the disclosure level and the size, 

profitability, leverage and stock market listing, type of audit firm and assets size of 

Islamic banks. 

Second, this study focused on the usefulness of annual reports of Islamic financial 

institutions in GCC countries to two main user groups: institutional investors and 

customers. Future studies could investigate the usefulness of these reports to other 

main user groups, such as financial analysts, individual investors, regulators, 

accountants and top management. Subsequently, a comparison can be conducted to 

determine the differences and similarities among various user groups regarding their 

perception and evaluation of annual reports of Islamic financial institutions. 

Third, the differences between the disclosure practices in the financial reporting 

of Islamic banks and conventional banks could be examined. Fourth, an examination 

of the usefulness of interim reports of Islamic financial institutions in Kuwait and 

Bahrain could be carried out by investigating the attitudes of both the users (investors) 

and the preparers (financial managers) by means of a questionnaire and interview. 

Fifth, an empirical study of the role of the AAOIFI in accounting regulation of 

Islamic financial institutions could also be carried out. Sixth, the attitude of 
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independent auditors and members of Shariah Supervisory Board in GCC countries 

towards involving with financial reports of Islamic financial institutions might be 

surveyed. Another potential study could investigate the impact of applying 

International Accounting- Standards (IAS) and the Basel Committee's guidelines on 

the activities of Islamic financial institutions. 

6.7 Conclusion 

The objectives of this chapter was to provide a general summary of this study. 

including a reminder of the research objectives, to summarize the major finding of the 

research and make some recommendations based on these findings. The limitations of 

this study as well as suggestions for future research were also presented in this 

chapter. 

The main findings of this study are that the annual reports are considered by 

customers and investors as the most important source of information for investment 

decisions. Also, the timeliness and credibility of information were perceived by 

respondents as the most important qualitative characteristics that might affect the 

usefulness of information sources about the performance of Islamic financial 

institutions. With respect to the accounting regulation of financial information of 

Islamic financial institutions, the result indicated that there is a need for accounting 

information to be regulated in order to enhance the credibility of financial statements 

of these institutions, increase their comparability, and make them more transparent for 

users. 

Regarding the main recommendations, the preparers of annual reports of Islamic 

financial institutions should present accounting information on time, in the sense that 

the date of its publication should be reasonably soon after the period to which it 
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relates. In addition, members of the Shariah Supervisory Board in Islamic financial 

institutions might develop the contents of their reports with the same quality of 

external auditor's report because the current SSB's reports are short and repetitive and 

this does not achieve the objectives intended by the Shariah in this matter. 

In light of the above findings and recommendations, the study presented 

suggestions for future research needed for the development of the Islamic financial 

industry. Overall, despite the limitations of this study, it remains the first-of-its-kind 

to be carried out across GCC countries, and provides valuable insight into the 

usefulness of annual reports of Islamic financial institutions. 
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Questionnaire on the Usefulness of Annual Reports of Islamic 
Financial Institutions in GCC Countries to Investors 

The objective of this questionnaire is to obtain your opinion regarding the 
use and usefulness of Annual Reports of Islamic Financial Institutions in 
your investment activities. You are among those who have been chosen 
in the group of Institutional Investors in Kuwait. I would be extremely 
grateful if you answer all the questions include and write any comments 
and suggestions you may think are relevant on the last page on the 
questionnaire. All information obtained from this questionnaire will be 
treated with strict confidence and will be used only for the purpose of 
research. 

Name of Researcher: 
Abdullah Yusuf Al-Hijji 
Email: hijji612000@yahoo. com 
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A: General information: 

1- Present Occupation: 

2- Where is your investment confined to? 

Please tick (-1) in the appropriate box 

Islamic Financial Institutions only Islamic and Non-Islamic Financial 
Institutions 

11 

3- Please state the economic sectors in which your company invests in the 
shares of Islamic Financial Institutions ? 

Please tick (V) in the appropriate box 

Banking Sector Investment Sector Co-operative Insurance 
(Islamic Insurance) Sector 

4- Which of the following describe your investment goals? 

Please tick (J) in the annronriate box 

Religious 
Consciousness 

Safety of Capital Long-term 
Investment 

Short -term 
Investment 

(Speculative Gains 

330 



B: Financial Disclosure: 

1- In making investment decisions or recommendations, how do rate the 
following information sources ? 

Please tick (4) in the appropriate column for each item. Finally , 
in the Rank 

order column, please rank each of the information sources in terms of their 
importance by placing a number 1 to 8, where 1 means the highest and most 
important of all of them, and 8 means the least in priority. 

The Information Sources Very Important Neutral Little Not 
Important Important Important 

Corporate annual reports 
Corporate interim reports 
Specialists' advice 
Direct information from 
company 
Newspapers and business 
magazines 
Market rumors 
Friends' advice 
Specialised Publications 
(e. g stock exchange 
market report and 
Chamber of Commerce 
re ort ) 

Other Sources 
Please specify 
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2- What degree of importance does each the following items of an annual 
reports of Islamic Financial Institutions have in relation to your investment 
decisions or recommendations? 

Please tick ('I) in the appropriate column for each item. Finally, in the Rank 
order column, please rank each of the items of annual reports in terms of their 
importance by placing a number 1 to 10 , where 1 means the highest and most 
important of all of them, and 10 means the least in priority. 

Items of annual reports Very 
Important 

Important Neutral Little 
Important 

Not 
Important 

Board of Directors' report 
Shariah Supervisory Board's 

report 
Auditor's Report 
Balance Sheet 
Income Statement 

Statement of Cash Flow 
Statement of Changes in 
Shareholders' Equity 
Accounting Policies 
Notes of the Financial 
Statements 
Earning per Share 
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3- Given below are several qualitative characteristics that the financial 
information, contained in annual reports should be characterized by. Please 
indicate the degree of importance you place upon each qualitative 
characteristics for information. 

Please tick (") in the appropriate column for each item. 

Qualitative characteristics Very 
Important 

Important Neutral Little 
Important 

Not 
Important 

Simplicity of the presentation 
Timeliness of the information 
Neutrality of the information 
Credibility of the information 
Comparability of the information 
Consistency of the information 

4- Please indicate the importance of annual reports of Islamic Financial 
Institutions in the following uses relating to your investment decisions or 
recommendations. 

Please tick (]) in the appropriate column for each item 
Uses of annual reports Very Important Neutral Little Not 

Important Important Important 
To forecast profit and EPS 
To provide primary data for 
investment decisions 
To monitor previous 
investment decisions 
To investigate new or 
additional investment 
In making comparison of 
the company's performance 
over time 
In making comparison of 
the company's performance 
with that of other companies 
To prepare ratios or 
commentaries 
Other uses 
Please specify 
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5- Please rate the degree to which you think the following qualitative 
characteristics are present in the financial information contained in annual 
reports of Islamic Financial Institutions. 

Please tick (ei) in the annronriate column for each item. 
Qualitative characteristics Strongly 

Agree 
Agree Neutral Disagree Strongly 

Disagree 
Simplicity of the presentation 
Timeliness of the information 
Neutrality of the information 
Credibility of the information 
Comparability of the information 
Consistency of the information 

6- Does the lag of time between the closing date of the accounting period and 
the publication of accounts affect your investment decisions? 

Yes No 

7- Given below are factors that might improve the usefulness of Islamic 
Financial Institutions in GCC countries. Please indicate your opinion on 
each factor. 

Please tick (4) in the annrnnriate rnl, rmn fnr Pa,, h ; tP.,, 
factors Strongly Agree Neutral Disagree Strongly 

Agree Disa ee 
All Islamic Financial 
Institutions using a standard 
format for presenting its 
financial statements 
All Islamic Financial 
Institutions issue interim 
financial reports 

Accounting standards for 
Islamic Financial Institutions 
set by an independent body 
Audit carried out by an 
international firms of 
accountants 
Other factors 
Please specify 
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8- The items in this question are not published regularly in annual reports 
currently. In making investment decisions, how would you rate the 
importance of the following items if they were regularly published in annual 
reports of Islamic Financial Institutions? 

Please tick (') in the appropriate column for each item. 
Information items Very Important Neutral Little Not 

Important Important Important 

Added Value Statement 
Future of the company 
The interim financial reports 
Sources and uses of moneys 
in the Zakat and charity 
fund 
General economic condition 
University graduate 
recruitment policy and 
achievement 
List of Names of Directors 
of the company and senior 
management 
Details of extraordinary 
revenues and expenses 
Amount of annual top 
management's remuneration 
Expected profit for next 
year 
Market Value of Company's 
share 
Dividends forecast for next 
year 
The percentage of 
Government Ownership 
Financial highlights (more 
than five years) 
Audit fees 
Significant shareholders 
Pending litigation 
Summary of the ageing of 

the accounts receivables 
Company policy regarding 
dividends 
Other 
Please specify 
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9- Do you have investments in other financial institutions beside your 
investment in Islamic Financial Institutions? 

Yes No 

10- If you answered "yes" in question "9" , in general, to what extent do you 
agree that the financial information contained in annual reports of Islamic 
Financial Institutions is comparable with that in other annual reports you 
have used? 

Please tick (4) in the appropriate box 
Strongly 
A ee 

Agree Neutral Disagree Strongly 
Disagree 
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11- Do you think that the accounting information of Islamic Financial 
Institutions in GCC countries should be regulated? 

Yes No 

12- - If you answered "yes" in question I'll", given below are 
alternatives regardging the type of the accounting regulation of financial 
information of Islamic Financial Institutions in GCC countries. . Please 
indicate your opinion on each alternative. 

Please tick ("I) in the appropriate column for each item. 
alternative Strongly Agree Neutral Disagree Strongly 

Agree Disagree 

Accounting standards 
should be set by the public 
sector 

Accounting standards 
should be set by the 
private sector 

Accounting standards 
should be set by the public 
sector and private sector 
Other 
Please specify: 

13- Do you have knowledge about Accounting and Auditing Organization for 
Islamic Financial Institutions (AAOIFI) in State of Bahrain? 

Yes No 

14- If you answered "yes" to question "13", do you think that the Accounting 
and Auditing Organization for Islamic Financial Institutions (AAOIFI) is a 
suitable body for the harmonization of accounting among Islamic Financial 
Institutions? 

Yes No 
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C: Optional Information 

1- Last educational qualification : 

Pleace tick ('l in the annrnnriate hox 

Less than 
Bachelor 
Degree 

Bachelor 
Degree 

Master Doctor Other* 

JL- 

* Please specify 

2- Years of experience in your current job: 

Please tick (4) in the annronriate box 

Less than 1 
year 

From 1 year 
to less than 5 

years 

From 5 years 
to less than 10 

years 

From 10 years 
to less than 15 

years 

15 years or 
more 

3- Does your institution have investment in shares of Islamic Financial 
Institutions in GCC countries? 

Yes No 

4- If you answered "yes" to question "3", then please state in which GCC 
countries is your investment in shares of Islamic Financial Institutions ? 

Please tick (ý) in the appropriate box 

Kuwait Saudi Arabia United Arab Qatar Bahrain 
Emirates 
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6- What is the amount of your investment in shares of Islamic Financial 
Institutions? 

Please tick (SI) in the appropriate box 

Less than 50 From 50 From 500 From 1 2 Million 
Thous. Thous. Thous. Million Kuwaiti Dinar 

Kuwaiti Dinar Kuwaiti Dinar Kuwaiti Dinar Kuwaiti Dinar or more 
to less than to less than 1 to less than 2 
500 Thous. Million Million 

Kuwaiti Dinar Kuwaiti Dinar Kuwaiti Dinar 

Thank you for completing this questionnaire. If you have any comment, please 
state them in the space below. 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
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Appendix B: Questionnaire for Islamic Financial 
Institutions in GCC Countries Investors in Kuwait 
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Questionnaire on the Usefulness of Annual 
Reports of Islamic Financial Institutions in 

GCC Countries to Investors 

The objective of this questionnaire is to obtain your opinion regarding the 
use and usefulness of Annual Reports of Islamic Financial Institutions in 
your investment activities. You are among those who have been chosen 
in the group of preparers of Islamic Financial Institutions in GCC 
countries. I would be extremely grateful if you answer all the questions 
include and write any comments and suggestions you may think are 
relevant on the last page on the questionnaire. All information obtained 
from this questionnaire will be treated with strict confidence and will be 
used only for purpose of research. 

Name of Researcher: 
Abdullah Yusuf Al-Hijji 
Email: hijji612000@yahoo. com 
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A: General information: . 
1- Your Organisation: 

2-Present Occupation: 

3-Last educational qualification : 

P1PacP tick ('Jl in the annronriate box 
Vi 

Less than 

rr 

Bachelor Master Doctor Other* 
Bachelor Degree 
Degree 

* Please specify 

4- Years of experience in current job: 

nlease tick (4) in the annrooriate box 

Less than 1 
year 

From 1 year 
to less than 5 

years 

From 5 years 
to less than10 

years 

From 10 years 
to less than15 

years 

15 years or 
more 
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B: Financial Disclosure: 

1- What degree of importnce does each the following groups have, as 
users of annual reports of Islamic Financial Institutions? 

Please tick (SI) in the appropriate column for each item. Finally , 
in the Rank 

order column, please rank each of the users in terms of their importance by 
placing a number 1 to 8, where 1 means the highest and most important of all of 
them, and 8 means the least in priority. 

Users Very 
Important 

Important Neutral Little 
Important 

Not 
Important 

Investors(Shareholders) 
Management members 
Auditors 
Employees 
Customers 
Members of Shariah 
Supervisory Board 
Members of Board of 
Directors 
Government and its 
Agencies 
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2- What is the degree of importance of each the following items of annual 
reports of Islamic Financial Institutions? 

please tick (') in the appropriate column for each item. Finally, in the Rank order 
column, please rank each of the items of annual reports in term of their important 
by placing a number 1 to 10 , where 1 means the highest and most important of all 
of them, and 10 means the least in priority. 

Items of annual reports Very 
Important 

Important Neutral Little 
Important 

Not 
Important 

Board of Directors' report 
Shariah Supervisory Board's 

report 
Auditor's Report 

Balance Sheet 
Income Statement 

Statement of Cash Flow 
Statement of Changes in 
Shareholders' Equity 
Accounting Policies 
Notes of the Financial 
Statements 
Earning per Share 
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3- Given below are several qualitative characteristics that the financial 
information, in general, contained in annual reports should be charaterized 
by. Please indicate the degree of importance you place upon each qualitative 
characteristic for information. 

Please tick (4) in the appropriate column for each item.. Finally 
, 

in the Rank 
order column, please rank each of the qualitative characteristics in terms of their 
importance by placing a number 1 to 6, where 1 means the highest and most 
important of all of them, and 6 means the least in priority. 

Qualitative characteristics Very 
Important 

Important Neutral Little 
Important 

Not 
Important 

Simplicity of the presentation 
Timeliness of the information 
Neutrality of the information 
Credibility of the information 
Comparability of the information 
Consistency of the information 
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4- The items in this question are not published regularly in annual reports 
currently. How would you rate the importance of the following items if 
they were regularly published in annual reports of Islamic Financial 
Institutions? 
Please tick (J in the annronriate column for each item. 

Information items Very Important Neutral Little Not 
Important Important Important 

Added Value Statement 
Future of the company 
The interim financial reports 
Sources and uses of moneys in 
the Zakat and charity fund 
General economic condition 
University graduate 
recruitment policy and 
achievement 
List of Names of Directors of 
the company and senior 
management 
Details of extraordinary 
revenues and expenses 
A mount of annual top 
management's remuneration 
Expected profit for next year 
Market Value of Company's 
share 
Dividends forecast for next 
year 
The percentage of 
Government Ownership 
Financial highlights (more 
than five years) 
Audit fees 

Significant shareholders 
Pending litigation 

Summary of the ageing of the 
accounts receivables 
Company policy regarding 
dividends 
Other 
Please specify 
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5- Given below are factors that might improve the usefulness of Islamic 
Financial Institutions in GCC countries. Please indicate your opinion on 
each factor. 

Please tick (') in the appropriate column for each item. 
factors Strongly Agree Neutral Disagree Strongly 

Agree Disagree 
All Islamic Financial 
Institutions using a 
standard format for 
presenting its financial 
statements 
All Islamic Financial 
Institutions issue interim 
financial reports 

Accounting standards 
for Islamic Financial 
Institutions set by an 
independent body 
Audit carried out by an 
international firms of 
accountants 
Other factors 
Please specify 
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6- Do you think that the accounting information of Islamic Financial 
Institutions in GCC countries should be regulated? 

Yes No 

7- If you answered "yes" to question "6", given below are alternatives 
regarding the type of the accounting regulation of financial information 

of Islamic Financial Institutions in GCC countries. Please indicate your 
opinion on each alternative. 

Please tick (4) in the appropriate column for each item. 

Alternative Strongly Agree Neutral Disagree Strongly 
Agree Disagree 

Accounting standards 
should be set by the public 
sector 

Accounting standards 
should be set by the 
private sector 

Accounting standards 
should be set by the public 
sector and private sector 
Other 
Please specify: 

8- Do you have knowledge about Accounting and Auditing Organization for 
Islamic Financial Institutions (AAOIFI) in State of Bahrain? 

Yes No 
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9- Which accounting standards does your institution follow? 

nlease tick ('l in the annronriate box 

International Accounting and Local accounting 
Accounting Auditing standards board 

Standard Organization for 
Committee (IASC) Islamic Financial 

Institutions 
(AAOIFI) 

10- If you answered "yes" to question "8", do you think that the Accounting 
and Auditing Organization for Islamic Financial Institutions (AAOIFI) is 
asuitable body for the harmonization of accounting among Islamic Financial 
Institutions? 

Yes No 
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C: Optional Information 

1- Does your institution have investment in shares of Islamic Financial 
Institutions in GCC countries? 

Yes No 

2- If you answered "yes" to question "1", then please state in which GCC 
countries is your investment in shares of Islamic Financial Institutions ? 

Please tick ('1) in the appropriate box 

Kuwait Saudi Arabia United Arab Qater Bahrain 
Emirate 

Thank you for completing this questionnaire. If you have any comment, please 
state them in the space below. 
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Appendix C: Interview with Customers in Kuwait 
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The questions for interview with Customers 

1- Present Occupation: 

2- In what types of transactions do you deal in relation to Islamic 
Financial Institutions? 

() Financing Contract ( Murabahah..... ) 

() Banking services 

() Investment services 

() Consulting services 

() Co-operative Insurance (Islamic) services 
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B: Financial Disclosure: 

1- How do you rate the following sources of information? 

The Information Sources Very Important Neutral Little Not 
Important Important Important 

Corporate annual reports 
Corporate interim reports 
Specialists' advice 
Direct information from 
company 
Newspapers and business 
magazines 
Market rumors 
Specialised Publications 
(e. g stock exchange 
market report and 
Chamber of commerce 
report ) 

Friends' advice 
Other Sources 
Please specify 

374 



2- What is the degree of importance of does each the following items of an 
annual reports of Islamic Financial Institutions ? 

Items of annual reports Very 
Important 

Important Neutral Little 
Important 

Not 
Important 

Board of Directors' report 
Shariah Supervisory Board's 

report 
Auditor's Report 
Balance Sheet 
Income Statement 

Statement of Cash Flow 
Statement of Changes in 
Shareholders' Equity 
Accounting Policies 
Notes of the Financial 
Statements 
Earning per Share 
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3- Given below are several qualitative characteristics that the financial 
information, in general, contained in annual reports should be characterized 
by. Please indicate the degree of importance you place upon each 
qualitative characteristic for information. 

Qualitative characteristics Very 
Important 

Important Neutral Little 
Important 

Not 
Important 

Simplicity of the presentation 
Timeliness of the information 
Neutrality of the information 
Credibility of the information 
Comparability of the information 
Consistency of the information 

JL- 
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4- The items in this question are not published regularly in annual reports 
currently. How would you rate the importance of the following items if 
they were regularly published in annual reports of Islamic Financial 
Institutions? 

Information items Very Important Neutral Little Not 
Important Important Important 

Added Value Statement 
Future of the company 
The interim financial reports 
Sources and uses of moneys 
in the Zakat and charity 
fund 
General economic condition 
University graduate 
recruitment policy and 
achievement 
List of Names of Directors 
of the company and senior 
management 
Details of extraordinary 
revenues and expenses 
Amount of annual top 
management's remuneration 
Expected profit for next 
year 
Market Value of Company's 
share 
Dividends forecast for next 
year 
The percentage of 
Government Ownership 
Financial highlights (more 
than five years) 
Audit fees 
Significant shareholders 
Pending litigation 
Summary of the ageing of 

the accounts receivables 
Company policy regarding 
dividends 
Other 
Please specify 
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5- Please rate the degree to which you think the following qualitative 
characteristics are presen in the financial information contained in annual 
reports of Islamic Financial Institutions? 

qualitative characteristics Strongly 
Agree 

Agree Neutral Disagree Strongly 
Disagree 

Simplicity of the presentation 
Timeliness of the information 
Neutrality of the information 
Credibility of the information 
Comparability of the information 

Consistency of the information 

6- Given below are factors that might improve the usefulness of Islamic 
Financial Institutions in GCC countries. Please indicate your opinion on 
each factor. 

factors Strongly Agree Neutral Disagree Strongly 
Agree Disagree 

All Islamic Financial 
Institutions using a standard 
format for presenting its 
financial statements 
All Islamic Financial 
Institutions issue interim 
financial reports 

Accounting standards for 
Islamic Financial Institutions 

set by an independent body 
Audit carried out by an 
international firms of 
accountants 
Other factors 
Please specify 

7- Do you have investments in other financial institutions beside your 
investment in Islamic Financial Institutions? 

Yes No 
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8- If you answered "yes" in question "7" , in general, how do you agree that 
the financial information contained in annual reports of Islamic Financial 
Institutions is comparable with that in other annual reports you have used? 

Strongly Agree Neutral Disagree Strongly 
Agree Disagree 

9- Do you think that the accounting information of Islamic Financial 
Institutions in GCC countries should be regulated? 

Yes No 

10- If you answered "yes" to question "9", given below are alternatives 
regarding the type of the accounting regulation of financial information 
of Islamic Financial Institutions in GCC countries. Please indicate your 
opinion on each alternative. 

Alternative Strongly Agree Neutral Disagree Strongly 
Agree Disagree 

Accounting standards 
should be set by the public 
sector 

Accounting standards 
should be set by the 
private sector 

Accounting standards 
should be set by the public 
sector and private sector 
Other 
Please specify: 

11- Do you have knowledge about Accounting and Auditing Organization for 
Islamic Financial Institutions (AAOIFI) in State of Bahrain? 

Yes No 
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12- If you answered "yes" to question "11", do you think that the Accounting 
and Auditing Organization for Islamic Financial Institutions (AAOIFI) is 
asuitable body for the harmonisation of accounting among Islamic Financial 
Institutions? 

Yes No 
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5.3 Information Sources 

Mann-Whitney Test 

Ranks 

Mean Sum of 
GROUP N Rank Ranks 

Al I,:: es. cr 69 50.52 3486.00 
Cu=Ter 30 48.80 1464.00 
Tcta1 99 

A2 In", es:; r 69 54.23 3742.00 
Cus: cmer 30 40.27 1208.00 
Tcta! 99 

A3 Investor 69 5128 3538.00 
Cust rner 30 47.07 1412.00 
Tct 99 

A4 Ir, ": escr 69 49.04 3383.50 
Cus: crnet 30 5222 1566.50 
Tca! 99 

AS Invest 69 46.80 3229.50 
Cus*, Crw 30 57.35 1720.50 
Tctal 99 

A6 In: es: cr 69 46.34 3197.50 
Cus*zfref 30 58.42 1752.50 
Tctal 99 

A7 Irrres; cr 69 45.71 3154.00 
Cus: &r 30 59.87 1796.00 
Tctal 99 

A8 Investor 69 46.42 3203.00 
Cult ; mer 30 58.23 1747.00 
Taal 99 

Test Statisticsa 

Al A2 A3 A4 A5 A6 
hlamn, wrut: ey u 999.000 743.000 947.000 968.500 814.500 782.500 
V, il kW 1464.000 1208.000 1412.000 3383.500 3229.500 3197.500 
Z 

-. 419 -2.641 -. 748 -. 541 -1.811 -1.984 
As". r p. S4. (2ta, *! ed) . 

675 . 008 . 454 . 588 . 070 . 047 

Test Statistics' 

A7 AS 
fIlann-Wh. tnrj U 739.000 788.000 
Wdccxcn W 3154.000 3203.000 
z 

-2.363 -2.046 
LZ%ý _ 

sig. (2-tailed) 
. 
018 . 

041 

a" Gmtcirq Variable: GROUP 



5.3.1.1 Information Sources (Investor- Size) 

Mann-Whitney Test 

Ranks 

Sum of 
GROUP N Mean Rank Ranks 

Al La: -, e 24 37.71 905.00 
sr'aii 45 33.56 1510.00 
Taal 69 

A2 Large 24 36.38 873.00 
sma; i 45 34.27 1542.00 
Tcta! 69 

AS Large 24 33.13 795.00 
s.: apt 45 36.00 1620.00 
Total 69 

A4 Large 24 32.08 770.00 
small 45 36.56 1645.00 
Taal 69 

AS Large 24 34.33 824.00 
sma; l 45 

. 
35.36 1591.00 

Total 69 
AS Large 24 34.52 828.50 

sTaT 45 35.26 1586.50 
Tctal 69 

77 Large 24 32.19 772.50 
sr. -W 45 36.50 1642.50 
Total 69 

AS Lie 24 37.54 901.00 
ýß 45 33.64 1514.00 
Tý 69 

Test Statistics' 

Test Statistics* 

A7 A8 
Ma' WI, mley U 472.500 479.000 
4Vkoxon W 772.500 1514.000 
Z 

-. 887 -. 829 
2r. P. S: g (2-tailed) . 375 . 407 
a" Groping Variable: GROUP 



5.3.1.2 Information Sources ( Investor- Education) 

Mann-Whitney Test 

Ranks 

Sum of 
GROUP N Mean Rank Ranks 

Al Bachelor 52 35.35 1838.00 
High Degree 17 33.94 577.00 
Total 69 

A2 Bachelor 52 37.70 1960.50 
High Degree 17 26.74 454.50 
Total 69 

A3 Bachelor 52 34.53 1795.50 
High Degree 17 36.44 619.50 
Total 69 

A4 Bachelor 52 32.99 1715.50 
High Degree 17 41.15 699.50 
Total 69 

AS Bachelor 52 33.81 1758.00 
High Degree 17 38.65 657.00 
Total 69 

AS Bachelor 52 35.09 1824.50 
High Degree 17 34.74 590.50 
Total 69 

A7 Bachelor 52 36.59 1902.50 
High Degree 17 30.15 512.50 
Total 69 

AS Bachelor 52 34.00 1768.00 
High Degree 17 38.06 647.00 
Total 69 

Test Statistics' 

Al A2 A3 A4 A5 A6 
Mannt-Whitney U 424.000 301.500 417.500 337.500 380.000 437.500 
Wikozon W 577.000 454.500 1795.500 1715.500 1758.000 590.500 
Z -. 394 -2.490 -. 380 -1.552 -. 929 -. 065 
Asvmo. Si q. (2-tailed) 

. 
693 . 

013 . 704 . 121 . 353 . 948 

Test Statistics2 

A7 A8 
Mann-Whitney U 359.500 390.000 
Wilccxcn w 512.500 1768.000 
z -1.199 -. 781 
Asvmo. Sig. (2-tailed) . 231 . 435 
a. Grouping Variable: GROUP 



43.1.3 Information Sources (Investor- Management) 
Kruskai-Wallis Test 

Ranks 

GROUP N Mean Rank 
Al Low 11 37.45 

Middle 44 34.30 
Top 14 35.29 
Total 69 

A2 Low 11 38.73 
Middle 44 34.81 
Top 14 32.68 
Total 69 

A3 Low 11 46.41 
Middle 44 32.49 
Top 14 33.93 
Total 69 

A4 Low 11 24.18 
Middle 44 35.05 
Top 14 43.36 
Total 69 

A5 Low 11 32.91 
Middle 44 34.94 
Top 14 36.82 
Total 69 

A6. Low 11 34.05 
Middle 44 35.09 
Top " 14 35.46 
Total 69 

A7 Low 11 39.41 
Middle 44 32.15 
Top 14 40.50 
Total 69 

AS Low 11 41.45 
Middle 44 34.52 
Top 14 31.43 
Total 69 

Test Statistics'"b 

Al A2 A3 A4 A5 A6 
Chi-Square 

. 549 . 925 5.336 6.467 . 269 . 036 
df 22 22 22 
AsvmD. Si 

. . 760 . 630 . 069 . 039 . 874 . 982 

Test Statisticsa"b 

A7 A8 
Chi-Square 2.685 1.868 
df 2 2 

o. Si 
. . 261 . 393 

a. Kruskal Wafis Test 
b. Grouping Variable: GROUP 



5.3.1.4 Information Sources (Investor- Experience) 

Kruskal-Wallis Test 

Ranks 

GROUP N Mean Rank 
Al Iess5 16 36.31 

Iess10 14 35.29 
more 10 39 34.36 
Total 69 

A2 less5 16 29.91 
Iess10 14 32.68 
mcrel0 39 37.92 
Tctal 69 

A3 less5 16 40.38 
lesslO 14 26.75 
more 10 39 35.76 
Total 69 

A4 less5 16 37.13 
Iess10 14 25.46 
morelO 39 37.55 
Total 69 

AS less5 16 37.84 
less10 14 36.71 
morelO 39 33.22 
Total 69 

A6 less5 16 41.22 
Iess10 14 22.64 
more 10 39 36.88 
Total 69 

A7 less5 16 41.06 
less10 14 25.43 
morelO 39 35.95 
Total 69 

AS less5 16 34.75 
Iess10 14 33.14 
morel0 39 35.77 
Total 69 

Test Statisticsa, b 

Al A2 A3 A4 AS A6 
Chi-Square 

. 275 3.314 4.441 4.520 . 847 7.737 

dt 2 2 2 2 2 2 
As o. Sic. 

. 
871 . 

191 . 
109 . 

104 . 655 . 
021 

Test Statistics', b 

AT A8 
Chi-Square 5.153 . 209 
cr, 2 2 

A. Si 
. 076 . 901 

a. Kruskal Wanis Test 
b. Grouping Variable: GROUP 



Kruskal-Wallis Test 

Ranks 

Mean 
GROUP N Rank 

B1 Investor 69 66.71 
Customer 30 54.77 
IFI 33 76.73 
Total 132 

82 Investcr 69 56.67 
Customer 30 83.15 
IFI 33 71.91 
Total 132 

B3 Investor 69 61.69 
Customer 30 69.05 
IFI 33 74.24 
Total 132 

B4 Investor 69 69.29 
Customer 30 60.53 
IFI 33 66.09 
Total 132 

B5 Investor 69 68.39 
Customer 30 61.60 
IFI 

. 
33 67.00 

Total 132 
B6 Investor 69 66.59 

Customer 30 71.95 
IFI 33 61.36 
Total 132 

B7 Investor 69 66.43 
Customer 30 67.22 
IFI 33 65.98 
Total 132 

B8 Investor 69 59.57 
Customer 30 69.82 
IFI 33 77.97 
Total 132 

B9 Investor 69 . 
67.17 

Customer 30 61.70 
IFI 33 69.45 
Total 132 

B10 Investor 69 68.99 
Customer 30 64.25 
IFI 33 63.33 
Total 132 

Test Statisticsa, b 

81 B2 B3 B4 B5 B6 87 

Chi-Square 6.100 13.234 4.328 2.546 1.661 1.630 . 022 

df 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 
As o. Sig. 

. 047 . 
001 . 115 . 280 . 

436 . 
443 . 989 

Test Statistics 

B8 B9 B10 
Chi-Square 6.941 1.014 1.034 
df 2 2 2 
As o. Si . . 031 . 602 . 596 
a. Kruskal Wallis Test 
b. Grouping Variable: GROUP 



IN&CU 

Mann-Whitney Test 

Ranks 

Mean Sum of 
GROUP N Rank Ranks 

B1 Investor 69 45.94 3170.00 
Customer 30 59.33 1780.00 
Total 99 

B2 Investor 69 53.93 3721.50 
Customer 30 40.95 1228.50 
Total 99 

B3 Investor 69 52.76 3640.50 
Customer 30 43.65 1309.50 
Total 99 

B4 Investor 69 50.43 3480.00 
Customer 30 49.00 1470.00 
Total 99 

B5 Investor 69 48.66 3357.50 
Customer 30 53.08 1592.50 
Total 99 

B6 Investor 69 50.22 3465.50 
Customer 30 49.48 1484.50 
Total 99 

B7 Investor 69 50.51 3485.00 
Customer 30 48.83 1465.00 
Total 99 

B8 Investor 69 51.98 3586.50 
Customer 30 45.45 1363.50 
Total 99 

B9 Investor 69 47.60 3284.50 
Customer 30 55.52 1665.50 
Total 99 

B10 Investor 69 49.46 3413.00 
Customer 30 51.23 1537.00 
Total 99 

Test Statistics' 

B1 B2 B3 B4 55 B6 
Mann Whitney U 755.000 763.500 844.500 1005.000 942.500 1019.500 
Wlgzon w 3170.000 1228.500 1309.500 1470.000 3357.500 1484.500 
Z 

-2.235 -2.101 -1.467 -. 314 -1.047 -. 120 
As o. Sic. (2-tailed) 

. 
025 . 036 . 142 . 753 . 295 . 905 

Test Statistics' 

B7 B8 B9 B10 
Mann-Whitney U 1000.000 898.500 869.500 998.000 
Wilcoxcn W 1465.000 1363.500 3284.500 3413.000 
Z 

-. 270 -1.052 -1.303 -. 302 
A. S' 

. (2-tailed) 
. 
787 . 293 . 193 . 762 

a. Grouping Variable: GROUP 



IN&IFI 

Mann Whitney Test 

Ranks 

Mean Sum of 
GROUP N Rank Ranks 

B1 investor 69 49.13 3390.00 
IFI 33 56.45 1863.00 
Total 102 

B2 investor 69 47.49 3277.00 
IFI 33 59.88 1976.00 
Total 102 

B3 investor 69 48.38 3338.00 
IFl 33 58.03 1915.00 
Total 102 

B4 investor 69 52.30 3609.00 
IFI 33 49.82 1644.00 
Total 102 

B5 investor 69 51.85 3577.50 
IFI 33 50.77 1675.50 
Total 102 

B6 investor 69 52.83 3645.50 
IN 33 48.71 1607.50 
Total 102 

B7 investor 69 51.61 3561.00 
IFI 33 51.27 1692.00 
Total 102 

B8 investor 69 46.85 3232.50 
IFI 33 61.23 2020.50 
Total 102 

B9 investor 69 50.93 3514.00 
IFI 33 52.70 1739.00 
Total 102 

1310 investor 69 52.93 3652.50 
IFI 33 48.50 1600.50 
Total 102 

Test Statistics' 

B1 B2 B3 B4 B5 B6 
Mann-Whitney U 975.000 862.000 923.000 1083.000 1114.500 1046.500 
Wilcoxon W 3390.000 3277.000 3338.000 1644.000 1675.500 1607.500 
Z -1.288 -2.135 -1.973 -. 647 -. 288 -. 755 
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed) 

. 
198 

. 
033 

. 049 . 518 . 773 . 
450 

Test Statistics' 

B7 88 B9 B10 
Mann-Whitney U 1131.000 817.500 1099.000 1039.500 
Wilcoxon W 1692.000 3232.500 3514.000 1600.500 
Z 

-. 061 -2.588 -. 348 -. 922 
4. Si 

. 
(2-tailed) 

. 951 
. 
010 

. 
728 

. 356 
a" Urouping Variable: GROUP 



CU&IFI 

Mann-Whitney Test 

Ranks 

Mean Sum of 
GROUP N Rank Ranks 

B1 customer 30 26.20 786.00 
IFI 33 37.27 1230.00 
Total 63 

B2 customer 30 35.27 1058.00 
IFI 33 29.03 958.00 
Total 63 

B3 customer 30 30.67 920.00 
IFI 33 33.21 1096.00 
Total 63 

B4 customer 30 30.60 918.00 
IFI 33 33.27 1098.00 
Total 63 

B5 customer 30 30.65 919.50 
IFI 33 33.23 1096.50 
Total 63 

36 customer 30 34.58 1037.50 
IFI 33 29.65 978.50 
Total 63 

B7 customer 30 32.32 969.50 
IFI 33 31.71 1046.50 
Total 63 

B8 customer 30 30.08 902.50 
IFI 33 33.74 1113.50 
Total 63 

B9 customer 30 30.07 902.00 
IFI 33 33.76 1114.00 
Total 63 

B10 customer 30 32.18 965.50 
IFI 33 31.83 1050.50 
Total 63 

Test Statisticsa 

B1 B2 B3 B4 B5 B6 
Mann-Whitney U 321.000 397.000 455.000 453.000 454.500 417.500 
Wilcoxon W 786.000 958.000 920.000 918.000 919.500 978.500 

Z -2.639 -1.615 -. 807 -. 803 -. 819 -1.241 
As 

. 
Si q. (2-tailed) 

. 008 . 
106 . 

420 
. 
422 . 413 . 

215 

Test Statisticsa 

B7 B8 B9 B10 Mann-Whitney U 485.500 437.500 437.000 489.500 
Wilcoxon W 1046.500 902.500 902.000 1050 500 Z 

-. 149 -. 945 -. 959 . 
-. 093 As 

. Si 2-tailed 
. 881 

. 345 
. 
337 

. 926 
a. urouping vanable: GROUP 



5.4.1.1 Items of Annual Report (Investors- Size) 
Mann-Whitney Test 

Ranks 

Sum of 
GROUP N Mean Rank Ranks 

B1 large 24 39.15 939.50 
small 45 32.79 1475.50 
Total 69 

B2 large 24 36.15 867.50 
small 45 34.39 1547.50 
Total 69 

B3 large 24 34.02 816.50 
small 45 35.52 1598.50 
Total 69 

B4 large 24 33.83 812.00 
small 45 35.62 1603.00 
Total 69 

B5 large 24 33.75 810.00 
small 45 35.67 1605.00 
Total 69 

B6 large 24 38.50 924.00 
small 45 33.13 1491.00 
Total 69 

B7 large 24 38.21 917.00 
small 45 33.29 1498.00 
Total 69 

B8 large 24 39.54 949.00 
small 45 32.58 1466.00 
Total 69 

B9 large 24 33.75 810.00 
small 45 35.67 1605.00 
Total 69 

B10 large 24 35.79 559.00 
small 45 34.58 1556.00 
Total 69 

Test Statistics' 

B1 B2 B3 64 B5 B6 
Mann-Whitney U 440.500 512.500 516.500 512.000 510.000 456.000 
Wilcoxon W 1475.500 1547.500 816.500 812.000 810.000 1491.000 
Z -1.362 -. 367 -. 356 -. 604 -. 648 -1.232 As . Sig. (2-tailed) 

. 173 
. 
714 

. 722 
. 
546 

. 517 
. 
218 

Test Statistics3 

B7 88 B9 B10 
Mann-Whitney U 463.000 431.000 510.000 521.000 
Wilcoxon W 1498.000 1466.000 810.000 1556.000 
Z 

-1.109 -1.540 -. 461 -. 326 
ASYMP. Sig. (2-tailed) 

. 268 
. 124 

. 645 
. 745 

a" urouping Variable: GROUP 



5.4.1.2 Items Of Annual Report ( Investor-Education) 
'Mann-Whitney Test 

Ranks 

Sum of 
GROUP N Mean Rank Ranks 

B1 Bachelor 52 34.32 1784.50 
High Degree 17 37.09 630.50 
Total 69 

B2 Bachelor 52 32.74 1702.50 
High Degree 17 41.91 712.60 
Total 69 

B3 Bachelor 52 35.59 1850.50 
High Degree 17 33.21 564.50 
Total 69 

B4 Bachelor 52 35.58 1850.00 
High Degree 17 33.24 565.00 
Total - 69 

B5 Bachelor 52 34.86 1812.50 
High Degree 17 35.44 602.50 
Total 69 

B6 Bachelor 52 37.75 1963.00 
High Degree 17 26.59 452.00 
Total 69 

B7 Bachelor 52 35.90 1867.00 
High Degree 17 32.24 548.00 
Total 69 

B8 Bachelor " 52 37.44 1947.00 
High Degree 17 27.53 468.00 
Total 69 

B9 Bachelor 52 37.13 1930.50 
High Degree 17 28.50 484.50 
Total 69 

B10 Bachelor 52 36.35 1890.00 
High Degree 17 30.88 525.00 
Total 69 

Test Statisticsa 

B1 B2 B3 B4 B5 B6 
Mann-Whitney U 406.500 324.500 411.500 412.000 434.500 299.000 
Wilcoxon W 1784.500 1702.500 564.500 565.000 1812.500 452.000 
2 -. 537 -1.734 -. 511 -. 715 -. 179 -2.319 
As 

. 
Sig. (2-tailed) 

. 591 
. 083 

. 
609 

. 474 . 858 . 020 

Test Statisticsa 

B7 B8 B9 B10 
Mann-Whitney U 395.000 315.000 331.500 372.000 
Wilcoxon W 548.000 468.000 484.500 525.000 
Z -. 748 -1.983 -1.878 -1.326 As P. Si : (2-tailed) 

. 454 . 047 
. 060 

. 185 
a. Grouping Variable: GROUP 



5.4.1.3 Items of Annual Reports (Investor-Management) 

Kruskal-Wallis Test 
Ranks 

GROUP N Mean Rank 
B1 Low 11 31.55 

Middle 44 35.01 
Top 14 37.68 
Total 69 

B2 Low 11 37.73 
Middle 44 31.64 
Top 14 43.43 
Total 69 

B3 Low 11 35.23 
Middle 44 33.40 
Top 14 39.86 
Total 69 

B4 Low 11 39.50 
Middle 44 32.44 
Top 14 39.50 
Total 69 

B5 Low 11 36.36 
Middle 44 33.23 
Top 14 39.50 
Total 69 

B6 Low 11 34.64 
Middle 44 34.39 
Top 14 37.21 
Total 69 

B7 Low 11 33.27 
Middle 44 35.65 
Top 14 34.32 
Total 69 

B8 Low 11 34.91 
Middle 44 34.07 
Top 14 38.00 
Total 69 

B9 Low 11 35.73 
Middle 44 32.86 
Top 14 41.14 
Total 69 

1310 Low 11 36.41 
Middle 44 33.78 
Top 14 37.71 
Total 69 

Test Statisticsa. ' 

B1 B2 B3 B4 B5 B6 87 
Chi-Square 

. 681 4.385 1.595 5.784 3.228 . 
302 . 

186 
df 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 
As p. Sig. 

. 711 . 112 . 450 . 055 . 199 . 860 . 911 

Test Statistics°'' 

B8 B9 B10 
Chi-Square 

. 510 2.784 . 918 
df 2 2 2 
As p. Sig. 

. 
775 . 

249 
. 
632 

ä. Kruskal Wallis Test 
b. Grouping Variable: GROUP 



5.4.1.4 Items of Annual Report (Investor- Experience) 
Kruskal-Wallis Test 

Ranks 

GROUP N Mean Rank 
B1 Less5 16 30.59 

LesslO 14 37.32 
MorelO 39 35.97 
Total 69 

B2 Less5 16 32.94 
Less10 14 35.21 
MorelO 39 35.77 
Total 69 

B3 Less5 16 27.63 
Less10 14 38.21 
MorelO 39 36.87 
Total 69 

B4 Less5 16 33.13 
Less10 14 39.50 
MorelO 39 34.15 
Total 69 

B5 Less5 16 35.19 
Less10 14 39.50 
MorelO 39 33.31 
Total 69 

B6 Less5 16 33.50 
Less10 14 27.96 
MorelO 39 38.14 
Total 69 

B7 Less5 16 32.25 
Less10 14 30.61 
MorelO 39 37.71 
Total 69 

B8 Less5 16 33.00 
Less10 14 33.07 
MorelO 39 36.51 
Total 69 

B9 Less5 16 33.03 
Less10 14 34.36 
MorelO 39 36.04 
Total 69 

B10 Less5 16 38.38 
Less10 14 31.21 
MorelO 39 34.97 
Total 69 

Test Statisticsa, b 

B1 B2 B3 B4 B5 B6 B7 
Chi-Square 1.240 . 256 4.139 2.679 2.889 3.752 2.195 
df 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 
As o. Si q. . 538 . 880 . 126 . 262 . 236 . 153 . 334 

Test Statisticsab 

B8 B9 B10 
Chi-Square 

. 641 . 407 1.761 
df 2 2 2 
As p. Sig. 

. 726 . 816 . 415 
a. Kruskal Wallis Test 
b. GrouDIna Variihle" CPf! IP 



5.5 Characteristics 

Kruskal-Wallis Test 

Ranks 

Mean 
GROUP N Rank 

Cl Investor 69 64.46 
Customer 30 73.70 
IFI 33 64.23 
Total 132 

C2 Investor 69 67.01 
Customer 30 67.77 
IFI 33 64.29 
Total 132 

C3 Investor 69 64.34 
Customer 30 71.60 
IFI 33 66.38 
Total 132 

C4 Investor 69 63.94 
Customer 30 74.50 
IFI 33 64.58 
Total 132 

C5 Investor 69 70.24 
Customer 30 65.83 
IFI 33 59.29 
Total 132 

C6 Investor 69 67.57 
Customer 30 68.50 
IFI 33 62.45 
Total 132 

Test Statisticsa, b 

C1 C2 C3 C4 C5 C6 
Chi-Square 1.939 . 

402 1.257 5.328 2.811 . 725 
df 2 2 2 2 2 2 
As . 

Si. 
. 379 . 818 . 534 

. 
070 

. 245 . 696 

a. Kruskal Wallis Test 

b. Grouping Variable: GROUP 



IN&CU 

Mann-Whitney Test 

Ranks 

Mean Sum of 
GROUP N Rank Ranks 

Cl Investor 69 47.90 3305.00 
Customer 30 54.83 1645.00 
Total 99 

C2 Investor 69 49.83 3438.00 
Customer 30 50.40 1512.00 
Total 99 

C3 Investor. 69 48.35 3336.00 
Customer 30 53.80 1614.00 
Total 99 

C4 Investor 69 47.61 3285.00 
Customer 30 55.50 1665.00 
Total 99 

C5 Investor 69 51.01 3520.00 
Customer 30 47.67 1430.00 
Total 99 

C6 Investor 69 49.78 3435.00 
Customer 30 50.50 1515.00 
Total 99 

Test Statisticsa 

Cl C2 C3 C4 C5 C6 
Mann-Whitney U 890.000 1023.000 921.000 870.000 965.000 1020.000 
Wilcoxon W 3305.000 3438.000 3336.000 3285.000 1430.000 3435.000 
Z -1.320 -. 151 -1.121 -2.307 -. 682 -. 139 
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed) 

. 187 . 880 . 262 . 021 . 
495 

. 890 

a. Grouping Variable: GROUP 



IN&IFI 

Mann-Whitney Test 

Ranks 

Mean Sum of 
GROUP N Rank Ranks 

Cl Investor 69 51.56 3557.50 
IFI 33 51.38 1695.50 
Total 102 

C2 Investor 69 52.18 3600.50 
IFI 33 50.08 1652.50 
Total 102 

C3 Investor 69 50.99 3518.50 
IFI 33 52.56 1734.50 
Total 102 

C4 Investor 69 51.33 3542.00 
IFI 33 51.85 1711.00 
Total 102 

C5 Investor 69 54.22 3741.50 
IFI 33 45.80 1511.50 
Total 102 

C6 Investor 69 52.78 3642.00 
IFI 33 48.82 1611.00 
Total 102 

Test Statisticsa 

Cl C2 C3 C4 C5 C6 
Mann-Whitney U 1134.500 1091.500 1103.500 1127.000 950.500 1050.000 

Wilcoxon W 1695.500 1652.500 3518.500 3542.000 1511.500 1611.000 
Z -. 033 -. 533 -. 315 -. 130 -1.666 -. 754 
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed) 

. 
973 . 

594 . 
752 . 896 . 096 . 451 

a. Grouping Variable: GROUP 



CU&IFI 

Mann-Whitney Test 

Ranks 

Mean Sum of 
GROUP N Rank Ranks 

Cl customer 30 34.37 1031.00 
IFI 33 29.85 985.00 
Total 63 

C2 customer 30 32.87 986.00 
IFI 33 31.21 1030.00 
Total 63 

C3 customer 30 33.30 999.00 
IFI 33 30.82 1017.00 
Total 63 

C4 customer 30 34.50 1035.00 
IFI 33 29.73 981.00 
Total 63 

C5 customer 30 33.67 1010.00 
IFI 33 30.48 1006.00 
Total 63 

C6 customer 30 33.50 1005.00 
IFI 33 

E 
30.64 1011.00 

Total 63 

Test Statisticsa 

Cl C2 C3 C4 C5 C6 
Mann-Whitney U 424.000 469.000 456.000 420.000 445.000 450.000 
Wilcoxon W 985.000 1030.000 1017.000 981.000 1006.000 1011.000 
Z -1.188 -. 564 -. 726 -2.204 -. 814 -. 734 
As 

. 
Sig. (2-tailed) 

. 235 
. 
572 

. 468 
. 
028 

. 416 
. 463 

a. Grouping Variable: GROUP 



5.5.1.1 Characteristics (Investors- Size) 

Mann-Whitney Test 

Ranks 

Sum of 
GROUP N Mean Rank Ranks 

Cl large 24 33.27 798.50 
small 45 35.92 1616.50 
Total 69 

C2 large 24 37.13 891.00 
small 45 33.87 1524.00 
Total 69 

C3 large 24 35.27 846.50 
small 45 34.86 1568.50 
Total 69 

C4 large 24 34.83 836.00 
small 45 35.09 1579.00 
Total 69 

C5 large 24 36.92 886.00 
small 45 33.98 1529.00 
Total 69 

C6 large 24 29.75 714.00 
small 45' 37.80 1701.00 
Total 69 

Test Statisticsa 

Cl C2 C3 C4 C5 C6 
Mann-Whitney U 498.500 489.000 533.500 536.000 494.000 414.000 
Wilcoxon W 798.500 1524.000 1568.500 836.000 1529.000 714.000 
Z -. 609 -1.054 -. 102 -. 079 -. 760 -1.924 
As D. Sig. 2-tailed 

. 543 
. 
292 

. 919 
. 
937 

. 
447 

. 
054 

a. Grouping Variable: GROUP 



5.5.1.2 Characteristics (Investor- Education) 

Mann-Whitney Test 

Ranks 

Sum of 
GROUP N Mean Rank Ranks 

C1 Bachelor 52 34.60 1799.00 
High Degree 17 36.24 616.00 
Total 69 

C2 Bachelor 52 34.69 1804.00 
High Degree 17 35.94 611.00 
Total 69 

C3 Bachelor 52 34.14 1775.50 
High Degree 17 37.62 639.50 
Total 69 

C4 Bachelor 52 35.16 1828.50 
High Degree 17 34.50 586.50 
Total 69 

C5 Bachelor 52 35.33 1837.00 
High Degree 17 34.00 578.00 
Total 69 

C6 Bachelor 52 36.38 1892.00 
High Degree 17 30.76 523.00 
Total 69 

Test Statisticsa 

Cl C2 C3 C4 C5 C6 
Mann-Whitney U 421.000 426.000 397.500 433.500 425.000 370.000 
Wilcoxon W 1799.000 1804.000 1775.500 586.500 578.000 523.000 
Z -. 341 -. 365 -. 773 -. 186 -. 310 -1.215 
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed) 

. 733 . 715 . 439 . 852 . 756 . 224 
a. Grouping Variable: GROUP 



5.5.1.3 Characteristics (Investors-Management) 

Kruskal-Wallis Test 

Ranks 

GROUP N Mean Rank 
Cl Low 11 29.55 

Middle 44 35.02 
Top 14 39.21 
Total 69 

C2 Low 11 36.86 
Middle 44 36.08 
Top 14 30.14 
Total 69 

C3 Low 11 29.73 
Middle 44 35.86 
Top 14 36.43 
Total 69 

C4 Low 11 40.00 
Middle 44 35.25 
Top 14 30.29 
Total 69 

C5 Low 11 34.73 
Middle 44 33.75 
Top 14 39.14 
Total 69 

C6 Low 11 34.45 
Middle 44 32.89 
Top 14 42.07 
Total 69 

Test Statistics', b 

Cl C2 C3 C4 C5 C6 
Chi-Square 

1 

1.940 2.805 1.383 3.926 1.324 3.285 
df 2 2 2 2 2 2 
As . 

Si 
. 
379 

. 246 
. 
501 

. 140 
. 
516 . 194 

a. Kruskal Wallis Test 
b. Grouping Variable: GROUP 



5.5.1.4 Characteristics (Investors- Experience) 

.- Kruskal-Wallis Test 

Ranks 

GROUP N Mean Rank 
Cl Less5 16 34.63 

Less10 14 32.25 
More10 39 36.14 
Total 69 

C2 Less5 16 31.38 
Less10 14 40.00 
More10 39 34.69 
Total 69 

C3 Less5 16 35.03 
Less10 14 38.32 
More10 39 33.79 
Total 69 

C4 Less5 16 32.00 
Less10 14 35.64 
More10 39 36.00 
Total 69 

C5 Less5 16 31.25 
Lessl0 14 36.71 
More10 39 35.92 
Total 69 

C6 Less5 16 31.91 
Less10 14 34.68 
MorelO 39 36.38 
Total 69 

Test Statisticsa, b 

Cl C2 C3 C4 C5 C6 
Chi-Square 

. 535 3.768 . 816 1.164 1.279 . 837 
df 2 2 2 2 2 2 
As 

. 
Si 

. . 765 
. 
152 

. 665 
. 559 

. 527 
. 658 

a. Kruskal Wallis Test 
b. Grouping Variable: GROUP 



5.6.1.1 Uses (Investors- Size) 

Mann-Whitney Test 

Ranks 

Sum of 
GROUP N Mean Rank Ranks 

D1 Large 24 36.71 881.00 
small 45 34.09 1534.00 
Total 69 

D2 Large 24 30.50 732.00 
small 45 37.40 1683.00 
Total 69 

D3 Large 24 33.65 807.50 
small 45 35.72 1607.50 
Total 69 

D4 Large 24 31.50 756.00 
small 45 36.87 1659.00 
Total 69 

05 Large 24 38.67 928.00 
small 45 33.04 1487.00 
Total 69 

D6 Large 24 38.38 921.00 
small 45 33.20 1494.00 
Total 69 

D7 Large 24 36.88 885.00 
small 45 34.00 1530.00 
Total 69 

Test Statisticsa 

D1 D2 D3 D4 D5 D6 D7 
Mann-Whitney U 499.000 432.000 507.500 456.000 452.000 459.000 495.000 
Wilcoxon W 1534.000 732.000 807.500 756.000 1487.000 1494.000 1530.000 
Z -. 624 -1.537 -. 456 -1.226 -1.274 -1.101 -. 642 
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed) 

. 
533 

. 124 
. 
648 

. 
220 

. 
203 

. 
271 

. 
521 

a. Grouping Variable: GROUP 



5.6.1.2 Uses ( Investor- Education) 

Mann-Whitney Test 

Ranks 

Sum of 
GROUP N Mean Rank Ranks 

D1 Bachelor 52 36.63 1905.00 
High Degree 17 30.00 510.00 
Total 69 

D2 Bachelor 52 36.48 1897.00 
High Degree 17 30.47 518.00 
Total 69 

D3 Bachelor 52 36.88 1918.00 
High Degree 17 2924 497.00 
Total 69 

D4 Bachelor 52 36.96 1922.00 
High Degree 17 29.00 493.00 
Total 69 

D5 Bachelor 52 35.26 1833.50 
High Degree 17 34.21 581.50 
Total 69 

D6 Bachelor 52 34.51 1794.50 
High Degree 17 36.50 620.50 
Total 69 

D7 Bachelor 52 36.11 1877.50 
High Degree 17 31.62 537.50 
Total 69 

Test Statisticsa 

D1 D2 D3 D4 D5 D6 07 
Mann-Whitney U 357.000 365.000 344.000 340.000 428.500 416.500 384.500 
Wilcoxon W 510.000 518.000 497.000 493.000 581.500 1794.500 537.500 
Z -1.429 -1.211 -1.520 -1.645 -. 216 -. 383 -. 907 
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed) 

. 153 
. 226 

. 128 
. 100 

. 
829 

. 
702 

. 
364 

a. Grouping Vanable: GROUP 



5.6.1.3 Uses ( Investors- Management) 

Kruskal-Wallis Test 

Ranks 

GROUP N Mean Rank 
D1 Low 11 36.32 

Middle 44 36.31 
Top 14 29.86 
Total 69 

D2 Low 11 37.73 
Middle 44 33.28 
Top 14 38.25 
Total 69 

D3 Low 11 29.91 
Middle 44 35.91 
Top 14 36.14 
Total 69 

D4 Low 11 35.09 
Middle 44 33.86 
Top 14 38.50 
Total 69 

D5 Low 11 32.50 
Middle 44 34.90 
Top 14 37.29 
Total 69 

D6 Low 11 31.77 
Middle 44 35.88 
Top 14 34.79 
Total 69 

D7 Low 11 38.82 
Middle 44 33.36 
Top 14 37.14 
Total 69 

Test StatisticsIO 

D1 D2 D3 D4 05 06 D7 
Chi-Square 1.725 1.146 1.062 

. 
768 

. 480 . 435 1.090 
df 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 
As . Sig. 

. 422 . 564 . 588 . 681 . 787 . 805 . 580 
a. Kruskal Wallis Test 
b. Grouping Variable: GROUP 



5.6.1.4 Uses (Investor- Experience) 

Kruskal-Wallis Test 

Ranks 

GROUP N Mean Rank 
Dl Less5 16 30.50 

Less10 14 32.54 
MorelO 39 37.73 
Total 69 

D2 Less5 16 33.22 
Less10 14 32.93 
MorelO 39 36.47 
Total 69 

D3 Less5 16 30.84 
LesslO 14 34.75 
More10 39 36.79 
Total 69 

D4 Less5 16 38.00 
Less10 14 28.29 
Morel0 39 36.18 
Total 69 

D5 Less5 16 28.28 
LesslO 14 37.89 
MorelO 39 36.72 
Total 69 

D6 Less5 16 30.28 
LesslO 14 40.21 
MorelO 39 35.06 
Total 69 

D7 Less5 16 34.38 
LesslO 14 37.86 
MorelO 39 34.23 
Total 69 

Test StatisticsO 

D1 D2 03 D4 D5 06 D7 
Chi-Square 2.535 

. 620 1.243 2.765 3.130 2.132 . 458 
df 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 
Asymp. Sig. 

. 282 . 733 . 537 . 251 . 209 . 344 . 795 
a. Kruskal Wallis Test 
b. Grouping Variable: GROUP 



5.8 Factors 

Kruskal-Wallis Test 

Ranks 

Mean 
GROUP N Rank 

G1 investor 69 64.83 
customer 30 64.90 
IFI 33 71.45 
Total 132 

G2 investor 69 75.19 
customer 30 65.33 
IFI 33 49.39 
Total 132 

G3 investor 69 67.87 
customer 30 54.08 
IFI 33 74.92 
Total 132 

G4 investor 69 63.23 
customer 30 68.00 
IFI 33 71.97 
Total 132 

Test Statisticsa, b 

GI G2 G3 G4 
Chi-Square 

. 
901 13.256 6.641 1.542 

df 2 2 2 2 
Asymp. Sig. . 637 . 001 . 036 . 463 
a. Kruskal Wallis Test 
b. Grouping Variable: GROUP 



IN&CU 

Mann-Whitney Test 

Ranks 

Mean Sum of 
GROUP N Rank Ranks 

G1 investor 69 50.00 3450.00 
customer 30 50.00 1500.00 
Total 99 

G2 investor 69 52.39 3615.00 
customer 30 44.50 1335.00 
Total 99 

G3 investor 69 53.12 3665.00 
customer 30 42.83 1285.00 
Total 99 

G4 investor 69 48.89 3373.50 
customer 30 52.55 1576.50 
Total 99 

Test Statistics' 

G1 G2 G3 G4 
Mann-Whitney U 1035.000 870.000 820.000 958.500 
Wilcoxon W 1500.000 1335.000 1285.000 3373.500 
Z 

. 000 -1.510 -1.866 -. 646 
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed) 1.000 

. 131 
. 062 . 518 

a. Grouping Variable: GROUP 



IN&IFI 

Mann-Whitney Test 

Ranks 

Mean Sum of 
GROUP N Rank Ranks 

G1 investor 69 -49.83 3438.00 
IFI 33 55.00 1815.00 
Total 102 

G2 investor 69 57.80 3988.00 
IFI 33 38.33 1265.00 
Total 102 

G3 investor 69 49.75 3433.00 
IFI 33 55.15 1820.00 
Total 102 

G4 investor 69 49.34 3404.50 
IFI 33 56.02 1848.50 
Total 102 

Test Statisticsa 

G1 G2 G3 G4 
Mann-Whitney U 1023.000 704.000 1018.000 989.500 
Wilcoxon W 3438.000 1265.000 3433.000 3404.500 
Z -. 916 -3.561 -1.057 -1.193 
As 

. 
Sig. (2-tailed) 

. 360 
. 000 

. 290 . 
233 

a. Grouping Variable: GROUP 



CU&IFI 

Mann-Whitney Test 

Ranks 

Mean Sum of 
GROUP N Rank Ranks 

G1 customer 30 30.40 912.00 
IFI 33 33.45 1104.00 
Total 63 

G2 customer 30 36.33 1090.00 
IFI 33 28.06 926.00 
Total 63 

G3 customer 30 26.75 802.50 
IFI 33 36.77 1213.50 
Total 63 

G4 customer " 30 30.95 928.50 
IFI 33 32.95 1087.50 
Total 63 

Test Statistics3 

G1 G2 G3 G4 
Mann-Whitney U 447.000 365.000 337.500 463.500 
Wilcoxon W 912.000 926.000 802.500 928.500 
Z -. 741 -1.952 -2.498 -. 500 
As p. Sig. (2-tailed) 

. 459 . 051 . 012 . 617 
a. Grouping Variable: GROUP 



5.9 Characteristics 

NPar Tests 

Mann-Whitney Test 

Ranks 

Mean Sum of 
GROUP N Rank Ranks 

El Investor 69 51.38 3545.00 
Customer 30 46.83 1405.00 
Total 99 

E2 Investor 69 51.29 3539.00 
Customer 30 47.03 1411.00 
Total 99 

E3 Investor 69 50.58 3490.00 
Customer 30 48.67 1460.00 
Total 99 

E4 Investor 69 51.47 3551.50 
Customer 30 46.62 1398.50 
Total 99 

E5 Investor 69 51.45 3550.00 
Customer 30 46.67 1400.00 
Total 99 

E6 Investor 69 50.11 3457.50 
Customer 30 49.75 1492.50 
Total 99 

Test Statisticsa 

E1 E2 E3 E4 E5 E6 
Mann-Whitney U 940.000 946.000 995.000 933.500 935.000 1027.500 
Wilcoxon W 1405.000 1411.000 1460.000 1398.500 1400.000 1492.500 
Z -. 779 -. 742 -. 329 -. 827 -. 802 -. 061 
As m. Sig. (2-tailed) 

. 
436 

. 
458 

. 
742 

. 
408 

. 
423 

. 
951 

a. Grouping Variable: GROUP 



5.13 Comparability of IFI with other Conventional Fl 

Mann-Whitney Test 

Ranks 

Mean Sum of 
GROUP N Rank Ranks 

J Investor 49 35.48 1738.50 
Customer 23 38.67 889.50 
Total 72 

Test Statistics' 

J 
Mann-Whitney U 513.500 
Wilcoxon W 1738.500 
Z -. 694 
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed) . 487 
a. Grouping Variable: GROUP 



5.14 Additional Disclosure 
Mann Whitney Test 

Ranks 

GROUP N Mean Rank Sum of Ranks 
H1 Investor 69 52.89 3649.50 

Customer 30 43.35 1300.50 
Total 99 

H2 Investor 69 51.35 3543.00 
Customer 30 46.90 1407.00 
Total 99 

H3 Investor 69 52.90 3650.00 
Customer 30 43.33 1300.00 
Total 99 

H4 Investor 69 43.70 3015.00 
Customer 30 64.50 1935.00 
Total 99 

H5 Investor 69 49.70 3429.00 
Customer 30 50.70 1521.00 
Total 99 

H6 Investor 69 47.09 3249.50 
Customer 30 56.68 1700.50 
Total 99 

H7 Investor 69 52.36 3613.00 
Customer 30 44.57 1337.00 
Total 99 

H8 Investor 69 48.13 3321.00 
Customer 30 54.30 1629.00 
Total 99 

H9 Investor 69 47.13 3252.00 
Customer 30 56.60 '1698.00 
Total 99 

H10 Investor 69 49.5 3419.00 
Customer 30 51.03 1531.00 
Total 99 

H11 Investor 69 49.52 3417.00 
Customer 30 51.10 1533.00 
Total 99 

H12 Investor 69 51.13 3528.00 
Customer 30 47.40 1422.00 

Total 99 
H13 Investor 69 49.70 3429.50 

Customer 30 50.68 1520.50 
Total 99 

H14 Investor 69 50.38 3476.00 
Customer 29 47.41 1375.00 
Total 98 

H15 Investor 69 49.38 3407.50 
Customer 30 51.42 1542.50 
Total 99 

H16 Investor 69 51.29 3539.00 
Customer 30 47.03 1411.00 
Total 99 

H17 Investor 69 50.00 3450.00 
Customer 30 50.00 1500.00 
Total 99 

H18 Investor 69 51.28 3538.00 
Customer 30 47.07 1412.00 
Total 99 



Test Statisticsa 

HI H2 H3 H4 H5 H6 H7 
Mann-Whitney U 835.500 942.000 835.000 600.000 1014.000 834.500 872.000 
Wilcoxon W 1300.500 1407.000 1300.000 3015.000 3429.000 3249.500 1337.000 
Z -1.590 -. 893 -1.788 -3.458 -. 177 -1.651 -1.337 
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed) 

. 112 . 
372 

. 
074 

. 
001 

. 
860 

. 
099 

. 
181 

Test Statisticsa 

H8 H9 H10 H11 H12 H13 H14 

Mann-Whitney U 906.000 837.000 1004.000 1002.000 957.000 1014.500 940.000 
Wilcoxon W 3321.000 3252.000 3419.000 3417.000 1422.000 3429.500 1375.000 
Z -1.084 -1.730 -. 266 -. 280 -. 646 -. 172 -. 509 
As p. Sig. (2-tailed) 

. 278 . 084 . 791 . 779 . 518 . 864 . 611 

Test Statistics' 

H15 H16 H17 H18 
Mann-Whitney U 992.500 946.000 1035.000 947.000 

Wilcoxon W 3407.500 1411.000 1500.000 1412.000 
Z -. 337 -. 736 . 000 -. 708 
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed) 

. 736 . 462 1.000 . 479 

a. Grouping Variable: GROUP 



5.16 Accounting Regulation of IFI 

Kcuskal-Wallis Test 

Ranks 

GROUP N 
Mean 
Rank 

K Investor 69 65.26 
Customer 30 68.80 
IFI 33 67.00 
Total 132 

Test Statisticsa, b 

K 
Chi-Square . 979 
cif 2 
As 

. 
Sig. 

. 
613 

a. Kruskal Wallis Test 

b. Grouping Variable: GROUP 

IN&CU 

Mann-Whitney Test 

Ranks 

Mean Sum of 
GROUP N Rank Ranks 
Investor 69 49.20 3394.50 
Customer 30 51.85 1555.50 
Total 99 

Test Statisticsa 

K 
Mann-Whitney U 979.500 
Wilcoxon W 3394.500 
Z -. 952 
As . Sig. (2-tailed) . 341 

a. Grouping Variable: GROUP 



IN&IFI 

Mann-Whitney Test 

Ranks 

Mean Sum of 
GROUP N Rank Ranks 

K Investor 69 51.07 3523.50 
IFI 33 52.41 1729.50 
Total 102 

Test Statisticsa 

K 
Mann-Whitney U 1108.500 
Wilcoxon W 3523.500 
Z -. 461 
As m. Sig. (2-tailed) 

. 645 

a. Grouping Variable: GROUP 

CU&IFI 

Mann-Whitney Test 

Ranks 

Mean Sum of 
GROUP N Rank Ranks 

K customer 30 32.45 973.50 
IN 33 31.59 1042.50 
Total 63 

Test Statistics" 

K 
Mann-Whitney U 481.500 
Wilcoxon W 1042.500 
Z -. 504 
As . Sig. (2-tailed) . 615 
a. Grouping Variable: GROUP 



5.17 Type of Accounting Regulation 

Kruskal-Wallis Test 

. Ranks 

Mean 
GROUP N Rank 

L1 Investor 63 64.32 
Customer 29 66.55 
IFI 32 55.25 
Total 124 

L2 Investor 63 59.99 
Customer 29 61.00 
IFI 32 68.80 
Total 124 

L3 Investor 63 61.09 
Customer 29 64.76 
IFI 32 63.23 
Total 124 

Test Statisticsa, b 

L1 L2 L3 
Chi-Square 2.005 1.414 

. 260 
df 2 2 2 
As 

. Si q. . 367 
. 
493 

. 878 
a. Kruskal Wallis Test 
b. Grouping Variable: GROUP 

IN&CU 

Mann-Whitney Test 
Ranks 

Mean Sum of 
GROUP N Rank Ranks 

L1 Investor 63 45.95 2895.00 
Customer 29 47.69 1383.00 
Total 92 

L2 Investor 63 46.24 2913.00 
Customer 29 47.07 1365.00 
Total 92 

L3 Investor 63 45.64 2875.50 
Customer 29 48.36 1402.50 
Total 92 

Test Statistics' 

L1 L2 L3 
Mann-Whitney U 879.000 897.000 859.500 
Wilcoxon W 2895.000 2913.000 2875.500 
Z -. 305 -. 142 -. 487 
As 

. Sig. (2-tailed) 
. 
761 . 

887 . 
626 

a. Grouping Variable: GROUP 



IN&IFI 

Mann-Whitney Test 

Ranks 

Mean Sum of GROUP N Rank Ranks 
L1 Investor 63 50.37 3173.00 

IFI 32 43.34 1387.00 
Total 95 

L2 Investor 63 45.75 2882.50 
IFI 32 52.42 1677.50 
Total 95 

L3 Investor 63 47.44 2989.00 
IFI 32 49.09 1571.00 
Total 95 

Test Statisticsa 

L1 L2 L3 
Mann-Whitney U 859.000 866.500 973.000 
Wilcoxon W 1387.000 2882.500 2989.000 
Z 

-1.230 -1.152 -. 295 
As m. Si 2-tailed 

. 
219 

. 
249 

. 
768 

a. firouping Variable: GROUP 

CU&IFI 
Mann Whitney Test 

Ranks 

Mean Sum of 
GROUP N Rank Ranks 

L1 customer 29 33.86 982.00 
IFI 32 28.41 909.00 
Total 61 

L2 customer 29 28.93 839.00 
IFI 32 32.88 1052.00 
Total 61 

L3 customer 29 31.40 910.50 
IF] 32 30.64 980.50 

Total 61 

Test Statisticsa 

L1 L2 L3 

Mann-Whitney U 381.000 404.000 452.500 

Wilcoxon W 909.000 839.000 980.500 
Z -1.246 -. 892 -. 180 

Asvmo. Sig. 2-tailed . 213 . 372 . 857 

a. Grouping Variable: GROUP 



5.18 The Knowledge of AAOIFI 

Kruskal-Wallis Test 

Ranks 

GROUP N 
Mean 
Rank 

M Investor 69 58.91 
Customer 30 50.40 
IFI 33 97.00 
Total 132 

Test Statisticsa, b 

M 
Chi-Square 38.762 
df 2 
Asymp. Sig. 

. 000 
a. Kruskal Wallis Test 
b. Grouping Variable: GROUP 

IN&CU 

Mann-Whitney Test 

Ranks 

Mean Sum of 
GROUP N Rank Ranks 
Investor 69 51.93 3583.50 
Customer 30 45.55 1366.50 
Total 99 

Test Statisticsa 

M 
ann-Whitney U Mann-Whitney-U- 901.500 

Wilcoxon W 1366.500 
Z -1.255 
As ymp . Si 6.2-tailed) . 210 

a. Grouping Variable: GROUP 



IN&1Fl 

Mann-Whitney Test 

Ranks 

Mean Sum of 
GROUP N Rank Ranks 

M Investor 69 41.98 2896.50 
IFI 33 71.41 2356.50 
Total 102 

Test Statistics' 

M 
Mann-Whitney U 481.500 
Wilcoxon W 2896.500 
2 -5.453 
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed) 

. 000 
a. Grouping Variable: GROUP 

CU&IFI 

Mann Whitney Test 

Ranks 

Mean Sum of 
GROUP N Rank Ranks 

M customer 30 20.35 610.50 
IFI 33 42.59 1405.50 
Total 63 

Test Statisticsa 

M 
Mann-Whitney U 145.500 
Wilcoxon W 610.500 
z -5.675 
As 

. Sig. 2-tailed . 
000 

a. Grouping Variable: GROUP 



5.19 Harmonization of AAOIF! 

Kruskal-Wallis Test 

Ranks 

GROUP N 
Mean 
Rank 

N invsetor 26 30.85 
customer 7 37.00 
IFI 31 32.87 
Total 64 

Test Statisticsa. b 

N 
Chi-Square 1.727 
df 2 
As . Sig. 

. 422 
a. Kruskal Wallis Test 
b. Grouping Variable: GROUP 

IN&CU 

Mann-Whitney Test 

Ranks 

Mean Sum of 
GROUP N Rank Ranks 
invsetor 26 16.33 424.50 

customer 7 19.50 136.50 
Total 33 

Test Statisticsb 

N 
Mann-Whitney U 73.500 
Wilcoxon W 424.500 
Z -1.240' 
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed) . 215 
Exact Sig. [2"(1-tailed 450 Si . 
a. Not corrected for ties. 
b. Grouping Variable: GROUP 



IN&IFI 

Mann Whitney Test 

Ranks 

Mean Sum of 
GROUP N Rank Ranks 

N invsetor 26 28.02 728.50 
IFI 31 29.82 924.50 
Total 57 

Test Statisticsa 

N 
Mann-Whitney U 377.500 
Wilcoxon W 728.500 
Z -. 647 
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed) . 518 

a. Grouping Variable: GROUP 

CU&IFI 

Mann Whitney Test 

Ranks 

Mean Sum of 
GROUP N Rank Ranks 

N customer 7 21.50 150.50 
IFI 

_ 
31 19.05 590.50 

Total 38 

Test Statistics' 

N 
Mann-Whitney U 94.500 
Wilcoxon W 590.500 
z -. 991 
Asymp. Sig. (2-tailed) . 

321 
Exact Sig. [2'(1-tailed 606 Si . 

a. Not corrected for ties. 
b. Grouping Variable: GROUP 


